

# In the name of Rectorate of Marmara University, Rector Mustafa Kurt, Ph.D.

In the name of Deanship of Marmara University, School of Medicine, Dean O. Hakan Gündüz, M.D.

# **Editor-in-Chief**

M. Pamir Atagündüz, M.D.

### **Associate Editors**

İsmail Cinel, M.D. Deniz Duman, M.D. Arzu Akşit İlki, M.D. Ümit Uğurlu, M.D. Tunç Laçin, M.D. Ozan Kocakaya, M.D.

# **Statistics Editor**

Nural Bekiroğlu, Ph.D.

# Coordinators

Seza Arbay, MS Vera Bulgurlu, cand. mag., Ph.D.

# **International Editorial Board**

Adnan Dağçınar, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Athanasios Fassas, M.D. Arkansas, USA Ayşegül Atmaca, M.D. Samsun, Turkey Cem Ergon, M.D. Izmir, Turkey Christoph Grüber, M.D. Frankfurt, Germany Christos Mantzoros, M.D. Boston, USA Devrim Dündar, M.D. Kocaeli, Turkey Dilek Seckin, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Emin Kansu, M.D. Ankara, Turkey Esen Akpek, M.D. Baltimore, USA Evren Yaşar, M.D. Ankara, Turkey Feray Cinevre Soyupak, M.D. Isparta, Turkey George Velmahos, M.D. Boston, USA Hakkı Arıkan, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey İbrahim Şahin, M.D. Malatya, Turkey Isac I Schnirer, M.D. Tel Aviv, Israel Jan Lotvall, M.D. Gothenburg, Sweden Kaan Boztuğ, M.D. Vienna, Austria Kayıhan Uluç, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Kazunori Okabe, M.D. Ube, Japan

Lydia Ioannido Mouzaka, M.D. Athens, Greece Muzaffer Metintaş, M.D. Eskisehir, Turkey Nese Perdahlı Fiş, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Nese Tuncer Elmacı, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Nima Rezaei, M.D. Tehran, Iran Oğuzhan Deyneli, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Olcay Yeğin, M.D. Antalya, Turkey Önder Ergönül, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Özge Ecmel Onur, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Özlem Yenice, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey R Lucian Chirieac, M.D. Boston, USA Robert W Mahley, M.D. San Francisco, USA Scott J Swanson, M.D. Boston, USA Seval Güneşer, M.D. Adana, Turkey Todor A Popov, M.D. Sofia, Bulgaria Toni Lerut, Leuven, M.D. Leuven, Belgium Yoshifumi Naka, M.D. New York, USA Yusuf Yazıcı, M.D. New York, USA Tevfik Yoldemir, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey Ziya Salihoğlu, M.D. Istanbul, Turkey

#### **Correspondence and Communications** Seza Arbay

Marmara Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dekanlığı, Temel Tıp Bilimleri Binası, 3. Kat, Başıbüyük Mahallesi, Başıbüyük, Maltepe, İstanbul, Turkey Tel: +90 216 4144734, Faks: +90 216 4144731 E-mail: mmj@marmara.edu.tr

#### Publisher

 Marmara University Press Göztepe Kampüsü, Kadıköy 34722 İstanbul, Turkey Tel. +90 216 777 1400, Faks +90 216 777 1401 E-mail: yayinevi@marmara.edu.tr



#### Instructions to Authors

# **About Journal**

The Marmara Medical Journal, Marmara Med J, is a multidisciplinary, academic publication of Marmara University, School of Medicine. It is an open access, double blind peer-reviewed journal. It publishes manuscripts that focus on clinical and laboratory medicine, health care policy and medical education, ethics, and related topics. It includes original research papers, case reports, reviews, articles about clinical and practical applications and editorials, short reports, letters to the editor and occcasionally a photo-quiz.

The Marmara Medical Journal is continuously published since 1988 and its archive with full-text manuscripts can be reached under www.dergipark.org.tr/marumj/archive.

Frequency: Three times a year (January, May, October)

#### Year of first print issue: 1988

**Year of first online issue:** 2004 (Between 2004 and 2011 the Journal was published solely in an electronic format.)

Language: English Print ISSN: 1019-1941 eISSN: 1309-9469

The manuscripts published in the Marmara Medical Journal are indexed and abstracted in: Thomson Reuters/ Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), EBSCO, SCOPUS, EMBASE/Excerpta Medica, DOAJ (Directory of Open Access Journals), CrossRef, ULRICH'S Database, Google Scholar, The British Library, Turkish Academic Network and Information Center (ULAKBİM)-Turkish Medical Database, TURK MEDLINE–Türk Sağlık Bilimleri (Index of Turkish Health Sciences), Türkiye Makaleler Bibliyografyası (Bibliography of Articles in Turkish Periodicals), Türkiye Klinikleri Tip Dizini (Turkish Citation Index).

Permission Request: Manuscripts, tables, graphics, figures and pictures published in the Marmara Medical Journal cannot be reproduced, archieved in a system, used in advertisement materials, without a written permision. Citations can be included only in scientific manuscripts with referral.

#### Aims and Scope

The Marmara Medical Journal, Marmara Med J, is a peer-reviewed, multidisciplinary academic publication of Marmara University, School of Medicine, which is authored by physicians both nationally and internationally.

The journal aims to publish papers of general interest relating to advances in medical practice and novel treatments that will be of interest to general practitioners, medical students, and senior practitioners and specialists. Marmara Medical Journal also aims to publish all types of research conducted by medical students.

MARMARA

**MEDICAL JOURNAL** 

The Marmara Medical Journal is among the most widely read and cited scientific publications for physicians among journals of its kind nationally and increasingly gaining new readers and authors internationally with its English only format since 2016.

The journal consists of manuscripts on recent developments in general and internal medicine and new methods of treatment based on original research. We greatly welcome research papers, case reports, reviews and occasionally a photo-quiz of an interesting medical encounter in English, only.

Each manuscript is strictly assessed by a select Editorial Board. and refereed critically by two or more reviewers, at least one from another institution. The editor reserves the right to reject or to return the manuscript to the author(s) for additional changes.

Special review issues with invited editors are published since 2015 to focus on specific areas of medicine to bring recent data into attention covering multiple aspects of the chosen topic. Marmara Medical Journal welcomes and encourages physicians from all over the world to publish a special review issue on the topic of their preference as an "Invited editor" to collaborate with authors on the same focus area with the aim of increasing scientific collaboration via publishing.

The Marmara Medical Journal has an open access policy. All articles in the journal are permanently available online for all to read.

#### **Author Guidelines**

The Marmara Medical Journal publishes original scientific research papers, case reports, manuscripts about clinical and practical applications and editorials, short reports, letters and occasionally a photo-quiz.

Manuscripts submitted under multiple authorship are reviewed on the assumption that all listed authors concur with the submission and that a copy of the final manuscript has been approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities in the laboratories where the work was carried out.

Manuscripts are accepted for review with the understanding that no substantial portion of the study has been published or is under consideration for publication elsewhere.



The Marmara Medical Journal is in compliance with the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals created by International Committee for Medical Editors ( ICMEJ link), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) and the European Association of Science Editors (EASE).

# **Preparation of the Manuscript**

1. Manuscript files must be prepared in Word, WordPerfect, EPS, LaTeX, text, Postscript, or RTF format. Figures/Images should be embedded in the manuscript file or sent as external files in TIFF, GIF, JPG, BMP, Postscript, or EPS format.

2. Manuscripts should be approximately 20-25 pages double-spaced, including references, with margins of 2.5 cm.

Pages should be numbered consecutively and organized as follows:

- 1. Title Page
- 2. Abstract
- 3. Keywords
- 4. Introduction
- 5. Materials and Methods
- 6. Results
- 7. Conclusion
- 8. References

# 1. Title Page

The title page should contain the article title, authors' names and academic or professional affiliations, and the address for manuscript correspondence (including e-mail address, Open Researcher and Contributer ID (ORCID) identifier, telephone and fax numbers).

# 2. Abstract

Abstract of not more than 200 words must be included. The abstract should be divided into the following sections: Objective, Materials and Methods, Results and Conclusion,

# 3. Keywords

Three to six keywords should be supplied below the Abstract and should be taken from those recommended by the US National Library of Medicine's Medical Subject Headings (MeSH).

# http://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/meshhome.html

# 4. Introduction

State why the investigation was carried out, note any relevant published work, and delineate the objective of the investigation.

# 5. Materials and Methods

New methods or significant improvements of methods or changes in old methods must be described. Methods for which an adequate reference can be cited are not to be described, except for providing information about the aims of the method. Details regarding animal housing conditions should be given. All clinical studies must contain :

1. A statement that all experimental protocols have been approved by the Ethical Committee of the Institution prior to the commencement of the studies,

2. A statement that all participants gave informed consent.

# 6. Results

Duplication between the text of this section and material presented in tables and figures should be avoided. Tabular presentation of masses of negative data must be avoided and replaced with a statement in the text whenever possible. The results must be presented clearly, concisely and without comment.

# 7. Discussion

The discussion should begin with a brief summary of the findings, followed by the following: how this study is similar or different from prior studies with regards to methods and results and limitations of this study. This section must also relate the significance of the work to existing knowledge in the field and indicate the importance of the contribution of this study.

# 8. References

The style of references is that of the Index Medicus. List all authors when there are six or fewer, when there are seven or more list the first three, then add "et al.". Unpublished results or personal communications should be cited as such in the text. Where a doi number is available it must be included at the end of the citation. Please note the following examples:

i. Yazici D, Taş S, Emir H, Sunar H. Comparison of premeal mixed insulin three times daily and basal – bolus insulin therapy started post-operatively on patients having coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Marmara Med J 2011; 25:16-9.doi: 10.5472/ ii. Walker M, Hull A. Preterm labor and birth. In: Taeusch HW, Ballard RA, eds. Avery's Diseases of the Newborn. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1998: 144,153.

iii. Hagström H, Nasr P, Ekstedt M, et al. Fibrosis stage but not NASH predicts mortality and time to development of severe liver disease in biopsy-proven NAFLD. J Hepatol 2017; 67: 1265-73. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.07.027.

iv. WONCA Ad Hoc Task Force on Tobacco Cessation.

http://globalfamilydoctor.com/publications/new/ november/09.htm (Accessed on ......)

In the text, reference numbers should be placed in square brackets [], and placed before the punctuation; for example [1], [1-3] or [1,3]. References must be numbered consecutively in the order they are first mentioned.

# Figures, Tables, Units

Diagrams and illustrations should be given Arabic numerals. All figure legends should be grouped and written on a separate page. Each Figure should be in one of the following preferred formats: Tiff, JPEG, PDF, and EPS.Tables should be numbered consecutively with Roman numerals in order of appearance in the text. Type each table doublespaced on a separate page with a short descriptive title directly above and with essential footnotes below.

Units will be in general accordance with the International System (SI) as adopted by the 11th General Conference on Weights and Measures.

# **Ethical Issues**

Compliance with the principles of the last version of the Declaration of Helsinki for humans and the European Community guidelines for the use of animals in experiments is accepted as a policy by the Marmara Medical Journal. Studies involving human or animal subjects should conform to national, local and institutional laws and requirements. Manuscripts which do not properly consider ethical issues for humans or animals will not be accepted for publication.

http://www.wma.net/e/policy/b3.htm

# **Double-blind Review**

This journal uses double-blind review, which means that both the reviewer and author identities are concealed from the reviewers, and vice versa, throughout the review process. To facilitate this, authors need to ensure that their manuscripts are prepared in a way that does not give away their identity.

# Plagiarism

Manuscripts are investigated for possible plagiarism once they are accepted for possible publication. If an author receives a plagiarism notice regarding his/her manuscript, the corrections should be made within one month. If the Editorial Board detects any plagiarism on the second check after correction of the manuscript by the authors, the chief editor can reject the manuscript. your article will be checked by the plagiarism detection software iThenticate.

# **Funding Source**

All sources of funding should be declared as an acknowledgment at the end of the text.

# Following Documents are Required Prior Publication

# **Approval of the Institutional Ethics Committee**

a) Marmara Medical Journal requires that investigations performed on human subjects have the prior approval of the Institutional Ethics Committee on Human Experimentation. Authors are required to submit a signed statement as to the date and details of the appropriate review. The authors must state that the investigation conforms with the principles of Declaration of Helsinki.

b) When studies involve the use of experimental animals, manuscripts should briefly describe the procedures employed for animal care and handling. Where drugs are used at particular concentrations in intact animal systems, the author should indicate some rationale for selection of the particular concentration.

# **Copyright Release Form**

Copyright Release Form must be read and signed by all authors.

Copyright Release Form pdf

# Authorship

It is the responsibility of every researcher listed as an author of a manuscript in Marmara Medical Journal to have contributed in a meaningful and identifiable way to the design, performance, analysis, and reporting of the work and to agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Before publication, each author must sign a statement attesting that he or she fulfills the authorship criteria of the



ICMJE Recommendations.

http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/

# **Financial Associations/Conflicts of Interest**

All participants – not only the corresponding author – must consider their conflicts of interest when fulfilling their roles in the process of article preparation and must disclose all relationships that could be viewed as potential conflicts of interest according to the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) Guidelines and/ or Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE) Recommendations. Disclosure forms filed by all authors alongside the full text of each article is mandatory.

https://publicationethics.org/guidance/Guidelines

http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/

We encourage the authors on using the ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest to standardize authors' disclosures. Conflict of Interest Form.pdf

# Statement of Human Rights and Statement of Animal Rights

Statement of human rights and statement of animal rights, when necessary, must be signed by all authors prior publication.

Statement of human and animal rights form.pdf

# **Patient Consent for Publication**

Patients have a right to privacy. Identifying information, including patients' names, initials, or hospital numbers, should not be published in written descriptions, photographs or in any kind of patient-related materials. In circumstances where this information is essential for scientific purposes, authors should obtain the patient's (or the legal guardian's) written informed consent prior to the publication.

Patient Consent for Publication pdf



# Statement of Human Rights

# Title:

This is to certify that the procedures and the experiments followed for the manuscript were in accordance with the ethical standards of the ...... Ethics Committee on human experimentation and with the ethical standards in the Declaration of Helsinki 2013, as well as the national law.

Author's Name	Signature	Date		

# Statement of Animal Rights

# Title:

This is to certify that the procedures and the experiments were conducted in accord with the highest scientific, humane and ethical principles of the Institutional and National Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

Author's Name	Signature	Date		
	••••••	•••••		



# Contents

#### **Original Articles**

Bitter melon (Momordica charantia) fruit extract ameliorates methotrexate-induced reproductive toxicity in male rats

Fatma KANPALTA, Dilek OZBEYLI, Ali SEN, Ozge CEVIK, Goksel SENER, Feriha ERCAN

The natural course of gastric intestinal metaplasia in Turkish patients: A single-center observational cohort study

Coskun Ozer DEMIRTAS, Mesut KOLDAS, Metehan YILMAZ, Muhammed Zahid SAHIN, Muhammed Talha SOYKUVVET, Cigdem ATAIZI CELIKEL, Feyza **GUNDUZ** 

The effects of melatonin on the striatum

Sinem GERGIN, Ozlem KIRAZLI, Hatice BORACI, Sercan Dogukan YILDIZ, Umit Suleyman SEHIRLI

SREBP1c silencing reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and related apoptosis in oleic acid induced lipid accumulation

Erdi SOZEN, Tugce DEMIREL-YALCINER, Doga Damla DEMİR, Berkay OZNACAR, Nesrin KARTAL OZER

Impact of ankyloglossia on the language development of children

Hatice Ezgi BARIS, Hakan GUNHAN, Selda KUCUK, Fatma Nihal DURMUS KOCAASLAN, Perran BORAN

Differential diagnosis of classical Bartter syndrome and Gitelman syndrome: Do we need genetic analysis?

Sercin GUVEN, Ibrahim GOKCE, Ceren ALAVANDA, Neslihan CICEK, Ece Bodur DEMIRCI, Mehtap SAK, Serim PUL, Ozde Nisa TURKKAN, Nurdan YILDIZ, Pinar ATA, Harika ALPAY

Comparison of postoperative pain and pain 260 control techniques in uniportal and biportal VATS and open surgery patients

Cagatay CETINKAYA, Zeynep BILGI, Tunc LACIN, Korkut BOSTANCI, Bedrettin YILDIZELI, Mustafa YUKSEL, Hasan Fevzi BATIREL

267 The palmaris longus muscle: A surface study of the population of North Cyprus

Maryam N ALIYU, Mehtap TIRYAKIOGLU

Genetic alterations and pathways in patients 274 with Hereditary Angioedema of Unknown Cause (U-HAE)

Hande KAYMAKCALAN, Hande ALP, Ahmet Okay CAGLAYAN, Okan GULBAHAR, Emine Nihal GOKMEN, Emrah NIKEREL

The role of serum lactate levels in predicting 279 abdominal surgery in geriatric patients who had computed tomography

Kadir KUCUKCERAN, Mustafa Kursat AYRANCI

The effects of low bone mineral density on pain, 286 quality of life and fatigue in patients with epilepsy

Cagri UNAL-ULUTATAR, Gonca YAZICI SACAKLIDIR, Ipek MIDI, Gulseren Derya AKYUZ

Topical and systemic analgesia versus caudal 292 epidural and dorsal penile nerve block in relieving pain after pediatric circumcision

Ayse KARATAS, E. Zeynep ETI, Tumay UMUROGLU, Seniyye Ulgen ZENGIN, F. Yilmaz GOGUS

298 Evaluation of skills of intensive care nurses regarding central venous catheter care: An observational study

Gulnur KAR, Ebru EREK KAZAN



# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

- **307** The efficacy of epiduroscopic adhesiolysis in patients with chronic back pain after surgery Hakki OLCULU, Kursat GUL, Seniyye Ulgen ZENGIN
- 312 Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on maxillofacial trauma etiology

Melekber CAVUS OZKAN, Omer SARAC

**319** The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity screening tool

Emine EKICI, Hatice IKIISIK, Handan ANKARALI, Gulay MANAV, Merve COLAK, Ezgi Hasret KOZAN CIKIRIKCI

How do social and spousal support influence postpartum depression?

Nese YAKSI, Dilsad SAVE

#### Case Reports

**335** Constrictive pericarditis diagnosed following liver transplantation

Nilufer CETINER, Berna SAYLAN CEVIK, Engin TUTAR, Elif EROLU, Koray AK, Figen AKALIN

339 An unusual acute onset hard and small volume epidural blood clotting after anterior cervical discectomy with tetraparetic neurological findings

Hadi SASANI, Mehdi SASANI, Fahir OZER

344 Calyceal diverticular stones: Does the insistence on less invasive technique keep the patient away from a major complication?

Murat Tugrul EREN, Hakan OZVERI

348 Orbital inflammatory disease in a child caused by a ruptured dermoid cyst misdiagnosed as orbital cellulitis

Hayrunnisa BEKIS BOZKURT, Hulya GOKMEN SOYSAL

351 Coexistent intracranial midline cysts: Persistent cavum septum pellucidum, cavum vergae, cavum velum interpositum, and a pineal cyst

Mehtap TIRYAKIOGLU



# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# Bitter melon (*Momordica charantia*) fruit extract ameliorates methotrexate-induced reproductive toxicity in male rats

Fatma KANPALTA<sup>1</sup> <sup>(b)</sup>, Dilek OZBEYLI<sup>2</sup> <sup>(b)</sup>, Ali SEN<sup>3</sup> <sup>(b)</sup>, Ozge CEVIK<sup>4</sup> <sup>(b)</sup>, Goksel SENER<sup>5</sup> <sup>(b)</sup>, Feriha ERCAN<sup>1</sup> <sup>(b)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Histology and Embryology, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Pathology Laboratory Techniques, Vocational School of Health Sciences, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Pharmacognosy, School of Pharmacy, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>4</sup>Department of Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Adnan Menderes University, Aydin, Turkey.

<sup>5</sup> Vocational School of Health Service, Fenerbahce University, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Feriha ERCAN **E-mail:** eferiha@hotmail.com

Submitted: 23.02.2021 Accepted: 25.05.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: Methotrexate (MTX) is a drug commonly used for the treatment of malign neoplastic and inflammatory diseases. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of bitter melon (BM) were reported. The aim of this study was to examine the effects of BM fruit extract on MTX-induced testicular and epididymal damage.

Materials and Methods: Sprague Dawley male rats were divided into three groups (n=8) as control, MTX and MTX+BM. A single dose of MTX (20 mg/kg) was injected intraperitoneally to the MTX and MTX+BM groups. BM fruit extract (600 mg/kg) was applied to the MTX+BM group orally for 5 days. Testes were examined for general histopathology, proliferating and apoptotic cells. The epididymis samples were used for the evaluation of sperm morphology. Oxidative and inflammatory markers were analysed biochemically.

Results: Increased abnormal spermatozoa, degenerated seminiferous tubules with increased apoptotic cells and decreased proliferative cells were observed in the MTX group. TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , 8-hydroxy-2-deoxyguanosine and caspase-3 levels increased, superoxide dismutase and catalase levels decreased in both testis and epididymis samples. All these histological and biochemical parameters were ameliorated in the MTX+BM group.

Conclusion: Methotrexate causes testis damage by decreasing spermatogenic cells and increasing apoptosis through oxidative stress and inflammation. BM extract improves testis and epididymis damage with its possible anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effects. Keywords: Methotrexate, Bitter melon, Testis, Epididymis, Oxidative stress

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Methotrexate (MTX), a folic acid anti-metabolite drug, is commonly used in the treatment of many clinical diseases such as romatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, psoriasis and some malign neoplastic diseases [1]. Its use is limited due to its side effects including pansitopenia, infections, hepatotoxicity and neuropathy [2]. In addition, the male genital system is also adversely affected by MTX. An increase in degenerated seminiferous tubules with apoptotic cells and a decrease in proliferative cells in the germinal epithelium have been reported [1, 3-8]. Various mechanisms have been proposed to explain its side effects, but not yet fully elucidated. MTX induces apoptosis by causing DNA damage [1, 3-5, 7, 8], disrupting the oxidant and anti-oxidant balance [3-9] and increasing inflammation [5, 6, 10] thereby leading to toxicity in male reproductive systems.

Anti-oxidants and anti-inflammatory compounds such as folic and folinic acid [1], propolis [3], zinc [4], chrysin [5],

protocateuchuic acid [6], vitamin B17 [7], apocynin [8] and agomelatine [10] have been indicated to prevent spermatogenic cells from MTX-induced male reproductive system damage. These studies have shown that anti-oxidants are thought to help protect testicular tissue against oxidative stress.

*Momordica charantia*, known as bitter melon (BM), is a vegetable belonging to Cucurbitaceae family. BM is grown in tropical and subtropical regions of many countries. This plant, rich in carbohydrates, proteins, fiber, minerals and vitamins, has been used for traditional treatment. Many parts of this plant (fruit, seed, root) are used in traditional treatments as well as being food. BM contains essential oils, flavonoids, phenolic acids, fatty acids, amino acids, lectins, etc. and they are responsible for its biological activity [11]. Many usefull effects of BM was reported such as anti-oxidant activity [12-14], anti-inflammatory effect [15, 16],

How to cite this article: Kanpalta E, Ozbeyli D, Sen A, Cevik O, Sener G, Ercan F. Bitter melon (*Momordica charantia*) fruit extract ameliorates methotrexate-induced reproductive toxicity in male rats. Marmara Med J 2021; 34: 222-228, doi: 10.5472/marumj.988941

anti-diabetic property [17, 18], wound healing effect [19, 20], antiviral activity [21] and anticancer effect [22-26]. Protective effects of BM have been reported on damaged tissues such as liver [27], brain [12, 16] and testis [17] in previous studies.

Yet, effects of BM against testis and epididymis damage induced by MTX have not been documented. So, the purpose of this study was to search the possible anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of BM fruit extract on testicular damage in MTX-induced rats.

# 2. MATERIAL and METHODS

# **Experimental animals**

Twenty-four Sprague Dawley male rats (twelve weeks old) were purchased from the Marmara University Experimental Animals Research and Implementation Centre. They were transferred and kept in polycarbonate cages with soft rice husk bedding in a room controlled for ventilation (air exchange 18 time/hour), 12-h lightdark cycle, relative humidity (50-60%) and temperature (23-25°C) during the study. The animals were given balanced food and water ad libitum. This study was approved by Marmara University, School of Medicine, Animal Care and Use Committee (08.2020.mar).

# Preparation of the Bitter Melon Fruit Extracts

Bitter melon fruits were collected from the rural area of Umurbey, Gemlik district of Bursa, Turkey in August 2019. The botanical determination of the plant was made by Dr. Ismail Senkardes. The voucher specimens have been stored in the Herbarium of School of Pharmacy, Marmara University (MARE No: 22446). BM fruit extract was prepared in the Marmara University Pharmacognosy Department. Briefly, fresh fruits with seeds were smashed by blender, and then, were macerated by ethanol 95% (1000 mL) for 48 h. The extraction process was repeated until the solvent becomes colourless. The filtrate was evaporated and concentrated at 40 °C using a rotary evaporator. The dried ethanol extract, obtained with a yield of 5.35%, was stored at +4 °C until the analysis.

# Experimental groups

The rats were randomly divided into three groups (n=8) as control, MTX and MTX+BM. A single dose of MTX (20 mg/kg) was applied to MTX and MTX+BM groups by intaperitoneal injection. MTX+BM group was given BM fruit extract dissolved in saline (600 mg/kg) by oral gavage for 5 days. BM fruit extract administration dose was decided according to a previous study of Subramani and Krishnamurthy (2019), that reported the therapeutic efficacy at a dose of 600 mg/kg [28]. The control and MTX groups were given saline for 5 days. The animals were decapitated and testis and epididymis samples were obtained at the end of the experiment.

# Measurement of superoxide dismutase, catalase, caspase-3, 8-hydroxy-deoxyguanosine, interleukin-1β, and tumor necrosis factor – α levels

The superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), caspase-3, 8-hydroxy-deoxyguanosine (8-OhDG), interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  levels were measured in epididymis

and testis homogenates by using commercial Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) kits (Abbkine Inc. Wuhan, China). The results were given as ng/mg for CAT, 8-OhDG and IL-1 $\beta$ ; U/mg for SOD; nmol pNA/mg for caspase-3 and pg/mg for TNF- $\alpha$  levels.

# Morphological evaluation of epididymal sperm

The left caudal epididymis was cut into small pieces and a routine density gradient method was used to examine the sperm. For sedimentation, the supernatant was removed using 5 ml Earle's Balanced Salt Solution (Sigma, USA), then the pellet was diluted with sperm washing medium (SAGE, UK) and centrifuged. The pellet was then diluted with sperm preparation medium (SAGE, UK). Smears were stained with Diff-Quick kit (Medion Diagnostics, Grafelfing, Germany) for morphological evaluation. One hundred spermatozoa were evaluated under a photomicroscope at 400× magnification for tail, neck and head morphology [29].

# Light microscopic preparation

The right testes were collected and fixed with 10% neutral buffered formalin and processed for rouitine paraffin embedding technique. Paraffin sections (5  $\mu$ m) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for general morphological evaluation, periodic acid Schiff (PAS) reaction for evaluation of basement membrane and evaluated under a photomicroscope (Olympus BX51, Tokyo, Japan). In each section, 20 seminiferous tubules were measured for germinal epithelium thickness and evaluated with histopathological Johnsen's score [30] at 200x magnification. Each tubule was scaled from 1 (absence of germinal epithelium) to 10 (complete spermatogenesis) according to the epithelial maturation.

# Proliferating cell nuclear antigen immunohistochemistry analysis

Paraffin sections (4  $\mu$ m) were placed in a 57 °C oven for 1 hour, then deparaffinized with xylene. After decreasing series of alcohol, they were put into 3% hydrogen peroxide solution. They were boiled in citrate buffer (10 mM; pH 6.0; 20 min) for antigen retrivial. After washing in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), sections were incubated with blocking solution (SensiTek HRP Anti-Polyvalent Lab Pack, AEM080). Sections were incubated overnight (4 °C) with rabbit anti-proliferation cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) primary polyclonal antibody (ab152112, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) in a humidified chamber. Slides were washed with PBS and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody (20 min). After washing with PBS, the sections were placed in streptavidin peroxidase (20 min), washed with PBS, and applied 3, 3-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride dihydrate (DAB) chromogen and counterstained with hematoxylin. In each section, PCNA-positive and negative cells were counted in 20 seminiferous tubules. The proliferation index was calculated by the percentage of PCNA-positive spermatogonia (PCNA-positive spermatogonia / total number of spermatogonia) in each seminiferous tubule.

# Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling analysis

The terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling (TUNEL) method was used according to the instructions of kit (Apoptag Kit Plus Peroxidase, In Situ Apoptosis Detection Kit, Millipore, S7101, Temecula, CA, USA). Paraffin sections were counterstained with hematoxylin. In each section, TUNEL-positive cells were counted in 20 seminiferous tubules. Apoptotic index was calculated according to tubules which is containing three or more TUNEL-positive cells were reported as the percentage of twenty tubules.

#### Statistical Analysis

One-way ANOVA analysis of variance was used for data analysis and Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used for determination of differences between groups. The results were represented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) using Graph Pad Prism Version 8.0 (Graph Pad Software, San Diego, USA). Significant difference was considered at the level of p<0.05.

# **3. RESULTS**

# Results of SOD, CAT, caspase-3, 8-OHdG, IL – 1 $\beta$ , and TNF – $\alpha$ levels

SOD (p<0.001) and CAT (p<0.001) levels reduced, 8-OHdG (p<0.001), caspase-3 (p<0.01), TNF- $\alpha$  (p<0.001) and IL-1 $\beta$  (p<0.01) levels increased in epididymis samples of the MTX group compared to the control group. However, SOD (p<0.05) and CAT (p<0.05) levels were higher, 8-OHdG (p<0.01), caspase-3 (p<0.01), TNF- $\alpha$  (p<0.05) and IL-1 $\beta$  (p<0.01) levels were lower in the MTX+BM group than the MTX group (Figure 1).



Figure 1. SOD (a), CAT (b), 8-OHdG (c), caspase-3 (d), TNF- $\alpha$  (e) and IL-1b (f) levels of epididymal tissues are seen in the experimental groups. \*\* p<0.01 and \*\*\* p<0.001 compared to control (C) group, + p<0.05 and ++ p<0.01 compared to MTX+BM group.

SOD (p<0.001) and CAT (p<0.01) levels decreased, 8-OHdG (p<0.001), caspase-3 (p<0.001), TNF- $\alpha$  (p<0.001) and IL-1 $\beta$  (p<0.01) levels increased in the testis of the MTX group compared to the control group. But, SOD (p<0.05) and CAT (p<0.05) levels increased, 8-OHdG (p<0.01), caspase-3 (p<0.01), TNF- $\alpha$  (p<0.01) and IL-1 $\beta$  (p<0.01) levels decreased in the MTX+BM group compared to the MTX group (Figure 2).



Figure 2 SOD (a), CAT (b), 8-OHdG (c), caspase-3 (d), TNF- $\alpha$  (e) and IL-1b (f) levels of testis tissues are seen in the experimental groups. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 compared to control (C) group. +p<0.05, ++p<0.01 compared to MTX group.

# Histopathological results

According to our Diff Quick stained epididymal sperm morphological analysis, normal and abnormal sperms with tail, neck and head defects were seen in each of the experimental groups (Figure 3  $A_1$ - $C_1$ ). Spermatozoa with head (p<0.001), neck (p<0.05) and tail (p<0.05) abnormalities increased and normal spermaotozoa decreased (p<0.001) in the MTX group compared to the control group. However, spermatozoa with head (p<0.01) and neck abnormalities decreased and spermatozoa with tail abnormalities (p<0.05) increased in the MTX+BM group compared to the MTX group (Figure 3  $D_1$ ).



Figure 3. Representative light micrographs of spermatozoa (A,-C<sub>1</sub>), testis (A<sub>1</sub>-C<sub>2</sub>), sperm morphologic damage ratio (D<sub>1</sub>), germinal epithelium thickness (D<sub>2</sub>) and Johnsen's histopathological scores (D<sub>2</sub>) are seen in the experimental groups. Normal spermatozoa and spermatozoa with head (arrow head) and tail (\*) anomalies are seen in the control (A<sub>1</sub>), MTX (B<sub>1</sub>) and MTX+BM (C<sub>1</sub>) groups. Normal seminiferous tubules with germinal epithelium (A<sub>2</sub>) and regular PAS positive basement membrane (A<sub>x</sub>) are seen in the control group. Degenerated seminiferous tubules with dilatation of the germinal epithelial cells (arrow), decreased number of germinal epithelial cells (arrowhead) are seen in MTX group (B<sub>2</sub>). PAS positive stained irregular basement membrane (arrow) and large vacuol formation in between the seminiferous tubules (asterisk) are seen in this group  $(B_3)$ . Normal seminiferous tubules and some degenerated tubules with dilatation of germinal epithelium (arrow) are seen in MTX+BM group. PAS positive irregular basement membrane in some area (arrow) are seen in this group  $(C_{*})$ .  $A_{1}$ - $C_{1}$ : Diff-Quick staining. Scale bar: 20 µm. A<sub>2</sub>-C<sub>2</sub>: H&E staining. A<sub>2</sub>-C<sub>2</sub>: PAS staining. Scale bar: 50  $\mu m$ , inset B<sub>2</sub>: 20  $\mu m$ . \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001 and \*\*\*\* p<0.0001 compared to control (C) group. + p < 0.05, ++ p < 0.01, +++ p < 0.001 and ++++ *p*<0.0001 compared to MTX group.

Regular seminiferous tubules with basement membrane, spermatogenic and Sertoli cells and sperms in lumen were seen in the control group (Figure 3  $A_2$ ,  $A_3$ ). Degenerated seminiferous tubules with dilatations of the germinal epithelium, reduction of the germinal cell line, irregular basement membrane and large dilatations between the seminiferous tubules were observed in the MTX group (Figure 3  $B_2$ ,  $B_3$ ). Although, some dilatations were found in seminiferous tubules, quite normal appearing seminiferous tubules were observed in the MTX+BM group (Figure 3  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$ ). Johnsen's score (p<0.001) and germinal epithelium thickness (p<0.001) decreased in the MTX group compared to the control group. However, Johnsen's score (p<0.001) and germinal epithelium thickness (p<0.0001) increased in the MTX+BM group compared to the MTX group (Figure 3  $D_2$ ,  $D_3$ ).

#### PCNA immunohistochemistry results

PCNA-positive cells were observed as dark brown colour in seminiferous tubules of the experimental groups (Figure 4  $A_1$ - $C_1$ ). Proliferation index was lower (p<0.0001) in the MTX and MTX+BM groups compared to the control group (Figure 4  $D_1$ ).

#### TUNEL results

TUNEL-positive cells were seen as dark brown colour in all of the experimental groups (Figure  $4A_2$ - $C_2$ ). However, the number of TUNEL positive cells was the highest in the MTX group (Figure 4 B<sub>2</sub>). Apoptotic index was higher in the MTX group (p<0.0001) compared to the control group and this apoptotic index value was lower in the MTX+BM group (p<0.0001) compared to the MTX group (Figure 4 D<sub>2</sub>).



Figure 4. Representative light micrographs of PCNA-immunostained  $(A_1-C_1)$  and TUNEL-stained  $(A_2-C_2)$  testis samples, proliferation index  $(D_1)$  and apoptotic index  $(D_2)$  are seen in the experimental groups. Normal seminiferous tubules with numerous PCNA-positive (arrow,  $A_1$ ), a few number of TUNEL-positive (arrow,  $A_2$ ) spermatogenic cells are seen in the control group. A few number of PCNA-positive (arrow,  $B_1$ ), increased number of TUNEL-positive (arrow,  $B_2$ ) spermatogenic cell are seen in the MTX group. Normal seminiferous tubules with many PCNA-positive cells (arrow,  $C_1$ ), but decrease number of TUNEL-positive (arrow,  $C_2$ ) spermatogenic cells are seen in the MTX+BM group. Scale bar: 50 µm; insets in  $A_2$  and  $B_2$ : 20 µm. \* p<0.05 and \*\*\*\* p<0.0001 compared to control group, ++++ p<0.0001 compared to MTX group.

#### 4. DISCUSSION

In the present study, the ameliorating effects of BM on MTX induced testicular and epididymal damage were demonstrated by histological, immunohistochemical and biochemical methods. The results of this study showed that MTX induction caused changes in testicular morphology with decreasing proliferative cells and increasing apoptotic cells, increase of abnormal spermatozoa, testicular and epididymal oxidative stress and inflammation. BM fruit extract treatment ameliorated these histopathological and biochemical alterations in MTXinduced testis and epididymis damage by its anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties.

Chemotherapeutic agents are used for treatment but they might cause excessive reactive oxigen species (ROS) accumulation. ROS increase causes infertility by disrupting the process of the male genital system. Therefore, anti-oxidant compounds are needed to protect the body from oxidative stress damage [29]. It was shown that the oxygen radical level of testis, epididymis and semen fluid are important and critical to preserve sperm vitality and function. Increase of ROS level in these tissues causes DNA damage or lipid peroxidation in spermatozoa; thus sperm capacitation, maturation and even vitality are negatively affected and fertility is reduced [31]. MTX is also a chemotherapeutic agent which is used in monotherapy or combined with other medicines for treatments of inflammatory and some malign neoplastic diseases [1, 2]. A decrease in the activities of antioxidant endogenous enzymes SOD and CAT has been shown in MTX-induced testicular damage [2, 5, 7, 11]. Benefical effects of BM such as anti-oxidant [12, 14], antiinflammatory [15, 16] and anti-apoptotic activity, have been reported [17]. It was observed that BM aqueous extract reduced mitochondrial ROS in mice with restriction stress and prevented liver damage through its anti-inflammatory effect by reducing inducible nitric oxide synthase and the most protective effect of BM extact was found in 750 mg/kg dose [27]. In an another study, oral administration of BM fruit ethanolic extract in 250 and 500 mg/kg doses to diabetes induced testis damage showed anti-oxidant and anti-apoptotic effects, but BM extract was more protective in high doses [17]. In parallel with previous studies, it was found that oral administration of BM extract at a dose of 600 mg/kg has been found to have anti-oxidant, anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory effects in MTX-induced testicular and epididymis damage.

Methotrexate treatment increases ROS and lowers anti-oxidant defense, which results in increase in inflammation-related markers. Persistent inflammation has been shown to produce more ROS, which worsens oxidative damage [1, 2, 4-8]. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are cytokines that cause inflammatory reaction and control the inflammatory process. Some studies, have shown that MTX increases the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in MTX-induced testis and epididymis damage in rats [7, 8]. BM has been shown to prevent depressive-like behaviors in mice by reducing proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels in hippocampus [19]. In another study, BM was shown to reduce mitochondrial ROS in mice with restriction stress and prevented liver damage through its anti-inflammatory effect

by reducing inducible nitric oxide synthase [30]. In this study, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  levels rised in both testis and epididymis samples in MTX group, so our study showed that MTX-induced damage in those tissues was associated with inflammation. BM treatment decreased these inflammatory markers to the control levels in both testis and epididymis samples.

8-OHdG which is formed by ROS in damaged tissue, is a marker of DNA damage. Previous studies have shown that MTX treatment increases 8-OHdG in testis tissue [5]. Caspase-3 is the main executor caspase in the apoptotic pathway, its increase suggests apoptosis activation. A study has been shown to increase caspase-3 activity in the testis of animals treated with MTX [8]. Moreover, it has been shown that there is an increase in the number of apoptotic cells in the testis in experimental animals administered MTX [1, 4, 5]. In diabetic rats, BM has been shown to increase testicular anti-oxidant enzymes, reduce caspase-3 activity and inhibit apoptosis, resulting in histopathological improvement [20]. BM has been shown to inhibit the activation of JNK3/c-Jun/Fas-L and JNK3/cytochrome C/caspase-3 signaling cascades and prevent apoptosis due to its anti-oxidant properties during cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury [15]. In an in vitro study, it has been shown that MTX causes apoptosis and autophagy in spermatocyte cell line via formation of ROS [10]. Parallel to these findings, an increase in 8-OHdG level and caspase-3 activity in the epididymis and testis samples and an increase in apoptotic cells in the testis in MTX group has been observed in our study. However, BM treatment in MTX applied rats reduced caspase-3 activity and 8-OHdG level in both the testis and epididymis samples and apoptotic index in the testis samples.

It was reported that chemotherapeutic agents cause male genital system toxicity such as damage to the seminiferous tubules of the testis and epididymis, reducing sperm count and leading to genetic mutations in sperms [1, 3-5]. It has been shown in many studies that these harmful effects are caused by oxidant damage [3-6, 8-10], inflammation [5, 6, 10], DNA damage and apoptosis [1, 3-7] and decreased FSH, LH and testosteron hormone levels in the serum [4, 7, 8, 10, 17]. Previous studies have shown that MTX causes a decrease in proliferation [3, 4], an increase in apoptosis and DNA damage in the testis, also it decreases the number of spermatozoa and increases the number of abnormal spermatozoa [1, 3-5]. Parallel to the previous studies, we have observed decrease in endogeneous anti-oxidant SOD and CAT activities, as well as an increase in caspase-3 activity and 8-OHdG level in both the testis and epididymis samples in the MTX group. Histological findings showed that increased degenerated seminiferous tubules with a decrease in proliferative cells and an increase in apoptotic cells and increased abnormal spermatozoa were present in the MTX group. BM extract amelioriated MTX-induced testicular and epididymal damage via increase of endogenous anti-oxidant level and inhibition of apoptotic activity.

As a result, MTX is used for the treatment of many diseases, but it has side effects on male genital system toxicity. MTX leads to a decrease in anti-oxidant defence, an increase in inflammation and DNA damage in both testis and epididymis. Moreover, MTX induced testicular and epididymal damage in rats by its antioxidant, anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory response. The use of aqueous fruit extract of bitter melon may be an effective way to ameliorate potential male fertility in the MTX-induced damage. The limitation of this study is a need for further studies with different dose and time adjustments to obtain more accurate results.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank botanist Ismail Senkardes, PhD, (Department of Pharmaceutical Botany, Faculty of Pharmacy, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey) for his help for identification of the plant material.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval**: This study was approved by Marmara University, School of Medicine, Animal Care and Use Committee (08.2020. mar).

**Financial Support:** The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

**Author Contributions:** F.K., D.O., G.S. and F.E. contributed to the conception and design. F.K., D.O., A.S., O.C., G.S. and F.E. performed experiments and did data collection, F.K., G.S. and F.E. analyzed data. F.K., G.S. and F.E. contributed to the writing and F.E. did the critical revision of the article. All authors approved the final version of the article.

# REFERENCES

- Padmanabhan S, Tripathi D, Vikram A, Ramarao P, Jena GB. Methotrexate-induced cytotoxicity and genotoxicity in germ cells of mice: intervention of folic and folinic acid. Mutat Res 2009; 673:43-52. doi: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2008.11.011
- [2] Romao VC, Lima A, Bernardes M, Canhao H, Fonseca JE. Three decades of low-dose methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis: can we predict toxicity? Immunol Res 2014; 60:289-310. doi: 10.1007/s12026.014.8564-6
- [3] Sonmez MF, Cilenk KT, Karabulut D, et al. Protective effects of propolis on methotrexate-induced testis injury in rat. Biomed Pharmacother 2016; 79:44-51. doi: 10.1016/j. biopha.2016.02.002.
- [4] Maremanda KP, Jena GJB. Methotrexate-induced germ cell toxicity and the important role of zinc and SOD1: Investigation of molecular mechanisms. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2017; 483:596-601. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.12.098.
- [5] Belhan S, Comakli S, Kucukler S, Gulyuz F, Yildirim S, Yener Z. Effect of chrysin on methotrexate-induced testicular damage in rats. Andrologia 2019; 51: e13145. doi: 10.1111/and.13145

- [6] Owumi SE, Ochaoga SE, Odunola OA, Farombi EO. Protocatechuic acid inhibits testicular and epididymal toxicity associated with methotrexate in rats. Andrologia 2019; 51(9):e13350. doi: 10.1111/and.13350
- [7] Felemban SG, Aldubayan MA, Alhowail AH, Almami IS. Vitamin B17 ameliorates methotrexate-induced reproductive toxicity, oxidative stress, and testicular injury in male rats. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2020; 2020:4372719. doi: 10.1155/2020/4372719
- [8] Sarihan K, Yardimoglu M, Eraldemir F, Yazir Y, Acar E. Protective effects of apocynin on damaged testes of rats exposed to methotrexate. Turk J Med Sci 2020; 50:1409-20. doi: 10.3906/sag-1909-52
- [9] Xiong S, Song D, Xiang Y, et al. Reactive oxygen species, not Ca(2+), mediates methotrexate-induced autophagy and apoptosis in spermatocyte cell line. Basic and Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2020; 126:144-52. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.13306
- [10] Aslankoc R, Ozmen O, Ellidag HY. Ameliorating effects of agomelatine on testicular and epididymal damage induced by methotrexate in rats. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 2020; 34:e22445. doi: 10.1002/jbt.22445
- [11] Sur S, Ray RB. Bitter Melon (Momordica Charantia), a nutraceutical approach for cancer prevention and therapy. Cancers 2020; 12:2064. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082064
- [12] Gong J, Sun F, Li Y, et al. Momordica charantia polysaccharides could protect against cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury through inhibiting oxidative stress mediated c-Jun N-terminal kinase 3 signaling pathway. Neuropharmacology 2015; 91:123-34. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.11.020
- [13] Aljohi A, Matou-Nasri S, Ahmed N. Antiglycation and Antioxidant Properties of Momordica charantia. PLOS One. 2016; 11:e0159985-e. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159985
- [14] Chen F, Huang G, Yang Z, Hou Y. Antioxidant activity of momordica charantia polysaccharide and its derivatives. Int J Biol Macromol 2019; 138:673-80. doi: 10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2019.07.129
- [15] Solomon U, Ashorobi R. Evaluation of anti-inflammatory and membrane stabilizing property of aqueous leaf extract of Momordica charantia in rats. Afr J Biomed Res 2009; 9:119-24. doi: 10.4314/ajbr.v9i2.48892
- [16] Deng Z, Yuan C, Yang J, et al. Behavioral defects induced by chronic social defeat stress are protected by Momordica charantia polysaccharides via attenuation of JNK3/PI3K/AKT neuroinflammatory pathway. Ann Transl Med 2019; 7(1):6. doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.12.08
- [17] Soliman GA, Abdel-Rahman RF, Ogaly HA, et al. Momordica charantia Extract Protects against Diabetes-Related Spermatogenic Dysfunction in Male Rats: Molecular and Biochemical Study. Molecules 2020; 25(22): 5255. doi: 10.3390/molecules2522555
- [18] Kim SK, Jung J, Jung JH, et al. Hypoglycemic efficacy and safety of Momordica charantia (bitter melon) in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Complement Ther Med. 2020; 52:102524. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2020

- [19] Piskin A, Altunkaynak BZ, Tumentemur G, Kaplan S, Yazici OB, Hokelek M. The beneficial effects of Momordica charantia (bitter gourd) on wound healing of rabbit skin. J Dermatolog Treat 2014; 25:350-7. doi: 10.3109/09546.634.2012.713459
- [20] Singh R, Garcia-Gomez I, Gudehithlu KP, Singh AK. Bitter melon extract promotes granulation tissue growth and angiogenesis in the diabetic wound. Adv Skin Wound Care 2017; 30:16-26. doi: 10.1097/01.ASW.000.050.4758.86737.76
- [21] Schreiber CA, Wan L, Sun Y, Lu L, Krey LC, Lee-Huang S. The antiviral agents, MAP30 and GAP31, are not toxic to human spermatozoa and may be useful in preventing the sexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Fertil Steril 1999; 72:686-90. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(99)00302-7
- [22] Pitchakarn P, Ogawa K, Suzuki S, et al. Momordica charantia leaf extract suppresses rat prostate cancer progression in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Sci 2010; 101:2234-40. doi: 10.1111/ j.1349-7006.2010.01669
- [23] Claflin AJ, Vesely DL, Hudson JL, et al. Inhibition of growth and guanylate cyclase activity of an undifferentiated prostate adenocarcinoma by an extract of the balsam pear (Momordica charantia abbreviata). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1978;75:989-93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.75.2.989
- [24] Sumanth M, Chowdary GN. Antimutagenic activity of aqueous extract of Momordica charantia. Int J Biotech Mol Biol 2010; 1:42-6. doi: 10.5897/IJBMBR.9000003
- [25] Kaur M, Deep G, Jain AK, et al. Bitter melon juice activates cellular energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase causing

apoptotic death of human pancreatic carcinoma cells. Carcinogenesis 2013; 34:1585-92. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt081

- [26] Fan X, He L, Meng Y, Li G, Li L, Meng Y. α-MMC and MAP30, two ribosome-inactivating proteins extracted from Momordica charantia, induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in A549 human lung carcinoma cells. Mol Med Rep 2015; 11:3553-8. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.3176.
- [27] Deng Y, Tang Q, Zhang Y, et al. Protective effect of Momordica charantia water extract against liver injury in restraint-stressed mice and the underlying mechanism. Food Nutr Res 2017; 61:1348864. doi: 10.1080/16546.628.2017.1348864
- [28] Subramani B, Krishnamurthy B. Effects of Momordica Charantia (Bitter gourd) on oxidative stress and proinflammatory marker in metabolic syndrome using a highfructose diet induced rat model. Biomed Pharmacol J 2019; 12:305-24. doi:10.13005/bpj/1642
- [29] Koroglu KM, Cevik O, Sener G, Ercan F. Apocynin alleviates cisplatin-induced testicular cytotoxicity by regulating oxidative stress and apoptosis in rats. Andrologia. 2019; 51:e13227. doi: 10.1111/and.13227
- [30] Johnsen SG. Testicular Biopsy Score Count A Method for registration of spermatogenesis in human testes: normal values and results in 335 hypogonadal males. Hormones 1970; 1:2-25. doi: 10.1159/000178170
- [31] Chen SJ, Allam JP, Duan YG, Haidl G. Influence of reactive oxygen species on human sperm functions and fertilizing capacity including therapeutical approaches. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2013; 288:191-9. doi: 10.1007/s00404.013.2801-4

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# The natural course of gastric intestinal metaplasia in Turkish patients: A single-center observational cohort study

Coskun Ozer DEMIRTAS<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Mesut KOLDAS<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Metehan YILMAZ<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Muhammed Zahid SAHIN<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Muhammed Talha SOYKUVVET<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Cigdem ATAIZI CELIKEL<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Feyza GUNDUZ<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Feyza GUNDUZ **E-mail:** drfgunduz@yahoo.com

Submitted: 01.03.2021 Accepted: 23.05.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: Gastric intestinal metaplasia (GIM) is considered as a predisposing lesion for the development of gastric cancer and is recommended to be kept under surveillance in designated intervals. We aimed to assess the natural course of GIM in a large Turkish cohort.

Materials and Methods: We retrospectively reviewed findings from pathology reports of gastric biopsies conducted between 2011 to 2018 to reveal patients diagnosed with solitary GIM in their index pathology report. Progression of GIM was pre-defined as; low-grade dysplasia (LGD), high-grade dysplasia (HGD), or gastric malignancy.

**Results:** The median follow-up period of the study population was 34 (12-128) months. Out of 109 patients with GIM at the entry, 54 (49.6%) patients had stable GIM, whereas 53 (48.6%) cases had no signs of GIM at their final endoscopy. Only two (1.8%) patients progressed to LGD, but no HGD or malignancy was detected in the follow-up.

**Conclusion:** Although, considered as a premalignant lesion and offered surveillance globally, progression of GIM was very low in a large Turkish cohort. Further prospective studies in larger cohorts are required to enlighten the obscure strategies in the surveillance of gastric malignancy.

Keywords: Gastric intestinal metaplasia, Gastric cancer, Dysplasia, Surveillance

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Gastric intestinal metaplasia (GIM), defined as the replacement of the gastric mucosa by the intestinal mucosa, is a well-established precursor lesion for gastric cancer development [1]. The major risk factor for GIM development was shown to be *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection with a 3 to 8 fold increased risk compared to the uninfected population [2]. The remaining potential risk factors are known as older age, male gender, low socioeconomic status, and smoking status [3,4]. Since, GIM is usually asymptomatic and found incidentally in patients undergoing upper gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy, the exact incidence of GIM remains skeptical. The incidence of GIM was suggested to be about 25% for patients undergoing upper GI endoscopy, whereas it differed from 9% to 29.3% in previous reports from East Asia [5-7]. In 2015, the prevalence of GIM in Turkey was reported as 13.8% with the predominance of incomplete subtype [8].

Patients with GIM demonstrate a 6 to 9 fold higher risk of gastric cancer compared with the general population [9,10]. The development of gastric cancer is generally considered as a multistep process including sequential changes of the gastric mucosa from non-atrophic gastritis to atrophic gastritis, GIM, dysplasia, and finally cancer. *H. pylori* is generally thought to be responsible for pulling the trigger of this carcinogenic process [11]. However, it is still an undetermined issue as to whether all patients with GIM require a strict endoscopic surveillance program despite the fact that gastric cancer usually arises with

How to cite this article: Demirtas CO, Koldas M, Yilmaz M, et al. The natural course of gastric intestinal metaplasia in Turkish Patients: A single-center observational cohort study. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):229-233. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013580

concomitant GIM [12]. In 2019, the updated international guideline (Management of precancerous conditions and lesions of the stomach-MAPS-II) recommended endoscopic surveillance for those with extensive GIM located in antrum and corpus as well, or single location but with a family history or incomplete subtype with persistent *H. pylori* gastritis [13]. However, even in those suggested subgroups, the majority remains stable or show regression that may be either true regression mainly related to *H. pylori* eradication or pseudo-regression due to sampling and interobserver variation in histologic examination [14].

The present study aimed to investigate the natural course of GIMs in Turkish patients for the first time and expose the proportion of patients with progression to dysplasia or invasive carcinoma. Moreover, the histological changes in the characteristics of GIM throughout the follow-up period are investigated as well.

# 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

#### Patient selection and data collection

We retrospectively reviewed findings from 22.465 pathology reports of gastric biopsies conducted between 2011 to 2018 to reveal patients diagnosed with GIM in their index pathology report (n=372). All upper GI procedures and histopathologic evaluation were performed at a tertiary center with a busy endoscopic practice. Patients lost to follow-up (n=203), having inconsistent surveillance intervals lower than one year (n=25), lack of data (n=15), low-grade dysplasia (LGD) (n=8), highgrade dysplasia (HGD) (n=1) or gastric malignancy (n=6) at the initial screening or gastrectomy operation at the entry (n=2) were excluded. As a result, all patients over the age of 18 with GIM in their index upper GI endoscopy pathology report who underwent at least one surveillance upper GI endoscopy after the index endoscopy (n=109) were included for the analysis. The flow diagram of the study is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Flow diagram of the study

The demographics, details of initial upper GI endoscopy, number of biopsies taken, and histopathologic characteristics were provided from the electronic hospital database. The symptoms and/or findings leading to index upper GI endoscopy were mainly dyspepsia, epigastric pain, diarrhea, loss of weight, iron deficiency anemia, and a family history of GI malignancy.

Progression of GIM was defined as; LGD, HGD, or gastric malignancy. The follow-up time was calculated from the date of index endoscopy to the date of final endoscopy. Patients with the progression of GIM were censored for follow-up at the time of detection of progression, otherwise, patients were censored at the time of final upper GI endoscopy obtained from the hospital database.

# Upper GI endoscopy procedure and histopathologic evaluation

All endoscopies were performed using a standard forwardviewing video-gastroscope (PENTAX Medical, New Jersey, USA). Both index endoscopies and surveillance endoscopies were performed by the experienced endoscopists in the same tertiary center using the local protocol with at least two biopsied samples from the antrum (including incisura angularis) and corpus. The number of biopsies may have increased based on the visible lesions observed in the upper GI endoscopy or the physician's preference.

Biopsy samples were fixed with formalin in paraffin blocks and stained with hematoxylin & eosin. All biopsy samples were evaluated by an experienced gastrointestinal pathologist who has experience for more than 10 years in this field.

The study followed the tenets of the Helsinki Declaration and it was approved by the local Ethics Committee (Protocol No: 09.2019.808) of Marmara University, School of Medicine. Owing to the retrospective nature of the study, the need for informed consent was waived.

# Statistical analysis

The analysis was primarily descriptive. Data are reported as number (%) of patients unless indicated otherwise. All statistical analyses were conducted using the SPSS software version 20.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

# **3. RESULTS**

Through a careful investigation of 22.465 gastric pathology reports and exclusion consistent with the aforementioned criteria, 109 patients had GIM at their index endoscopy and were followed up for a period of 34 (12-128) months. Among them, 62 (56.9) were female and the mean age of the study population at the entry was  $61.3 \pm 11.6$  years. The features of index endoscopies are presented in Table I. Diagnosis of index upper GI endoscopy was antral gastritis in the majority (n=74, 67.9%), followed by atrophic gastritis (n=17, 15.6%), pangastritis (n=5, 4.6%), erosive gastritis (n=5, 4.6%), antral ulcer (n=3, 2.8) and duodenal ulcer (n=3, 2.8). Only one (0.9%) patient was reported as normal upper GI endoscopy was 2 [2-8]. The localization of GIM in the index endoscopy was dominantly

antrum (n=43, 39.4%), followed by corpus (n=13, 11.9%) and both of each (n=9, 8. 3%). The type of GIM was incomplete in 37 (33.9%), complete in 26 (23.9%), and the combination of both in 46 (42.2%) at the index endoscopy. The involvement pattern of GIM was focal in 72 (66.1%) patients and diffuse in 37 (33.9%) cases. Out of 109 analyzed patients, 29 (26.6%) had *H. pylori* at their index endoscopy.

Table I.	Endoscopic	and	histologic	findings	of	patients	at	the	entry	and
final	_		-		-	-				

	Initial Findings	Final Findings
<b>Endoscopic diagnosis,</b> <i>n</i> (%)		
Normal	1 (0.9)	-
Antral gastritis	74 (67.9)	73 (67)
Pangastritis	5 (4.6)	13 (11.9)
Atrophic gastritis	17 (15.6)	9 (8.3)
Erosive gastritis	5 (4.6)	7 (6.4)
Antral ulcer	3 (2.8)	1 (0.9)
Duodenal ulcer	3 (2.8)	2 (1.8)
Antral + Duodenal ulcer	-	1 (0.9)
Gastric polyp	1 (0.9)	3 (2.8)
Number of biopsy specimens, med (min-	2 (2-8)	2 (2-7)
max) Intestinal metaplasia localization, n (%)		
Antrum	42 (20.4)	20 (51.9)
	43 (39.4)	29 (51.8)
Corpus	13 (11.9)	14 (25)
Antrum-corpus	9 (8.3)	4 (7.1)
Unspecified	44 (40.4)	9 (16.1)
Histologic duodenitis, n (%)	2 (1.8)	2 (1.8)
Histologic atrophy, n (%)	36 (33)	41 (37.6)
Histologic gastritis, n (%)	97 (89)	97 (89)
Helicobacter pylori, n (%)	29 (26.6)	9 (8.3)
Metaplasia type, n (%)		
None	-	53 (48.6)
Incomplete	37 (33.9)	12 (11)
Complete	26 (23.9)	22 (20.2)
Incomplete + Complete	46 (42.2)	22 (20.2)
Metaplasia involvement, n (%)		
Focal	72 (66.1)	42 (75)
Diffuse	37 (33.9)	14 (25)
Follicular hyperplasia, n (%)	26 (23.9)	25 (22.9)
Lymphoid aggregate, n (%)	14 (12.8)	16 (14.7)
Neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia, n (%)	6 (5.5)	3 (2.8)

Characteristics of the final endoscopies are presented in Table I as well. In the final endoscopies, the distribution of endoscopic diagnoses was quite similar with dominance of antral gastritis (n=73, 67%) followed by pangastritis (n=13, 11.9%), atrophic gastritis (n=9, 8.3%), erosive gastritis (n=7, 6.4%), antral and/ or duodenal ulcer (n=4, 3.6%). Two more patients were found to have gastric polyps at their final endoscopies. The median number of biopsies taken in the final endoscopy was 2 [2-7]. The localization of GIM in the final endoscopy was dominantly antrum (n=29, 51.8%), followed by corpus (n=14, 25%) and both of each (n=4, 7.1%). Approximately, half of the study population (n=53, 48.6%) were found to have no GIM in their final endoscopy. The type of GIM in the remaining was as follows; complete in 22 (20.2%), incomplete in 12 (11%), and combination of both in 22 (20.2). The involvement pattern of GIM at the final endoscopy was focal in 42 (75%) patients and diffuse in 14 (25%) cases. The number of detected patients with H. pylori decreased to 9 (8.3%) in the final endoscopy, mainly due to treatment.

Fifty-four (49.6%) patients had stable GIM in a median follow-up period of 30 (12-97) months, whereas 53 (48.6%) cases had no signs of GIM at their final endoscopy in a median follow-up period of 39 (13-87) months (Figure 2). Out of 109 reviewed patients with solitary GIM at the entry, only two (1.8%) patients were progressed to LGD. Case-1 with detected LGD in her final endoscopy recruited to a repeat endoscopy in the following 6 months and 1 year and no signs of LGD were observed in both. On the other hand, Case-2 with detected LGD underwent endoscopic ultrasonography due to suspicious antral ulcer 3 months later and was biopsied again under endoscopic ultrasound guidance. The evaluation of the biopsy sample obtained under endoscopic ultrasound guidance showed that the LGD was regressed as well, and no signs of LGD was observed in the subsequent endoscopies. The details of the two cases with detected LGD is exhibited in Table II



*Figure 2.* Natural course of gastric intestinal metaplasia in Turkish patients

GIM: Gastric intestinal metaplasia

	Age	Gender	Initial Endoscopic Findings	Initial IM localization type /involvement		H. Pylori status	Time to progression(months)
Case-1	72	Male	Antral gastritis	Antrum	Incomplete/focal	(-)	54
Case-2	60	Female	Antral gastritis	Antrum+Corpus	Incomplete+Complete/ diffuse	(-)	129

H. pylori: Helicobacter pylori

# 4. DISCUSSION

The present study has demonstrated the general non-progressive disease course of GIM in the majority of patients during an average 3 years follow-up period. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the natural course of GIMs in the Turkish population. In total, only two patients showed progression to LGD, but none of them progressed to HGD or invasive carcinoma. The progression rate was comparable with a recent large European multicenter prospective cohort study conducted in low incidence regions [15]. Out of 279 patients with GIM, only 4 (1.4%) progressed to HGD or gastric cancer. The neoplastic progression ratio was 0.3% in that study which may be accepted as comparable considering the longer follow-up period of approximately 4.7 years and the larger size of their cohort. About two-thirds of their patients remained stable, while the remaining one-third were found to be regressed in the follow-up. In our study, nearly half of our patients remained stable, and the remaining half showed no signs of GIM in the follow-up endoscopy.

The lower rate of regressed GIM patients detected in our cohort may be caused by the unmeasurable pseudo-regression rates mainly due to sampling and histological examination differences. One other contributor to this issue may be the success of H. pylori eradication, which decreased the initial rate of 26% to a final rate of 8%. Another interesting finding of our study is that the rate of diffuse involvement pattern of GIM decreased from 34% to 25% throughout the study, in line with the reduction in H. pylori rates. Therewithal, an increase in the number of GIMs limited to antrum from 39.4% to 51.8% was also observed, which may be related to the decrease in H. pylori and the diffuse involvement pattern. In 2018, the reversibility of GIM and its association with H. pylori eradication has been shown in a large Korean cohort [16]. Out of 598 prospectively enrolled patients, significant improvement of GIM was only shown in the H. pylori eradicated group compared to H. pylori-negative and H. pylori non-eradicated group. Still, our observational findings require validation and explanation with further prospective studies with a larger number of patients and translational investigations.

Gastric cancer screening is recommended to a subset of GIMs and the intensity of the surveillance program is decided based on the criteria such as extension, complete/incomplete subtype,

etc. Patients with extensive GIM both in the antrum and corpus are recommended to undergo gastric cancer screening every 3 years, while a stricter surveillance program is only recommended to those with a family history of gastric cancer or advanced stages of atrophic gastritis [13]. The majority of our patients underwent a screening endoscopy within 1 or 2 years, but none exceeded 3 years as recommended. Besides, we offered screening endoscopy to all patients with GIMs in our center and did not apply a selection criterion to enter the surveillance program. In our initial cohort, 39.4% would not have been candidates for gastric cancer surveillance according to the aforementioned guideline recommendations, as they were restricted to antrum only. The lack of selection criteria implementation at the entry may be another explanation for the very benign behavior of GIMs in our study. For instance, a retrospective study conducted in Thailand with 91 GIM patients and followed-up for 5 years, showed that none of the GIMs with complete subtype has progressed, whereas a progression rate of 50% was detected in incomplete GIM subtype [17]. In our cohort, 24% did not show the characteristics of the more aggressive incomplete subtype and had complete GIM at the entry.

There are several limitations to our study. First, this was a retrospective observational study conducted in a single tertiary center. The biopsy taking in our center was implemented by experienced endoscopists and generally in line with the Sydney protocol [18] throughout the study, and all specimens were evaluated by an experienced gastrointestinal pathologist. Nevertheless, the retrospective nature of the study prevented us from homogenizing the biopsy taking and histological evaluation process. Besides, not all screening endoscopies were implemented within the same intervals, but none has exceeded the 3-year time interval suggested by the MAPS-II guideline.

In conclusion, although, considered as a preneoplastic lesion and offered surveillance globally, progression to dysplasia or invasive carcinoma was very low in a large unselected Turkish GIM cohort. Further prospective studies in larger cohorts are required to enlighten the obscure strategies in the surveillance of gastric malignancy.

# **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval:** The study followed the tenets of the Helsinki Declaration and it was approved by the local Ethics Committee (Protocol No: 09.2019.808) of Marmara University, School of

Medicine. Owing to the retrospective nature of the study, the need for informed consent was waived.

Financial Support: No special funding was obtained.

Conflict of Interest Statement: There is no conflict of interest.

**Authors' Contributions:** C.O.D. : Drafting of the work. C.O.D., F.G. : Concept and design of the study. M.K., M.Y., M.Z.S., M.T.S., C.A.C. : Data acquisition. C.O.D. : Statistical analysis. C.A.C.: Reviewing pathologic specimens and interpretation of the results. All authors critically revised the manuscript, approved the final version to be published, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

# REFERENCES

- Huang RJ, Choi AY, Truong CD, Yeh MM, Hwang JH. Diagnosis and management of gastric intestinal metaplasia: current status and future directions. Gut Liver 2019;13:596-603. doi: 10.5009/gnl19181.
- [2] Graham DY. Helicobacter pylori update: gastric cancer, reliable therapy, and possible benefits. Gastroenterology 2015;148:719-31 e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.01.040.
- [3] Zhu H, Xu H. Demographic and lifestyle risk factors for gastric intestinal metaplasia among US veterans. Am J Gastroenterol 2020;115:381-7. doi: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000498.
- [4] Oh S, Kim N, Yoon H, et al. Risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in first-degree relatives of gastric cancer patients compared with age-sex matched controls. J Cancer Prev 2013;18:149-60. doi: 10.15430/jcp.2013.18.2.149.
- [5] Trieu JA, Bilal M, Saraireh H, Wang AY. Update on the diagnosis and management of gastric intestinal metaplasia in the USA. Dig Dis Sci 2019;64:1079-88. doi: 10.1007/s10620-019-05526-5.
- [6] Yee YK, Wong KW, Hui CK, et al. Prevalence and time trend of intestinal metaplasia in Hong Kong. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;24:896-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.05799.x.
- [7] Wong BC, Lam SK, Wong WM, et al. Helicobacter pylori eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2004;291:187-94. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.2.187.
- [8] Olmez S, Aslan M, Erten R, Sayar S, Bayram I. The Prevalence of gastric intestinal metaplasia and distribution of helicobacter pylori infection, atrophy, dysplasia, and cancer in its subtypes. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2015;2015:434039. doi: 10.1155/2015/434039.

- [9] Choi AY, Strate LL, Fix MC, et al. Association of gastric intestinal metaplasia and East Asian ethnicity with the risk of gastric adenocarcinoma in a U.S. population. Gastrointest Endosc 2018;87:1023-8. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.11.010.
- [10] Song H, Ekheden IG, Zheng Z, Ericsson J, Nyren O, Ye W. Incidence of gastric cancer among patients with gastric precancerous lesions: observational cohort study in a low risk Western population. BMJ 2015;351:h3867. doi: 10.1136/bmj. h3867.
- [11] Liu KS, Wong IO, Leung WK. Helicobacter pylori associated gastric intestinal metaplasia: Treatment and surveillance. World J Gastroenterol 2016;22:1311-20. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22. i3.1311.
- [12] Park YH, Kim N. Review of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia as a premalignant lesion of gastric cancer. J Cancer Prev 2015;20:25-40. doi: 10.15430/JCP.2015.20.1.25.
- [13] Pimentel-Nunes P, Libanio D, Marcos-Pinto R, et al. Management of epithelial precancerous conditions and lesions in the stomach (MAPS II): European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE), European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group (EHMSG), European Society of Pathology (ESP), and Sociedade Portuguesa de Endoscopia Digestiva (SPED) guideline update 2019. Endoscopy 2019;51:365-88. doi: 10.1055/a-0859-1883.
- [14] den Hoed CM, Holster IL, Capelle LG, et al. Follow-up of premalignant lesions in patients at risk for progression to gastric cancer. Endoscopy 2013;45:249-56. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1326379.
- [15] den Hollander WJ, Holster IL, den Hoed CM, et al. Surveillance of premalignant gastric lesions: a multicentre prospective cohort study from low incidence regions. Gut 2019;68:585-93. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314498.
- [16] Hwang YJ, Kim N, Lee HS, et al. Reversibility of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia after Helicobacter pylori eradication - a prospective study for up to 10 years. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018;47:380-90. doi: 10.1111/apt.14424.
- [17] Pittayanon R, Rerknimitr R, Klaikaew N, et al. The risk of gastric cancer in patients with gastric intestinal metaplasia in 5-year follow-up. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2017;46:40-5. doi: 10.1111/apt.14082.
- [18] Xirouchakis E, Laoudi F, Tsartsali L, Spiliadi C, Georgopoulos SD. Screening for gastric premalignant lesions with narrow band imaging, white light and updated Sydney protocol or both? Dig Dis Sci 2013;58:1084-90. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2431-x.

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# The effects of melatonin on the striatum

Sinem GERGIN<sup>1</sup> (D, Ozlem KIRAZLI<sup>1</sup> (D, Hatice BORACI<sup>2</sup> (D, Sercan Dogukan YILDIZ<sup>3</sup> (D, Umit Suleyman SEHIRLI<sup>1</sup> (D)

<sup>1</sup>Department of Anatomy, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Maltepe, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Anatomy, Institute of Health Sciences, Maltepe, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Anatomy, School of Dentistry, Kent University, Beyoglu, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Sinem GERGIN **E-mail:** drsinemgergin@gmail.com

Submitted: 09.03.2021 Accepted: 19.05.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: Some of the neurological diseases cause morphologic changes in the striatal neurons. Medial forebrain bundle (MFB) lesion is a commonly used method to produce a Parkinsonian model rat. Melatonin is a hormone which exerts a neuroprotective effect on the neurons. The aim of this study is to investigate the effect of melatonin on the dendritic morphology of striatal medium spiny neurons (MSNs) in rats with MFB lesion.

Materials and Methods: Twelve male Wistar albino rats were given saline injections into the MFB and divided into sedentary and treatment groups. The treatment group was administered a 10 mg/kg dose of melatonin intraperitoneally for 30 days. The lesion was confirmed histologically by Nissl staining. Golgi staining technique was applied to observe neuronal morphology. Neuronal structures were analysed from three-dimensional images by Neurolucida (MBF Bioscience) software.

Results: The MFB lesion caused a reduction in the total dendritic length and in the number of dendritic endings. The melatonin enhanced the number of dendritic endings compared to the sedentary group. The melatonin led to an increase in the total spine density, spine densities of thin and mushroom types.

Conclusion: Melatonin improved the dendritic degeneration due to MFB lesion.

Keywords: Dendritic spine, Melatonin, Golgi, Neurolucida

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

The dendritic spines are small fingerlike protrusions that form excitatory synaptic connections. The spine morphology adjusts the stability and strength of the synapse [1]. The dynamic structural property of spine has a crucial role for synaptic plasticity [2]. Alterations in dendrite and spine morphology have been correlated with several neurological diseases [3,4].

The spine morphology has a wide diversity with different head and neck sizes. The spine types are classified according to the ratio of head and neck diameter such as; thin (ratio<2), mushroom (ratio>2), stubby (ratio<1) and also branched (two heads and one neck) types [1,5,6]. The mushroom type is a stable and least dynamic spine. The mushroom spine is able to have strong synaptic connections and also essential for memory storage [7]. The thin type is a more dynamic spine that represents a small synapse and is significant for learning [8]. The stubby type is a dynamic and immature spine. The stubby type may be a general precursor of more mature spine form of mushroom and thin types [9]. The branched type has bifurcated head with a neck which is rarely seen [10]. The morphological alterations of the spines reflect significant knowledge about the neuronal plasticity.

Melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine) is a hormone that is mainly synthesized in the pineal gland. Melatonin controls various physiological functions [11]. It also has anti-apoptotic, anti-tumor, and anti-oxidative properties [12,13]. Melatonin is highly lipophilic and passes across all morphological barriers (blood-brain barrier-BBB) and diffuses into all body fluids [14]. The disrupted BBB leads to the inflammatory reaction and neuronal cell damage that demonstrates the development or progression of central nervous system (CNS) diseases [15,16]. Melatonin reveales its beneficial effects in acute and chronic inflammatory processes [17,18].

The recent techniques enable to observe a more detailed neuronal morphology. Three-dimensional computer-based microscopical systems provide fundamental opportunity to attain quantitative

How to cite this article: Gergin S, Kirazli O, Boraci H, Yildiz S D, Sehirli U S. The effects of melatonin on the striatum. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):234-240. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1012077

information of neuron morphology and pathological changes. The Neurolucida is a commonly used software that facilitates different laboratories to standardize the parameters of somatodendritic morphological data [19].

The striatum is a part of the basal ganglia. It contains medium spiny neurons (MSNs) and a few interneurons [20]. Neurodegenerative diseases like Parkinson's disease lead to degeneration of the striatal neurons. In experimental models, medial forebrain bundle (MFB) is a common target to induce 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) lesion to produce a Parkinsonian model rat. Many electrophysiological studies showed that the 6-OHDA lesion in the nigrostriatal pathway led to functional loss of striatal neurons and interneurons. After the formation of the lesion, the inhibitory effect of GABAergic interneurons against the MSNs increased [21]. The impairment of striatal neurons showed motor, cognitive and behavioral symptoms that were correlated with the functional and morphological deterioration [22].

In view of high technology, spine morphology alterations reflect different functions. In the current study, we aimed to investigate the effects of melatonin on the dendrite and spine morphology of striatal neurons after minimal MFB lesion.

# 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

#### Animals and Groups

Twelve male Wistar albino rats (weighing 250-300 g, 9 weeks of age) were used in this study. The rats were obtained from Marmara University Experimental Animal Research Center. All experimental procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation of Marmara University (42.2021mar, 3.15.2021).

All animals were maintained in cages (2 rats per cage) in a room with controlled temperature ( $20^{\circ}C\pm 2^{\circ}C$ ) under a 12-h light/ dark cycle with standard rat feed and water supply. The rats were randomly divided into 2 groups (6 in each group); MFB injection + sedentary and MFB injection + melatonin.

# Animal Model

Stereotaxic surgery was performed to inject saline into the MFB. A mixture of ketamine (100 mg/kg) and xylazine (50 mg/kg) were administered intraperitoneally to anaesthetize the rats. The coordinates of right MFB were the rostral AP (anterior posterior): – 2.1, L: 2.0, V: – 7.8 (in mm) and caudal AP: – 4.3, L: 1.5 V: – 7.8 [23]. A total of 8  $\mu$ l 0.9% saline were injected at a rate of 1  $\mu$ l/min using a Hamilton syringe (Stoelting/10 $\mu$ l) and an infusion pump (KdScientific, MA, USA). At the end of the injection, the syringe was left in the MFB for 5 minutes. Then, it was pulled back slowly. After the procedure, 5 ml of saline (0.9% NaCl) was injected subcutaneously.

#### **Melatonin Preparation**

Melatonin (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA, M5250) was dissolved in ethanol, and diluted in saline solution (5:95). The final concentration of the melatonin was 10 mg/ml. The melatonin was administered intraperitoneally at a dose of 10 mg/kg at the same day time (for 30 days). The drug was prepared freshly before the injection.

#### Tissue Collection and Golgi Staining

The rats were killed by transcardial perfusion with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), (0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4) after deeply anesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg, intraperitoneally). The brains were removed and sectioned for staining. In order to determine the accuracy of the MFB injection site, Nissl staining was performed and examined through a light microscope (Figure 1).



*Figure 1. Examination of the MFB injection site by Nissl staining using a 10 X objective under a light microscope.* 

Golgi-cox staining technique was performed to observe the morphological features of the dendrite and the spine in detail [1]. FD Rapid GolgiStain Kit<sup>TM</sup> (FD NeuroTechnologies Inc. Elliot City, MD, USA) which is a commercially available Golgi staining kit was used according to the instructions. The kit contains standard A, B, C, D, E solutions. After perfusion, the brain tissues were rinsed with double distilled water then they were immersed in the impregnation solution, made by mixing equal volumes of solutions A and B (mercuric chloride, potassium dichromate and potassium chromate). Then, it was stored at room temperature for 3 weeks in the dark. The brain tissues were replaced in the impregnation solution (A and B again) after 24 hours then tissues were transferred into solution C and stored at room temperature in the dark for one week before slicing. The brain sections were cut in 100 µm on a cryostat (Leica Biosystems, CM 1950, USA) at -20°C. Each section was transferred with a glass specimen and mounted on gelatin-coated microscope slides with solution C and stored at room temperature in the dark until they were dried out. The slices were rinsed in double distilled water and then placed in a mixture consisting of 1 fraction solution D,

1 fraction solution E and 2 fractions of double distilled water for 10 minutes. After sections were rinsed in double distilled water, slices were dehydrated in series of 50%, 75%, 95% and 100% ethanol respectively and lastly cleared in xylene and cover-slipped by the aid of permount.

# Light Microscopic Analysis

Golgi-stained sections were investigated using an Olympus BX51 microscope and Q Imaging Retiga-2000R camera. Neuronal structures were examined from three-dimensional images using Neurolucida software (MBF Bioscience, Williston, WT, USA). MSN selection and classification of neuronal features were made intently by an observer blinded to the animal groups. For each group, 2 neurons on the lesion and contralateral sides were analysed giving a total of 48 neurons and 96 dendrites. For quantitative analysis, neuron body and dendrites were drawn using a 60 X objective. After, the dendritic spines of the first 10 µm length from the branching area on the secondary dendrites (nearest branch point) were marked. Then, the spines were classified according to the dendritic spine head and neck ratio by a 100 X objective. Sholl analysis was performed for each neuron to maintain morphologic parameters per 10 µm in diameter concentric circles (Figure 2). The dendritic morphometric analysis was performed by Neurolucida Explorer. Total dendritic length (total length of primary and secondary dendritic branches), number of dendritic branches (total number of primary and secondary dendritic segments), nodes (total dendritic bifurcation points), endings (total dendritic termination points), total spine density (spines/10 µm dendrite), morphologic classification of spines (thin, mushroom, stubby, branched) and densities were analized.



**Figure 2.** 3D reconstruction of the Sholl analysis of a MSN in the melatonin group. (Scale bar 10  $\mu$ m). The neuron body is shown in orange. The dendritic branches of neuron are represented with different colors (green-primary, red-secondary, pink-tertiary, blue – quaternary). The spines are shown in yellow arrows on secondary branches of dendrites.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The GraphPad Prism 6 software was used for the analysis of the data. The normal distribution of data was evaluated by Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Based on this, whenever the data pass the normality test, parametric Sample t-test was performed. When the data did not pass the normality test, non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was performed. Data in the text and figures were shown as mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (SEM). The data was represented as "p value". A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# **3. RESULTS**

#### Morphological Analyses of MSNs

The dendritic branching pattern and spine morphology were observed by using Neurolucida software on MSNs in the striatum. The MFB lesion resulted in the reduction of the total dendritic length (181.1  $\pm$  28.1µm, n=6) compared to the contralateral side  $(366.3 \pm 58.7 \mu m, n=6)$  of the sedentary group (t=1.40, df=10; p=0.0174; Figure 3). The MFB lesion led to a significant reduction in the total dendritic endings (6  $\pm$  0.5, n=6) compared to the contralateral side  $(9 \pm 0.8, n=6)$  of the sedentary group (t=2.98, df=10; p=0.0137, Figure 4). The total dendritic length on the lesion side did not show any significant difference between the melatonin  $(244 \pm 34.9 \mu m, n=6)$  and sedentary  $(181.1 \pm 28.1 \mu m, n=6)$  groups (p=0.19). The melatonin  $(8.3 \pm 0.8, n=6)$  enhanced the number of dendritic endings compared to the sedentary group  $(2.4 \pm 0.6)$ , n=6), (t=5.81, df=10; p=0.0002, Figure 5). Moreover, the number of dendritic branches and nodes on the lesion side did not show statistically significant difference either between the contralateral sides of each group or melatonin and sedentary groups (branches; p=0.93, nodes; p=0.99). The dendritic complexity on the lesion side did not reveal a significant difference either between the melatonin and sedentary groups (p=0.88) or contralateral sides of each group (p=0.97).



**Figure 3.** The effects of MFB lesion on total dendritic length ( $\mu$ m). The lesion side of the number of the total dendritic length was significantly lower compared to the contralateral side of sedentary group (p=0.0174, \*p<0.05).



**Figure 4.** The effects of MFB lesion on number of dendritic endings. The lesion side of the number of the dendritic endings was significantly lower compared to the contralateral side of sedentary group (p=0.0137, \*p<0.05)



**Figure 5.** The effect of melatonin on number of dendritic endings. The melatonin increased the number of dendritic endings compared to the sedentary group (p=0.0002, \*\*\*p<0.001).

The effect of melatonin (7.4  $\pm$  1.1 spines/10µm, n=6) increased the total spine density compared to the sedentary group (3  $\pm$  1.2 spines/10µm, n=6) (t=2.70, df=10; p=0.0223; Figure 6). The spine density of thin type was increased by the melatonin (3.1  $\pm$  0.6 thin spines/10µm) compared to the sedentary group (1.1 $\pm$ 0.1

thin spines/10µm, n=6) (t=3.2, df=10; p=0.0092; Figure 7). The spine density of mushroom type was enhanced in the melatonin  $(3.2 \pm 0.6 \text{ mushroom spines}/10µm, n=6)$  group compared to the sedentary group  $(1.1 \pm 0.5 \text{ mushroom spines}/10µm)$ , (t=2.25, df=10; p=0.0303; Figure 8). The spine densities of stubby and branched types did not show statistically significant difference either between melatonin and sedentary groups or contralateral sides of each group (stubby; p=0.07, branched; p=0.35).



**Figure 6.** The effects of MFB lesion and melatonin on total spine density (spines/10  $\mu$ m). The melatonin group increased the total spine density compared to the sedentary groups ( p=0.0223, \*p<0.05 ).



**Figure 7.** The effects of MFB lesion and melatonin on spine density of thin type (thin spines/ $10\mu$ m). The thin type spine density was higher in the melatonin group compared to the sedentary group (p=0.0092, \*\*p<0.01).



**Figure 8.** The effects of MFB lesion and melatonin on mushroom type spine density (mushroom spines/10 $\mu$ m). The mushroom type spine density was higher in the melatonin group compared to the sedentary group (p=0.0303, \*p<0.05

# 4. DISCUSSION

The potential effects of melatonin on the lesioned striatal neurons were analysed in this study. The MFB lesion led to a reduction of the total dendritic length and the number of dendritic endings compared to the contralateral side of the sedentary group. The melatonin improved the number of dendritic endings compared to the sedentary group. The number of dendritic branches and the nodes were not affected by MFB lesion and also melatonin did not cause any significant effect on these structures. Therefore, the dendritic complexity did not show any significant difference between the melatonin and sedentary groups. The administration of melatonin increased the total spine density and the spine densities of thin and mushroom types.

The dendritic branching pattern of MSNs was affected by many abnormal conditions [24,25]. The cerebral hypoxic ischemia revealed the impaired dendritic arbors such as; branches, nodes, endings and spines in an animal model of MSNs [26]. Some psychostimulant drugs have been shown to increase the dendritic branching in animal models of drug abuse [27]. In contrast, the 6-OHDA and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) injected Parkinsonian models, there was a decrease in the dendritic length and spine density that was correlated with the loss of dopamine [28,29]. The recent literature showed that dopamine secretion regulates the formation and the density of dendritic spines in the striatum [30]. A previous study demonstrated the decrease of the spine densities of thin and mushroom types and an increase of the spine density of stubby type in MSNs following 6-OHDA lesion [8]. This study showed that a minimal trauma to the MFB may cause a limited degree of damage by affecting the dendrite. This information should be kept in mind during planning the Parkinson's disease model studies.

Exogenous melatonin is an important endocrine hormone due to its BBB penetration and easy tolerability without any side effects. Melatonin regulates the expression of neurotrophins and also ameliorates the motor and behavioral functions [31].

Melatonin has antioxidative and neuroprotective effects. It has been suggested as a beneficial antioxidant in the treatment of central nervous system disorders such as brain injuries, Parkinson's disease, Huntington and Alzheimer's disease [32,33]. The studies reported that melatonin had an effect on oxidative stress by increasing antioxidant enzymes and mitochondrial complex-I [34,35]. A study reported that melatonin improved the reduction in the spine density of MSN after MPTP injection [36]. The literature suggested that several types of spines reflect different synaptic functions [9,37]. In the present study, melatonin improved the dendritic endings, total spine density and spine densities of thin and mushroom types. The mushroom type has more synaptic ability because of containing excess glutamatergic receptors compared to the other types [7,38]. Thin spines are more dynamic form for synaptic plasticity that are also associated with the cognitive function [8,39]. The neuronal plasticity occurs in two ways which are functional and structural. In addition, the neuronal plasticity involves alterations in the dendritic spines rather than dendrites in the mature brain [40]. In our study, the structural changes observed in melatonin group were considered as plasticity. The increases of thin and mushroom spine types in the melatonin group represented a more stable morphological form of the spine. This is probably correlated with its synaptic ability. The total dendritic length in the striatum was positively affected by melatonin. Moreover, there was no statistically significant difference in the spine densities of stubby and branched types between the groups. We put forth that the melatonin was more effective on the spine density compared to the dendritic arborization.

Our study showed the effects of MFB lesion and the effects of melatonin on the striatal neurons. A minimal MFB lesion influenced the dendritic parameters rather than the spines. The melatonin ameliorated the morphologic features of dendrites and spines. Melatonin has beneficial effect on the spine density. There is conflicting data in the literature regarding the functions of different spine types [41,42]. The data provided from our study will also contribute to the understanding of the morphology and function of dendrites and spines in the striatum.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval:** The study protocol was approved by the Animal Experimentation Ethical Committee of Marmara University (approval number: 42.2021.mar).

Financial Support: No special funding was obtained.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** There is no conflict of interest.

**Author Contributions:** : S.G., U.S.S. Finding the topic, performing the experiment, analysis and writing the manuscript. O.K. Performed the Golgi staining and statistical analysis. H.B.Performed the Golgi staining. S.D.Y. Contributed to the

analysis at Neurolucida software. All authors have read and approved the final version of the article.

#### REFERENCES

- Arellano JI, Benavides-Piccione R, Defelipe J, Yuste R. Ultrastructure of dendritic spines: correlation between synaptic and spine morphologies. Front Neurosci 2007; 1:131-43. doi: 10.3389/neuro.01.1.1.010.2007.
- [2] Yuste R. Dendritic spines. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press, 2010: 162.
- [3] Herms J, Dorostkar MM. Dendritic spine pathology in neurodegenerative diseases. Annu Rev Pathol 2016; 11:221-50. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012.615.044216.
- [4] Solis O, Limón DI, Flores-Hernández J, Flores G. Alterations in dendritic morphology of the prefrontal cortical and striatum neurons in the unilateral 6-OHDA-rat model of Parkinson's disease. Synapse 2007; 61:450-8. doi: 10.1002/syn.20381.
- [5] Peters A, Kaiserman-Abramof IR. The small pyramidal neuron of the rat cerebral cortex. The perikaryon, dendrites and spines. Am J Anat 1970; 127:321-55. doi: 10.1002/ aja.100.127.0402.
- [6] Spires TL, Grote HE, Garry S, et al. Dendritic spine pathology and deficits in experience-dependent dendritic plasticity in R6/1 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. Eur J Neurosci 2004; 19:2799-2807. doi: 10.1111/j.0953-816X.2004.03374.x.
- [7] Grutzendler J, Kasthuri N, Gan WB. Long-term dendritic spine stability in the adult cortex. Nature 2002; 420:812-6. doi: 10.1038/nature01276.
- [8] Suarez LM, Solis O, Aguado C, Lujan R, Moratalla R. L-DOPA oppositely regulates synaptic strength and spine morphology in D1 and D2 striatal projection neurons in dyskinesia. Cereb Cortex 2016; 26:4253-64. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw263.
- [9] Bourne J, Harris KM. Do thin spines learn to be mushroom spines that remember? Curr Opin Neurobiol 2007; 17:381-6. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2007.04.009.
- [10] Comery TA, Stamoudis CX, Irwin SA, Greenough WT. Increased density of multiple-head dendritic spines on medium-sized spiny neurons of the striatum in rats reared in a complex environment. Neurobiol Learn Mem 1996; 66:93-96. doi: 10.1006/nlme.1996.0049.
- [11] Tordjman S, Chokron S, Delorme R, et al. Melatonin: Pharmacology, Functions and Therapeutic Benefits. Curr Neuropharmacol 2017; 15:434-43. doi: 10.2174/1570159X14 6.661.61228122115.
- [12] Reiter RJ, Mayo JC, Tan DX, Sainz RM, Alatorre-Jimenez M, Qin L. Melatonin as an antioxidant: under promises but over delivers. J Pineal Res 2016; 61:253-78. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12360.
- [13] Wang X. The antiapoptotic activity of melatonin in neurodegenerative diseases. CNS Neurosci Ther 2009; 15:345-57. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-5949.2009.00105.x.
- [14] Pandi-Perumal SR, BaHammam AS, Brown GM, et al. . Melatonin antioxidative defense: therapeutical implications for aging and neurodegenerative processes. Neurotox Res 2013; 23:267-300. doi: 10.1007/s12640.012.9337-4.

- [15] Stolp HB, Dziegielewska KM, Ek CJ, Potter AM, Saunders NR. Long-term changes in blood-brain barrier permeability and white matter following prolonged systemic inflammation in early development in the rat. Eur J Neurosci 2005; 22:2805-2816. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04483.x.
- [16] Ozdemir D, Uysal N, Gonenc S, et al. Effect of melatonin on brain oxidative damage induced by traumatic brain injury in immature rats. Physiol Res 2005; 54:631-7. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19051539.
- [17] Polimeni G, Esposito E, Bevelacqua V, Guarneri C, Cuzzocrea S. Role of melatonin supplementation in neurodegenerative disorders. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 2014; 19:429-446. doi: 10.2741/4217. PMID: 24389194.
- [18] Hardeland R. Melatonin and inflammation-Story of a doubleedged blade. J Pineal Res 2018; 65:e12525. doi: 10.1111/ jpi.12525.
- [19] Bicanic I, Hladnik A, Petanjek Z. A quantitative Golgi study of dendritic morphology in the mice striatal medium spiny neurons. Front Neuroanat 2017; 11:37. doi: 10.3389/ fnana.2017.00037.
- [20] Tepper JM, Abercrombie ED, Bolam JP. Basal ganglia macrocircuits. Prog Brain Res 2007; 160:3-7. doi: 10.1016/ S0079-6123(06)60001-0.
- [21] Gittis AH, Nelson AB, Thwin MT, Palop JJ, Kreitzer AC. Distinct roles of GABAergic interneurons in the regulation of striatal output pathways. J Neurosci 2010; 30:2223-34. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4870-09.2010.
- [22] O'Callaghan C, Bertoux M, Hornberger M. Beyond and below the cortex: the contribution of striatal dysfunction to cognition and behaviour in neurodegeneration. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2014; 85:371-8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-304558.
- [23] Paxinos G, Watson C. The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. 6th ed. USA: Academic Press, 2007.
- [24] Bicanic I, Hladnik A, Petanjek Z. A Quantitative Golgi Study of Dendritic Morphology in the Mice Striatal Medium Spiny Neurons. Front Neuroanat. 2017; 11:37. doi:10.3389/ fnana.2017.00037
- [25] Kulkarni VA, Firestein BL. The dendritic tree and brain disorders. Mol Cell Neurosci 2012; 50:10-20. doi: 10.1016/j. mcn.2012.03.005.
- [26] McClendon E, Chen K, Gong X, et al. Prenatal cerebral ischemia triggers dysmaturation of caudate projection neurons. Ann Neurol 2014; 75:508-24. doi: 10.1002/ana.24100.
- [27] Robinson TE, Kolb B. Structural plasticity associated with exposure to drugs of abuse. Neuropharmacology 2004; 47:33-46. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2004.06.025.
- [28] Villalba RM, Smith Y. Differential structural plasticity of corticostriatal and thalamostriatal axo-spinous synapses in MPTP-treated Parkinsonian monkeys. J Comp Neurol 2011; 519:989-1005. doi: 10.1002/cne.22563.
- [29] Walker RH, Moore C, Davies G, Dirling LB, Koch RJ, Meshul CK. Effects of subthalamic nucleus lesions and stimulation upon corticostriatal afferents in the 6-hydroxydopaminelesioned rat. PLoS One 2012; 7:e32919. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0032919.

- [30] Soderstrom KE, O'Malley JA, Levine ND, Sortwell CE, Collier TJ, Steece-Collier K. Impact of dendritic spine preservation in medium spiny neurons on dopamine graft efficacy and the expression of dyskinesias in parkinsonian rats. Eur J Neurosci 2010; 31:478-90. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07077.x.
- [31] Mack JM, Schamne MG, Sampaio TB, et al. Melatoninergic system in Parkinson's disease: from neuroprotection to the management of motor and nonmotor symptoms. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016; 2016:3472032. doi: 10.1155/2016/3472032.
- [32] Osier N, McGreevy E, Pham L, et al. Melatonin as a therapy for traumatic brain injury: A review of published evidence. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19:1539. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051539.
- [33] Wongprayoon P, Govitrapong P. Melatonin as a mitochondrial protector in neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 2017; 74:3999-4014. doi: 10.1007/s00018.017.2614-x.
- [34] Reiter RJ, Mayo JC, Tan DX, Sainz RM, Alatorre-Jimenez M, Qin L. Melatonin as an antioxidant: under promises but over delivers. J Pineal Res 2016; 61:253-78. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12360.
- [35] Saravanan KS, Sindhu KM, Mohanakumar KP. Melatonin protects against rotenone-induced oxidative stress in a hemiparkinsonian rat model. J Pineal Res 2007; 42:247-53. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-079X.2006.00412.x.
- [36] Naskar A, Manivasagam T, Chakraborty J, et al. Melatonin synergizes with low doses of L-DOPA to improve dendritic spine density in the mouse striatum in experimental Parkinsonism. J Pineal Res 2013; 55:304-12. doi:10.1111/ jpi.12076.

- [37] Chidambaram SB, Rathipriya AG, Bolla SR, et al. Dendritic spines: Revisiting the physiological role. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2019; 92:161-93. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.01.005.
- [38] Bello-Medina PC, Flores G, Quirarte GL, McGaugh JL, Prado Alcalá RA. Mushroom spine dynamics in medium spiny neurons of dorsal striatum associated with memory of moderate and intense training. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2016;113:E6516-E6525. doi:10.1073/pnas.161.368.0113.
- [39] Dumitriu D, Hao J, Hara Y, et al. Selective changes in thin spine density and morphology in monkey prefrontal cortex correlate with aging-related cognitive impairment. J Neurosci 2010; 30:7507-7515. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6410-09.2010.
- [40] Krohmer RW, Jurkovic J. Neuronal plasticity in the forebrain of the male red-sided garter snake: Effect of season, low temperature dormancy, and hormonal status on dendritic spine density. Physiol Behav 2020; 215:112789. doi: 10.1016/j. physbeh.2019.112789.
- [41] Bourne J, Harris KM. Do thin spines learn to be mushroom spines that remember? Curr Opin Neurobiol 2007;17:381-6. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2007.04.009.
- [42] Bello-Medina PC, Flores G, Quirarte GL, McGaugh JL, Prado Alcalá RA. Mushroom spine dynamics in medium spiny neurons of dorsal striatum associated with memory of moderate and intense training. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E6516-E6525. doi:10.1073/pnas.161.368.0113.

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# SREBP1c silencing reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and related apoptosis in oleic acid induced lipid accumulation

Erdi SOZEN<sup>1,2</sup> (D, Tugce DEMIREL-YALCINER<sup>1</sup> (D, Doga Damla DEMİR<sup>3</sup> (D, Berkay OZNACAR<sup>3</sup> (D, Nesrin KARTAL OZER<sup>1</sup> (D)

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Marmara University, Maltepe, Istanbul, 34854, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Genetic and Metabolic Diseases Research and Investigation Center (GEMHAM), Marmara University, Maltepe, Istanbul, 34854, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Medical Student, Faculty of Medicine, Marmara University, Maltepe, Istanbul, 34854, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Nesrin KARTAL OZER E-mail: nkozer@marmara.edu.tr

Submitted: 03.01.2021 Accepted: 21.04.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: Sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c (SREBP1c) is one of the major transcription factors that is involved in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) development by increasing hepatic fatty acid and triglyceride synthesis. Our study aimed to investigate the interaction of SREBP1c with endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in oleic acid (OA) induced lipid accumulation. Material and Methods: Optimum lipid droplet (LD) formation and SREBP-1c induction were determined in alpha mouse liver 12 (AML12) hepatocytes following the incubation with different OA concentrations. To determine the effect of SREBP-1c, cells were transfected with siRNA specific for SREBP-1c. LD formation and SREBP-1c induction were determined via Oil Red O and immunblotting, respectively. Phospho IRE1, GRP78, CHOP, ATF6 and JNK levels were determined with immunofluorescence staining.

**Results:** Optimum LD formation and SREBP-1c induction were achieved at 0.5 mM oleat concentration. While SREBP-1c silencing decreased LD formation in non-OA treated cells, no significant effect of silencing was determined following OA administration. On the other hand, SREBP-1c silencing in OA treated cells reduced phospho IRE1, ATF6, JNK and CHOP expressions.

Conclusion: Our results suggest that the novel function of SREBP-1c can regulate ER stress response in OA induced lipid accumulation. Keywords: Lipid accumulation, SREBP1c, ER stress, Apoptosis

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), one of the essential components of metabolic syndrome, is one of the major health problems today and is currently recognized as a disease entity by the World Health Organization and numerous professional societies. NAFLD is characterized by the formation of lipids in more than 5% of liver weight. Studies have shown that 25% of the population is suffering from fatty liver disease and 90% of these patients are obese individuals [1]. Therefore, understanding the mechanisms regulating lipid accumulation in the pathogenesis of NAFLD is extremely important, however, there are not published studies [2]. It has been shown that the abnormalities in the mechanisms regulating lipogenesis are major cause of triglyceride deposition in hepatocytes [3]. Sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBPs) are transcription factors which modulate lipogenesis. SREBPs consist of three isoforms, termed SREBP1a, SREBP1c and SREBP2, and are encoded by two genes: SREBF1 and SREBF2. They are synthesized as inactive precursor proteins attached to the ER membrane, and each isoform has a unique effect on lipid homeostasis. Proteolytic processing of precursors generates transcriptionally active forms that control the expression of a range of genes involved in cholesterol, fatty acid, phospholipid and triacylglycerol synthesis [4]. SREBP1c meditates the transcription of genes involved in fatty acid and triglycerides synthesis, including ATP citrate lyase, acetyl-CoA synthetase (ACS), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), fatty acid synthase (FAS), steroyl-CoA desaturase-1 (SCD-1) and glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT), while SREBP2 is specifically responsible for cholesterol synthesis and transport genes as well as LDL receptor gene transcription [5]. SREBP1a targets the genes of both transcription factors. SREBP1a targets the genes of both pathways.

How to cite this article: Sozen E, Demirel-Yalciner T, Demir DD, Oznacar B, Ozer NK. SREBP1c silencing reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress and related apoptosis in oleic acid induced lipid accumulation. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):241-247. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1009096

241

Another important issue in NAFLD pathogenesis is endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress which is characterized by abnormalities in lipid synthesis and chaperones. ER is a crucial organelle responsible in the proper synthesis/folding of proteins, calcium storage, biosynthesis of sterols and phospholipids, and detoxification of toxic substances. Under basal conditions, glucose regulated protein 78 (GRP78) is attached to three major ER stress sensor proteins; inositol requiring kinase 1 (IRE1), double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR)like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6). In stress conditions that exceed the folding capacity, GRP78 binds to incorrectly folded or unfolded proteins, and dissociates from IRE1, PERK and ATF6 are activated to promote a physiological response called ER stress [6]. In addition to protein misfolding, irregularities in lipid homeostasis activate ER stress and the excessive ER stress response plays a role in the development and progression of NAFLD by enhancing lipid accumulation, inflammation, insulin resistance, autophagy and apoptosis [7].

Although, SREBP1c is a well-identified transcription factor that has been shown to play a role in disease progression by increasing hepatic fatty acid and triglyceride synthesis, its interaction with ER stress in oleic acid (OA) induced lipid accumulation has not been fully understood yet. In this study we aimed to contribute to literature by clarifying the association between ER stress and SREBP1c and their role in OA induced lipid accumulation.

# 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

# Cell culture and treatments

Alpha mouse liver 12 (AML12) hepatocytes were maintained in Dulbeco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 mg/mL streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. To stimulate intracellular lipid accumulation, cells were exposed to different concentrations of oleic acid:bovine serum albumin (BSA) complex (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) for 24 h. Cells were seeded in 6/24-well plates for 48 h before treatment with vehicle (DMEM) or OA:BSA complex at the indicated concentrations and time periods. All experiments were applied according to protocols approved by Marmara University, School of Medicine Ethics Committee (protocol number 09.2019.188).

# SREBP1c siRNA transfection

Alpha mouse liver 12 cells were seeded at a density of  $8 \times 10^5$ in 6 well plate for 24 h and then transfected with siRNA specific for SREBP1c (Thermo Fisher Scientific, siRNA ID: 151861) by using Lipofectamine RNAiMax Reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA, Catalog No: 13778075) according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 80 pmol SREBP1c siRNA in 1:3 and 1:6 ratio of siRNA: Lipofectamine RNAiMax Reagent was prepared in OptiMEM (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. The mixture was gently added dropwise to the cells in OptiMEM and then incubated at 37 °C with 5%  $CO_2$ . 24 and 48 hours after the transfection, cells were harvested for immunoblot experiment to confirm that the SREBP1c was silenced.

Following the optimization of siRNA transfection, cells were seeded in 6/24-well plates for 48 h before pretreatment with SREBP1c siRNA and then treated with vehicle (DMEM) or OA:BSA to divide into four groups totally; i) Control, ii) SREBP1c siRNA, iii) OA, iv) SRBEP1c siRNA + OA.

# **Oil Red O staining**

Following the siRNA and/or OA administrations, cells were fixed with 10% neutral-buffered formalin for 10 min, washed twice with PBS, and stained with 0.2% Oil Red O (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) in isopropanol for 15 min. Cells were then washed in PBS, and visualized and photographed using light microscope (Zeiss, Amsterdam, Netherlands). Lipid accumulation was quantified by counting the number of lipid droplets in at least thirty cells for each group.

# Immunoblot analysis

Cells were collected and lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (Cell Signalling Technology, Massachusetts, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Protein concentrations were measured with BCA assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). Total 20 µg of protein samples were separated by 10% sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to nitrocellulose membrane. Following the blocking with 5% BSA in Tris-buffered saline with Tween TBST solution for 1 h, membranes were probed with primary antibodies against SREBP1c (Abcam, Cambridge, UK, Catalog No: ab3259) and β-actin (Cell Signaling Technology, Massachusetts, USA, Catalog No: 4967) overnight. After washing of unbound primary antibodies with TBST and use of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies, blots were visualized with chemiluminescence kit (Cell Signaling Technology, Massachusetts, USA). The density of bands was quantified and normalized with  $\beta$ -actin using Image J software.

# Immunofluoresence analysis

AML12 cells were seeded on twelve-well glass chamber slides and treated with OA for 24 h with or without SREBP1c silencing. After incubations, cells were fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 15 min, blocked in 10% goat serum, and incubated for overnight at 4°C with indicated antibodies; GRP78 (Cell Signaling, Massachusetts, USA, Catalog No: 3177), phospho IRE1 (Abcam, Massachusetts, USA, Catalog No: ab104157), CHOP (Aviva Systems Biology, California, USA, Catalog No: ARP31591\_ P050), JNK (Novus Biologicals, Colorado, USA, Catalog No: NBP2-25115) and ATF6 (Novus Biologicals, Colorado, USA, Catalog No: NBP2-76329). Following use of Alexa Fluor 488 or Alexa Fluor 594 secondary antibodies and DAPI, images were captured using a Zeiss LSM700 confocal microscope (Amsterdam, Netherlands) and analyzed using Image J software. The average number of fluorescence intensities per cell was recorded in at least thirty cells for each group.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 4 (Graph-Pad) software. For determination of statistical significances of differences, one-way ANOVA was performed followed by multiple comparisons using the Student-Newman-Keuls test. P-value less than 0.05 has been accepted to be statistically significant.

# **3. RESULTS**

# Inducing lipid accumulation in AML12 cells

Increased lipid droplet formation in hepatocytes is a typical finding of hepatic steatosis. The water-soluble OA:BSA complex has earlier been shown to efficiently stimulate lipid accumulation and used in the literature (8-10). Here in our study, we first confirmed this finding via Oil Red O staining and established an *in vitro* hepatic steatosis model in AML12 cells. As shown in Fig. 1A, AML12 cells were treated with concentrations of 0.06 mM, 0.5 Mm and 1 mM OA to stimulate lipid droplet formation. Analysis of the lipid droplet number per cell revealed a significant increase in all OA treated groups compared to control (Fig. 1B). In addition to Oil Red O data, SREBP1c protein expression was also observed. We determined that exposure of AML12 cells to 0.5 mM OA stimulated the expression of SREBP1c (Fig. 1C) as well as the formation of lipid droplets. In light of these findings, we decided to apply 0.5 mM OA for 24 h in our study, since the major effect to SREBP1c expression was detected in that concentration.



Figure 1. Inducing lipid accumulation in AML12 cells

AML12 cells were treated with different concentrations of OA:BSA complex (0.06-0.5-1 mM) for 24 hours. (A) Representative light microscopic images show lipid droplet formation following Oil Red O staining (400X magnification). (B) Quantification of the numbers of lipid droplet formation per cell. (C) SREBP1c protein expression was analyzed by western blotting followed by densitometric analysis of protein bands and relative ratios were quantified and normalized relative to  $\beta$ -actin.

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.D. \*p < 0.05 vs. control, (n=3).

#### SREBP1c inhibition and its effect on lipid accumulation

To assess the role of SREBP1c in our *in vitro* hepatic steatosis model, we aimed to reduce SREBP1c levels via siRNA transfection. Therefore, we established different time and siRNA:transfection reagent ratio conditions to determine the most effective inhibition. Protein expression of SREBP1c was effectively reduced in 1:3 siRNA:transfection reagent ratio for 24 h compared to other conditions (Fig. 2A). To confirm the functional impact of SREBP1c knockdown in oleat induced lipid droplet generation, cells were also treated with OA at 0.5 mM concentration for 24 h and stained via Oil Red O (Fig. 2B). Analysis of the images revealed a decrease in lipid droplet formation in SREBP1c siRNA group compared to the control. Differently from non-OA treated ones, siRNA transfection followed by OA administration had no significant effect on lipid droplets compared to OA group (Fig. 2C).



**Figure 2.** SREBP1c inhibition and its effect on lipid accumulation (A) AML12 cells were transfected with 1:3 and 1:6 siRNA:transfection reagent ratios for either 24 h or 48 h. Protein bands of SREBP-1c and  $\beta$ -actin were visualized with chemiluminescence kit following the use of HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies. After SREBP1c silencing, cells were treated with vehicle (DMEM) or OA:BSA (0.5 mM) to divide into following groups; i) control, ii) SREBP1c siRNA, iii) OA, iv) SREBP1c siRNA + OA. (B) Represantative light microscopic images show lipid droplet formation following Oil Red O staining (400X magnification). (C) Quantification of the numbers of lipid droplet formation per cell.

*Data are expressed as mean*  $\pm$  *S.D.* \*\**p* < 0.01, *and* \**p* < 0.05, (*n*=3).

# *Effect of SREBP1c silencing on ER stress and related signaling status following OA administration*

After the verification of our steatosis model and SREBP1c silencing, we next tried to gain insight into the importance of SREBP1c signaling in ER stress and related apoptosis. We monitored well-identified parameters of ER stress and apoptosis, including phospho IRE1, GRP78, CHOP, ATF6 and JNK, using immunoflouresence. Microscopic images for selected parameters are shown in Fig. 3A. Anaylsis of images revealed that neither OA application nor siRNA tranfection had any effect on GRP78 expression (Fig. 3B). Activation status of ATF6 is presented as the ratio between nucleus and cytoplasmic levels

[11]. To calculate ATF6 activation in each group, we measured the ratio between nuclear-and cytoplasmic fluorescence intensities to quantify nuclear localization (N/C). As shown in Fig. 3B, the ratio of nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ATF6 fluorescence intensity was increased in siRNA transfected cells under normal conditions, which was reduced in siRNA transfected cells after OA application. However, the expression of ER stress-related proteins, phospho IRE1 and JNK was up-regulated following OA application, while transfection with SREBP1c siRNA reversed OA induced activation of phosho IRE1 and JNK. CHOP levels was also reduced in SREBP1c silenced cells following OA in spite of no change in OA treated control cells (Fig. 3B).



*Figure 3.* Effect of SREBP1c silencing on ER stress and related signaling status following OA administration

AML12 cells were first transfected with SREBP1c siRNA at 1:3 siR-NA:transfected reagent ratio for 24 h and then with vehicle (DMEM) or OA:BSA (0.5 mM) to divide into following groups; i) control, ii) SREBP1c siRNA, iii) OA, iv) SREBP1c siRNA + OA. Cells were fixed, and stained for GRP78, phospho IRE1, ATF6, CHOP (green), JNK (red) and nuclei by DAPI (blue). (A) Representative confocal microscopic images of cells from each group (400x magnification). (B) Levels of GRP78, phospho IRE1, nuclear (N) and cytoplasmic (C) forms of ATF6, JNK and CHOP were examined via quantification of relative fluorescence intensities.

*Data are expressed as mean*  $\pm$  *S.D.* \*\**p* < 0.01, *and* \**p* < 0.05, (*n*=3).

#### 4. DISCUSSION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is one the most common diseases of the metabolic disorder, which is defined by the presence of lipids in more than 5% of liver weight. As a result of increase in obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) worldwide, the prevalence of NAFLD is rising continuously and is progressing from steatosis to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) and liver cirrhosis [12, 13]. According to the literature, in vitro models of steatosis in NAFLD studies can be categorized into four groups; i) primary cell cultures (Hepatocytes, Kupffer cells, stellate cells), ii) immortalized cell lines (AML12, HepG2), iii) co-culture models, and iv) three-dimensional cell cultures [14]. Ethical issues and isolation problems of the primary cell cultures make the immortal cell lines more suitable [14]. In the present study we used AML12 cells in establishing in vitro steatosis model due to their extended replicative activity and stable phenotype. Palmitic acid (PA) and OA are two most

abundant long-chain free fatty acids in the normal and fatty liver specimens. It has been identified that different combinations of PA and OA induce the steatosis in a manner of dose - and time-dependent [15]. Accordingly, induction of steatosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HepG2) cells was established after OA administration [8]. In an another in vitro study using rat primary hepatocyte cells, administration of PA and OA combination induced lipid accumulation and cytotoxicity [16]. In our study, we established an in vitro hepatic steatosis model by treating AML12 cells with different OA concentrations for 24 hours. We also checked the SREBP1c protein expression to determine the most effective OA dose in inducing SREBP1c activation. Despite the finding of lipid accumulation in all OA administrated cells, only 0.5 mM OA was significantly induced the SREBP1c expression. Therefore, we decided to apply 0.5 mM OA in our further experiments in determining the effect of SREBP1c silencing in a manner of lipid accumulation and ER stress.

Sterol regulatory element binding proteins are important players of lipid metabolism, involved in pathological and physiological conditions, including nutrition, cell growth, energy stress, inflammation. SREBP1c is a transcription factor that is highly expressed in a variety of tissues, including liver, adipose, and skeletal muscle. Its ability to increase the transcription of genes involved in fatty acid and triacylglycerol synthesis has been well identified. SREBP1c overexpression has been shown to induce lipid accumulation insulin resistance, diabetes and NAFLD, in both in vitro and in vivo studies [17-19]. Conversely, SREBP1c inhibition is reduced the risk of metabolic disorders, such as obesity, atherosclerosis, and fatty liver [20]. In our study, SREBP1c silencing (without OA administration) in AML12 cells resulted in a decrease in lipid droplet formation. Although, inhibition of SREBP1c had no effect against OA induced lipid droplet accumulaiton.

A wide range of cellular disturbances, including high fat diet, impair the efficacy of protein folding in the ER leading to accumulation of misfolded and unfolded proteins [21, 22]. Liver cells cope with ER stress by an adaptive response mechanism, known as unfolded protein response (UPR) [23]. UPR has both cytoprotective and cytotoxic effects. The activity of UPR maintains homeostasis during transient ER stress in normal circumstances. However, under prolonged or excessive ER stress conditions in hepatocytes, UPR fails to recover the normal function of the ER and leads to apoptosis via the upregulation of the pro-apoptotic CHOP and JNK [24-26]. Studies have reported that CHOP is essential for the secretion of proinflammatory factors and hepatocyte apoptosis. In a study, CHOP deletion has been shown to provide resistance in HepG2 cells following palmitate administration [27]. The contribution of ER stress in NAFLD progression was determined either in rats fed a high fat diet [22] or in the livers of patients with NASH [28, 29]. Both IRE1 and ATF6 are well-identified and sensitive ER stress indicators found in ER membrane bound to chaperones [30]. Accumulation of unfolded proteins results in the dissociation of GRP78 from luminal domain of IRE1, thus IRE1 is oligomerized and auto-phosphorylated [31]. Beside its endonuclease activity that mediates the activation of XBP-1 via splicing the inactive transcript, IRE1 activates apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) and phosphorylates JNK by its kinase domain [25, 32]. Apart from IRE1, ATF6 itself acts as a transcription factor that mediates a number of target genes, including GRP78, GRP94 and CHOP [33]. Following the dissociation from GRP78, ATF6 translocates to golgi, undergoes a cleavage, and transports to nucleus [34]. In this regard, increase in nucleus to cytoplasm ratio of ATF6 is accepted as an indicative for ER stress associated ATF6 activation [35]. In our study, we observed the status of ER stress activation via forming OA induced steatosis in AML12 cell line. In this context, OA mediated lipid accumulation induced ER stress in a manner of IRE1 phosphorylation and its downstream JNK without affecting the ratio of nuclear-tocytoplasmic ATF6 and GRP78 levels, indicating the role of OA in UPR.

Steatosis can be either a cause or consequence in the context of ER stress. Lipid induced ER stress has been shown in several studies [16, 36, 37]. Conversely, it has been demonstrated that chronic ER stress has an important role in lipostasis and transition from steatosis to steatohepatitis [38, 39]. There are a number of wellidentified mechanisms which ends up lipogenesis through ER stress, including IRE1 mediated XBP1 activation [40, 41]. There are also many evidences that ER stress induced lipogenesis drives with SREBPs which are main transcription factors of de novo lipogenesis [42, 43]. It has been shown that ER stress initate SCAP independent SREBP1/2 activation in the ER via caspase 2 mediative S1P activation that drives the cell to lipogenesis [44]. Recent studies using in vitro and in vivo fatty liver models have identified the effect of ER stress in inducing lipid accumulation and SREBP1c activation [45]. Specifically, Damiano et al. [46], observed that tunicamycin-mediated ER stress induction in HepG2 cells was related with SREBP1c activation. In another study using HepG2 and L02 cells, it was found that thapsigargin - induced ER stress increased SREBP1c, FASN, ACC protein expressions along with triglyceride levels, resulting in hepatic steatosis [47]. Despite these studies underline the association between ER stress related de novo lipogenesis and SREBP activation in steatosis progression, the effect of SREBP1c silencing in ER stress activation during OA induced steatosis has not been investigated yet. We now demonstrated that SREBP1c has effect on ER stress in a positive fashion in OA induced steatosis. According to our results, SREBP1c silencing in OA induced lipid steatosis lead to a significant decrease in ER stress (phosho IRE1, ATF6) and ER stress triggered apoptosis (JNK, CHOP) parameters.

In conclusion, SREBP1c might have an individual effect that changes state of affairs in OA-induced lipid accumulation via altered ER stress response. Interestingly, our ATF6 finding suggests that a complex and potential relationship exists between ATF6 and SREBP1c. The discrepancy in the ATF6 intensity following SREBP1c silencing among vehicle and OA groups can be a consequence of response diversity of cells in normal and OA-induced conditions. There are some studies which claimed that ATF6 reduce hepatic steatosis by antagonizing SREBPs [48]. Our results can be an evidence for presumptive bidirectional involvement of SREPB1c which should be investigated with further investigations. Decrease in CHOP and JNK levels in SREBP1c siRNA+OA group also indicated the crucial role of SREBP1c silencing in reducing ER stress mediated apoptosis, the ultimate response to UPR. It is also highlighted that other ER stress sensors, including PERK-ATF4 signaling, might involve in CHOP activation. Therefore, further investigations are needed to clarify whether oleat induced CHOP activation is related to ATF6 or not. Our data collected so far in OA-induced steatosis model gain insight for therapeutic potential of SREBP1c to inhibit the impact of fatty liver by means of ER stress and related apoptosis.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

# **Ethical Approval**

The study protocol was approved by the Marmara University, School of Medicine Ethics Committee (February 01, 2019, protocol number 09.2019.188).

#### **Financial Support**

This study was funded by Marmara University Research Fund SAG-A-241.018.0564.

#### **Conflict of Information**

The authors declare no conflict of interest to declare.

#### **Author Contributions**

E.S., T.D. and N.K.O. generated the initial idea and conducted experimental design. E.S., T.D., D.D.D. and B.O. performed experiments and analyzed data. T.D. conducted cell culture experiments. E.S. conducted confocal microscopy experiments. All authors performed critical revision of the manuscript and gave final approval of the submitted version.

# REFERENCES

- Milic S, Stimac D. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/ steatohepatitis: epidemiology, pathogenesis, clinical presentation and treatment. Dig Dis 2012;30:158-62. doi:10.1159/000336669
- [2] Ipsen DH, Lykkesfeldt J, Tveden-Nyborg P. Molecular mechanisms of hepatic lipid accumulation in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Cell Mol Life Sci 2018;75:3313-27. doi:10.1007/s00018.018.2860-6
- [3] Alves-Bezerra M, Cohen DE. Triglyceride Metabolism in the Liver. Compr Physiol 2017;8:1-8. doi:10.1002/cphy.c170012
- [4] Wang Y, Viscarra J, Kim SJ, Sul HS. Transcriptional regulation of hepatic lipogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2015;16:678-89. doi:10.1038/nrm4074
- [5] Strable MS, Ntambi JM. Genetic control of de novo lipogenesis: role in diet-induced obesity. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 2010;45:199-214. doi:10.3109/104.092.31003667500
- [6] Sozen E, Karademir B, Ozer NK. Basic mechanisms in endoplasmic reticulum stress and relation to cardiovascular diseases. Free Radic Biol Med. 2015;78:30-41. doi:10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2014.09.031

- Bozaykut P, Sahin A, Karademir B, Ozer NK. Endoplasmic reticulum stress related molecular mechanisms in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Mech Ageing Dev 2016;157:17-29. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2016.07.001
- [8] Cui W, Chen SL, Hu KQ. Quantification and mechanisms of oleic acid-induced steatosis in HepG2 cells. Am J Transl Res 2010;2:95-104.
- [9] Sun L, Marin de Evsikova C, Bian K, et al. Programming and regulation of metabolic homeostasis by HDAC11. EBioMedicine 2018;33:157-68. doi:10.1016/j. ebiom.2018.06.025
- [10] Thayer TE, Lino Cardenas CL, Martyn T, et al. The role of bone morphogenetic protein signaling in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Sci Rep 2020;10:9831. doi:10.1038/ s41598.020.66770-8
- [11] Liu CL, Li X, Gan L, He YY, Wang LL, He KL. High-content screening identifies inhibitors of the nuclear translocation of ATF6. Int J Mol Med 2016;37:407-14. doi:10.3892/ ijmm.2015.2442
- [12] Adams LA, Waters OR, Knuiman MW, Elliott RR, Olynyk JK. NAFLD as a risk factor for the development of diabetes and the metabolic syndrome: an eleven-year follow-up study. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:861-7. doi:10.1038/ajg.2009.67
- [13] Williams CD, Stengel J, Asike MI, et al. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis among a largely middle-aged population utilizing ultrasound and liver biopsy: a prospective study. Gastroenterology 2011;140:124-31. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.09.038
- [14] Kanuri G, Bergheim I. In vitro and in vivo models of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Int J Mol Sci 2013;14:11963-80. doi:10.3390/ijms140611963
- [15] Gomez-Lechon MJ, Donato MT, Martinez-Romero A, Jimenez N, Castell JV, O'Connor JE. A human hepatocellular in vitro model to investigate steatosis. Chem Biol Interact 2007;165:106-16. doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2006.11.004
- [16] Moravcova A, Cervinkova Z, Kucera O, Mezera V, Rychtrmoc D, Lotkova H. The effect of oleic and palmitic acid on induction of steatosis and cytotoxicity on rat hepatocytes in primary culture. Physiol Res 2015;64(Suppl 5):S627-36. doi:10.33549/physiolres.933224
- [17] Vitto MF, Luz G, Luciano TF, et al. Reversion of steatosis by SREBP-1c antisense oligonucleotide did not improve hepatic insulin action in diet-induced obesity mice. Horm Metab Res 2012;44:885-90. doi:10.1055/s-0032.132.1819
- [18] Muraoka T, Aoki K, Iwasaki T, et al. Ezetimibe decreases SREBP-1c expression in liver and reverses hepatic insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet. Metabolism 2011;60:617-28. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2010.06.008
- [19] Karasawa T, Takahashi A, Saito R, et al. Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 determines plasma remnant lipoproteins and accelerates atherosclerosis in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2011;3:1788-95.
- [20] Moslehi A, Hamidi-Zad Z. Role of SREBPs in liver diseases: A mini-review. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2018;6:332-8.

- [21] Wang M, Kaufman RJ. Protein misfolding in the endoplasmic reticulum as a conduit to human disease. Nature 2016;529(7586):326-35. doi:10.1038/nature17041
- [22] Kawasaki N, Asada R, Saito A, Kanemoto S, Imaizumi K. Obesity-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress causes chronic inflammation in adipose tissue. Sci Rep 2012;2:799. doi:10.1038/srep00799
- [23] Malhi H, Kaufman RJ. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in liver disease. J Hepatol 2011;54:795-809. doi:10.1016/j. jhep.2010.11.005
- [24] Kanda T, Matsuoka S, Yamazaki M, et al. Apoptosis and non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2018;24:2661-72. doi:10.3748/wjg.v24.i25.2661
- [25] Urano F, Wang X, Bertolotti A, et al. Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. Science 2000;287(5453):664-6. doi:10.1126/science.287.5453.664
- [26] Li Y, Guo Y, Tang J, Jiang J, Chen Z. New insights into the roles of CHOP-induced apoptosis in ER stress. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 2015;47:146-7. doi:10.1093/abbs/ gmu128
- [27] Willy JA, Young SK, Stevens JL, Masuoka HC, Wek RC. CHOP links endoplasmic reticulum stress to NF-kappaB activation in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Mol Biol Cell 2015;26:2190-204. doi:10.1091/mbc.E15-01-0036
- [28] Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science 2004;306(5695):457-61. doi:10.1126/science.1103160
- [29] Wang JM, Qiu Y, Yang Z, et al. IRE1alpha prevents hepatic steatosis by processing and promoting the degradation of select microRNAs. Sci Signal 2018;11(530). doi:10.1126/ scisignal.aao4617
- [30] Kadowaki H, Nishitoh H. Signaling pathways from the endoplasmic reticulum and their roles in disease. Genes (Basel) 2013;4:306-33. doi:10.3390/genes4030306
- [31] Shamu CE, Walter P. Oligomerization and phosphorylation of the Ire1p kinase during intracellular signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus. EMBO J 1996;15:3028-39. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00666
- [32] Nishitoh H, Matsuzawa A, Tobiume K, Saegusa K, Takeda K, Inoue K, et al. ASK1 is essential for endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced neuronal cell death triggered by expanded polyglutamine repeats. Genes Dev 2002;16:1345-55. doi:10.1101/gad.992302
- [33] Sano R, Reed JC. ER stress-induced cell death mechanisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1833:3460-70. doi:10.1016/j. bbamcr.2013.06.028
- [34] Bertolotti A, Zhang Y, Hendershot LM, Harding HP, Ron D. Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded-protein response. Nat Cell Biol 2000;2:326-32. doi:10.1038/35014014
- [35] Kobylewski SE, Henderson KA, Yamada KE, Eckhert CD. Activation of the EIF2alpha/ATF4 and ATF6 pathways in DU-145 cells by boric acid at the concentration reported in men at

the US mean boron intake. Biol Trace Elem Res 2017;176:278-93. doi:10.1007/s12011.016.0824-y

- [36] Ota T, Gayet C, Ginsberg HN. Inhibition of apolipoprotein B100 secretion by lipid-induced hepatic endoplasmic reticulum stress in rodents. J Clin Invest 2008;118:316-32. doi:10.1172/JCI32752
- [37] Volmer R, Ron D. Lipid-dependent regulation of the unfolded protein response. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2015;33:67-73. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2014.12.002
- [38] Lebeaupin C, Vallee D, Hazari Y, Hetz C, Chevet E, Bailly-Maitre B. Endoplasmic reticulum stress signalling and the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2018;69:927-47. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2018.06.008
- [39] Feldstein AE, Canbay A, Angulo P, Taniai M, Burgart LJ, Lindor KD, et al. Hepatocyte apoptosis and fas expression are prominent features of human nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology 2003;125:437-43. doi:10.1016/s0016-5085(03)00907-7
- [40] Reimold AM, Etkin A, Clauss I, et al. An essential role in liver development for transcription factor XBP-1. Genes Dev 2000;14:152-7. doi: 10.1101/gad.14.2.152
- [41] Lee AH, Scapa EF, Cohen DE, Glimcher LH. Regulation of hepatic lipogenesis by the transcription factor XBP1. Science 2008;320(5882):1492-6. doi:10.1126/science.1158042
- [42] Ferre P, Foufelle F. Hepatic steatosis: a role for de novolipogenesis and the transcription factor SREBP-1c. Diabetes Obes Metab 2010;12 Suppl 2:83-92. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2010.01275.x

- [43] Basseri S, Austin RC. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and lipid metabolism: mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Biochem Res Int 2012;2012:841362. doi:10.1155/2012/841362
- [44] Kim YR, Lee EJ, Shin KO, et al. Hepatic triglyceride accumulation via endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced SREBP-1 activation is regulated by ceramide synthases. Exp Mol Med 2019;51:1-16. doi:10.1038/s12276.019.0340-1
- [45] Knebel B, Haas J, Hartwig S, et al. Liver-specific expression of transcriptionally active SREBP-1c is associated with fatty liver and increased visceral fat mass. PLoS One 2012;7:e31812. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031812
- [46] Damiano F, Alemanno S, Gnoni GV, Siculella L. Translational control of the sterol-regulatory transcription factor SREBP-1 mRNA in response to serum starvation or ER stress is mediated by an internal ribosome entry site. Biochem J 2010;429:603-12. doi:10.1042/BJ20091827
- [47] Fang DL, Wan Y, Shen W, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress leads to lipid accumulation through upregulation of SREBP-1c in normal hepatic and hepatoma cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2013;381:127-37. doi:10.1007/s11010.013.1694-7
- [48] Zeng L, Lu M, Mori K, Luo S, Lee AS, Zhu Y, et al. ATF6 modulates SREBP2-mediated lipogenesis. EMBO J 2004;23:950-8. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600106

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# Impact of ankyloglossia on the language development of children

Hatice Ezgi BARIS<sup>1</sup> 🝺, Hakan GUNHAN<sup>1</sup> 🝺, Selda KUCUK<sup>2</sup> 🕩, Fatma Nihal DURMUS KOCAASLAN<sup>3</sup> 🕩, Perran BORAN<sup>1</sup> 💿

<sup>1</sup>Division of Social Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup> Child Development Specialist, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>3</sup> Department of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey

Corresponding Author: Hatice Ezgi BARIS E-mail: ezgi\_aksu@yahoo.com

Submitted: 12.02.2021 Accepted: 29.04.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: Ankyloglossia is a benign anomaly of the tongue which may cause functional limitation. Evidence regarding the impact of ankyloglossia on children's language development is limited. We aimed to evaluate the language development of children born with ankyloglossia.

Patients and Methods: Children diagnosed with ankyloglossia were followed up prospectively. Demographic characteristics, degree of ankyloglossia assessed by Hazelbaker score in infancy and its effects on breastfeeding were evaluated. Language development was tested by the Turkish version of the Test of Early Language Development-Third Edition and the Denver II Test at 3-5 years of age.

Results: Out of 53 children diagnosed with ankyloglossia, 38 (71.7%) children had language development testing and were included into the study. Significant ankyloglossia was detected in infancy in 10 of these children (26.3%). Median time of exclusively breastfeeding was not different according to the severity of ankyloglossia. All children evaluated with Denver II Test were developmentally normal in all domains. Scores of Test of Early Language Development-Third Edition were not different between children with and without significant ankyloglossia.

Conclusion: Long term language development of children with ankyloglossia was not adversely affected. Parents should be appropriately informed and efforts must be paid to prevent unnecessary surgical interventions concerning language delay. Keywords: Ankyloglossia, Children, Language development

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Ankyloglossia, or tongue-tie, is a congenital anomaly of the tongue characterized by short, tight and thick frenulum [1]. The prevalence of ankyloglossia ranges from 0.1% to 10.7% in different populations with a male predominance. This range, in the reported prevalence is large because of the lack of a uniform definition and diagnostic criteria [2].

Ankyloglossia is usually a benign condition, which generally needs no intervention. However, if the mobility of the tongue is severely affected, it may result in functional limitations. These include breastfeeding difficulties in infancy causing significant nipple pain and nipple trauma in mothers. Traumatized nipples can cause the baby to remove milk less efficiently than baby without tongue-tie, therefore, the mother may have severe nipple pain due to incomplete breast drainage. In rare instances, interference with breastfeeding may be so severe that it may be the only cause of failure to thrive [3]. The historical practice of treating ankyloglossia in all infants has already been dropped but there is still no consensus on how to approach ankyloglossia among medical specialists, such as pediatricians, plastic surgeons, otolaryngologists, lactation consultants and speech language pathologists [4]. Available studies about the effects of ankyloglossia on breastfeeding and its surgical management are heterogenous in terms of study design and definition of ankyloglossia [2,5,6]. It is not possible to establish a practice guideline for the management of ankyloglossia due to the low strength of available studies and the lack of knowledge on the natural course of ankyloglossia.

Even though, most of the studies on ankyloglossia are about the effects of breastfeeding, another concern related to ankyloglossia is speech outcomes in children. Available

How to cite this article: Baris E H, Gunhan E, Kucuk S, Kocaaslan Durmuş N F, Boran P. Impact of ankyloglossia on the language development of children. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):248-253. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1006047

studies have conflicting results and the outcome measures are different [7-10]. Therefore, there is no universal consensus on how to approach ankyloglossia regarding future speech problems. Besides, studies on the speech outcomes of ankyloglossia focus on articulation disorders and social consequences but many parents also worry about their child's language development. In this study, our aim was to evaluate the language development of children born with ankyloglossia using objective tests and comparing children's language development according to the severity of ankyloglossia assessed in infancy.

#### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

#### Study design and participants

Children born with ankyloglossia between the years 2012 and 2015 and followed up at a well - child clinic at a university hospital were recruited into the study. Between the years 2012 and 2015, the clinic provided care for 2714 children and among them 53 children with ankyloglossia were identified during infancy and noted on personized patient files. In the outpatient clinic, babies were regularly assessed according to the recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics. Physical examination, growth and developmental surveillance, immunization and anticipatory guidance were provided during the visits. For the aims of this study, patients' data regarding demographic characteristics, duration of breastfeeding and surgery for ankyloglossia were subtracted from each patient's personalized file. The degree of ankyloglossia was assessed in infancy by the Hazelbaker Assessment Tool for Lingual Frenulum Function (HATLFF) in well - child visits by the pediatricians. HATLFF has five appearance items and seven function items [11]. Maximum score of appearance items is 10 and of function items is 14. Greater scores mean less severe ankyloglossia. Significant ankyloglossia was defined when the function score was less than 11 or the function score was 11 but appearance score was less than 10 or appearance item score was less than 8. Tonguetie of 10 children (26.3%) was classified as significant during infancy. All children with significant ankyloglossia were referred to the plastic surgeon for further evaluation. The primary outcome of the study was the language development of the children. Duration of exclusive breastfeeding and total duration of breastfeeding were secondary outcomes. The study was approved by the Marmara University, School of Medicine Ethics Committee (Date: 05.10.2018, Number: 09.2018.674). This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

# Evaluation of global development and language

Families were called back at 3-5 years of age to assess the children's language development. Denver II Test was performed to examine the global development of children [12]. Language development was further evaluated specifically with the Turkish version of the Test of Early Language Development-3 (TELD-3)

[13,14]. A child developmental specialist who had certificates for Denver II and TELD-3 performed both tests. Written and verbal informed consent was obtained from parents. Since, the evaluation of articulation was beyond the scope of this study, no articulation tests were performed.

# Denver II Test

All children were tested by Denver II for assessment of global development. Denver II is a screening test for the development of children aged 0-6 years and covers four developmental domains for testing: Fine motor, gross motor, personal-social and language skills. The Turkish version was validated in 1995 by Anlar and Yalaz [12]. Performance of children in Denver II was evaluated according to the children's age. Results were recorded in each domain according to child's performance as normal, suspicious or abnormal.

# Test of Early Language Development-3

The Turkish version of the TELD-3 which was originally created by Hresko et al., was adapted by Topbaş and Güven in 2011 [13,14]. Both expressive and receptive language are assessed by TELD-3 and can be used for children between 2-7 months old [11]. The test consists of 2 forms; form A and form B, each with a 37-item receptive language subtest and a 39-item expressive language subtest. Scores were calculated first as raw scores and then converted into standard scores. In addition, we calculated the children's scores as age in months.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Data analysis was performed by IBM SPSS statistical software (Version 20.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Values for continuous variables were expressed as medians, interquartile range (IQR), means, standard deviations, minimum and maximum and compared by Mann-Whitney U test, after testing normal distribution by Shapiro-Wilk test. Descriptive variables were reported as numbers and percentages. Comparisons between categorical variables were performed by Chi-Square testing. P values of <0.05 were described as significant.

# **3. RESULTS**

Fifty-three children were born with ankyloglossia between the years 2012-2015 and were followed up in our well – child outpatient clinic. In our cohort, the prevalence of ankyloglossia was identified as 2.0%. Out of 53 children, the families of 40 children accepted their child to be evaluated by Denver II and Turkish TELD-3. One boy in a bilingual family and another boy with a diagnosis of epilepsy were excluded from the study. 38 (71.7%) children had language development testing and were included into the study. All of the analyses described below were performed only on 38 children who were assessed for language development. Degree of ankyloglossia was assessed by HATLFF in infancy at a
median age of 2 (IQR:1-5) months. Significant ankyloglossia was detected in 10 (26.3%) children.

Most children were of male gender (n:25, 65.8%). The median age at the evaluation of language development was 56 months (IQR:51-60) and was not different between children with significant and non-significant ankyloglossia. Four children (10.5%) were the product of consanguineous marriage and 10 (26.3%) children had a family history positive for ankyloglossia (**Table I**).

Table I. Comparison	of children	with significant	and non-significant
tongue-tie			

	Significant	Non- significant	P value	Total
Number of	10	28	NA	38
children, n (%)	(26.3)	(73.7)		(100)
Age, months,	58.5	56.0	NS	56
median (IQR)	(53.2-62.5)	(49.5-59.0)		(51-60)
Gender, male, n	6	19	NS	25
(%)	(24.0)	(76.0)		(100)
Consanguinity,	2	2	NS	4
n (%)	(50.0)	(50.0)		(100.0)
Family history of	4	6	NS	10
ankyloglossia, n (%)	(40.0)	(60.0)		(100.0)
Exclusive	6.0	6.0	NS	6.0
breastfeeding, months, median (IQR)	(0.7-6.0)	(5.0-6.0)		(5.0-6.0)
Total breastfeeding,	21.0	24.0	NS	24.0
months, median (IQR)	(10.7-25.5)	(11.7-24.0)		(12.0- 24.0)
Denver-II, Normal,	10	28	NS	38
n (%)	(26.3)	(73.7)		(100)
IQR: interquartile ra	nge, NA: Not a	pplicable, NS: N	lon-signifi	cant

Most of the children (n:28, 71.8%) were exclusively breastfed in the first 6 months. Median duration of exclusive breastfeeding was 6 (IQR:5-6) months and total breastfeeding was 24 (IQR:12-24) months. Duration of exclusive breastfeeding and total breastfeeding were not different between children with significant and nonsignificant ankyloglossia (**Table I**). None of the infants required further breastfeeding counseling other than that which was provided during regular well-child visits.

All children with significant ankyloglossia according to HATLFF were also examined by a plastic surgeon. Eight children (21.1%) were operated at a median age of 7 (IQR; 3.2-21) months. Surgery was offered to all children with significant ankyloglossia according to the consensus decision of the pediatricians and the plastic surgeon and was performed in three children with significant ankyloglossia while the families of seven children with significant ankyloglossia opted not to be operated. Additionally, the families of five children with non-significant ankyloglossia had their children's tongue-tie operated elsewhere, even though, surgery was not recommended by our team. A history of the operation was gained through interviewing the parents and was confirmed by physical check. There were no significant differences in HATLFF appearance and function scores between the children who were operated and those who were not. Duration of exclusive breastfeeding and total breastfeeding did not show any differences between children who had undergone tonguetie division and those who had not.

All children were developmentally normal. The results of Denver II and TELD-3 expressed as age in months of all children were shown in Tables I and II. All children were evaluated as normal in all domains of Denver II. Accordingly, none of the families described any speech delay. The results of TELD-3 were not statistically different in children with and without significant ankyloglossia according to HATLFF score. There were also no differences of TELD-3 scores in children who had frenotomy (n=8) and those who did not (n=30).

<i>Table II.</i> TELD-3 results of children with significant and non-significant ankyloglossia. No significant differences were detected between the two groups in
<i>TELD-3 receptive language scores (P=0.33) and expressive language scores (P=0.25).</i>

	1	Age	TELD-3 Rec	eptive Language	TELD-3 Expressive Language		
	Significant	Nonsignificant	Significant	Nonsignificant	Significant	Nonsignificant	
	n=10	n=28	n=10	n=28	n=10	n=28	
Mean ±SD	57.2±7.4	54.6±7.6	60.1±9.4	58.4±8.8	59.9±9.3	58.4±9.2	
Median (IQR)	58.5	56	62	61	62.5	61	
	(53.2-62.5)	(49.5-59)	(58.7-64)	(52-63)	(58.5-63.2)	(49.5-63)	
Minimum	40	40	38	40	38	40	
Maximum	66	77	74	85	73	85	

IQR: interquartile range, SD: standard deviation, TELD-3: Test of Early Language Development-3.

All values are represented in months

#### 4. DISCUSSION

Most of the studies regarding ankyloglossia focused on breastfeeding issues. However, in daily clinical practice, parents often share with physicians their concerns about the late outcomes of ankyloglossia. Speech problems are one of the major concerns of parents but there is inadequate evidence to objectively inform parents about the effects of ankyloglossia on the language development. In our study, we performed specific language development tests in addition to evaluation of global development and showed that children with ankyloglossia were able to present age – appropriate language development skills regardless of the severity of their tongue-tie assessed during infancy, whether operated or not.

Clinical significance of ankyloglossia has been a subject of debate among medical professionals. In a survey conducted among otolaryngologists, pediatricians, lactation consultants and speech pathologists, it has been shown that there is no consensus about the significance of ankyloglossia regarding speech, breastfeeding and surgery outcomes [4]. Some of the authors propose that neonatal frenulum is naturally short and with age and repeated use, the short frenulum may elongate and will not necessarily result in functional problems [15-17]. The lower incidence in adults may support this idea [1,2]. However, no study prospectively evaluated the natural course of ankyloglossia to confirm this assumption. On the contrary, there is a body of evidence that it may cause infant feeding difficulties, speech and articulation disorders and social distress [1,18,19]. Some parents may also think that ankyloglossia may be a reason for speech delay, but children with ankyloglossia are expected to follow regular developmental milestones in language, as we showed in our study, although, to our knowledge no prior study has investigated the language development in children with ankyloglossia.

Speech problems are the second most prevalent outcome described in the ankyloglossia literature [7]. Concerns related to speech is one of the main reasons why parents seek for frenotomy [20,21]. However, studies are insufficient to prove a causative association of ankyloglossia with speech disorders [9]. There is some literature reporting an improvement in speech through treatment, but results commonly rely on parent reporting without standardized measurement tools for speech outcomes [8,21]. One of the distinguishing features of our study from other reports in the literature is that we performed standardized tests to assess the language development of the children. In the study of Klockars et al., the most common indication for tongue-tie division was speech and articulation problems and 84% of parents reported a benefit from the surgery, but in this study, it was not clear how speech problems were evaluated and diagnosed. In addition, the benefit of the operation was reported only by parents without any objective measurements [21]. Walls et al., questioned parents regarding the speech intelligibility of their children three years after neonatal frenotomy and compared results with a control group and with a non-surgical intervention group. Parental subjective evaluation of speech regarding vocabulary, articulation and sentence structure were graded higher by a Likert Scale survey in the group of surgically treated children [8]. In contrast, Daggumati et al., found no parenteral perceived difference in speech quality between surgically treated and conservatively managed children [22]. In four studies, speech was evaluated by speech-language pathologists rather than objective parental assessment. Heller et al., compared two surgical methods in 16 patients with persistent articulation problems and presented that 4-flap Z-frenuloplasty provided better improvement in articulation judged by speech-language pathologists [23]. The test used by speech language pathologists was not identified in this study. Similarly, in the study of Messner et al., 82% patients with ankyloglossia were reported to have improved speech postoperatively judged by nonblind speech-language pathologists without a standardized test [18]. In two studies, standardized articulation tests were used. Ito et al., from Japan evaluated changes in speech by a standardized articulation test in five patients. They concluded that articulation errors can be improved after tonguetie division, even though their study was limited by a low number of patients, nonblind assessment of speech and lack of a control group [24]. In the retrospective cohort of Dollberg et al., speech intelligibility of children with untreated and treated ankyloglossia with an age matched control group was assessed by a standardized articulation test. Articulation errors were more common in children with untreated ankyloglossia but there was no statistical difference in word, sentence and fluent-speech intelligibility [25]. Recently, Salt et al., revealed that objective measures of speech outcomes did not differ between treated-, untreated-, and nontongue tie groups [26]. These studies with conflicting results cause confusion and discrepancy among medical specialists who encounter ankyloglossia. Moreover, studies investigating the effects of ankyloglossia on speech are focused on articulation rather than language development which is often a point of discussion with parents of children with ankyloglossia in well child visits. At this point, we believe that our study adds to the limited evidence about language development in children with ankyloglossia since we used language development tools in the assessment. It has been shown that parents are the main decision makers for frenotomy following lactation consultants [20]. Therefore, adequate and reliable information must be given to families by health care professionals caring for newborns and infants. We believe that our study provides evidence to reassure parents that children with ankyloglossia exhibit normal language development same as their peers. Therefore, delayed language development in children with ankyloglossia should never be solely attributed to ankyloglossia and a usual evaluation including neurodevelopmental and audiologic assessment should not be deferred while waiting for the benefits of surgery.

Ankyloglossia has been blamed for interfering with successful breastfeeding. As part of efforts to increase breastfeeding rates, there is a substantial increase in the diagnosis and surgical treatment of ankyloglossia [27-29]. However, studies are heterogeneously designed and not enough to recommend frenotomy to improve breastfeeding [6]. In the recent Cochrane review, it has been emphasized that frenotomy reduces maternal nipple pain in the short term evaluation but does not have a consistent positive effect on breastfeeding [30]. Furthermore, no study investigated the effects of ankyloglossia on long-term breastfeeding and resolution of maternal pain whether frenotomy is performed or not. Available studies did not study whether infants were breastfed for longer after frenotomy [6,30]. In our study, we were able to show that the mean durations of exclusive and total breastfeeding were not different between infants who had frenotomy and who those had not. Besides, breastfeeding duration also did not change according to the severity of ankyloglossia assessed by HATLFF. In our well-child clinic, mothers are informed about the importance of breastfeeding and counselled on successful breastfeeding. Breastfeeding issues are discussed in every visit from the first visit on and lactation specialists observe mother-infant dyad for breastfeeding at least once and every time the mothers have a concern. According to World Health Organization (WHO), infants should be exclusively breastfed for the first six months and continue breastfeeding up to the age of two years or beyond [31]. In our study group, infants were exclusively breastfed for a median of 6 months and median duration of total breastfeeding was 24 months consistent with the WHO recommendations. Breastfeeding counselling efforts in our clinic may have resulted in the success of mothers with tonguetied infants and may have prevented unnecessary interventions. Therefore, intensive lactation support should be implemented before tongue-tie is blamed for the failure of breastfeeding. In line with this, Dixon at al., noticed that breastfeeding rates remained stable despite an increase in frenotomy rates in the last years and showed in their study that a multidisciplinary program including objective assessment of tongue function and anatomy along with lactation support is effective in reducing frenotomy rates while improving breastfeeding [32]. Muldoon et al., revealed that frenotomy reduced self-reported maternal nipple pain and provided an overall improvement in breastfeeding but rates of exclusive breastfeeding remained unchanged following frenotomy compared with pre-frenotomy [20]. These results show that frenotomy does not always resolve breastfeeding difficulties and highlight the importance of breastfeeding counselling for motherinfant dyads by experienced health care professionals.

Our study has several limitations. Our sample size may seem too small to generalize our findings for all patients with ankyloglossia but we prospectively followed all patients with ankyloglossia in our cohort. Besides, the prevalence of ankyloglossia in our cohort (2%) was within the range of the reported prevalence in the literature [2]. Another limitation is that the natural course in patients who had undergone frenotomy according to the family request is unknown. Even though, articulation was also evaluated while performing language development tests to inform the parents, a standardized articulation test was not used, since it was not the scope of this study. Other limitations are that there was no control group to compare the language development of children with ankyloglossia and the groups which were compared were uneven in number. Despite these limitations, we believe that our study adds to the limited literature comparing speech outcomes of ankyloglossia between treatment and nontreatment groups, as most of the studies compared surgical modalities or changes before and after surgical intervention. Due to prospective design, we were also able to watch the natural course of ankyloglossia in patients who had no frenotomy. Besides, to our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating objectively the language development of children with ankyloglossia. Furthermore, even though there is no universally accepted method of scoring for ankyloglossia, our study is one of the rare studies in which patients were assessed objectively by a validated tool in infancy. The decision on surgery was not only based on scoring but also on consensus reached between pediatric and plastic surgery teams, except for the five patients who were operated upon family request.

In conclusion, language development of children born with ankyloglossia are expected to follow regular steps as normal children. Families with a concern of speech delay should be informed comprehensively to avoid unnecessary surgical interventions which may prevent timely evaluation and management of language delay. Evidence-based guidance on treatment of ankyloglossia is still lacking. Communication between pediatric teams and surgeons is essential in determining the need for surgery until evidence-based guidelines are constituted. Future prospective studies with a larger sample size and long term follow up in which tongue – tie severity is assessed relying on objective tests, would be ideal for a comparison between patients who were surgically treated and those who were not.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval**: The study was approved by the Marmara University, School of Medicine Ethics Committee (Date: 05.10.2018, Number: 09.2018.674). This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Written and verbal informed consent was obtained from parents.

**Financial Support**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to declare

**Contributors' contribution:** H.E.B.: participated in data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, literature search, generation of figures and writing first draft of the manuscript. H.G.: participated in data collection, data interpretation and literature search and drafting the article. S.K.: participated in performing developmental tests of the subjects, data collection and interpretation and drafting the manuscript. F.N.D.K.: had participated in the study design, patient follow up, interpretation of the data and critical revision of the manuscript. P.B.: had primary responsibility for concept and design of the study, patient enrollment, patient follow up, outcome assessment, data analysis, writing manuscript and critical revision of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Lalakea ML, Messner AH. Ankyloglossia: does it matter? Pediatr Clin North Am 2003; 50: 381-97. doi: 10.1016/s0031-3955(03)00029-4.
- [2] Suter VG, Bornstein MM. Ankyloglossia: facts and myths in diagnosis and treatment. J Periodontol 2009; 80: 1204-19. doi: 10.1902/jop.2009.090086.

- [3] Forlenza GP, Paradise Black NM, McNamara EG, Sullivan SE. Ankyloglossia, exclusive breastfeeding, and failure to thrive. Pediatrics 2010; 125: e1500-4. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-2101.
- [4] Messner AH, Lalakea ML. Ankyloglossia: controversies in management. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2000; 54: 123-31. doi: 10.1016/s0165-5876(00)00359-1.
- [5] Walsh J, Tunkel D. Diagnosis and treatment of ankyloglossia in newborns and infants: A review. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2017; 143: 1032-9. doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2017.0948.
- [6] Francis DO, Krishnaswami S, McPheeters M. Treatment of ankyloglossia and breastfeeding outcomes: a systematic review. Pediatrics 2015; 135: e1458-66. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-0658.
- [7] Chinnadurai S, Francis DO, Epstein RA, Morad A, Kohanim S, McPheeters M. Treatment of ankyloglossia for reasons other than breastfeeding: a systematic review. Pediatrics 2015; 135: e1467-74. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-0660.
- [8] Walls A, Pierce M, Wang H, Steehler A, Steehler M, Harley EH Jr. Parental perception of speech and tongue mobility in three-year olds after neonatal frenotomy. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2014; 78: 128-31. doi: 10.1016/j. ijporl.2013.11.006.
- [9] Webb AN, Hao W, Hong P. The effect of tongue-tie division on breastfeeding and speech articulation: a systematic review. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2013; 77: 635-46. doi: 10.1016/j. ijporl.2013.03.008.
- [10] Daggumati S, Cohn JE, Brennan MJ, Evarts M, McKinnon BJ, Terk AR. Speech and language outcomes in patients with ankyloglossia undergoing frenulectomy: A retrospective pilot study. OTO Open 2019; 3: 2473974X19826943. doi: 10.1177/2473974X19826943.
- [11] Hazelbaker AK. The Assessment Tool for Lingual Frenulum Function (ATLFF): use in a lactation consultant private practise. Pasadena California, Pacific Oaks College, Thesis, 1993.
- [12] Anlar B, Yalaz K. Denver II Gelişimsel Tarama Testi Türk Çocuklarına Uyarlanması ve Standardizasyonu El Kitabı. Ankara: Meteksan Matbaası; 1996.
- [13] Hresko WP, Reid DK, Hammill DD. The Test of Early Language Development 3.3. Austin, TX: PRO-ED; 1999.
- [14] Topbas S, Güven S. Türkçe Erken Dil Gelişim Testi TEDİL-3.
   (Adaptation of Test of Early Language Development-TELD 3 to Turkish). Ankara:Detay Yayıncılık; 2013.
- [15] Wallace AF. Tongue tie. Lancet 1963; 2: 377-8. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(63)93057-5.
- [16] McEnery ET, Gaines FP. Tongue-tie in infants and children. J Pediatr 1941; 18: 252-5.
- [17] Horton CE, Crawford HH, Adamson JE, Ashbell TS. Tonguetie. Cleft Palate J 1969; 6: 8-23.
- [18] Messner AH, Lalakea ML. The effect of ankyloglossia on speech in children. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002; 127: 539-45. doi: 10.1067/mhn.2002.129731.
- [19] Messner AH, Lalakea ML, Aby J, Macmahon J, Bair E. Ankyloglossia: incidence and associated feeding difficulties. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2000; 126: 36-9. doi: 10.1001/archotol.126.1.36.

- [20] Muldoon K, Gallagher L, McGuinness D, Smith V. Effect of frenotomy on breastfeeding variables in infants with ankyloglossia (tongue-tie): a prospective before and after cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2017; 17: 373. doi: 10.1186/s12884.017.1561-8.
- [21] Klockars T, Pitkäranta A. Pediatric tongue-tie division: indications, techniques and patient satisfaction. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2009; 73: 1399-401. doi: 10.1016/j. ijporl.2009.07.004.
- [22] Daggumati S, Cohn JE, Brennan MJ, Evarts M, McKinnon BJ, Terk AR. Caregiver perception of speech quality in patients with ankyloglossia: Comparison between surgery and nontreatment. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2019; 119: 70-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijporl.2019.01.019.
- [23] Heller J, Gabbay J, O'Hara C, Heller M, Bradley JP. Improved ankyloglossia correction with four-flap Z-frenuloplasty. Ann Plast Surg 2005; 54: 623-8. doi: 10.1097/01. sap.000.015.7917.91853.be.
- [24] Ito Y, Shimizu T, Nakamura T, Takatama C. Effectiveness of tongue-tie division for speech disorder in children. Pediatr Int 2015; 57: 222-6. doi: 10.1111/ped.12474.
- [25] Dollberg S, Manor Y, Makai E, Botzer E. Evaluation of speech intelligibility in children with tongue-tie. Acta Paediatr 2011; 100:he125-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2011.02265.x.
- [26] Salt H, Claessen M, Johnston T, Smart S. Speech production in young children with tongue-tie. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2020;134:110035. doi: 10.1016/j.ijporl.2020.110035.
- [27] Walsh J, Links A, Boss E, Tunkel D. Ankyloglossia and lingual frenotomy: National trends in inpatient diagnosis and management in the United States, 1997-2012. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2017; 156: 735-40. doi: 10.1177/019.459.9817690135.
- [28] Joseph KS, Kinniburgh B, Metcalfe A, Razaz N, Sabr Y, Lisonkova S. Temporal trends in ankyloglossia and frenotomy in British Columbia, Canada, 2004-2013: a population-based study. CMAJ Open 2016; 4: E33-40. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20150063.
- [29] Lisonek M, Liu S, Dzakpasu S, Moore AM, Joseph KS; Canadian Perinatal Surveillance System (Public Health Agency of Canada). Changes in the incidence and surgical treatment of ankyloglossia in Canada. Paediatr Child Health 2017; 22: 382-86. doi: 10.1093/pch/pxx112.
- [30] O'Shea JE, Foster JP, O'Donnell CP, et al. Frenotomy for tongue-tie in newborn infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 3: CD011065. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011065.pub2.
- [31] World Health Organization. Exclusive breastfeeding for six months best for babies everywhere https://www.who.int/ mediacentre/news/statements/2011/breastfeeding\_20110115/ en/ accessed in July 8<sup>th</sup>, 2020.
- [32] Dixon B, Gray J, Elliot N, Shand B, Lynn A. A multifaceted programme to reduce the rate of tongue-tie release surgery in newborn infants: Observational study. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2018; 113: 156-63. doi: 10.1016/j. ijporl.2018.07.045.

## Differential diagnosis of classical Bartter syndrome and Gitelman syndrome: Do we need genetic analysis?

Sercin GUVEN<sup>1</sup>, Ibrahim GOKCE<sup>1</sup>, Ceren ALAVANDA<sup>2</sup>, Neslihan CICEK<sup>1</sup>, Ece Bodur DEMIRCI<sup>1</sup>, Mehtap SAK<sup>1</sup>, Serim PUL<sup>1</sup>, Ozde Nisa TURKKAN<sup>1</sup>, Nurdan YILDIZ<sup>1</sup>, Pinar ATA<sup>2</sup>, Harika ALPAY<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Marmara University Hospital, Pendik, Istanbul, Turkey. <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Marmara, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Sercin GUVEN **E-mail:** sercindr@yahoo.com

Submitted: 10.03.2021 Accepted: 27.06.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: Classical Bartter syndrome (cBS) and Gitelman syndrome (GS) are genotypically distinct, but there is a phenotypic overlap among these two diseases, which can complicate the accurate diagnosis without genetic analysis. This study aimed to evaluate the correlation between clinical and genetic diagnoses among patients who have genetically defined cBS and GS.

Patients and Methods: The study included 18 patients with homozygous/compound heterozygous *CLCNKB* (*NM\_000085*) (n:10/18) and *SLC12A3* (*NM\_000339*) (n:8/18) mutations. Biochemical, clinical and radiological data were collected at presentation and at the last visit.

**Results**: In cBS group age at diagnosis, median plasma potassium and chloride concentrations were significantly lower and median plasma HCO3 and blood pH values were significantly higher. Patients with GS had significantly lower median plasma magnesium concentrations and urinary calcium/creatinine ratio. One child with GS had normocalciuria, two children with cBS had hypocalciuria and hypomagnesemia. Low estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (ml/dk/1.73m2) and growth failure were more evident in cBS group. In patients with cBS, nine different CLCNKB gene mutations were detected, five of them were novel. Novel mutations were: one nonsense (c.66G>A, p.Trp22\*), one missense (c.499G>A, p.Gly167Ser) and three splice-site (c.867-2delA; c.499-2insG; c.1930-2A>C) mutations. In patients with GS, six different *SLC12A3* gene mutations were found.

Conclusions: It may not always be possible to clinically distinguish cBS from GS. We suggest to perform a genotypic classification if genetic analysis is possible.

Keywords: Bartter syndrome, Gitelman syndrome, Kidney tubuler disease, Hypokalemic metabolic alkalosis

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Bartter (BS) and Gitelman syndromes (GS) are autosomal recessive inherited salt-losing tubulopathies, characterized by hypokalemic hypochloremic metabolic alkalosis and normal blood pressure in the context of elevated renin and aldosterone levels [1]. Clinically, these tubulopathies are often categorized into 3 major subgroups: antenatal BS (aBS), classical BS (cBS) and GS. BS type-3 also known as cBS is caused by loss of function mutations in *CLCNKB* gene. *CLCNKB* gene encodes a chloride channel protein CIC-Kb, expressed in the thick ascending limp (TAL) of Henle's loop, the distal convoluted tubule (DCT), the connecting tubule and the collecting duct [1-3]. CIC-Kb has a role in the reabsorption of sodium chloride in the TAL and the loss of function mutations in *CLCNKB* gene cause electrolyte

abnormalities called 'loop phenotype'. The use of loop diuretics results in the same electrolyte abnormalities [2,3]. GS was initially thought to be a subtype of BS but advances in molecular genetics showed that it was a separate entity. GS is caused by loss of function mutations in the gene *SLC12A3*, encoding thiazidesenstitive NaCl cotransporter called NCCT of the DCT [3]. The NCCT is responsible for the sodium reabsorption in the DCT and like with loop dysfunction, impaired sodium reabsorption in the DCT causes characteristic electrolyte abnormalities, called 'DCT' phenotype [3].

Classical BS and GS share some metabolic abnormalities such as hypochloremic hypokalemic metabolic alkalosis. Clinical and metabolic findings like hypercalciuria, normomagnesemia,

How to cite this article: Guven S, Gokce I, Alavanda C, et al. Differential diagnosis of classical Bartter syndrome and Gitelman syndrome: Do we need a genetic analysis? Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):254-259. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1012351

early onset at younger age or severity of the disease are used to distinguish cBS from GS. In most cases, the correct diagnosis can be made without genetic analysis. However, it may not always allow distinction between them. Because hypercalciuria is not present always in all cases of cBS and some patients with cBS have hypomagnesemia, which is a typical feature of GS. Also, neither hypocalciuria nor hypomagnesemia are consistent findings in GS [4,5]. This study aimed to clarify clinical and laboratory findings among patients with genetically defined cBS and GS and evaluate the correlation between clinical diagnoses and genetic diagnoses.

#### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

#### Patients and biochemical analysis

The study included eighteen patients with homozygous or compound heterozygous CLCNKB (n:10/18) and SLC12A3 (n:8/18) mutations presenting to the pediatric nephrology division of a university hospital. Biochemical, clinical and radiological data were collected at presentation and at the last clinic follow-up visit. Hypomagnesemia was defined as a serum magnesium concentration less than 1.7 mg/dl, hypokalaemia was defined as a serum concentration less than 3.5 mEq/L, hypochloremia was defined as a serum chloride concentration less than 98 mg/dl. Normocalciuria was defined with the normal ranges for the patient's age. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated using the modified Schwartz formula, with a k-value of 0.413. Body height percentiles of patients were recorded at the presentation and at the last follow-up visit. Growth failure was defined as a height persentile less than 3. Kidney ultrasound imaging was performed at presentation and in the follow-up of all children.

#### Molecular Genetics studies

After detailed pedigree analyses and written informed consents were obtained, all patients' and their parents' total genomic DNA was extracted from peripheral blood using QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). For all patients sequencing of CLCNKB (NM 000085) and SLC12A3 genes (NM\_000339) were performed using two different methods: Sanger sequencing and Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS). All samples were first analyzed by NGS and after detection of sequence changes, confirmation of them were performed using Sanger sequencing with targeted sequencing for those already detected mutations/variations. The Nephropathies Solution (NES) kit by Sophia Genetics (Switzerland) was used for NGS (Illumina Nextseq 500) and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and copy number variations (CNVs) were analyzed through Sophia-DDM-v4 platform []. For both of these genes, specific primers were designed for all exons and exon-intron junctions and Sanger sequencing was performed via ABI PRISM 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (AppliedBiosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). SNPs were analyzed with Chromas software version 2.4.1. Variants with minor allele frequency (MAF) <1% according to population studies [ESP, ExAC, 1000 Genome (1000G), and Genome aggregation database (gnomAD)] were filtered and retained variants were searched in Human Gene Mutation Database (HGMD), Clinvar and Varsome Databases. Pathogenicity scores were predicted using Mutation taster, Provean, Polyphen, Human Splicing Finder (HSF) and Sorting Intolerant From Tolerant (SIFT) in – silico tools.

#### Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using the Statistical Packages for the Social Sciences (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) 21.0 package. A One Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine the normality of data. Results were expressed as mean with standard deviation (mean  $\pm$  SD) in case of normal distribution and median (range) in case of non-normal distribution. Differences between categorical data were evaluated using t-test and Mann-Whitney non-parametric U test in normal distribution and non-normal distribution, respectively. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### **3. RESULTS**

Biochemical features and clinical features at presentation and at the last follow-up visit are summarized in Table I. Ten patients presented with cBS and eight patients with GS. Five patients (50%) with cBS and five patients (62.5%) with GS were male. Patients with cBS had a significantly lower median age at diagnosis than the patients with GS (11.5 vs. 128 months, respectively). The median follow-up time was 33 months in patients with cBS and 47 months in patients with GS.

Table I.	Clinical,	demographic	and	biochemical	characteristics	of	the
patients							

	Classical Bartter Syndrome (n=10)	Gitelman Syndrome (n=8)	р
Age, months	11,5 (1-76)	128 (44-209)	<0.001
Female/male, n (%)	5/5 (50%)	3/5 (60%)	0.664
Follow-up, months	33 (3-120)	47 (19-174)	0,200
Prematurity, n (%)	3 (30%)	0 (0%)	0,090
Blood pH	7.57 (7.40-7.70)	7.44 (7.40-7.59)	0.003
Blood HCO3 (mEq/L)	41.1 (21.8-51.5)	30.6 (27.4-32.4)	0.010
Plasma potassium (mEq/L)	2.2 (1.9-3.1)	2.8 (2.2-3.7)	0.002
Plasma chloride (mg/L)	85 (67-96)	95 (88-101)	< 0.001
Plasma magnessium (mg/dl)	2.15 (1.6-2.7)	1.4 (1.30-1.50)	0.001
Urinary calcium/creatinine ratio (mg/mg)	0.6 (0.03-1.9)	0,01 (0.01-0.67)	<0.001
eGFR (ml/dk/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> ) (at presentation)	103 (49-172)	137 (99-172)	0.043
eGFR (ml/dk/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> ) (at the last visit)	103 (76-192)	112 (89-271)	0.410
Height <3.persentile (at presentation), n(%)	5 (50%)	2 (25%)	0.280
Height <3.persentile (at the last visit), n(%) Values are represented as medi	3 (30%)	1 (12.5%)	0.370

Values are represented as median (min – max), eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate

Median plasma potassium and chloride concentrations were significantly lower in cBS group (2.2 vs. 2.8 mEq/L; 85 vs. 95 mg/L, respectively). Median plasma HCO3 concentrations and blood pH values were significantly higher in cBS group (41.1 vs. 30.6 mEq/L; 7.57 vs. 7.44 respectively). Patients with GS had significantly lower median plasma magnesium concentrations (1.40 vs.2.15 mg/dl respectively) and urinary calcium/ creatinine ratio (0,01 vs. 0,6 respectively). One child with GS had normocalciuria and two children with cBS had both hypocalciuria and hypomagnesemia at presentation. Median eGFR (ml/dk/1.73m<sup>2</sup>) at presentation were significantly lower in cBS patients than patients with GS (103 vs. 137 ml/dk/1.73m<sup>2</sup> respectively). At the last follow-up, patients with cBS had still lower eGFR (103 vs. 112 ml/dk/1.73m<sup>2</sup> respectively). Growth failure was the most frequent complaint of patients with cBS and it was more evident in patients with cBS (50% at presentation; 30% at last follow-up visit). Ultrasonography performed at presentation and in the follow-up showed nephrocalcinosis in only one child with cBS.

Molecular analyses, revealed mutations that are shown in Tables II and III. In ten patients with cBS, nine different *CLCNKB(NM\_000085)* gene mutations were detected (Table II). Five of them were novel mutations. Novel mutations were: one nonsense (c.66G>A, p.Trp22\*), one missense (c.499G>A, p.Gly167Ser) and three splice-site (c.867-2delA; c.499-2insG; c.1930-2A>C) mutations. In eight patients with GS, six different *SLC12A3 (NM\_000339)* gene mutations were detected (Table III). Only one patient had compound heterozygous mutation and the majority of mutations caused a frameshift c.237\_238dupCC (p.Arg80Profs\*35) mutation.

Patients	Gene	Status	Mutation	Position	Type of mutation	Reference
B1	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.371C>T	Exon 5	Missense	Simon et al.,1997 [6]
			(p.Prol24Leu)			
B2	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.371C>T	Exon 5	Missense	Simon et al., 1997 [6]
			(p.Prol24Leu)			
B3	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.867-2delA	Intron 8	Splice-site	This study
B4	CLCNKB	Homozygous	Exon 2-20 deletion	Exon 2-20	Gross deletion	Simon et al.,1997[6]
B5	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.499-2insG	Intron 4	Splice-site	This study
B6	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.910C>T	Exon 10	Nonsense	Messa et al., 2020[7]
			(p.Arg304*)			
B7	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.910C>T	Exon 10	Nonsense	Messa et al., 2020[7]
			(p.Arg304*)			
B8	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.1930-2A>C	Intron 18	Splice-site	This study
B9	CLCNKB	Homozygous	c.499G>A	Exon 5	Missense	This study
			(p.Gly167Ser)			
B10	CLCNKB	Compound heterozygous	c.66G>A (p.Trp22*)	Exon 2	Nonsense	This study and
			c.865G>C (p.Gly289Arg)	Exon 9	Missense	Sahbani et al.,2020[8]

Table III. Six variants in Gitelman syndrome-related genes

Patients	Gene	Status	Mutation	Location	Type of mutation	Reference
G1	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.1180+1G>T	IVS 9	Splice-site	Coto et al., 2004[9]
G2			c.237_238dupCC	Exon 1	Frameshift	Mastroianni et al., 1996[10]
	SLC12A3	Compound heterozygous	(p.Arg80Profs*35) c.514T>C (p.Trp172Arg)	Exon 4	Missense	Syren et al., 2002[11]
G3	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.625C>T (p.Arg209Trp)	Exon 5	Missense	Simon et al., 1996[3]
G4	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.1175C>T (p.Thr392Ile)	Exon 9	Missense	Colussi et al., 2007[12]
G5	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.237_238dupCC (p.Arg80Profs*35)	Exon 4	Frameshift	Mastroianni et al., 1996[10]
G6	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.237_238dupCC (p.Arg80Profs*35)	Exon 4	Frameshift	Mastroianni et al., 1996[10]
G7	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.237_238dupCC (p.Arg80Profs*35)	Exon 4	Frameshift	Mastroianni et al., 1996[10]
G8	SLC12A3	Homozygous	c.1964G>A (p.Arg655His)	Exon 16	Missense	Simon et al., 1996[3]

#### 4. DISCUSSION

The present study describes the initial clinical and biochemical characteristics and the genetic findings of the patients with cBS and GS. According to our findings, age at diagnosis, the urinary calcium/creatinine ratio, plasma chlorid, magnesium, bicarbonate levels may be useful markers for differentiating cBS and GS. Although, cBS and GS are genotypically distinct, there is considerable overlap in clinical presentation. cBS may sometimes mimic GS and some patients with cBS appear to have a phenotypic switch [13]. cBS is generally considered to be a disorder of TAL, whereas GS is a disorder of DCT. Initially, some cBS patients present with loop (or BS) phenotype but later they revert to a DCT (or Gitelman like) phenotype [14]. The expression of *CLCNKB* also in DCT may explain the phenotypic similarity of cBS and GS.

It is known that cBS often presents clinically before the age of two [15]. In this study, the age at diagnosis differed significantly between two diseases. Only one patient with cBS was diagnosed after the age of two years, whereas the youngest patient in GS group was 44 months old at the time of diagnosis.

Hypochloremia, hypokalemia and metabolic alkolosis are hallmarks of cBS. In our study, serum chloride and potassium levels were significantly lower and bicarbonate levels were higher in patients with cBS than GS as expected.

Hypercalciuria and normomagnesemia are used to distinguish cBS from GS. Hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis which are very important risk factors for chronic kidney disease progression, are less commonly seen in patients with cBS than aBS and not an expected finding in GS. Impaired salt reabsorption in the TAL leads to an impaired paracellular cation uptake, mostly manifesting as hypercalciuria as with CLCNKB mutations [1]. In contrast to loop dysfunction, impaired salt reabsorption in the DCT paracellular calcium reabsorption in the TAL is unaffected and patients typically have hypocalciuria due to a compensatory increase in salt and calcium reabsorption in the proximal tubule as with SLC12A3 mutations [1]. Hypomagnesemia is present in 20-52% of patients with BS and this is caused by magnesium wasting [16]. Among our patients, hypercalciuria was found in six of ten patients with cBS. However, some patients with cBS may have hypomagnesemia and hypocalciuria [14,17-19]. Zelikovic et al., had reported that four patients in the 12 family members with CLCKNB mutations had concominant hypomagnesemia and hypocalciuria [20]. In our study, two children with cBS (B4, B7) had both hypocalciuria and hypomagnesemia at presentation. Patient B4 had a gross deletion (Exon 2-20 deletion) and patient B7 had a homozygous nonsense mutation (p.Arg304<sup>\*</sup>) in exon 10 of CLCNKB gene. But we did not observe hypomagnesemia and hypocalciuria in another patient (B6) with the same mutation as patient B7. Recently, Ring et al. and Kamel et al., also reported that patients with GS may have normocalciuria [4,5].

In the present study, patients with GS had a significantly lower median plasma magnesium concentrations and urinary calcium/ creatinine ratio. But similar to the above mentioned studies, one child with GS (G5) had normocalciuria. Patient G5 had a homozygous frameshift mutation (p.Arg80Profs\*35) in exon 4 of *SLC12A3* gene. However, our other patient (G6) with the same mutation had hypocalciuria. It is still unclear why the same genetic defect causes different clinical outcomes but Zelikovic et al., hypothesized that a modifying genetic effect on any one of channels participating in Cl<sup>-</sup>transport in the TAL and the DCT may influence the disease phenotype [20]. Genetic analysis is pivotal for an accurate diagnosis in such patients.

Impaired GFR is observed more commonly in patents with BS than GS. It has been reported that 25% of patients with cBS suffer from CKD [15,21-24]. In our study, four patients with cBS had impaired GFR at admission, whereas only two patients had CKD stage-II at the end of follow-up. However, all patients with GS had an eGFR greater than 90 ml/dk/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> at admission and at the end of follow-up period. The mechanism of CKD development is probably multifactorial. Nephrocalcinosis, chronic hypokalaemia, prematurity, long-term treatment with NSAIDs and damaging effect of elevated aldosterone levels on podocytes are some of the possibilities for CKD development in patients with BS and GS.

One recent study covering 30 patients with cBS detected no genotype-phenotype association [25], whereas Seys et al., reported an association between complete loss of function (CL/CL) mutations of *CLCNKB* mutations and severe phenotypes [21]. Although, we did not demonstrate by functional analysis, there was only one large deletion (Exon 2-20 deletion, patient B4) in our cohort that could be predicted to cause complete loss of function. This patient had the lowest eGFR at presentation. Although, previous studies from different countries [18,21,26] reported that whole gene deletion was the most common mutation in *CLCNKB* gene, in our cohort only one patient had this mutation. When our patients were evaluated in terms of genotype-phenotype correlation, no significant correlation was found even among patients harboring the same mutation.

The major limitations of our study were the low number of our patients and the relatively short period of follow up. Long term follow up of a larger number of patients could allow us to identify a significant difference in growth between these two study groups. Nonethless, the strength of our study is that the diagnosis of our patients were confirmed by very detailed genetic analyses. Prospective studies with larger number of patients, longer follow-up time and genetic confirmation will allow better demonstration of the genotype-phenotype correlation.

#### Conclusions

According to our findings, age at diagnosis, plasma chlorid, magnesium, bicarbonate levels and the urinary calcium/ creatinine ratio may be useful markers for differentiating cBS and GS. But, in some cases, cBS cannot be distinguished clinically from GS, especially in patients with overlapping features. For this reason we suggest to perform a gene-based classification especially in countries where genetic analysis is possible.

**Compliance with the Ethical Standards** The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Marmara University, School of Medicine (Protocol number: 09.2021.157 ). The

study protocol was described to all patients and their parents and written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants older than 18 years of age and from the parents of all children included in the study.

**Financial Support**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors have no potential conflicts to disclose.

Authors' Contrubition: S.G.,I.G.,C.A. Concept and Design. I.G., H.A., P.A.,N.Y. Supervision. S.G., C.A., E.D.B., M.S., S.P., O.N.T. Materials. S.G.,C.A., E.D.B., M.S., S.P., O.N.T., P.A. Data Collection and Processing. S.G., N.C. Analysis and Interpretation. S.G., I.G. Literature Search. S.G., N.C.,S.G., I.G., N.C., C.A. S.G., N.C. Writing the article. I.G., P.A., H.A. Critical review. All authors approved the final version of the article.

#### REFERENCES

- Besouw MTP, Kleta R, Bockenhauer D. Bartter and Gitelman syndromes: Questions of class. Pediatr Nephrol 2020;35:1815-24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00467.019.04371-y
- Seyberth HW. Pathophysiology and clinical presentations of salt-losing tubulopathies. Pediatr Nephrol 2016; 31:407-18 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00467.015.3143-1
- [3] Simon DB, Nelson-Williams C, Bia MJ. et al. Gitelman's variant of Bartter's syndrome, inherited hypokalaemic alkalosis, is caused by mutations in the thiazide-sensitive Na-Cl cotransporter. Nat Genet 1996; 12: 24-30. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng0196-24
- [4] Kamel KS, Harvey E, Douek K, Parmar MS, Halperin ML. Studies on the pathogenesis of hypokalemia in Gitelman's syndrome: Role of bicarbonaturia and hypomagnesemia. Am J Nephrol 1998;18:42-9.
- [5] Ring T, Knoers N, Oh MS, Halperin ML. Reevaluation of the criteria for the clinical diagnosis of Gitelman syndrome. Pediatr Nephrol 2002;17:612-16. https://doi.org/10.1159/000013303
- [6] Simon DB, Bindra RS, Mansfield TA. et al. Mutations in the chloride channel gene, CLCNKB, cause Bartter's syndrome type III. Nat Genet 1997;17:171-8.
- [7] Messa HL, de Oliveira Achili Ferreira JC, Andreia Rangel-Santos, Vaisbich MH. Genetic spectrum of Brazilian suspected Bartter Syndrome Patients. https://doi.org/10.21203/ rs.3.rs-35560/v1(preprint)
- [8] Sahbani D, Strumbo B, Tedeschi S, et al. Functional study of novel Bartter's Syndrome mutations in ClC-Kb and rescue by the accessory subunit Barttin toward personalized medicine. Front Pharmacol 2020 ;11:327. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2020.00327
- [9] Coto E, Rodriguez J, Jeck N, et al. A new mutation (intron 9 +1 G>T) in the SLC12A3 gene is linked to Gitelman syndrome in Gypsies. Kidney Int 2004;65:25-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1523-1755.2004.00388.x
- [10] Mastroianni N, Bettinelli A, Bianchetti M, et al. Novel molecular variants of the Na-Cl cotransporter gene are responsible for Gitelman syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 1996

;59:1019-26. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ pmc1914834

- [11] Syrén ML, Tedeschi S, Cesareo L, et al. Identification of fifteen novel mutations in the SLC12A3 gene encoding the Na-Cl Cotransporter in Italian patients with Gitelman syndrome. Hum Mutat 2002 ;20:78. doi: 10.1002/humu.9045. Erratum in: Hum Mutat 2002 ;20:321 https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.9045
- [12] Colussi G, Bettinelli A, Tedeschi S, et al. A thiazide test for the diagnosis of kidney tubular hypokalemic disorders. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2007;2:454-60. https://doi.org/10.2215/ cjn.02950906
- Zelikovic I. Hypokalaemic salt-losing tubulopathies: an evolving story. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003;18:1696-700. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfg249
- [14] Jeck N, Konrad M, Peters M, Weber S, Bonzel KE, Seyberth HW. Mutations in the chloride channel gene, CLCNKB,leadingto a mixed Bartter-Gitelman phenotype. Pediatr Res 2000; 48:754-8. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006.450.200012000-00009
- [15] Peters M, Jeck N, Reinalter S, et al. Clinical presentation of genetically defined patients with hypokalemic salt-losing tubulopathies. Am J Med 2002; 112: 183-90.
- [16] Bettinelli A, Bianchetti MG, Girardin E, et al. Use of calcium excretion values to distinguish two forms of primary renal tubular hypokalemic alkalosis: Bartter and Gitelman syndromes. J Pediatr 1992;120: 38-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0022-3476(05)80594-3
- [17] Nozu K, Iijima K, Kanda K, et al. The pharmacological characteristics of molecular-based inherited salt-losing tubulopathies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:511-8. https:// doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-0392
- [18] Lee BH, Cho HY, Lee H, et al. Genetic basis of Bartter syndrome in Korea. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012;27:1516-21. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfr475
- [19] Vargas-Poussou R, Dahan K, Kahila D, et al. Spectrum of mutations in Gitelman syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011; 22:693-703. https://doi.org/10.1681/asn.201.009.0907
- [20] Zelikovic I, Szargel R, Hawash A, et al. A novel mutation in the chloride channel gene, CLCNKB, as a cause of Gitelman and Bartter syndromes. Kidney Int 2003; 63:24-32. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00730.x
- Seys E, Andrini O, Keck M, et al. Clinical and genetic spectrum of Bartter Syndrome type 3 J Am Soc Nephrol 2017;28:2540-52. https://doi.org/10.1681/asn.201.610.1057
- [22] Bettinelli A, Borsa N, Bellantuono R, et al. Patients with biallelic mutations in the chloride channel gene CLCNKB: longterm management and outcome. Am J Kidney Dis 2007; 49: 91-8 https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2006.10.001
- [23] Puricelli E, Bettinelli A, Borsa N, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients with Bartter syndrome type I and II. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010; 25: 2976-81 https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/ gfq119
- [24] Brochard K, Boyer O, Blanchard A, et al. Phenotype–genotype correlation in antenatal and neonatal variants of Bartter syndrome. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2009; 24: 1455-64 https:// doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfn689

- [25] García Castaño A, Pérez de Nanclares G, Madariaga L, et al. Renal Tube Group: Poor phenotypegenotype association in a large series of patients with Type III Bartter syndrome. PLoS One 2017 ;12:e0173581. https //doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0173581
- [26] Han Y, Lin Y, Sun Q, Wang S, Gao Y, Shao L . Mutation spectrum of Chinese patients with Bartter syndrome. Oncotarget 2017;8:101614-22. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.21355

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

### Comparison of postoperative pain and pain control techniques in uniportal and biportal VATS and open surgery patients

Cagatay CETINKAYA<sup>1</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>, Zeynep BILGI<sup>2</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>, Tunc LACIN<sup>3</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>, Korkut BOSTANCI<sup>3</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>, Bedrettin YILDIZELI<sup>3</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>, Mustafa YUKSEL<sup>3</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>, Hasan Fevzi BATIREL<sup>3</sup> <sup>[10]</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Thoracic Surgery Clinic, Memorial Atasehir Hospital, Atasehir, Istanbul, Turkey. <sup>2</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, School of Medicine, Medeniyet University, Kadikoy, Istanbul, Turkey. <sup>3</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Pendik, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Cagatay CETINKAYA **E-mail:** drcagataycet@gmail.com

Submitted: 03.01.2021 Accepted: 21.04.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objectives: Thoracotomy causes intense postoperative pain which may become chronic. Video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) leads to less postoperative pain compared with thoracotomy. In this study, we analyzed pain scores in patients who underwent lung resections with VATS or thoracotomy.

Patients and Methods: Patients who underwent lung resections with uniportal, biportal VATS or thoracotomy between May 2015 – May 2017 were included in the study. Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) pain scores were recorded on postoperative day 1, 5 (or at discharge), 2nd week, 1st and 3rd months. Patients were classified in 3 groups, uniportal VATS (n=178), biportal VATS (n=15), thoracotomy (n=60). Demographics, resection type, mortality, morbidity and epidural catheter use were recorded.

**Results:** Two hundred and fifty-three patients (average age was  $57.3 \pm 12.7$ , 94 females) were included in the study. Median hospital stay was 5 days. Uniportal and biportal groups had significantly lower pain scores in all intervals compared with thoracotomy. No chronic pain was seen in VATS groups. Uniportal and biportal groups had similar pain scores at all times. Epidural use or size of specimen did not affect pain in VATS patients (p=0.18 vs p=0.68).

Conclusion: Video-assisted thoracic surgery decreases the need for epidural patient control analgesia. Specimen size does not affect postoperative pain and chronic pain is rare.

Keywords: Thoracoscopy, Uniportal, Biportal, Postoperative analgesia

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Pain control after thoracic operations is of critical importance. Thoracotomy causes intense postoperative pain, which may require epidural analgesia and/or opioid medications (morphine, oxycontine, tramadol etc.) [1]. Postoperative intensive pain control approaches may hinder the patient's compliance to pulmonary rehabilitation, inadequate ambulation may lead to atelectasis and pneumonia. Pain may still persist after discharge, affecting patient's toleration for adjuvant treatments, cause poor quality of life and also chronic pain syndromes may occur in 5-10% of patients who underwent thoracotomy [2]. Video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) has become the standard of care in the last 15 years for early stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The reason of this popularity is mainly due to decreased postoperative pain with VATS compared to thoracotomy. This has been reported in comparative and randomized studies which mainly use visual analogue scale (VAS) for pain quantification [3,4]. Improvements in VAS scores have also been correlated with functional gains after thoracic surgery [5].

Video-assisted thoracic surgery approach can be used for various procedures ranging from anatomical resections to pleural

How to cite this article: Cetinkaya C, Bilgi Z, Lacin T, et al. Comparison of postoperative pain and pain control techniques in uniportal – biportal VATS and open surgery patients. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):260-266. doi: 10.5472/marumj.984215

biopsies. For anatomical resections, standard VATS approach uses 3 ports, but as the technique gained popularity and surgeons completed their learning curve, biportal and uniportal anatomic resections have been reported in large case series. Comparative studies for those procedures are being published and the functional gain of these patients (if any) is not clear [6, 7]. There is also no currently established guideline delineating the use of basic (medication) or advanced (epidural, paravertebral) pain control modalities in various VATS techniques.

The aim of this study is to compare three different thoracic surgical techniques (uniportal VATS, biportal VATS, thoracotomy) and the size of lung specimens (wedge resection vs anatomical resection) in terms of pain scores, necessity of epidural analgesia and presence of chronic pain.

#### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

#### Patient selection

All patients undergoing anatomical or limited lung resection between May 2015-May 2017 were prospectively enrolled in this study. Patients were evaluated in 3 groups; Uniportal VATS (n=178), biportal VATS (n=15) and thoracotomy (open surgery) (n=60). All patients received standard preoperative work up according to their condition (lung cancer, solitary pulmonary nodule, bronchiectasis etc.) and anesthetic needs (routine laboratory studies, chest X-ray, electrocardiogram, pulmonary function tests, required consults according to present comorbidities). Patients with pre-diagnosed chronic pain syndromes or on chronic opioids and patients who did not consent to participate or could not cooperate for the application of the VAS were excluded. Demographic data, medical history (comorbidities, previous surgery, malignancy, etc), operative data (type of surgery, presence of epidural catheter, etc), perioperative data (length of hospital stay, opioid use during hospital and after discharge) and VAS for pain were prospectively recorded in a database.

The study was approved by the Marmara University, School of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee on 02.12.2016 with the protocol code of 09.2016.589. Per regulations of the review board and the hospital, written consent was taken from each patient.

#### Surgical technique

Uniportal VATS incision was made on the anterior axillary line, at the 5th intercostal space. 3-5 cm incision was made and a wound protecting retractor was used in every patient. A 28-32 F drain was placed through the same incision at the end of the operation.

Biportal VATS approach included a second incision in addition to the incision described in uniportal technique, which was usually at the 7th or 8th intercostal space, on the anterior axillary line. A 28-32 F drain was placed through the lower port at the end of the operation. Open surgery was performed through a classical posterolateral or anterolateral thoracotomy through 5th intercostal space. Rib retractor was used in all cases. 2 chest drains were placed from separate incisions.

#### Analgesic technique and follow up

All patients enrolled in the study received either intravenous (pethidine) or epidural (bupivacaine) patient controlled analgesia (PCA). Pethidine PCA settings were loading dose of 0.6 mg/kg, and a request dose of 0.2 mg/kg with basal infusion of 0.1 mg/kh/hour. An analgesic solution of bupivacaine (0.125%) was used for epidural PCA. In both groups, locked out time was set as 30 minutes. Thoracic epidural catheters were placed preoperatively in the operating theater, just before the operation. Anesthesiology postoperative pain team followed up the PCAs for 3 days every 12 hours and per needed basis in between. After postoperative day 3, analgesic maintenance was through oral and IV medications (tramadol, acetaminophen, ibuprofen). PCA was terminated on the day of discharge if the hospital stay was shorter than 3 days.

Patients were provided with a single script for 20 tramadol tablets, 50 mg, taken up to thrice daily as needed at discharge. They were instructed to rely on diclofenac 75 mg (twice a day) and acetaminophen 500 mg tablets (thrice a day) first, before using tramadol.

#### Visual analogue scale (VAS) pain scores

Visual Analogue Scale is an established method used for pain quantification. In our study the type of VAS that was provided had a 1 to 10 scale with 1 as pain free and 10 as the worst pain imaginable. The scale also included graphical references, pictured as representative faces at that corresponding pain level [8]. The measurements were taken on postoperative 1st, 5th days and on 2nd week, 1st month and 3rd month.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data were analyzed using SPSS 22.0. p<0.05 was determined as statistically significant. Mean, standard deviation and median values were calculated accordingly.

Distribution of variables were determined by using Kolmogorov – Smirnov test. Qualitative independent variables were evaluated by using Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney-U tests. Wilcoxon test was used for dependent qualitative parameters. For quantitative assessment, Chi-Square was used when conditions were met, otherwise Fisher's exact test was performed.

#### **3. RESULTS**

#### Patient characteristics

Among the patients included in the study, 178 patients underwent uniportal, 15 patients biportal VATS and the remaining 60 patients underwent thoracotomy. Operation breakdown is shown in Table I. Mean age was 57.3  $\pm$  12.7. There was no statistically significant age difference between groups (Table I).

Epidural cathater PCA was applied to 183 patients (114 uniportal, 12 biportal, 57 open), while in 70 patients analgesia was provided (64 uniportal, 3 biportal, 3 open) via IV PCA (Table I).

Uniportal and biportal groups had significantly lower pain scores on all intervals when compared to open group, however on the postoperative day 14, although the difference was evident, it was not statistically significant between biportal and open surgery groups (p:0.087). The difference in pain scores between these 3 groups was most pronounced in postoperative day (POD)1 (3.3±1.6, 3.3±1.3 vs 4.7±1.1 p<0.001). (Table II, Figure1).

On postoperative day 5, significantly lower percentage of patients in uniportal group scored higher than 4 when compared to open group (18/160 [11.3%] vs 17/60 [28.3%], p=0.01).

In chronic phase (3rd month) 14 uniportal, 3 biportal and 27 open surgery patients had very low pain intensity. While none of the uniportal and biportal patients described significant pain at 3rd month, 4 open surgery patients still had medium pain intensity.  $(0.1\pm0.4, 0.3\pm0.6 \text{ vs } 0.8\pm1.1 \text{ p} < 0.001)$ .

The subgroup analysis in regards to operation type (anatomic resection vs non anatomic resection) did not yield to any statistically significant different results in terms of VAS score composition (Table III). Also, in uniportal cases epidural and IV PCA groups were comparable in all intervals regardless of the operation type (Table IV).

#### Length of hospital stay

Uniportal surgery group had statistically a shorter length of hospital stay when compared to open surgery group ( $4.7\pm3.3$ ,  $5.5\pm2.2$  vs  $7.3\pm4.1$  p<0.001). There was no significant difference in regards to the length of hospital stay in either uniportal versus biportal or biportal versus open surgery comparisons.

#### Opioid usage after discharge

While a greater percentage of open surgery patients filled in and used their opioid (tramadol 50 mg, 20 tablets, thrice a day) prescsriptions than uniportal patients (27% vs 11%, p<0.04), biportal group's opioid consumption was comparable to uniportal and open surgery groups (p>0.05).

	Uniportal (n=178)	Biportal (n=15)	Open surgery (n=60)		
Age (mean ±SD, Median)	56.8±12.4, 58.0	63.7±9.1, 63.0	57.0±13.9, 59.5		
Sex (n,%) Female	N=72, 40 %	N=3, 20 %	N=19, 31 %		
Male	N=106, 59 %	N=12, 80 %	N=41, 68 %		
Anatomic resection (n, %)	N=89, 50 %	N=14, 93.3 %	N=50, 90 %		
Wedge resection (n,%)	N=89, 50 %	N=1, 6.7 %	N=6, 10 %		
Analgesic control Epidural PCA	N=114, 64 %	N=12, 80 %	N=57, 95 %		
(n,%) IV PCA	N=64, 36 %	N=3, 20 %	N=3, 5 %		

PCA: Patient Controlled Analgesia

**Table II.** Distribution of VAS pain scores according to the groups at different intervals

	Uniportal Biportal					al	Open Surgery							
		Mean±s.c	1.	Median		Mean±s.d.		Median		Mean±s	.d.	Median	p p	
VAS														
Postop Day 1	3.3	±	1.6	3.0	3.3	±	1.3	4.0	4.7	±	1.1	4.5	<0.001	K
Postop Day 5	1.9	±	1.1	2.0	2.2	±	1.0	2.0	3.0	±	0.9	3.0	<0.001	K
Postop 2nd week	0.6	±	0.8	0.0	1.1	±	0.9	1.0	1.6	±	0.7	2.0	<0.001	K
Postop 1st month	0.2	±	0.6	0.0	0.2	±	0.4	0.0	0.9	±	0.8	1.0	<0.001	K
Postop 3rd month	0.1	±	0.4	0.0	0.3	±	0.6	0.0	0.8	±	1.1	0.0	<0.001	K

K Kruskal-Wallis, VAS: Visual Analogue Scale

#### Table III. Distribution of VAS pain scores in terms of resection types

			Wedg			1	Anatomic Res	ection	· · ·	D
		Mean.±s.d.		Median		Mean ±s.	d.	Median		P
VAS										
Postop Day 1	3.27	±	1.69	3.00	3.37	±	1.42	4.00	0.172	m
Postop Day 5	1.88	±	1.05	2.00	1.94	±	1.16	2.00	0.555	m
Postop 2 <sup>nd</sup> week	0.46	±	0.66	0.00	0.71	±	0.89	0.00	0.091	m
Postop 1 <sup>st</sup> month	0.17	±	0.48	0.00	0.30	±	0.65	0.00	0.143	m
Postop 3 <sup>rd</sup> monthW	0.03	±	0.18	0.00	0.17	±	0.48	0.00	0.052	m

m Mann-Whitney U test, VAS: Visual Analogue Scale

	Epidural (-)					Epidural (+)				
	Ν	lean ± s.d.		Median		Mean ± s.	d.	Median	- P	
VAS										
Postop Day 1	3.17	±	1.45	3.00	3.40	±	1.61	3.50	0.335	m
Postop Day 5	1.70	±	0.90	2.00	2.03	±	1.19	2.00	0.092	m
Postop 2 <sup>nd</sup> week	0.45	±	0.75	0.00	0.66	±	0.81	0.00	0.078	m
Postop 1st month	0.08	±	0.27	0.00	0.32	±	0.67	0.00	0.009	m
Postop 3 <sup>rd</sup> month	0.06	±	0.30	0.00	0.12	±	0.40	0.00	0.242	m

Table IV. Distribution of VAS pain scores between epidural and IV PCA in uniportal incision

m Mann-Whitney U test



Figure 1. VAS pain scores of three groups at different intervals



Figure 2. Distribution of VAS pain scores according to the resection types

#### 4. DISCUSSION

A total of 253 patients who have undergone uniportal and biportal VATS and thoracotomy for various indications were included in this study. No significant difference was found in terms of pain between the uniportal and the biportal groups at all times except from the resection size comparison. Although, there was no significant difference between biportal and open surgery at the postoperative 2nd week, uniportal and biportal groups had lower pain scores compared with the open surgical group at all other times (Figure 1).

The first comparison of postoperative pain in VATS versus thoracotomy approaches was done by Landreneau et al., in 1993, which concluded in favor of VATS [9]. After that, various articles elaborated on postoperative pain and other aspects like length of hospital stay, length of chest drains, complications, quality of life, survival etc. 39 of those studies were reviewed in a meta-analysis by Whitson et al., among 6370 patients. VATS was found to be superior in terms of postoperative complications, length of chest drainage and hospital stay [3]. Since, the nature of the problem makes it very difficult to design a double blind randomized study and recruit adequate number of patients, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines now accept VATS as a first line approach for early state NSCLC, citing meta-analysis and well designed propensity score match studies show both superiority and non-inferiority to thoracotomy in regards to perioperative and oncological outcomes [10].

Enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) pathways were initially developed in colorectal surgery. In a meta-analysis of 38 studies, ERAS pathways were seen to be effective in reducing hospital length of stay and postoperative complication rates [11]. Guidelines for enhanced ERAS have recently been published for lung surgery. A standardized multimodal approach to pain relief, including good regional anaesthesia, is recommended with the aim of reducing postoperative opioid use. Acetaminophen and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs should be administered regularly to all patients unless contraindications exist [12]. The use of ERAS after lung surgery has the potential to improve patient outcomes. Early mobilization and VATS lung resection were independently associated with reduced morbidity while early mobilization was the only independent factor influencing a reduced length of hospital stay [13]. Our standard approach was to have patient walk in-room after 6th postoperative hour, right after introduction of a liquid diet. Since, the time of the disposition of the patient (family home, skilled nursing facility, rehabilitation facility, assisted living, etc.) is dependent on the practice environment we were not able to directly compare our

hospital stay statistics but 5-7 days is within the range of the established literature [7, 12,13].

Video-assisted surgery is a versatile approach, allowing application to a wide range of pathologies with different modifications. Uniportal VATS became popular after 2008 and some articles compared uniportal vs multiportal approaches in terms of postoperative pain and opioid consumption. While Jutley et al., found uniportal VATS to be more favourable in pneumothorax cases in acute postoperative period, uniportal and multiportal approaches were found to be equivalent in the chronic phase [14]. McElnay et al., found both approaches comparable when the population of the study was limited to anatomic resections [15]. This report's cohort, regarding the range of pathologies covered with VATS and postoperative pain outcomes, was comparable in both acute and chronic phases regardless of the number of the incisions.

In another study, similar to ours, by Sebastian et al., patients were divided into 3 groups: robotic surgery, VATS and open surgery and pain scores were compared. There was not a significant difference between VATS and robotic-assisted thoracoscopic surgery (RATS) groups in terms of acute and chronic pain and pain scores were less than the open surgery group in the acute period. However, different from our study, in the chronic period, there was not a significant difference in pain scores between 3 groups [16].

Although, the pathogenesis of pain is not clear, the most common opinion is that postthoracotomy pain is caused by intercostal nerve injury. Pain can sometimes exist after 4 to 5 years in 30% of patients [17]. In our study, during the chronic pain evaluation in the third month: no patients in the uniportal (0/178) and biportal (0/15) groups had pain, while in the open surgery group (4/60) 4 patients had moderate pain (Table II, Figure 1). The reason of this pain is thought to be nerve injury caused by intercostal retractions during surgery.

Epidural analgesia, paravertebral blocks, intercostal nerve blocks, PCA are the most common used pain control methods after thoracic surgery. Jie Ae Kim et al., compared the epidural PCA and paravertebral block methods for pain control in 37 patients who underwent VATS during the postoperative 5 days period and there was no significant difference between pain levels and pulmonary functions [18]. Epidural PCA or IV PCA were applied to all patients in our study. Pain scores were evaluated in 2 groups named as epidural PCA and IV PCA in 178 patients who had uniportal resection. There was not a significant difference in pain levels between these groups in our study (Table IV). Our study revealed that lung resections with uniportal incisions result in lower pain scores and pain control was comparable with systemic or epidural pain control methods in accordance with the reported experiences of different clinics in the literature [19, 20]. We compared the patients in 2 groups according to the size of resection: named as wedge resection and anatomical resection. The results showed that the size of resection has no effect on pain. There are no studies in literature comparing the size of the specimen and its relevance with postoperative pain.

Thoracic surgery is associated with high level of pain and an elevated incidence of long term opioid use after surgery [21]. Opioid use is also associated with significant risk for both mobidity and mortality [22]. There are no clinical studies which analyze opioid needs after discharge following lung cancer surgery at different types of incision. However, many news and studies derived from especially the USA [23, 24] show that the increase in the number of IV opioid users and the change in their demographic profile in these days are caused by the opioid prescriptions during discharge and their easy access. Due to this reason, it is better for patient safety to choose the methods that do not require opioid consumption in discharge. Our study showed that in the postoperative fifth day ( which is usually the day of discharge) patients who had 4 and more in pain scores in uniportal VATS group were significantly low. Since, sociocultural factors affect pain resistance and analgesic requirements, in our study opioid consumption was overall low in all groups. However, if this is not the case in other cultures, uniportal VATS may be a solution to decrease opioid consumption.

This study has several limitations. First of all, this study is not randomized and possibility of selection bias cannot be excluded. Thoracotomy patients may have had more advanced stage tumors. Secondly, the number of patients are not evenly distributed. Biportal patients are usually conversions from uniportal VATS due to difficulty in stapler introduction or lung manipulation. The study also does not have a power analysis, thus some of the significances may have been unnoticed due to the limited number of patients. Additionally, our study is terminated with 3 month follow-up and we could not assess pain scores at 6 months and 1 year postoperatively.

In conclusion, this study shows that VATS technique, independent of the number of port incisions, may decrease or eliminate the need for an epidural PCA for postoperative analgesia, specimen size does not affect postoperative pain and chronic pain is not highly expected in VATS patients.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical approval:** Ethical approval was obtained from the Marmara University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee on 02.12.2016 with the protocol code of 09.2016.589. Per regulations of the review committee and the hospital, written consent was taken from each patient.

**Funding:** The study was not supported by any funds.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Author Contributions: C.C. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work, Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. Final approval of the version to be published. Z.B. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work, Final approval of the version

to be published. T.L. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Final approval of the version to be published. K.B. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Final approval of the version to be published. B.Y. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Final approval of the version to be published. M.Y. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Final approval of the version to be published. M.Y. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Final approval of the version to be published. H.F.B. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, Final approval of the version to be published. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

#### REFERENCES

- Ochroch EA, Gottschalk A, Augostides J, et al. Long-term pain and activity during recovery from major thoracotomy using thoracic epidural analgesia. Anesthesiology 2002;97:1234-44. doi: 10.1097/00000.542.200211000-00029.
- [2] Karmakar MK, Ho AM. Postthoracotomy pain syndrome. Thorac Surg Clin 2004 ;14:345-52. doi: 10.1016/S1547-4127(04)00022-2
- [3] Whitson BA, Groth SS, Duval SJ, Swanson SJ, Maddaus MA. Surgery for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review of the video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery versus thoracotomy approaches to lobectomy. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008 ;86:2008-16; discussion 2016-8. doi: 10.1016/j. athoracsur.2008.07.009
- [4] Bendixen M, Jørgensen OD, Kronborg C, Andersen C, Licht PB. Postoperative pain and quality of life after lobectomy via video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery or anterolateral thoracotomy for early stage lung cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2016;17:836-844. doi: 10.1016/ S1470-2045(16)00173-X
- [5] Varela G, Brunelli A, Rocco G, et al. Predicted versus observed FEV1 in the immediate postoperative period after pulmonary lobectomy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2006;30:644-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2006.07.001
- [6] Rizk NP, Ghanie AM, Meier H, et al. A prospective trial comparing pain and quality of life measures after anatomic lung resection using either thoracoscopy or thoracotomy. Ann Thorac Surg 2014 ; 98: 1160-66. doi: 10.1016/j. athoracsur.2014.05.028
- [7] Nomori H, Cong Y, Sugimura H. Limited thoracotomy for segmentectomy: a comparison of postoperative pain with thoracoscopic lobectomy. Surg Today 2016 ;46:1243-8. doi: 10.1007/s00595.015.1302-4
- [8] Langley GB, Sheppeard H. The visual analogue scale: its use in pain measurement. Rheumatol Int 1985;5:145-8. doi: 10.1007/ BF00541514.
- [9] Landreneau RJ, Mack MJ, Hazelrigg SR, et al. Prevalence of chronic pain after pulmonary resection by thoracotomy or video-assisted thoracic surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg

1994;107:1079-86. doi: 10.1097/00132.586.199412000-00051

- [10] Sihoe ADL. "Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery as the gold standard for lung cancer surgery." Respirology 2020; 25: 49-60.
- [11] Nicholson A, Lowe MC, Parker J, Lewis SR, Alderson P, Smith AF. Systematic review and meta-analysis of enhanced recovery programmes in surgical patients. Br J Surg 2014; 101:172-88. doi: 10.1002/bjs.9394
- [12] Batchelor TJP, Rasburn NJ, Abdelnour-Berchtold E, et al. Guidelines for enhanced recovery after lung surgery: recommendations of the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS1) Society and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2019;55:91-115. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy301
- [13] Batchelor TJP, Ljungqvist O. A surgical perspective of ERAS guidelines in thoracic surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2019;32:17-22. doi: 10.1097/ACO.000.0000000685
- [14] Jutley RS, Khalil MW, Rocco G. Uniportal vs standard threeport VATS technique for spontaneous pneumothorax: comparison of postoperative pain and residual paraesthesia. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2005;28: 43-6. doi: 10.1016/j. ejcts.2005.02.039
- [15] McElnay PJ, Molyneux M, Krishnadas R, Batchelor TJP, West D, Casali G. Pain and recovery are comparable after either uniportal or multiport videoassisted thoracoscopic lobectomy: an observation study. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015 ;47:912-5. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezu324
- [16] Kwon ST, Zhao L, Reddy RM, et al. Evaluation of acute and chronic pain outcomes after robotic, video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery, or open anatomic pulmonary resection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2017 ;154:652-9. doi: 10.1016/j. jtcvs.2017.02.008
- [17] Karmakar MK, Ho AM. Postthoracotomy pain syndrome. Thorac Surg Clin 2004 ;14:345-52. doi: 10.1016/S1547-4127(04)00022-2
- [18] Kim JA, Kim TH, Yang M, et al. Is intravenous patient controlled analgesia enough for pain control in patients who underwent thoracoscopy? J Korean Med Sci 2009 ;24:930-5. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2009.24.5.930
- [19] Haager B, Schmid D, Eschbach J, Passlick B, Loop T. Regional versus systemic analgesia in video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy: a retrospective analysis. BMC Anesthesiology 2019; 19: 1-9.
- [20] Yie J C, Yang J T, Wu C Y, Sun W Z, Cheng Y J. Patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) following video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy: comparison of epidural PCA and intravenous PCA. Acta Anaesthesiologica Taiwanica 2012; 50:92-95.
- [21] Kavanagh BP, Katz J, Sandler AN. Pain control after thoracic surgery. A review of current techniques. Anesthesiology 1994 ;81:737-59. doi: 10.1097/00000.542.199409000-00028
- [22] Huang A, Azam A, Segal S, et al. Chronic postsurgical pain and persistent opioid use following surgery: the need for a transitional pain service. Pain Manag 2016 ;6:435-43. doi: 10.2217/pmt-2016-0004

- [23] Bates C, Laciak R, Southwick A, Bishoff J. Overprescription of postoperative narcotics: a look at postoperative pain medication delivery, consumption and disposal in urological practice. J Urol 2011;185:551-5 doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2010.09.088
- [24] Alam A, Gomes T, Zheng H , Mamdani MM, Juurlink DN, Bell CM. Long-term analgesic use after low-risk surgery: a retrospective cohort study. Arch Intern Med. Arch Intern Med 2012;172:425-30. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.1827

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# The palmaris longus muscle: A surface study of the population of North Cyprus

Maryam N ALIYU<sup>1</sup> , Mehtap TIRYAKIOGLU<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Human Anatomy, Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, Yusuf Maitama Sule University, PMB 3099, Kano, Nigeria. <sup>2</sup> Department of Anatomy, School of Medicine, Near East University, Nicosia, TRNC Mersin 10, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Mehtap TIRYAKIOGLU E-mail: mehtap.tiryakioglu@neu.edu.tr

Submitted: 11.01.2021 Accepted: 23.04.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: The aim of this research is to determine the frequency of surface anatomical variations of palmaris longus (PL) muscle in the population of North Cyprus and their association with gender, body side, and hand dominance.

Materials and Methods: The presence of PL was determined in 1280 subjects (660 females and 620 males) using four testing methods; Schaeffer's test, the Thompson's test, Pushpakumar's test and the Bhattacharya's test. Where the presence of the PL could not be determined by any of these tests, palpation was performed as the final confirmatory test.

Results: The overall frequency of absence was 17.4%. Female subjects showed a higher frequency of absence of 10.6% compared to males (6.8%). The absence was more likely to occur in the non-dominant hand. In those that had the PL, there were 28 (2.6%) cases of a split tendon and 3 cases (0.2%) of a laterally displaced tendon of the PL.

Conclusion: The overall frequency of absence of PL in North Cyprus was 17.4% and absence is more likely to occur in females, on the left side and in the non-dominant hand. Other variations recorded are the split tendons and laterally displaced tendons. Keywords: Palmaris longus, Anatomical variation, Agenesis, Forearm, North Cyprus

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

The palmaris longus (PL) muscle is one of the four superficial muscles on the flexor aspect of the forearm. It originates from the common flexor tendon at the medial epicondyle of humerus and converges into a long and slender tendon that passes anterior to the flexor retinaculum before it becomes flattened to blend with the palmar aponeurosis. It flexes the wrist joint and tenses the palmar aponeurosis [1-3].

The PL has received worldwide attention from researchers, despite the fact that functionally, it is a negligible muscle. It is believed to be functionally more active in mammals that use their upper limbs for mobilization [4, 5]. It has lost its function in the course of human evolution and is gradually becoming extinct [6-8]. This evolution-induced morphometric change has made the PL one of the most variable muscles in the body [4, 5, 9]. It may be absent on one or both sides [3, 10] or may be reversed, duplicated or digastric [3].

Surgeons consider the tendon of PL as the tendon of choice in reconstructive surgeries, because it is of the right length and

diameter, it is easily accessible and its absence does not produce any functional deformity [4, 11]. It is used by plastic surgeons in treatment of facial paralysis, repairing ptosis, lip augmentation, and in the restoration of lip and chin defects [12-14]. The tendon of PL is also harvested to repair oncologic defects of head and neck and arthritis of the thumb [15].

The variations of PL can cause many clinical syndromes as reported by various researchers. A study reported a clinical case of a bitendinous PL causing median nerve compression during a standard carpal tunnel release [16].

Many textbooks of anatomy show a worldwide prevalence of absence of PL as 10-15% [3, 17] although, prevalence as low as 0.6% has been recorded in the Korean population [18] and as high as 63.9% in the Turkish population [19].

However, despite the several studies to determine the prevalence of absence of the PL in various ethnic groups worldwide, there is a dearth of information on the North Cyprus population. To the best of the authors' knowledge, the prevalence of absence of

How to cite this article: Aliyu MN, Tiryakioglu M. The palmaris longus muscle: A surface study of the population of North Cyprus. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):267-273. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013454

the PL in the North Cyprus population is unknown. Therefore, the aim of this research is to determine the frequency of surface anatomical variations of PL muscle in North Cyprus and their association with gender, body side and hand dominance. The findings will be useful to surgeons working in North Cyprus, especially in the fields of plastic surgery and orthopedics. It will also increase the available data on the PL, thus contributing to the research community.

#### 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

The study was done in the Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Near East University after approval of the Ethical Board of the Institute of Health Sciences, Near East University (Project Number: 807, Meeting Number: 2019/68, Date of the Ethical Board Meeting: 02/05/2019) and the Ministry of Education, North Cyprus. A written informed consent was sought from each participant before the study was carried out.

The study was conducted in 3 schools within the Nicosia district of North Cyprus; the Turkish High School of Nicosia, the Turkish Education College, and the Near East University. The study was planned as a cross sectional study and the sampling was done sequentially until the target population is reached. The sample size was determined using the population of 300,000 North Cypriots using a confidence interval of 95% and a margin of error of 3% and was calculated to be 1,064.

A total of 1280 participants were assessed for surface variations of the PL. Four testing methods were used, which included the Schaeffer's test, the Thompson's test, Pushpakumar's test and the Bhattacharya's test [20]. Where the PL was not visualized by the 4 methods, palpation was done as the final confirmatory for absence. Presence of other variations of the PL tendon was also assessed. Subjects with hand and wrist deformities, previous injuries or surgeries in the forearm and wrist, less than 10 years age or above 60 years, were excluded from the study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data collected was entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet then exported to SPSS version 20. All statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS. These include frequencies, percentages and chi-square tests. A value of p < 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistical significance between variables and the degree of freedom was taken as 1. The Yates correction was applied in 2 data sets.

#### **3. RESULTS**

A total of 1,280 subjects were examined out of which 660 were females and 620 were males. PL agenesis was found in 223 cases (17.4%). 28 cases (2.6%) showed a split (bifid) tendon and 3 cases (0.2%) presented with a laterally shifted tendon (Figure 1). Out of the total, unilateral absence was observed to be 158 (12.3%), of which right unilateral absence was 40 (3.1%), and left unilateral absence was 118 (9.3%). The frequency of bilateral absence of PL was observed to be 65 (5.1%). The distribution of absence based on gender is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 1. Distribution of variations based on sex



Figure 2. Distribution of PL absence based on sex

The distribution of PL agenesis among the different nationalities and/or regions was found to be 96 (7.5%) for Cypriots, 86 (6.7%) for Turks, 30 (2.3%) for Arabs, 4 (0.3%) for Africans and 7 (0.5%) for others (Table I).

**Table I.** Distribution of palmaris longus absence based on nationalities and/or regions (North Cyprus, Nicosia, 2019) (N=1280)

	Right		Left		Bilat	eral	Total	
	Absei	Absence		Absence		Absence		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Cypriots (n=633)	20	20.8	43	44.8	26	27.1	96	100
Turks (n=518)	16	18.6	45	52.3	32	33.3	86	100
Arabs (n=66)	2	6.7	25	83.3	3	10	30	100
Africans (n=45)	1	25.0	1	25.0	2	50	4	100
Others (n=18)	1	14.2	4	57.1	2	28.6	7	100
Total	40		118		65		223	

Unilateral and bilateral absence of PL is shown by Figures 3A-B. The presence of a split tendon was observed in 28 subjects (2.6%); 24 cases occurred on the right, 2 on the left, and 2 bilaterally (Figures 4 A-B).



**Figure 3A.** Bilateral absence of palmaris longus tendon in a 22y old Persian female demonstrated by the Shaeffer's test

Out of the total number of cases that presented with PL tendon (n=1057), 3 cases (0.2%) were observed to have a laterally displaced tendon; 2 cases were females (an African and a Turk) and the other was a Turkish male (Figures 5A-B).



*Figure 4A.* Left split tendon (shown by arrow head) in a 22y old Russian female visualized by Shaeffer's test



*Figure 3B.* Unilateral left absence of palmaris longus in a 19y old Cypriot female. The arrow heads point to the tendon of flexor carpi ulnaris which has become more prominent



*Figure 4B. Right split tendon in a 16y old African female* 



**Figure 5A.** Laterally displaced tendon of palmaris longus in the right distal forearm of a 24y old Turkish male and split tendon of palmaris longus on the right



*Figure 5B.* Laterally displaced left palmaris longus and right split tendon in an African female

The overall difference in PL agenesis between males and females was statistically significant (p < .05), which implies that females have a higher frequency of absence of PL muscle (Table II).

**Table II.** Relationship between absence of palmaris longus and gender(North Cyprus, Nicosia, 2019) (N=1280)

Gender	Pres	Present		Absent		χ2	p-value
	n	%	n	%			
Female	524	79.4	136	20.6	660	9.61	0.002
Male	533	86.0	87	14.0	620		
Total	1057		223		1280		

While trying to find a correlation between the occurrence of the split tendon and gender, the result was not statistically significant (p > .05). Although, the frequency of a split tendon was higher in females, the chi-square test was not statistically significant (Table III).

**Table III.** Correlation between split tendon and gender (North Cyprus,<br/>Nicosia, 2019) (N=1280)

Tendon	Nor	mal	Sp	lit	χ2*	p-value
	n	%	n	%		
Male	533	98.2	10	1.8	1.39	0.238
Female	524	96.7	18	3.3		
Total	1057		28			
*Vatas correct	ion					

*Yates correction* 

Concerning laterality or body side, there was also a significant statistical difference (p < .05 for left side) between the right and left sides, which shows that PL agenesis occurs more frequently on the left side (Table IV).

Table IV. Laterality in palmaris	longus	muscle	absence	(North	Cyprus,
Nicosia, 2019) (N=1280)	-				

Laterality	Pres	ent	Abse	ent	Total	χ2	p-value
	n	%	n	%			
Left	1162	90.8	118	9.2	1280	41.04	P<0.001
Right	1280	96.9	40	3.1	1280		

The result of the correlation between body side and occurrence of a split tendon was statistically significant at p < .05, and shows that the split tendon is more likely to occur on the right side as shown in Table V.

 Table V. Relationship between body side and split tendon of palmaris longus (North Cyprus, Nicosia, 2019) (N=1280)

0							
	Nor	mal	Split t	tendon	Total	χ2*	p-value
	n	%	n	%			
Right	1240	98.1	24	1.9	1264	13.40	p<0.001
Left	1162	99.7	4	0.3	1166		
VT7 .							

\*Yates correction

Out of the 1280 subjects, 1214 were right handed and 66 were left handed. 40 cases showed absence of PL on the right and 118 on the left. Out of the total 223 cases of absence, bilateral absence occurred in 57 right hand dominant subjects and 8 left hand dominant subjects. This is shown in Table VI.

**Table VI.** Relationship between handedness and frequency of absence of palmaris longus (North Cyprus, Nicosia, 1280) (N=1280)

	Hande	edness	Absenc	e of PL	χ2	p-value
	n	%	n	%		
Right	1214	96.8	40	3.2	609.27	P < 0.001
Left	66	35.9	118	64.1		
Total	1280		158			

Left sided unilateral absence occured in 109 right handed subjects and 9 left handed subjects while right sided unilateral absence occurred in 37 right handed subjects and 3 left handed subjects. The relationship between handedness and frequency of absence of PL was statistically significant (p < .05) in that the absence was more likely to occur in the non-dominant hand. The p-value for the left hand was < .001 which meant PL agenesis was more likely to occur on the left side in a righthanded individuals.

All the cases of the split tendon occurred in right handed subjects, so a comparison could not be made. There were only 3 cases of a laterally displaced tendon, so no statistical analysis could be made.

#### 4. DISCUSSION

The tendon of PL muscle, an anterior forearm flexor muscle, is found at the level of the wrist lying between the tendons of the flexor carpi ulnaris and flexor carpi radialis Various studies have reported many different variations of the tendon of PL, especially its absence [3-5, 20-28]. More studies have been conducted to establish a correlation of the absence of PL to body side, gender and hand dominance [6, 29, 30-32].

In this study, the overall frequency of absence of PL among the North Cyprus population was found to be 17.4% (n=223) (Figure 1). This value is comparable to the study recorded with a 17.09% frequency of absence among first year Filipino medical students [15]. A similar study conducted on 500 Indian subjects recorded a similar prevalence of absence of 17.2% [33]. Another study on an Indian population also reported a similar prevalence of 17.2% [27]. The value is also similar to the worldwide prevalence of absence of 15% [17]. A study in Van, Turkey recorded a total prevalence of 15.1% [7]. Higher prevalence of PL agenesis have been given in Chilean subjects as 21% [6] while it was 22.8% in Iran [4], 26.6% in Turkey [8], 26.7% in Nigeria [29], 28% in India [13], and 40.5% in Saudi Arabia [12]. A study conducted in the Gaziantep population of Turkey reported the highest prevalence as 63.9% [19]. Many studies have recorded lower prevalence of absence especially in studies conducted in Africa and Asia. In South Africa it was reported as 11.5% [34]; In Iranian subjects it was reported as 10.2% prevalence of absence [4], while it was 9.3% in Malaysia [14]; Yoruba population of Nigeria showed 6.7% [15]; East Africa as 4.4% [9]; Korea as 4.1% [18]; Ghana as 3.8% [35]; and Zimbabwe as 1.6% [30].

Out of the total prevalence of absence in this study (17.4%), a total of 158 (12.3%) cases exhibited unilateral absence while 65 (5.1%) cases showed bilateral absence. In the unilateral cases, 40 subjects (3.1%) exhibited unilaterality on the right, and 118 (9.3%) showed left unilateral absence (Figure 2). From this study, it was inferred that there is a higher frequency of unilateral absence of the PL tendon. This was supported by a report with the total prevalence of absence of 21%, 11% were unilateral and 9% bilateral [6]. In another study, it is also recorded with a 6.4% unilateral absence and 2.9% bilateral absence, out of the total 8.3% [14]. The study by Yong et al., also reported that left sided absence was more common [32]. Also, the East African study

reported that out of the total 4.4% cases of absence, 3.3% were unilateral and 1.1% was bilateral [9]. The results of the current study were in contrast to the results of a study that reported a higher incidence of bilateral absence (6.7% out of the total 10.2%) [4]. Some other studies showed no significant difference between unilateral and bilateral cases; one study reported that of the 26.7% cases of absence, 13% were unilateral and 13.7% were bilateral [29] while another one reported no statistically significant difference in terms of sidedness [15]. Similarly, one of the studies reported that the development and the prevalence of agenesis of the PL in the fetal period had no significant differences based on sidedness, although, bilateral absence was significantly higher (62.2%) when compared to unilateral prevalence (15%) [36]. In the current study, the unilateral cases were 3.1% on the right and 9.3% on the left (Table IV). This contrasted with the study that showed a higher distribution on the right side (10.2%) compared to the 5.9% on the left [4]. In comparison, a study showed equal distribution on both right and left sides (5.6%) [29], same as another study which showed 1.4% prevalence of absence on both sides [35]. One study showed a slightly higher prevalence on the left (6%) compared to the 5% on the right side [6].

Studies have tried to correlate the frequency of absence of the PL with gender. The report of a study showed a higher frequency of absence in females (15.1%) compared to males (11.2); of these cases, 9.0% cases were on the left side [6]. The current study also showed a higher frequency of absence in females (10.6%) compared to the males (6.8%). The relationship between gender and absence of the PL was statistically significant (p < .05) (Table II). The total frequency of absence on the right side was 3.1% while on the left, it was 9.2%; 19 of the female subjects (1.9%) had unilateral absence on the right and 77 (6.0%) had unilateral absence on the left; while the male frequency of absence was 1.6% on the right and 3.2% on the left. In this study, the p-value for the left was statistically significant (p < .05) (Table IV). This finding was also supported by the study which reported 37.5% absence in females and 27.9% in males, with a p-value for left hand being 0.017 [37]. While, one study also reported a higher frequency of absence in females and on the left [29], another study reported males to have 16% unilateral agenesis and 4% bilateral agenesis while females had 29% unilateral agenesis and 14% bilateral agenesis [18]. In contrast, another study reported a higher frequency of absence in males (4.7%) compared to 3.3% in females, with no statistically significant difference as to laterality. A study conducted in Malaysia reported a higher frequency in females (11.5% compared to 7.1% in males) but there was no statistically significant difference in laterality as the p-value for the left was 0.105 [14]. This finding was in contrast to the findings of studies that showed no statistically significant difference in genders [4, 34]. The study of frequency in Chilean subjects showed that the PL was most frequently absent on the left side and in women, but the statistical test was not significant [6].

The current study recorded a bilateral absence of PL in 57 (4.5%) right hand dominant subjects and 8 (0.6%) in left hand dominant subjects. 109 cases (8.5%) had unilateral absence on the left side

while 9 cases (0.7%) had unilateral absence on the left side. On the other hand, 37 right-handed subjects (2.9%) had unilateral absence on the right; while 3 (0.2%) left-handed subjects had absence on the right. The difference between right and left hand dominance and frequency of absence of PL was statistically significant (p-value is < .001 at p < .05) for the non-dominant hand, which showed that absence of PL was more likely to occur in the non-dominant hand (Table VI). This finding was supported by a study concluded that right-sided absence was more common in left-handed persons while left-sided absence was more common in the right-handed persons [38]. Kigera and Mukwaya reported similar findings that PL agenesis was more likely to occur in a non-dominant hand [9]. Another study reported no significant difference in terms of gender, body side and handedness, but concluded that the absence of PL tendon was more likely to occur in the non-dominant hand [35]. Another study however, reported a contradicting result that there was a significant relationship between PL agenesis and left hand dominance, that those with PL agenesis were 3.7 times more likely to be left-hand dominant and left handed people were 3.7 times more likely to have PL agenesis [4]. No other study has reported similar findings. Kyung et al., concluded that there was no relationship between hand dominance and PL absence [18].

This study also documented 28 cases (2.5%) of the total number of those that were positive for the PL tendon of a split (bifid) tendon of PL, of which 10 (0.9%) cases occurred in males and 17 (1.6%) in females. Although, the frequency of a split tendon was higher in females, the chi-square test was 1.43 and p-value was .23 which was p > .05 (Table III); this implied that the difference in gender was not statistically significant. In the cases with split tendon, 24 cases occurred on the right, 1 bilaterally and 2 on the left side. The chi-square test was 14.86 and p - value was < 0.001, which was statistically significant at p < .05, which means that the split tendon is more likely to occur on the right side (Table V). However, no similar studies were found to compare and contrast this result. In the literature, there is a case report of 2 cases of an anomalous V-shaped bifid tendon of PL [39].

There were 3 cases (0.2%) of a laterally displaced tendon of PL on the right forearms of a Turkish male (Figure 3A), Turkish female, and the left forearm of an African female (Picture 3b). Another study reported a lateral shift in the tendon of PL in 1.1% of subjects [30].

The frequency of absence in the ethnic groups of North Cyprus could not be compared as there were no similar studies in the region to compare. No other abnormalities have been observed in this study.

In summary, the goals of this research were to establish the frequency of surface anatomical variations in the different races in North Cyprus and to correlate these variations with gender, body side and hand dominance. All these have been established in this research. The frequency of absence was 17.4%, frequency of split tendon was 2.5% and lateral tendon was 0.2%. There was a significant statistical correlation between these variations, gender, body side and hand dominance. From this study, it can

be concluded that PL agenesis is more likely to occur in females and on the left side, and in the non-dominant hand.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute of Health Sciences, Near East University (Project Number: 807, Meeting Number: 2019/68, Date of the Ethical Board Meeting: 02/05/2019) and the Ministry of Education, North Cyprus. A written informed consent was sought from each participant before the study was carried out.

**Funding**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of interest**: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Authors' Contrubition: M.N.A., M.T.: Idea/ Concept. M.N.A.:: Design. M.T.: Control/Supervision. N.N.A.:Data Collection and processing. M.N.A., M.T.: Analysis. M.N.A., M.T.: Literature review. M.T.: Critical Review. Both authors approved the final version of the article.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Moore KL, Dalley AF, Agur AMR. Clinically Oriented Anatomy. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2014: 744-750.
- [2] Snell RS. Clinical anatomy by regions. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2018: 382-98.
- [3] Standring S, Anand N, Birch R, Collins P, Crossman AR, Gleeson M, Wigley CB. Gray's Anatomy. The Anatomical Basis of Clinical Practice. New York: Elsevier, 2016: 848-61.
- [4] Lahiji FA, Ashoori K, Dahmardehei M. Prevalence of palmaris longus agenesis in a hospital in Iran. Arch Iran Med 2013; 16 : 187-8.
- [5] Pai MM, Prabhu LV, Nayak SR, et al. The palmaris longus muscle: its anatomic variations and functional morphology. Rom J Morphol Embryol 2008; 49: 215-217.
- [6] Alves N, Ramirez D, Deana NF. Study of frequency of palmaris longus in Chilean subjects. Int J Morphol 2011; 29: 485-9.
- [7] Hiz Ö, Ediz L, Ceylan MF, Gezici E, Gulcu E, Erden M. Prevalence of the absence of palmaris longus muscle assessed by a new examination (Hiz-Ediz Test) in the population residing in the area of Van, Turkey. J Clin Exp Invest 2011; 2:254-9.
- [8] Kose O, Adanir O, Cirpar M, Kurklu M, Komurcu M. The prevalence of absence of the palmaris longus: a study in Turkish population. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2009;129: 609-11.
- [9] Kigera JWM, Mukwaya S. Frequency of agenesis of palmaris longus through clinical examination – An East African study. PLoS One 2011; 6: e28997. doi: 0.1371/journal.pone.0028997
- [10] Natsis K, Levva S, Totlis T, Anastasopoulos N, Paraskevas G. Three-headed reversed palmaris longus muscle and its clinical significance. Ann Anat 2007; 189: 97-101.

- [11] Lamichhane PS, Sharma K, Lamichhane N. Study on palmaris longus muscle tendon agenesis among first year Filipino medical students. J Gandaki Med Coll Nepal 2017; 10:17-20.
- [12] Alabbad AA, Marwah HA, Marwah S, Alahmad SA. The frequency of palmaris longus absence among female students in King Faisal University in Al-Ahsa, Saudi Aradia. Egyptian J of Health Med 2018; 70: 1959-62. doi: 10.12816/0044850
- [13] Devi SK, Bhanu PS, John SP. Incidence of agenesis of palmaris longus in the Andhra population of India. Indian J Plast Surg 2011; 44:134-8. doi: 10.4103/0970-0358.81448
- [14] Roohi SA, Choon-Sian L, Shalimar A, Tan GH, Naicker AS, Rehab MM. A study on the absence of palmaris longus in a multi-racial population. Malaysian Orthop J 2007, 1 : 26-8.
- [15] Mbaka GO and Ejiwunmi AB. Prevalence of Palmaris longus absence – a study in the Yoruba population. Ulster Med J 2001; 78: 22-4.
- [16] Lorenzo JS, Canada M, Diaz L, Sarasua G. Compression of the median nerve by an anomalous palmaris longus tendon: A case report. J Hand Surg 1996; 21A: 858-60. doi: 10.1016/ s0363-5023(96)80204-8.
- [17] Drake RL, Vogl AW, Mitchel AWM. Gray's Anatomy for students. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier, 2015: 776-81.
- [18] Kyung DS, Lee JH, Choi IJ, Kim DK. Different frequency of the absence of the palmaris longus according to assessment methods in a Korean Population. Anat Cell Biol 2012; 45:53-6. doi: 10.5115/acb.2012.45.1.53
- [19] Ceyhan O, Mavt A. Distribution of agenesis of palmaris longus in 12 to 18 years old age groups. Indian J Med Sci 1997; 51: 156-160.
- [20] Kigera JWM and Mukwaya S. Clinical assessment of the palmaris longus – accuracy of common tests. The Annals of African Surgery 2012; 9:104-7.
- [21] Alzahrani MS, Almalki MA, Al-Thunayan TA, Almohawis AH, Al Turki AT, Umedani L. Absence of palmaris longus and flexor digitorum superficialis muscles in young Saudi population. Anatomy Research International vol. 2017; Article ID: 5342497, 6 pages, 2017. doi: 10.1155/2017/5342497
- [22] Arquez HF. Morphological study of palmaris longus muscle. International Archive of Medicine: Human Anatomy Section 2017; 10:1-6.
- [23] Ashby BS. Hypertrophy of the Palmaris longus muscle. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1964; 46 : 230-2.
- [24] Barkats N. Hypertrophy of palmaris longus muscle, a rare anatomic aberration. Folia Morphol 2015; 74: 262-4.
- [25] Cerda A, Del Sol M. Morphology and morphometry of the tendons of palmaris longus and radial carpal extensor muscles in humans. Int J Morphol 2016; 34 : 1515-21.

- [26] Das S. Farihah S. Palmaris longus muscle: presence or absence, does it matter? Med Health 2013, 8: 1-2.
- [27] Kapoor SK, Tiwari A, Kumar A, Bhatia R, Tantuway V, Kapoor S. Clinical relevance of palmaris longus agenesis: Common anatomical aberration. Anat Sci Int 2008; 83: 45-8.
- [28] Thompson NW, Mockford BJ, Cran GW. Absence of the palmaris longus muscle: a population study. Ulster Med J 2011; 70: 22-4.
- [29] Adejuwon SA, Salawu OT, Ajibola B. Agenesis of palmaris longus muscle in selected population of school childres in Nigera. Int J Morphol 2012; 30: 1593-6.
- [30] Gangata H. The clinical surface anomalies of the palmaris longus muscle in the Black African population of Zimbabwe and a proposed new testing technique. Clin Anat 2009; 22: 230-5. doi: 10.1002/ca.20751
- [31] Sebastin SJ, Lim AYT, Wong H-B. Clinical assessment of absence of the Palmaris Longus and its association with other anatomical anomalies – a Chinese population study. Ann Acad Med Singapore 2006; 35: 249-53.
- [32] Yong MW, Yusof N, Rampal L, Arumugam M. Prevalence of absence of palmaris longus and its association with gender, hand dominance and absence of FDS tendon to little finger among Malay population. J Hand Surg Asian Pac 2017; 22: 484-9. doi: 10.1142/S021.881.041750054X.
- [33] Sebastin SJ, Lim AY, Bee WH, Wong TC, Methil BV. Does the absence of the palmaris longus affect grip and pinch strength? J Hand Surg Br 2005; 30: 406-8.
- [34] Ndou R, Ramirez D, Deana NF. Study of frequency of absence of palmaris longus in a South African population of mixed race. Clin Anat 2010; 23:437-42.
- [35] Abledu JK, Offei EB. Prevalence of agenesis of palmaris longus and its association with gender, body side, handedness and other anomalies of the forearm in a student population in Ghana. Rawal Medical J 2014; 39: 203-207.
- [36] Yammine K, Erić M, Assi C. Variations and morphometrics of palmaris longus in fetuses: a meta-analysis of cadaveric studies. Surg Radiol Anat 2020; 42: 281-287. doi: 10.1007/ s00276.019.02391-9
- [37] Cetin A, Gene M, Sevil CY, Coban CY. Prevalence of the palmaris longus muscle and its relationship with grip and pinch strength: a study in a Turkish pediatric population. Hand 2013; 8: 215 20.
- [38] Eric M, Koprivcic I, Vucinic N, et al. Prevalence of the palmaris longus in relation to the hand dominance. Surg Radiol Anat 2011; 33: 481-4.
- [39] Alshalam AA, Mular P, Jawad K. Anomalous V-shape palmaris longus tendon: Two cases. J Med Cases 2010; 1: 68-70. doi: https://doi.org/10.4021/jmc114e

### MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

## Genetic alterations and pathways in patients with Hereditary Angioedema of Unknown Cause (U-HAE)

Hande KAYMAKCALAN<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Hande ALP<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Ahmet Okay CAGLAYAN<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Okan GULBAHAR<sup>4</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Emine Nihal GOKMEN<sup>4</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Emrah NIKEREL<sup>5</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Demiroglu Science University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Pediatrics, Private Clinic, Ankara, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, 9 Eylul University, Izmir, Turkey.

<sup>4</sup>Department of Allergy and Immunology, School of Medicine, Ege University, Izmir, Turkey.

<sup>5</sup> Department of Genetics and Bioengineering, Faculty of Engineering, Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Hande KAYMAKCALAN E-mail: doctorhande@yahoo.com

Submitted: 12.03.2021 Accepted: 07.06.2021

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Hereditary angioedema (HAE) with normal C1 inhibitor (HAE-nC1-INH), is a genetically complex, rare disease and mutations in *F12, ANGPT1, PLG, MYOF* genes are found in some families with HAE-nC1-INH. However, often a specific mutation cannot be identified and this type is called as hereditary angioedema of unknown cause (U-HAE). Our aim was to identify putative causative genetic alterations and/or pathways by whole exome sequencing in patients with U-HAE.

Patients and Methods: Nine patients from 8 families between the ages of 3 to 63 years with U-HAE and 6 controls were enrolled for the study and whole exome sequencing were performed.

**Results**: No significant difference was found between the case and control group for the *a priori* suspected set of genes. Variants in the genes; *RAMP2, IL6, GP1BA, C1QBP* were significantly different between U-HAE and control group. Downstream functional analysis found that blood coagulation pathways were enriched in these genes.

Conclusion: Proteins that are not involved in contact pathways may also play a role in U-HAE. These variants need to be replicated in larger cohorts and studied at the functional level to verify our findings.

Keywords: Hereditary angioedema of unknown cause (U-HAE), Whole exome sequencing (WES), Genetic

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Hereditary angioedema (HAE) is a rare autosomal dominant disease that results in recurrent attacks of swelling and has a highly variable clinical course [1]. There are two well defined types of HAE: HAE due to C1 inhibitor deficiency (C1-INH) and HAE with normal C1-INH deficiency (HAE-nlC1-INH). HAE due to C1-INH deficiency is further subdivided into type 1 (low plasma c1INH antigen) and type 2 (normal, but dysfunctional C1INH). Both HAE types are caused by mutations in *SERPING1* gene [2,3].

Hereditary angioedema with nlC1-INH is a genetically complex, rare disease first described in 2000. Prevalence is estimated at 1:100.000. Mutations in *F12* gene are seen in approximately

30% of the patients and recently mutations in *ANGPT1*, *PLG* and *MYOF* were shown in some families with HAE-nC1-INH [4] .However, most of the time a specific mutation cannot be shown. There is a need for methods that can identify affected individuals with HAE-nC1-INH with unknown genetic cause (U-HAE) [5,1].

Functional genomics approaches attempt to discover, define and describe function of genes and interactions thereof, making use of the vast data generated by genomic and transcriptomic projects [6]. One initial step into this endeavor, is the discovery of causative genes, in particular for a disease or trait of interest

How to cite this article: Kaymakcalan H, Alp H, Caglayan AO,Gulbahar O, Gokmen EN, Nikerel E. Genetic alterations and pathways in patients with hereditary angioedema of unknown cause. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):274-278. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1009115

via observational studies, where features (e.g. structural variants in the genome) are associated with the traits.

#### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

After ethics approval (Ankara University Ethics Committee, date: 08/27/2012 number: 13-419-12) and consent forms were taken, 9 patients between the ages of 3 to 63 years with U-HAE were enrolled in the study (Table I). 8 patients were from a Turkish decent and 1 was Irish-American. 2 patients were father and his adult daughter, and the rest belonged to unrelated families. 3 of the index cases were younger than 11 years of age. 6 controls were taken randomly from a sample of patients with congenital heart disease. All index cases presented with recurrent angioedema symptoms and met the criteria for HAE-nlC1-INH as described by Cicardi et al [1].

## WES analysis, Identification of variants and statistical procedures, bioinformatics analyses.

All patients (controls and cases) underwent to whole-exome sequencing (WES) analysis. The raw sequence files were quality filtered (average Phred score >30, minimum 50X depth of coverage) using FastQC. The resulting sequence files were mapped to human genome (hg19) using Bowtie2 [7] or Burrows-Wheeler Alignment (BWA) tool [8] and downstream analyses were performed using Sam tools [9]. The mapped reads were further used for variant detection using standard bioinformatics workflows of samtools and/or GATK [10]. All detected variants were listed and inspected for their PolyPhen [11] and SIFT [12] scores and further checked in COSMIC database [13]. The variations identified as "benign" were discarded and variations with outcomes as "possibly damaging" and "unknown" were kept.

#### Construction of Variant profiles per gene

To assess potential association between the U-HAE and structural variants, variant profile for each gene is constructed as follows: for each gene and each sample considered, a binary variable that represents the presence or absence of a structural variation (with suitable PolyPhen outcome) is generated. In doing so, all variations in the selected gene are aggregated. In case there are multiple variations in a gene, the binary variable is still taken as one. This yields variant profiles per gene for case and control groups. The resulting contingency table, taking cases and controls as well as number of variations and non-variations is tested using Fisher's exact test [14] for the null hypothesis that there is no difference in variation profile between the case and control group.  $\alpha = 0.05$  is taken as the significance threshold.

#### Identification of potential candidate genes

Initial gene set, for which a variation profile is generated and tested for significance among groups is constructed based on reported genes for HAE variants and literature search. To expand and identify further potential genes, we used the initial gene set consisting of *F12*, *ACE*, *ADM* and *SERPINA1* as a starting point, and considered genes interacting at protein level (protein-protein interactions) to potentially associate with U-HAE case.

The protein-protein interactions are retrieved from STRING database [15].

#### Downstream Bioinformatics analyses

The final gene list containing the genes with statistically significant difference in their variation profile between the case and control is further functionally analyzed for their function and GO-terms using The Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) database [16,17] and amiGO tool [18].

#### **3. RESULTS**

#### **Characteristics of the Patients**

In this study, 9 patients from 8 families and 6 controls with different clinical profile were analyzed. Characteristics of the patients are shown in Table I.

Table I. Characteristics of patients with U-H	HAE
-----------------------------------------------	-----

Patient	Sex	Age at diagnosis	Presenting Symptoms
1	М	33	Lip swelling
2	F	9	Lip and hands swelling
3	М	18	Lip and scrotum swelling
4	F	22	Tongue and lip swelling
5	F	34	Tongue swelling
6	F	7	Lip swelling
7	М	50	Tongue swelling, abdominal pain
			Acute abdominal pain with free fluid
8	F	19	collection
9	F	28	Hands swelling

## Analysis of Variant profiles for F12, ACE, SERPINA1 and ADM

In the first round the initial seed gene list consisting of *F12*, *ACE*, *SERPINA1* and *ADM* are inspected for their variant profiles, different from case to control.

In an attempt to characterize correctly the HAE and making sure that these patients are U-HAE, an additional list of genes was also inspected for their variant profile. This list is composed of genes that are used to characterize the HAE in earlier works. The results, including the seed gene list as well as candidate genes, are given in Figure 1. Only high-quality variants were included in the analysis with possibly damaging and unknown variants based on their polyphen scores. The analysis resulted in no gene with a differential variant profile among case and control groups. Interestingly, no variation was observed for SERPINA1 and ADM genes in the cohort and almost all individuals including control had variation for F12 (p = 0.476) and ACE (p = 0.999). The lowest among those was the variant profile of SERPING1 gene which was only marginally significant (p = 0.044) (Figure 1).

#### Expanding the search space using interactome information

In searching for causative genes in this dataset, we expanded the initial gene set by including the genes whose protein products were reported to be interacting with the initial set, based on STRING database and selected only the high-confidence pairs (minimum required interaction score > 0.9, Figure 2). The new gene list contained 29 additional genes, for which variation profiles were constructed, tested for significant difference between the case and control groups and found that indeed significant difference was found for this set (p = 0.027).

After seeing that not all genes in the expanded list were different in their variant profile, we focused on genes in the new list that would best differentiate (lowest p-value) the case and control groups, based on the variant profiles. To achieve this, each gene in the expanded list was ranked for their p-value and the final list of genes is given in Table II. Using these 4 genes, p-value was estimated to be 0.023.



**Figure 1.** Variant profiles for possibly damaging and unknown variants for case (black) and control (red) groups. Colored spots present the presence of variant in a selected gene in the respective sample and white represents the absence. In this cohort, there are no possibly damaging and unknown variants for ADM and SERPINA1 genes.



**Figure 2.** Searching for causative genes U-HAE. The expanded list of genes constructed by considering highest confidence interactions according to STRING database with the initial set of genes. Each network in the figure is centered around one of the genes in the initial set: F12, SERPINA1, ACE, ADM from left to right, top to bottom. The thickness of the lines connecting each protein couple indicates the strength of data support as provided by STRING database.

**Table II.** Final list of genes proposed in this study, based on statistical association of the variant profile with U-HAE diagnosis state and their variant profiles for case and control groups.

Gene symbol	Gene Name						
RAMP2	Receptor Activity Modifying Protein 2						
IL6	Interleukin 6						
GP1BA	Glycoprotein Ib Platelet Subunit Alpha						
C1QBP	Complement C1q Binding Protein						
RAMP2							
GP1BA							
C1QBP							
IL6							
	Case group Control group						

#### Downstream analysis of the proposed genes

The obtained set of genes were downstream analyzed to be inspected for their (common) function/pathway using GO Enrichment Analysis via amiGO tool. The GO terms overrepresented for the gene list in Table II is given in Table III.

Table III. GO terms overrepresented for the candidate genes in Table I.

GO biological process	FDR corrected	
	p value	
blood coagulation, intrinsic pathway (GO:0007597)	3.76E-02	
blood coagulation, fibrin clot formation (GO:0072378)	5.54E-02	
protein activation cascade (GO:0072376)	4.15E-02	
blood coagulation (GO:0007596)	2.95E-02	
coagulation (GO:0050817)	2.58E-02	
hemostasis (GO:0007599)	2.33E-02	
negative regulation of response to external stimulus (GO:0032102)	8.75E-03	
regulation of response to external stimulus (GO:0032101)	3.48E-02	

FDR: False Discovery Rate, GO: Gene Ontology

#### 4. DISCUSSION

We propose a data-mined set of genes that statistically show variation among U-HAE cases and control groups. Prominent among this set of genes are *RAMP2*, *IL6*, *GP1BA* and *C1QBP*. RAMP2 can function as an adrenomedullin receptor ( ADM) which is a vasoactive peptide and it has been shown that its level increases during C1-INH-HAE attacks together with other vasoactive peptides arginine vasopressin ( AVP) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) to counter-balance the actions of excess bradykinin (BK) and terminate the attacks [19]. HAE-nl-C1INH may also be BK mediated as they show a favorable response to BK pathway-targeted medications [20]. The possible effects of *RAMP2* in vasoactive peptides may reveal a novel pathophysiological aspect.

Concentrations of interleukin ( IL)-1, IL-6, and transforming growth factor (TGF- $\beta$ ) were found to be significantly higher in HAE patients in remission compared with healthy controls. [21]. IL-6 is a soluble mediator with a pleiotropic effect on inflammation, immune response, and hematopoiesis. IL-6 induces excess production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), leading to enhanced angiogenesis and increased vascular permeability which causes joint swelling and edema. VEGF also interacts with BK to mediate plasma leakage.

Glycoprotein Ibalpha (*GP1BA*) is a platelet surface membrane glycoprotein that functions as a receptor for von Willebrand factor. The binding of VWF to the GP Ib complex initiates signaling events within the platelet that lead to enhanced platelet activation, thrombosis, and hemostasis [22]. Mutations in this gene is associated with Bernard-Soulier syndrome and platelet type Von-Willebrand Disease. This glycoprotein may play a role in U-HAE by platelet activation, but this is another research topic.

Complement component 1q (*C1QBP*) subcomponent binding protein is a multifunctional protein involved in immune response, energy homeostasis of cells as a plasma membrane receptor, and a nuclear, cytoplasmic or mitochondrial protein. It has a role in the mediation of the actions of pro-inflammatory agents, such as high molecular weight kininogen to produce further pro-inflammatory agents [23]. It can play as a mediator in U-HAE since it acts as a bridge between the complement and contact activation system.

.U-HAE is usually misdiagnosed or underdiagnosed due to rarity of the disease and lack of specific biomarkers. This results in mismanagement of this potentially life threatening disease.

Detection of causative genes will help in timely diagnosis of patients and identifying affected family members. It will also allow for understanding the pathophysiology of this disorder, which in turn will lead to better therapeutic options. In our study genes that statistically show variation among U-HAE cases and control group are *RAMP2*, *IL6*, *GP1BA* and *C1QBP*.

Our study contributes to understanding the potential genetic pathways in U-HAE. The next step would be to increase our sample size, do family segregation studies, to extend the work to GWAS or RNA-Seq studies to further our understanding via network analyses and functional (e.g., transcriptomic or low throughput) analyses to understand and confirm the disease modifying effects of these genetic variations.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval**: The study was approved by the Ankara University Ethics Committee (date: 08/27/2012 number: 13-419-12) and consent forms were taken.

**Financial Support**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to declare

Authors' contribution: H.K.: conceived and designed the analysis, collected the data of the patients, did the literature

search and wrote the article. H.A.: conceived and designed the analysis, collected the data of the patients, did the literature search. A.O.C.: performed the genetic analyses. O.G.: collected the data of the patients, did the literature search, contributed to the conception of the research. E.N.G.: collected the data of the patients, contributed to the conception of the research. E.N.: did the statistical analysis and literature search, contributed to the conception of the research, wrote the article. All authors discussed the results and approved the final version of the article.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Cicardi M, Aberer W, Banerji A et al. HAWK under the patronage of EAACI (European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology). Classification, diagnosis, and approach to treatment for angioedema: consensus report from the Hereditary Angioedema International Working Group. Allergy 2014;69:602-16. doi: 10.1111/all.12380.
- [2] Bork K, Barnstedt SE, Koch P, Traupe H. Hereditary angioedema with normal C1-inhibitor activity in women. Lancet 2000;356(9225):213-7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02483-1.
- [3] Dewald G, Bork K. Missense mutations in the coagulation factor XII (Hageman factor) gene in hereditary angioedema with normal C1 inhibitor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006 May 19;343(4):1286-9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.03.092.
- [4] Cichon S, Martin L, Hennies HC et al. Increased activity of coagulation factor XII (Hageman factor) causes hereditary angioedema type III. Am J Hum Genet 2006 Dec;79(6):1098-104. doi: 10.1086/509899.
- [5] Bodian DL, Vilboux T, Hauser NS. Genotype-first analysis of a generally healthy population cohort supports genetic testing for diagnosis of hereditary angioedema of unknown cause. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2019; 16:15:32. doi: 10.1186/ s13223.019.0346-1.
- [6] Hieter P, Boguski M. Functional genomics: it's all how you read it. Science 1997; 24:278(5338):601-2. doi: 10.1126/ science.278.5338.601.
- [7] Langmead B, Salzberg SL. Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat Methods 2012;9:357-9.
- [8] Li H, Durbin R. Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. Bioinformatics 2009; 25:1754-60. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp324
- [9] Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, et al. 1000 Genome Project Data Processing Subgroup. The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. Bioinformatics 2009; 15:25:2078-9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp352.
- [10] Van der Auwera GA, Carneiro MO, Hartl C, et al. From FastQ data to high confidence variant calls: the Genome Analysis Toolkit best practices pipeline. Curr Protoc Bioinformatics 2013;43(1110):11.10.1-11.10.33. doi:10.1002/047.125.0953. bi1110s43.
- [11] Adzhubei IA, Schmidt S, Peshkin L, et al. A method and server for predicting damaging missense mutations. Nat Methods. 2010;7:248-9. doi: 10.1038/nmeth0410-248.

- [12] Sim NL, Kumar P, Hu J, et al. SIFT web server: predicting effects of amino acid substitutions on proteins. Nucleic Acids Res 2012;40 (Web Server issue):W452-7. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gks539
- [13] Tate JG, Bamford S, Jubb H, et al. COSMIC: the Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(D1):D941-D947. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1015.
- [14] Wang MH, Cordell HJ, Van Steen K. Statistical methods for genome-wide association studies. Semin Cancer Biol 2019;55:53-60. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.04.008.
- [15] Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Lyon D, et al. STRING v11: proteinprotein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. Nucleic Acids Res 2019; 8;47(D1):D607-D613. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1131.
- [16] Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. Bioinformatics enrichment tools: paths toward the comprehensive functional analysis of large gene lists. Nucleic Acids Res 2009;37:1-13. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn923.
- [17] Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID

bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc 2009;4:44-57. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.211

- [18] The Gene Ontology Consortium. The Gene Ontology Resource: 20 years and still GOing strong. Nucleic Acids Res 2019;47(D1):D330-D338. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1055.
- [19] Kajdácsi E, Jani PK, Csuka D, et al. J Clin Immunol 2016;36:160-70. doi: 10.1007/s10875.016.0239-8
- [20] Cicardi M, Zuraw BL. Angioedema due to bradykinin dysregulation. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2018;6:1132-41. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2018.04.022.
- [21] Arcoleo F, Lo Pizzo M, Misiano G, et al. The complex alteration in the network of IL-17-type cytokines in patients with hereditary angioedema. Clin Exp Med. 2018;18:355-361. doi:10.1007/s10238.018.0499-022.
- [22] López JA, Andrews RK, Afshar-Kharghan V, et al. Bernard-Soulier syndrome. Blood 1998;91:4397-418. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V91.12.4397
- [23] Peerschke EI, Ghebrehiwet B. The contribution of gC1qR/p33 in infection and inflammation. Immunobiology 2007;212:333-42. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2006.11.011.

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# The role of serum lactate levels in predicting abdominal surgery in geriatric patients who had computed tomography

Kadir KUCUKCERAN 🗅, Mustafa Kursat AYRANCI 💿

Emergency Department, Meram Faculty of Medicine, Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Kadir KUCUKCERAN E-mail: kadirkucukceran@hotmail.com

Submitted: 10.02.2021 Accepted: 17.05.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: We investigated the importance of serum lactate levels in making decision regarding abdominal surgery in elderly patients who underwent computed tomography.

Patients and Methods: Patients over 65 years of age who presented to the emergency department of a tertiary teaching hospital in 2019 were scanned within the hospital data processing system according to the criteria of tomography of the abdomen. Patients' age, gender, lactate levels, the medical reason for their visit, pathological condition of abdominal computed tomography (aCT), a recommendation of emergent surgery, mortality status, and length of stay in the hospital were collected. The patients were divided into four groups according to surgery recommendation and pathologic status in aCT.

**Results:** Of the 356 patients who were included in the study, 194 (54.5%) were male. The mean age of the participants was 77.1 $\pm$ 7.82 years, and their mean lactate level was 2.59 $\pm$ 2.41 mmol/liter. Lactate values were statistically significant according to ROC analysis that predict the state of surgery recommendation (AUC:0.796, p<0.001). There was a statistically significant difference in lactate values between the groups (1.78 $\pm$ 1.46, 3.19 $\pm$ 2.71, 4.44 $\pm$ 3.22, I-II p<0.001, I-III p=0.002).

Conclusion: In geriatric patients, the aCT results and lactate levels were found to be reliable in deciding to eliminate abdominal surgery.

Keywords: Geriatrics, Surgery, Lactates, Computed tomography, Emergency Department

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Abdominal pain is a common complaint in elderly patients [1]. Due to the increase in the geriatric population, about 25% of patients visiting the emergency department are over the age of 50 [2]. Elderly patients apply to the emergency department at older ages and with more non-specific symptoms [3]. Therefore, the clinical picture of an elderly patient presenting with abdominal pain may differ from that of a young patient [4]. Elderly patients need surgical intervention more than younger patients do [5]. It is important to make the emergency department promptly, as a late diagnosis leads to both an increase in mortality and morbidity, and is more of a risk of misdiagnosis in elderly patients [4].

Computed tomography (CT), as a diagnostic method, is one of the imaging procedures used in patients with abdominal pain.

A routine CT is more reliable in making the surgical treatment decisions of patients with acute abdominal pain [6].

Lactate level is an early marker of tissue hypoxia. Lactate levels have been reported to increase in inflammatory and ischemic conditions, such as acute appendicitis and mesenteric ischemia [7,8]. In addition to the studies indicating that the lactate level increases in patients who undergo surgery due to the acute abdomen [9], there are also studies indicating that these levels are not sufficient for surgical decisions in these patients [10]. Since, elderly patients with acute abdominal pain may visit the hospital much later than younger patients, ischemia is thought to be a likely preexisting pathology, and serum lactate level is expected to increase.

How to cite this article: Kucukceran K, Ayranci M K. The role of serum lactate levels in predicting abdominal surgery in geriatric patients who had computed tomography. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):279-285. doi: 10.5472/marumj.957405

279

We investigated the importance of serum lactate levels in making decision regarding abdominal surgery in elderly patients who underwent abdominal computed tomography (aCT).

#### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

Ethics committee approval for this single-center, retrospective study was obtained from the Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Medical Faculty, Pharmaceutical and Non-Medical Device Studies Ethical Committee (decision number of 2020/2569).

Patients over 65 years of age who applied to the tertiary teaching hospital emergency department in 2019 were scanned within the hospital data processing system according to the findings of tomography of the abdomen. This procedure was performed by listing the patients aged over 65 years for whom the service codes of aCT and aCT aortography were entered (in the emergency department). A total of 1011 patients' records were examined. Of these, 144 were excluded from the study due to indicated traumatic conditions, 375 were excluded due to lacking blood lactate level measurements, six were excluded because they arrived in the emergency department with a direct cardiopulmonary arrest, and 130 were excluded for having a lung or cardiac-based diagnosis. Eventually, 356 patients who had aCT with no non-abdominal diagnoses and for whom lactate level measurements available, were included in the statistical analysis (Figure 1).



#### Figure 1. Study plan

The following data for 356 patients were saved: age, gender, serum lactate level, the medical reason for their visit to the emergency department, whether he/she had a pathologic diagnosis by aCT, pathological diagnosis type, abdominal surgery recommendation status, hospital mortality status, emergency outcome status (discharge, stay in the service, stay in the intensive care unit, exitus, voluntary discharge), and length of stay in the hospital. The patients' aCTs were interpreted as "there is a pathological diagnosis" or "no pathological diagnosis" according to the official reports made by the radiology department through the hospital system. Any aCT interpretation, which may be a surgical indication, was considered pathological, regardless of the patient clinical condition. This interpretation was made by an independent physician who was not included in the study and blinded to the lactate levels and the status of surgery recommendations. The recommendation for abdominal surgery for patients was acquired by monitoring the clinical course of the patients.

The patients were grouped based on the status of obtaining a pathological diagnosis in aCT and undergoing an emergent surgery.

Group 1: No pathological diagnosis in aCT; no abdominal surgery was recommended

Group 2: Pathological diagnosis in aCT; no abdominal surgery was recommended

Group 3: Pathological diagnosis in aCT; abdominal surgery was recommended

Group 4: No pathological diagnosis in aCT; abdominal surgery was recommended.

The primary outcome of this study is a comparison of the lactate levels between these four groups and lactate levels between patients who were recommended for surgery and those who were not. Our secondary aim was to compare patients' age, gender, length of stay in the hospital, and mortality by intergroup and surgery recommendation status.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses of the data were made by using SPSS 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) packaged software. Analyses of normality of the data were made using histograms and Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Quantitative data were stated as mean±standard deviation, while categorical variables were stated as frequency (percentage). The differences between the groups were investigated using the Mann–Whitney U test in non-normally distributed quantitative variables, while the Student t-test was used for normally distributed quantitative variables. Categorical variables were compared between groups using chi-square test. ROC analysis was performed to predict the status of mortality and the recommendation of emergent surgery by the lactate level. p< 0.05 value was accepted as statistically significant.

#### **3. RESULTS**

Of the 356 patients who were included in the study, 194 (54.5%) were male, their mean age was  $77.1\pm7.82$  years, and their mean lactate level was  $2.59\pm2.41$  mmol/liter, their mean length of stay in the hospital was  $7.06\pm9.27$  days. Twenty seven pathologies were detected on CT in 144 (40.4%) of 356 patients. Twelve patients had two pathologies, while the others had only one pathology. The three most common pathologies were ileus (48 (33.3%)), acute cholecystitis (14 (9.7%)), and perforation (13 (9%)) (Table I). The patients presented to the emergency

department with a total of 46 different complaints. Of the patients, 156 (43.8%) had one complaint, 133 (37.4%) had two complaints, 58 (16.3%) had three complaints, 8 (2.2%) had four complaints, and 1 (0.3%) had five complaints. The three most common complaints by patients were abdominal pain (193 (54.2%)), nausea (74 (20.8%)), and vomiting (72 (20.2%)). Table II shows the characteristics of the participants.

#### Table I. Emergency pathology status in aCT

Patalogy in aCT	144	100
Ileus	48	33.3%
Acute cholecystitis	14	9.7%
Perforation	13	9%
Herniation	12	8.3%
Mesenteric ischemia	11	7.6%
Cholangitis	8	5.6%
Abscess	7	4.9%
Acute appendicitis	7	4.9%
Pancreatitis	5	3.5%
Diverticulitis	4	2.8%
Abdominal aortic aneurysm	3	2.1%
Aortic dissection	3	2.1%
Anastomosis leakage	2	1.4%
Hematoma	2	1.4%
Necrotizing pancreatitis	2	1.4%
Intra-abdominal bleeding	2	1.4%
Necrotizing fasciitis	2	1.4%
Sigmoid volvulus	2	1.4%
Peritoneal carcinomatosis	1	0.7%
Renal artery thrombosis-renal infarction	1	0.7%
Superior mesenteric vein thrombosis	1	0.7%
Severe stenosis in the abdominal aorta	1	0.7%
Spleen infarction	1	0.7%
Abdominal aortic thrombus	1	0.7%
Rupture of the abdominal aortic aneurysm	1	0.7%
Rectovaginal fistula	1	0.7%

#### Table II. The characteristics of patients

Number of patients		356	100%
Gender	Male	194	54.5%
Gender	Female	162	45.5%
Age		77.1±7.82	
Lactate levels (mEq/L)		$2.59 \pm 2.41$	
Length of stay in hospita	al (day)	7.06±9.27	
	Discharge	84	23.6%
<b>F</b> 0.4	Stay in Service	156	43.8%
Emergency Outcome Status	Stay in Intensive Care Unit	96	27%
Status	Ex	3	0.8%
	Voluntary Discharge	17	4.8%
2	Abdominal pain	193	54.2%
3 most common complaints	Nausea	74	20.8%
complaints	Vomiting	72	20.2%

In-Hospital Mortality	Survivor	301	84.6%
	Non-survivor	54	15.4%
Surgery	Recommended	65	18.3%
Recommendation	Not - recommended	291	81.7%
Group 1 <sup>*</sup>		208	58.4%
Group 2**		83	23.3%
Group 3***		61	17.1%
Group 4****		4	1.1%

\*: No pathologic diagnosis in aCT, no abdominal surgery was recommended \*\*: Pathologic diagnosis in aCT, no abdominal surgery was recommended \*\*\*: Pathologic diagnosis in aCT, abdominal surgery was recommended \*\*\*\*: No pathologic diagnosis in aCT, abdominal surgery was recommended

Surgery was not recommended for 291 patients (81.7%), while it was recommended for 65 (18.3%) patients. Surgery was performed in 54 of 65 patients for whom surgery was recommended while 11 could not be operated for certain reasons. Surgical operation could not be performed because one of these 11 patients was considered inoperable, 2 of them died before the surgery, 3 of them rejected the operation, and 5 of them had invasive procedure by interventional radiology. Further, no pathology was found during operation in 3 of 54 patients who underwent surgery. The lactate levels of these 3 patients were 1.4, 1.5 and 2.7 mmol/liter and they were categorized in group 3, group 4 and group 3, respectively. The lactate level of patients in the surgery recommended group was statistically significantly higher than those of the group for whom surgery was not recommended (2.18±2, 4.42±3.15, p<0.001) (Table III). Lactate values were statistically significant according to the ROC analysis performed to predict the state of surgery recommendation (AUC:0.796, p<0.001). At 2.55 mmol/liter cut-off lactate level, the rates of 75.38% sensitivity, 79.38% specificity, 45% positive predictive value, and 93.5% negative predictive value were reached (Figure 2). When patients who had no pathology in aCT and who were below 2.55 mmol/liter of lactate were categorized, rates of 98.5% sensitivity, 63.2% specificity, 37.4% positive predictive value, and 99.5% negative predictive value were reached in those who had surgery recommendation.

#### Table III. Evaluation of the participants by their surgical status

		Surgery not recommended (291)	Surgery recommended (65)*	p value
Gender	Male	155(53.3%)	39(60%)	
Gender	Female	136(46.7%)	26(40%)	p=0.324
Number or mortality		33(11.3%)	22(33.8%)	p<0.001
Lactate levels (mEq/L)		2.18±2	4.42±3.15	p<0.001
Age		77.05±7.92	77.32±7.39	p=0.801
Emergent pathology in CT		83(28.5%)	61(93.8%)	p<0.001
Length of st (day)	ay in hospital	6.42±8.64	9.91±11.32	p=0.006

\*Those who were considered as inop, who could not undergo a surgery because they died, who rejected surgery although it was recommended, and for whom invasive surgical intervention was performed were also included in this group.



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

*Figure 2.* ROC analysis for the recommendation of surgery with lactate level

The participants were divided into four groups according to surgery recommendation and pathologic status on aCT. Four patients were found in Group 4, who had no pathology in aCT, but surgery was recommended. In the absence of pathology in CT, surgery might have been recommended based on the more dominant physical examination findings of the patients. These four patients were excluded because the between-groups comparison was not statistically possible. Statistical comparisons were made between the remaining three groups. These four patients in Group 4 were male, their mean age was 67.75±3.59 years, and their mean lactate level was 4.17±2.07 mmol/liter. There was a statistically significant difference in lactate values between the groups (Group 1: 1.78±1.46, Group 2: 3.19±2.71, Group 3: 4.44±3.22, I-II p<0.001, I-III p<0.001, II-III P=0.002). There was a statistically significant difference between

Table IV	Comparison	of patient	aroube	with other	parameters
IUUIC IV	. Companison	or <i>paneni</i>	<i><i>viouvs</i></i>	with other	Durumeters

Group 1 and Group 3 in terms of the length of stay (days) in the hospital (Group 1: 5.98±8.86, Group 3: 9.89±11.68, P=0.011). There was a statistically significant difference between hospital mortality rates between groups (Group 1: 15(%7.2), Group 2: 18(%21.7), Group 3: 22(%36.1), p<0.001). Table 4 shows the comparisons between groups. A total of 55 (15.4%) patients died at the hospital. There was a statistically significant difference between the lactate level of patients who survived and non-survived (non-survivor 5.70±4.23, survivor 2.02±1.25, p<0.001). According to the ROC analysis, lactate values were found to be statistically significant in predicting mortality status (AUC: 0.855, p<0.001). At a cut-off of 2.45 mmol/liter lactate level, the rates of 76.36% sensitivity, 75.75% specificity, 36.5% positive predictive value, and 94.65% negative predictive value were reached (Figure 3). Tables IV and V show the comparison of mortality status and other parameters.



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Figure 3. ROC analysis of lactate level and mortality status

		Group1	Group2	Group3	P value	I-II	I-III	II-III
		(n=208)	(n=83)	(n=61)	r value	p value	p value	p value
Curler	Male	106(51%)	49(59%)	35(57.4%)	- 0.297			
Gender	Female	102(49%)	34(41%)	26(42.6%)	p=0.387			
Lactate Lo	evels (mEq/L)	$1.78 \pm 1.46$	3.19±2.71	4.44±3.22		p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.002
Age		76.89±7.91	77.45±8	77.95±7.15		p=0.85	p=0.622	p=0.922
Length Hospital (	of Stay in (day)	5.98±8.86	7.52±8.02	9.89±11.68		p=0.406	p=0.011	p=0.282
Mortality	status	15(7.2%)	18(21.7%)	22(36.1%)	p<0.001			

		Non-Survivor(55)	Survivor(301)	P value
Age		78.96±7.23	76.76±7.89	P=0.055
Gender	Male	35(63.6%)	159(52.8%)	P=0.139
Gender	Female	20(36.4%)	142(47.2%)	P=0.139
Lactate Levels (mEq/L)		5.70±4.23	2.02±1.25	p<0.001
Length of stay in hospital (day)		9.36±9.81	6.63±9.12	P=0.059
Emergent CT	pathology in	40(72.7%)	104(34.6%)	p<0.001

#### 4. DISCUSSION

Geriatric patients' management in the emergency department is difficult. It is important to detect the pathology that will require abdominal surgery in geriatric patients presenting to the emergency department. In this study, we assessed the potential of making decision regarding abdominal surgery in geriatric patients with the use of aCT results along with the blood lactate level. In this study population, the mean lactate level was significantly higher in those for whom surgery was recommended than in those for whom surgery was not recommended. There was a statistically significant difference and increasing mean blood lactate levels in patients who had no pathology in aCT and for whom surgery was not recommended, who had pathology in aCT and for whom surgery was not recommended, and who had pathology in aCT and for whom surgery was recommended. This is the first time observation of grouping of this kind in the literature.

In a study conducted by Verma et al., examining patients of all age groups over 15 years with acute abdominal pain, 30 of whom underwent an emergent surgery and 20 who did not, peritoneal lactate levels between the groups were found as 14.65±1.19 and 5.92±0.97, respectively, which was a statistically significant difference [9]. The blood lactate level was also significantly higher in the surgery recommended group in this study. The reason for the high lactate levels in the surgery recommended group may be due to the ischemic and inflammatory origin of pathologies that may cause acute surgical indications. Since, geriatric patients have more comorbidity than younger patients, they have a higher risk for the operation. This may have led physicians to take a sounder step in making decisions regarding surgery for geriatric patients. This sound choice may have reduced the likelihood of diagnosing surgical pathologies at the onset of the ischemic and inflammatory conditions with no increased lactate levels.

In this study, there was a statistically significantly higher hospital mortality rate among those for whom surgery was recommended than among those for whom surgery was not recommended. Further, the hospital mortality rate was significantly different between the patients who had no pathology in aCT and for whom the surgery was not recommended, who had pathology in aCT and for whom the surgery was not recommended, and who had pathology in aCT and for whom the surgery was recommended. In their study of 195 patients who had elective major abdominal

surgery, Veličković et al., found that perioperative high lactate levels were associated with postoperative comorbidity and mortality [11]. Ravishankaran et al., determined that high lactate levels were associated with prognosis in patients with acute abdominal pain who underwent a surgery [12]. In the current study, a 33.8% mortality rate was observed in the surgery recommended group. In their study of 710 patients over 70 years of age who underwent emergent abdominal surgery, Arenal et al., found a mortality rate as 22% [13]. In another study, Rangel et al., found a mortality rate of 32.5% [14], while Brandt et al., found the 90-day mortality rate of 42.7% in 150 patients who underwent geriatric abdominal surgery [15]. Thus, the findings from our study are consistent with those of previous studies.

In this study, the lactate levels in the non-survivor group was statistically significantly higher than the survivor group. In their study of 455 patients who stayed in the intensive care unit following their application to the emergency department, Dündar et al., found that high lactate levels were associated with in-hospital mortality [16]. In a study conducted with 1278 emergency patients with signs of infection, Shapiro et al., found that serum lactate is reliable in predicting mortality [17]. Portal et al., found that a high lactate level was associated with mortality in patients over 65 years of age who visited to the emergency department, and had no infection [18]. Due to the high mortality relationship of lactate in both sepsis and geriatric patients, the high level of lactate in the non-survivor group in this study was compatible with the literature. In this study, no statistically significant difference was found in the mortality rates between the genders. In their study of 710 patients who were over 70 years of age and underwent emergent abdominal surgery, Arenal et al., did not find any statistical difference between male and female genders [13].

The mean age of the patients in this study was 77.1±7.82 years. In their study carried out with 220 patients who were over 65 years of age and underwent abdominal surgery, Joseph et al., found the mean age as 75.5±7.7 years [19]. The most common complaint in this study was abdominal pain with 54.2%. In the study carried out by Grundmann et al., that examined the epidemiologic review of patients presenting with acute abdomen, patients presenting with acute abdomen applied mostly with non-specific abdominal pain with 24-44.3% [20]. In this study, the most common pathology seen on aCT was ileus (33.3%). This finding is consistent with those of previous studies. For example, Arenal et al., evaluated 710 patients who underwent emergent abdominal surgery and found that the most common etiological reason was intestinal obstruction in the age group between 70-79 with 37% and in the age group over 80 years with 45% [13]. Bugliosi et al's report on 127 patients over 65 years of age who visited the emergency department with non-traumatic abdominal pain indicated that the most common etiological cause in those who underwent an operation was small bowel obstruction and biliary tract diseases [21].

#### Limitation

This study, in which we suppose that serum lactate with aCT would support the evaluation of surgery for elderly patients,

had some limitations, given its retrospective nature. The clinical decision of patients excluded due to lack of blood lactate levels were not known; thus, we could not assess how the result would have been affected should their lactate levels available and included in our analysis. The fact that the research was a retrospective study causes the surgical decision-making physician not to be blind to the lactate level. However, we excluded this limitation because only three of the patients who underwent surgery had no pathology at the time of operation (intraoperative) and their lactate levels were not high. Another limitation is that aCT imaging is non standard in terms of contrast. Considering that the physician evaluates the patient as a whole under aCT, physical examination, consultation, and laboratory examination, and eliminates the surgical pathology, we ignored this limitation. Further, the fact that the study was single-centered increased the subjectivity of the pathology and surgical decisions. Another limitation is that patients who underwent emergency surgery with ultrasonography were not evaluated.

#### **5. CONCLUSION**

We investigated whether serum lactate levels together with aCT findings would support emergent surgery decisions in elderly patients. The results of aCT and lactate levels in geriatric patients were found to be reliable physician's decisions to eliminate acute abdominal surgery. Our findings reveal that geriatric patients are less likely to be diagnosed with surgical pathologies at the beginning of the ischemic and inflammatory disorders with no increased lactate levels. Yet, there is a need for prospective multicenter studies to further validate these findings.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical approval:** Ethics committee approval for this singlecenter, retrospective study was obtained from the Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Medical Faculty, Pharmaceutical and Non-Medical Device Studies Ethical Committee ( decision number of 2020/2569).

Funding: The study was not supported by any funds.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Authors' Contributions: KK:** Idea/Concept, KK: Design, KK: Data Collection/Processing, KK and MKA: Analysis/ Interpretation: KK and MKA, Literature Review: KK and MKA, Drafting/Writing: KK and MKA, Critical Review: KK and MKA. Both authors read and approved the final version of this article.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Dündar ZD. Evaluation of geriatric patients admitted to emergency department with a complaint of abdominal pain in terms of demographic characteristics and prognosis. Selcuk Med J 2021;37:45-51. doi : 10.30733/std.2020.01374.
- [2] De Dombal F. Acute abdominal pain in the elderly. J Clin Gastroenterol 1994;19:331-5. doi: 10.1097/00004.836.199412000-00016.

- [3] Foo CL, Chan KC, Goh HK, Seow E. Profiling acute presenting symptoms of geriatric patients attending an urban hospital emergency department. Ann Acad Med Singap 2009;38:515.
- Spangler R, Van Pham T, Khoujah D, Martinez JP. Abdominal emergencies in the geriatric patient. Int J Emerg Med 2014;7:1-8. doi: 10.1186/s12245.014.0043-2.
- [5] Turrentine FE, Wang H, Simpson VB, Jones RS. Surgical risk factors, morbidity, and mortality in elderly patients. J Am Coll Surg 2006;203:865-77. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2006.08.026.
- [6] Juvonen P, Lehtimäki T, Eskelinen M, et al. The need for surgery in acute abdominal pain: a randomized study of abdominal computed tomography. In Vivo 2014;28:305-9.
- [7] Filiz AI, Aladag H, Akin ML, et al. The role of d-lactate in differential diagnosis of acute appendicitis. J Invest Surg 2010;23:218-23. doi: 10.3109/089.419.31003596877.
- [8] Isfordink C, Dekker D, Monkelbaan J. Clinical value of serum lactate measurement in diagnosing acute mesenteric ischaemia. Neth J Med 2018;76:60-4.
- [9] Verma I, Kaur S, Goyal S, Goyal S, Multani JS, Narang AP. Diagnostic value of lactate levels in acute abdomen disorders. Indian J Clin Biochem 2014;29:382-5. doi: 10.1007/ s12291.013.0385-1.
- [10] Richards C, Ishihara K, Grayson C, Lustik M, Yheulon C. Serum lactate predicts resource utilization, but not surgical need, in the emergency department. J Surg Res 2018;226:89-93. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2018.01.020.
- [11] Veličković J, Palibrk I, Miličić B, et al. The association of early postoperative lactate levels with morbidity after elective major abdominal surgery. Bosn J Basic Med Sci 2019;19:72-80. doi: 10.17305/bjbms.2018.3186.
- [12] Ravishankaran P, Shah AM, Bhat R. Correlation of interleukin-6, serum lactate, and C-reactive protein to inflammation, complication, and outcome during the surgical course of patients with acute abdomen. J Interferon Cytokine Res 2011;31:685-90. doi: 10.1089/jir.2011.0021.
- [13] Arenal JJ, Bengoechea-Beeby M. Mortality associated with emergency abdominal surgery in the elderly. Can J Surg 2003;46:111-6.
- [14] Rangel EL, Cooper Z, Olufajo OA, et al. Mortality after emergency surgery continues to rise after discharge in the elderly: predictors of 1-year mortality. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2015;79:349-58. doi: 10.1097/TA.000.000.0000000773.
- [15] Brandt E, Tengberg LT, Bay-Nielsen M. Sarcopenia predicts 90-day mortality in elderly patients undergoing emergency abdominal surgery. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2019;44:1155-60. doi: 10.1007/s00261.018.1870-z.
- [16] Dundar ZD, Kocak S, Girisgin AS. Lactate and NEWS-L are fair predictors of mortality in critically ill geriatric emergency department patients. Am J Emerg Med 2020;38:217-221. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2019.02.006.
- [17] Shapiro NI, Howell MD, Talmor D, et al. Serum lactate as a predictor of mortality in emergency department patients with infection. Ann Emerg Med 2005;45:524-8. doi: 10.1016/j. annemergmed.2004.12.006.

- [18] del Portal DA, Shofer F, Mikkelsen ME, et al. Emergency department lactate is associated with mortality in older adults admitted with and without infections. Acad Emerg Med 2010;17:260-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00681.x.
- [19] Joseph B, Zangbar B, Pandit V, et al. Emergency general surgery in the elderly: too old or too frail? J Am Coll Surg 2016;222:805-13. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2016.01.063.
- [20] Grundmann R, Petersen M, Lippert H, Meyer F. The acute (surgical) abdomen – epidemiology, diagnosis and general principles of management. Z Gastroenterol 2010;48:696-706. doi: 10.1055/s-0029.124.5303.
- [21] Bugliosi TF, Meloy TD, Vukov LF. Acute abdominal pain in the elderly. Ann Emerg Med 1990;19:1383-6. doi: 10.1016/ s0196-0644(05)82602-2.
## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# The effects of low bone mineral density on pain, quality of life and fatigue in patients with epilepsy

Cagri UNAL-ULUTATAR<sup>1</sup>, Gonca YAZICI SACAKLIDIR<sup>2</sup>, Ipek MIDI<sup>3</sup>, Gulseren Derya AKYUZ<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Sancak Medical Centre, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinic, Istanbul Sureyyapasa Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey. <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, Marmara University Pendik Research and Training Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>4</sup> Divison of Algology, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, School of Medicine, Marmara University Pendik Research and Training Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Cagri UNAL-ULUTATAR **E-mail:** drcagriunal1988@hotmail.com

Submitted: 03.01.2021 Accepted: 05.04.2021

### ABSTRACT

Objectives: To investigate the effects of low bone mineral density (BMD) on pain, quality of life (QoL), and fatigue in epileptic patients who use anticonvulsants.

Patients and Methods: Epileptic patients aged 18 years or older who use anticonvulsant drugs were recruited into the study. Demographic and clinical features were recorded, including the duration of epilepsy, number of anticonvulsants used, previous fracture history and BMD scores. The functional parameters included back pain measured with the visual analogue scale (VAS) and brief pain inventory (BPI) scale, QoL assessed with the Qualeffo-41 questionnaire, and fatigue assessed with the fatigue severity scale (FSS).

**Results:** Of the 100 patients screened for inclusion in the study, 63 epileptic patients met the inclusion criteria. The mean age and mean disease duration of all participants was 39.5 ( $\pm$ 11.2) and 19.3 ( $\pm$ 11.6) years, respectively. The median scores for VAS back pain, VAS low back pain, Qualeffo-41, FSS, pain severity, and pain interference (BPI) were significantly higher in patients with secondary osteoporosis compared to patients with normal BMD. There were significant correlations between lumbar spinal BMD and VAS back pain (rho = -0.58, p < 0.0005), BPI pain severity (rho = -0.56, p < 0.0005), BPI pain interference (rho = -0.52, p < 0.0005), Qualeffo-41 (rho = -0.56, p < 0.0005), and FSS (rho = -0.41, p = 0.001).

Conclusion: Epileptic patients suffering from low BMD showed increased pain, fatigue and impaired QoL. Therefore, BMD measurement should be recommended for the evaluation and management of epileptic patients.

Keywords: Epilepsy, Quality of life, Bone mineral density, Fatigue, Pain

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Epilepsy is a chronic disorder with several social and psychological impacts. Patients with epilepsy often report concerns about having a seizure attack, social isolation, adverse effects of anticonvulsants, and transportation/driving restrictions [1]. In general, epileptic patients perform significantly less physical activity and have higher rates of obesity [2]. The reason for reduced physical activity in many patients is that they incorrectly believe that physical activity can induce seizures or increase their frequency, and they may also fear prejudice and perceived social and cultural stigma [3]. However, regular physical activity is important as it increases muscle and bone strength. In addition, anticonvulsant therapy can negatively impact bone health in several important ways, ranging from asymptomatic high-turnover bone disease to decreased bone mineral density (BMD) and an increased fracture risk [4]. Both children and adults under anticonvulsant treatment have been found to have decreased BMD, often more than two standard deviations below that of healthy young controls [5]. Thus, patients with a history of long-term therapy should be evaluated for anticonvulsantinduced bone disease. Pain, muscle weakness, and skeletal deformities lead to a decrease in QoL in these patients [6,7]. In addition, patients with osteoporosis may have concerns about

How to cite this article: Ulutatar-Unal C, Sacaklidir Yazici G, Midi I, Akyuz D G. The effects of low bone mineral density on pain, quality of life and fatigue in patients with epilepsy. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):286-291. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1009016

falls, fractures and an eventual loss of independence, which could negatively influence their lives [7,8]. The use of anticonvulsants that cause low BMD can lead to fragility fractures [8,9]. As far as we know, over 60% of fractures occur in younger women, with T-scores ranging from -1 to -2.5 [10]. Furthermore, all types of fractures are associated with higher mortality rates [11]. Chronic pain, disability, postural changes, and impaired quality of life (QoL) secondary to fractures are commonly observed in osteoporosis; therefore, the assessment and management of pain should be considered in detail [12].

Fatigue related to osteoporosis has not been extensively examined in the literature. In a previous study, osteopenic and osteoporotic patients experienced greater fatigue compared to healthy controls. In patients with a low BMD, there is known to be an interaction between pain, QoL, and fatigue, where a problem in one of these factors can trigger a disturbance in the others [7]. It is important to assess BMD in patients under anticonvulsant treatment. In the literature, there is limited information on the consequences of low BMD in epileptic patients. Furthermore, the effects of low BMD on pain, QoL, and fatigue in patients with epilepsy have not yet been analysed. The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of low BMD on QoL, pain, and fatigue in these patients.

### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

### Participants

Of the 100 patients screened for inclusion in the study, 63 epileptic patients were included due to the strict exclusion criteria. Seventy-five percent of our patients had generalized epilepsy, the rest had focal seizure. Participants were recruited from the outpatient clinic of Marmara University, School of Medicine Departments of Neurology and Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. The inclusion criteria were an age of 18 years or older, a diagnosis of epilepsy, and anticonvulsant treatment. The exclusion criteria included Alzheimer's disease, severe psychiatric disorders (bipolar disease, schizophrenia), mental retardation, rheumatologic disorders (rheumatoid arthritis, fibromyalgia, etc.), endocrine disorders associated with osteoporosis (diabetes mellitus, hyper - and hypothyroidism, hyperparathyroidism, pituitary gland disorders, hypogonadism), other medications that can cause osteoporosis (corticosteroids, warfarin, heparin, etc.), malignancy, pregnancy, lactation, and chronic renal/ hepatic failure. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethical Committee of Marmara University, School of Medicine with a registry number of 09.2016.367. Both verbal and written consent were obtained from each participant.

Bone mineral density measurements in the anterior-posterior position were performed at the level of the lumbar vertebra using a dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) device (Lunar DPX Prodigy-Tech; General Electric, Madison, WI, USA). Based on the average value for age-matched adult individuals, a T - or Z-score up to one standard deviation (SD) was considered normal. A T - or Z-score greater than one SD or the presence of a pathologic fracture (vertebral, hip, non-vertebral) was considered secondary osteoporosis [13]. In men under 50 years of age and premenopausal women, Z-scores were used [14].

Demographic data (age, gender, body mass index [BMI], education level), number of births, duration of lactation, presence of menopause, age of menopause onset, regularity of menstrual cycle, alcohol consumption, smoking, and physical activity level were noted. Clinical parameters (disease duration, number of anticonvulsants, type of anticonvulsants) were recorded. The drugs that induce or not cytochrome p450 were classified as inducers, non-inducers, respectively. The drugs that affect bone with other mechanism of action such as valproate classified as others. The participants were requested to complete the following scales: visual analogue scale (VAS) for back pain, brief pain inventory (BPI), quality of life questionnaire of the European Foundation for Osteoporosis (Qualeffo-41), and fatigue severity scale (FSS).

### Instruments

The VAS is a unidimensional measure of pain intensity for the assessment of back pain (VAS back pain). It consists of a 10cm horizontal line on which the patient's pain intensity is represented by a point between the extremes of "no pain" (score of 0) and "worst imaginable pain" (score of 10) [15].

The BPI is one of the most commonly used outcome measures for evaluating pain. The BPI assesses pain severity as "worst", "least", "average", and "now". The pain severity dimension of the BPI consists of four items that are scored from 0 (no pain) to 10 (worst possible pain), whereas the pain interference dimension consists of seven items that are scored from 0 (no interference) to 10 (complete interference). A pain severity score is calculated from the mean of the four pain intensity items, and a pain interference score is calculated from the mean of the seven pain interference items [16]. It has been validated in a Turkish population in surgery patients [17].

The Qualeffo-41 is a disease-specific questionnaire to measure QoL in osteopenia and osteoporosis. It has five domains which are pain (5 items), physical function (17 items), social function (7 items), general health perception (3 items), and mental function (9 items). The score for each domain is calculated as an average value of all the answered items linearly converted on a 0-100 scale. The total Qualeffo-41 score is calculated as the sum of all answers to items and then converted to the 0-100 scale. The QoL worsens as the total Qualeffo-41 score increases [18]. The Turkish version of Qualeffo-41 has been validated and is commonly used in studies [19].

The FSS contains nine items that evaluate the severity of patients' fatigue symptoms. Each item is scored on a 7-point scale where 1 represents "strongly disagree" and 7 represents "strongly agree". The total score ranges between 9 and 63. The severity of fatigue symptom increases as the total score increases [20].

### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistical analyses were performed. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to assess the mean differences between groups. Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to assess

the relationship between continuous parameters. Correlation coefficients >0.50, 0.35-0.50, and <0.35 were considered strong, moderate, and weak, respectively [21]. We were unable to calculate the sample size as there was no previous reference study. Therefore, a post hoc power analysis was performed. Cohen set out standardised measures of effect size, proposing a simple categorisation of small, moderate, and large effect sizes [22]. A formula based on G power version 3.0 was used to determine post hoc power [23]. We determined the power of the study by computing an effect size of 0.80 (large effect) using a significance level of 0.05. The post hoc power was found to be 0.93, which is considered good. Hierarchical multiple regression analysis was used to examine the differential contributions of variables to the lumbar BMD score. The variables that were correlated significantly with BMD scores were entered into three models including different categories of variables. Scatterplots of distribution of residuals to the models were found acceptable. SPSS version 20 was used for all statistical analyses, and p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

### 3. RESULTS

In total, 63 epileptic patients who were under anticonvulsant treatment (35 females, 28 males) were enrolled in the study. The mean age of participants was 39.5 ( $\pm$ 11.2) years, ranging between 20 and 66 years. The demographic and clinical features of the patients are shown in Table I.

Table I. Demographic and	l clinical features of t	<i>the participants (n=63)</i>
--------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------------

Gender	N (%)
Female	35 (55.6)
Male	28 (44.4)
Education	
Primary-secondary school	40 (63.5)
High school	19 (30.2)
University	4 (6.3)
Presence of fracture	
Present	9 (14.3)
Not present	54 (85.7)
	Mean (SD), min-max
Age (mean)	39.6 (11.2), 20-66
BMI	26.5 (5.1),15.9-37.2
Disease duration (years)	19.3 (12.6), 3-47
Number of anticonvulsants	2.3 (1.2), 1-5

N: Number; BMI: Body Mass Index; SD: Standard deviation; Min-max: Minimum-maximum

Sixteen female patients were nulliparous. Among the remaining 19 female patients, 5 had one previous pregnancy (14.3 %), 10 had two pregnancies (28.6 %), 3 had three pregnancies (8.6 %), and 1 patient had four pregnancies (2.9 %). The mean duration of lactation in female patients who gave birth was  $12.4 \pm 17.3$  months. The menstrual irregularity was present in 6 patients

(9.5%). Eleven female patients (31.4%) were in menopause. None of the patients were using alcohol, only 5 (7.9%) of them were active smokers. Regarding anticonvulsant use, 26 (41.3%) patients were using one anticonvulsant and the rest were using two or more. The patients' scores were compared according to their anticonvulsant types. Inducers, non-inducers and the drugs that effect bone with other mechanisms such as valproate did not differ significantly when scores of BMD, pain, QoL and fatigue compared (p>0.05). All of the patients were sedentary. The patients with secondary osteoporosis had higher scores of VAS-back pain, BPI-pain severity, BPI-pain interference, Qualeffo-41, FSS compared to the patients with normal BMD which was depicted in Table II.

**Table II.** Comparison of patients with secondary osteoporosis and normal BMD values  $^{\ast}$ 

	Patients with secondary osteoporosis (n=31)	Patients with normal BMD values (n=32)	P value		
VAS-back pain	4.9±3.6	1.2±1.6	<0.0005**		
BPI-pain severity	4.2±3.1	1.2±1.6	<0.0005**		
BPI-pain interference	4.4±3.3	1.1±1.6	<0.0005**		
Qualeffo-41 pain	30.6±26.2	9.8±15.1	0.002**		
Qualeffo-41 physical function	25.5±22.2	10.7±16.3	0.001**		
Qualeffo-41 social function	30.6±26.2	9.8±15.1	0.001**		
Qualeffo-41 GHP	49.9±20.1	29.9±22	<0.0005**		
Qualeffo-41 mental function	50.5±19.4	26.7±18.3	<0.0005**		
Qualeffo-41 total score	40.7±18	19.3±14.9	<0.0005**		
FSS	40.9±18.5	19±13.5	<0.0005**		
*:Mann-Whitney U test; **all values were significant; N: Number; BMD: Bone Mineral Density; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; BPI: Brief Pain Interference; Qualeffo-41: Quality of Life Questionnaire of the European Foundation for Osteoporosis-41; GHP: General Health Perception; FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale					

There were significant moderate correlations between lumbar BMD scores and BMI, number of anticonvulsants, VAS back pain score, BPI score, Qualeffo-41 score, and FSS (Table III). The mean BMD score (g/cm<sup>2</sup>) did not differ between genders (p = 0.65).

A hierarchical regression analysis was used to examine the differential contributions of different independent variables. The overall model accounted for 45% of variance to the lumbar BMD scores. In hierarchical multiple regression, three models were used. Model 1, demographic and clinical variables (BMI, number of anticonvulsants) predicted the BMD scores since its contribution to the models was 21% of the variance [F (2, 60) = 8.3, (p = 0.001)]. Controlling the BMI and the number of anticonvulsants, the self-reported measures assessing QoL and fatigue contributed significantly, accounting for an additional 12% of the variance [F (2, 58) = 5.4, p=0.007] (Model 2). The addition of scales that assessed pain (VAS-back pain, BPI-pain

severity, BPI-pain interference) to the prediction of BMI (Model 3) also led to a statistically significant increase in  $R^2$  of 0.11, F(3, 55) = 3.8, p=0.015. Table IV showed the full details on each regression model.

**Table III.** Relation of the Lumbar BMD (g/cm2) scores with demographic and clinical parameters (n=63)

	Spearman's correlation coefficient (rho)	P significance value		
Age	-0.12	0.34		
BMI	0.42	0.005*		
Disease duration (years)	-0.16	0.22		
Number of anticonvulsants	-0.40	0.001*		
VAS-back pain	-0.58	<0.0005*		
BPI-pain severity	-0.56	<0.0005*		
BPI-pain interference	-0.52	<0.0005*		
Qualeffo-41	-0.56	<0.0005*		
FSS	-0.41	0.001*		
*Significant values; N:number; BMD: Bone Mineral Density; BMI: Body Mass				

"Significant values; N:number; BMD: Bone Mineral Density; BMI: Body Mass Index; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; BPI: Brief Pain Index; Qualeffo-41: Quality of Life Questionnaire of the European Foundation for Osteoporosis-41; FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale

**Table IV.** Final model for the associations between the lumbar BMD score

 and the other variables entered in three models

Variables	R <sup>2</sup> change	F change	P value
<b>Model 1</b> : Demographic and clinical variables	0.22	8.2	0.001*
BMI			
Number of anticonvulsants			
Model 2: Scales assessing QoL and fatigue	0.12	5.4	0.007*
Qualeffo-41			
FSS			
Model 3: Scales assessing pain	0.11	3.8	0.015*
VAS-back pain			
BPI-pain severity			
BPI-pain interference			

BMD: Bone Mineral Density; BMI: Body Mass Index; QoL: Quality of Life; Qualeffo-41: Quality of Life Questionnaire of the European Foundation for Osteoporosis-41; FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; BPI: Brief Pain Index; \*p<0.05 accepted as significant

### 4. DISCUSSION

This study aimed to assess the relationship of BMD with pain, QoL, and fatigue in epileptic patients under medical treatment. Anticonvulsants decrease BMD and increase the risk of fractures by two-fold due to high bone turnover, and secondary hyperparathyroidism [24]. Epilepsy and its treatment are associated with a decrease in BMD in patients of both genders, independent of vitamin D levels [25]. Hierarchical multiple regression analysis performed to predict the differential contributions of different independent variables. The overall model accounted for 45% of variance to the lumbar BMD scores. All of the three models contributed significantly to the variance. Chin et al., describes R<sup>2</sup> values of 0.67, 0.33, and 0.19 in multiple regression models as substantial, moderate, and weak, respectively [26].

The QoL of individuals with epilepsy is related to their perception of the impact of the disease itself and its treatment. Thus, the QoL of epileptic patients could be negatively affected by the adverse effects of anticonvulsants [27]. Indeed, uncontrolled epilepsy, adverse effects of anticonvulsants, and psychological comorbidities (i.e., depression, anxiety) have been found to negatively affect the QoL of patients with epilepsy [28]. In these patients, QoL is determined by the balance between seizure control by anticonvulsants and their adverse effects. The pain, muscle weakness, skeletal deformities, and psychological disorders associated with osteoporosis may have negative effects on QoL [7]. Furthermore, the pain, anxiety, and depression associated with osteoporosis may cause sleep disturbances in epileptic patients [28]. In accordance to this, the patients with secondary osteoporosis had a decreased mental and social function compared to the patients with normal BMD in our study. Furthermore, we showed that the epileptic patients with secondary osteoporosis had poor QoL.

Chronic pain is one of the most consequential symptoms of age-related and secondary osteoporosis. The most common symptom reported by patients with a diagnosis of osteoporosis is back pain resulting from osteoporosis-related fractures, skeletal deformities, joint imbalance, and tension in muscular structures [12]. Accordingly, epileptic patients with osteoporosis had greater VAS back pain scores compared to those without osteoporosis. Also, there were significant moderate correlations between the BMD scores of epileptic patients and pain severity (rho = -0.56, p < 0.0005) and pain interference (rho = -0.52, p < 0.0005), assessed using the BPI.

Fatigue is commonly seen in epilepsy and osteoporosis, both of which are chronic conditions [7, 29]. The frequency of fatigue was 47.1% in epileptic patients. Fatigue is known to be significantly related to sleep and depression [29]. However, the relationship of epilepsy-related fatigue with BMD and osteoporosis has not yet been investigated. In our study, epileptic patients with secondary osteoporosis had higher fatigue scores compared to the patients with normal BMD. Furthermore, BMD scores were significantly negatively correlated with FSS scores (rho = -0.41, p = 0.001). As the BMD scores of epileptic patients decreased, the patients complained of greater fatigue (higher FSS score).

In our study, we found that as the number of anticonvulsants increased, lumbar BMD scores decreased (rho = -0.40, p = 0.001). In accordance with the findings of our study, Farhat et al., found that the multiplicity of anticonvulsant therapies was a significant negative determinant of BMD [25]. We found no correlation between lumbar BMD scores and disease duration. However, Farhat et al., showed that the duration of anticonvulsant therapy was significantly negatively correlated with BMD. Nevertheless, two other studies failed to show a relationship

between disease duration and BMD. In those studies, the mean duration of disease was longer than that reported by Farhat et al., but similar to our results, so most of the deleterious skeletal effects may have already occurred [25, 30, 31]. Cytochrome P450 enzyme inducers phenytoin (PHT), phenobarbital (PB), primidone (DRE), carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine (OXC) are associated with a decrease in BMD. However, valproate, which inhibits cytochrome P450 is also associated with decreased BMD suggesting different mechanism of effect on bone metabolism. Previous studies suggested that valproate affects directly the functions of bone cells. New generation anticonvulsants are thought to be less harmful to bone metabolism, however new researches should be carried out to prove it definitely. In our study, we compared the anticonvulsants by mechanism of their action on bone, however no significant difference was found. There was no relationship between age and lumbar BMD scores in our study. This could be attributed to the fact that the participants enrolled in our study were relatively younger, with an age range of 20 to 66 years. As far as we know, osteoporosis is associated with a low BMI [32, 33]. In accordance with this, we found a positive, moderate correlation between BMI and lumbar BMD scores.

A strength of this study is that several instruments were used to evaluate the deleterious effects of anticonvulsants on BMD, pain intensity, QoL, and fatigue in epileptic patients, which have not been investigated until now. However, the sample size was limited, as most of the epileptic patients treated at our clinic were unable to fill out the questionnaires due to mental problems and various other comorbidities.

### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical approval:** This study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Marmara University, School of Medicine with a registry number of 09.2016.367. Both verbal and written consent were obtained from each participant.

**Funding:** This publication was prepared without any external source of funding.

**Conflict of interest:** All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions: CUU, and GYS gathered and performed the measurements, IM and GDA were involved in planning and supervised the work, CUU processed the experimental data, performed the analysis, drafted the manuscript and designed the figures. All authors aided in interpreting the results and worked on the article. All authors discussed the results and commented on the article. All authors approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- Martin R, Vogtle L, Gilliam F, Faught E. What are the concerns of older adults living with epilepsy? Epilepsy Behav 2005; 7:297-300. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2005.05.003.
- [2] Elliott JO, Seals BF, Jacobson MP. Use of the Precaution Adoption Process Model to examine predictors of

osteoprotective behavior in epilepsy. Seizure 2007;16:424-37. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2007.02.016. Epub 2007 Apr 18.

- [3] Tedrus GMAS, Sterca GS, Pereira RB. Physical activity, stigma, and quality of life in patients with epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 2017;77:96-8. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.07.039. Epub 2017 Oct 12.
- [4] Drezner MK. Treatment of anticonvulsant drug-induced bone disease. Epilepsy Behav 2004;5:41-7. doi: 10.1016/j. yebeh.2003.11.028.
- [5] Özemir ZA, Yalçın AD. Antiepileptik ilaçların kemik yoğunluğuna ve metabolizmasına etkileri. Epilepsi 2017;23:1-6. doi:10.14744/epilepsi.2016.93723.
- [6] Christiansen C, Rødbro P, Lund M. Incidence of anticonvulsant osteomalacia and effect of vitamin D: controlled therapeutic trial. Br Med J 1973;4(5894):695-701. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.4.5894.695.
- [7] Albayrak I, Aydogmus M, Ozerbil OM, Levendoglu F. The association between bone mineral density, quality of life, quality of sleep and fatigue. Acta Clin Belg 2016;71:92-8. doi: 10.1179/229.533.3715Y.000.000.0061. Epub 2016 Feb 8.
- [8] Wilson S, Sharp C, Davie M. Health-related quality of life in patients with osteoporosis in the absence of vertebral fracture: a systematic review. Osteoporos Int 2012;23:2749-68. doi: 10.1007/s00198.012.2050-6.
- [9] Vestergaard P. Epilepsy, osteoporosis and fracture risk-a meta-analysis. Acta Neurol Scand 2005;112:277-86. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2005.00474.x.
- [10] Cranney A, Jamal SA, Tsang JF, Josse RG, Leslie WD. Low bone mineral density and fracture burden in postmenopausal women. CMAJ 2007;177:575-80. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.070234.
- [11] Kanis JA, McCloskey EV, Johansson H, Oden A, Melton III LJ, Khaltaev N. A reference standard for the description of osteoporosis. Bone 2008;42:467-75. doi: 10.1016/j. bone.2007.11.001. Epub 2007 Nov 17.
- [12] Catalano A, Martino G, Morabito N, Scarcella C, Gaudio A, Basile G, et al. Pain in osteoporosis: from pathophysiology to therapeutic approach. Drugs Aging 2017;34:755-65. doi: 10.1007/s40266.017.0492-4.
- [13] Mirza F, Canalis E. Secondary osteoporosis: pathophysiology and management. Eur J Endocrinol 2015;173(3):R131-R51. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0118
- [14] Densitometry ISfC. Diagnosis of osteoporosis in men, premenopausal women, and children. J Clin Densitom 2004;7(1):17-26. doi: 10.1385/jcd:7:1:17 [published Online First: 2004/01/27]
- [15] Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. The lancet 1974;304(7889):1127-31. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(74)90884-8.
- [16] Cleeland CS. The brief pain inventory: user guide. Houston, TX: The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center 2009:1-11.
- [17] Dicle A, Karayurt Ö, Dirimese E. Validation of the Turkish version of the Brief Pain Inventory in surgery patients. Pain Manag Nurs 2009;10(2):107-13. e2. doi: 10.1016/j. pmn.2008.08.002.

- [18] Lips P, Cooper C, Agnusdei D, Caulin F, Egger P, Johnell O, et al. Quality of life as outcome in the treatment of osteoporosis: the development of a questionnaire for quality of life by the European Foundation for Osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 1997;7:36-8. doi: 10.1007/bf01623457 [published Online First: 1997/01/01]
- [19] Kocyigit H, Gülseren Ş, Erol A, Hizli N, Memis A. The reliability and validity of the Turkish version of Quality of Life Questionnaire of the European Foundation for Osteoporosis (QUALEFFO). Clin Rheumatol 2003;22:18-23. doi: 10.1007/ s10067.002.0653-6.
- [20] Krupp LB, LaRocca NG, Muir-Nash J, Steinberg AD. The fatigue severity scale: application to patients with multiple sclerosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Arch Neurol 1989;46(:1121-23. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1989.005.20460115022.
- [21] Cohen RJ, Swerdlik ME, Phillips SM. Psychological testing and assessment: An introduction to tests and measurement. California:Mayfield Publishing Co, 1996.
- [22] Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum, 1988.
- [23] Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang AG, Buchner A. G\*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behav Res Methods 2007;39:175-91. doi: 10.3758/bf03193146. [published Online First: 2007/08/19]
- [24] Mazziotti G, Canalis E, Giustina A. Drug-induced osteoporosis: mechanisms and clinical implications. Am J Med 2010;123:877-84. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2010.02.028
   [published Online First: 2010/10/06]
- [25] Farhat G, Yamout B, Mikati MA, Demirjian S, Sawaya R, El-Hajj Fuleihan G. Effect of antiepileptic drugs on bone density in ambulatory patients. Neurology 2002;58:1348-53. doi: 10.1212/wnl.58.9.1348 [published Online First: 2002/05/16]
- [26] Chin WW. The partial least squares approach to structural equation modeling. In: Marcoulides GA, ed. Modern methods

for business research. New York: Psychology Press, 1998:295-336.

- [27] Berto P. Quality of life in patients with epilepsy and impact of treatments. Pharmacoeconomics 2002;20:1039-59. doi: 10.2165/00019.053.200220150-00002.
- [28] Sahin-Onat S, Unsal Delialioglu S, Bicer S, Ozel S. Effects of Sleep Quality on Quality of Life in patients with osteoporosis. Turkish Journal of Osteoporosis 2013;19:32-7.
- [29] Kwon O-Y, Ahn HS, Kim HJ. Fatigue in epilepsy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Seizure 2017;45:151-59. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.11.006.
- [30] Kubota F, Kifune A, Shibata N, et al. Bone mineral density of epileptic patients on long-term antiepileptic drug therapy: a quantitative digital radiography study. Epilepsy Res 1999;33:93-7. doi: 10.1016/s0920-1211(98)00077-1 [published Online First: 1999/03/27]
- [31] Stephen LJ, McLellan AR, Harrison JH, et al. Bone density and antiepileptic drugs: a case-controlled study. Seizure 1999;8:339-42. doi: 10.1053/seiz.1999.0301 [published Online First: 1999/10/08]
- [32] Ravn P, Cizza G, Bjarnason N, Thompson D, et al. Low body mass index is an important risk factor for low bone mass and increased bone loss in early postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 1999;14:1622-27. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.1999.14.9.1622
- [33] Korpelainen R, Korpelainen J, Heikkinen J, Väänänen K, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S. Lifelong risk factors for osteoporosis and fractures in elderly women with low body mass index-a population-based study. Bone 2006;39:385-91. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2006.01.143. Epub 2006 Mar 10.

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

## Topical and systemic analgesia versus caudal epidural and dorsal penile nerve block in relieving pain after pediatric circumcision

Ayse KARATAS 🝺, E. Zeynep ETI 📴, Tumay UMUROGLU 🖻, Seniyye Ulgen ZENGIN 🖻, F. Yilmaz GOGUS 🝺

Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, School of Medicine, Marmara University Teaching and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Seniyye Ulgen ZENGIN E-mail: ulgen\_t@yahoo.com

Submitted: 23.02.2021 Accepted: 06.05.2021

### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** There is no consensus on the use of optimal analgesic method after pediatric circumcision, although, caudal block (CB), dorsal penile nerve block (DPNB), topical local anesthetic application and systemic analgesic administration are frequently used methods. In this study, we aimed to compare the postoperative analgesic effects and side effects, as well as parental satisfaction concerning these methods.

Patients and Methods: Eighty children, aged 3-12 years, undergoing circumcision were randomized into four groups (n=20). Group Caudal Anesthesia (CA), Group Dorsal Penile Blok (DP), Group Topical Analgesia (TA), Group Systemic Analgesics (SA). The severity of pain was measured with NRS or CHEOPS scores. Time to awakening, first analgesic requirement, hospital discharge, side effects and parental satisfaction were recorded.

**Results**: In groups CA and DP, pain scores during the first postoperative hour were lower than the pain scores of other groups and in group CA, the first analgesic requirement time was significantly longer compared to other groups (p<0.05). In the early postoperative hour, parental satisfaction was higher in group CA compared to other groups.

Conclusion: In the early postoperative period, CB and DPNB reduce pain more effectively and provide more parental satisfaction than other applications, (in children who underwent) circumcision.

Keywords: Circumcision, Pain, Postoperative, Dorsal penile nerve block Caudal epidural block, EMLA

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Providing an effective postoperative analgesia is essential following pediatric day case surgery in children [1]. Circumcision is a minor and day case surgery, usually represented as the most undertaken procedure on a day case basis, and it usually ends up with significant postoperative pain and distress [2, 3]. Pain leading to involuntary movements in the early postoperative period may result in bleeding at the operative site.

Ideal analgesia method after circumcision should provide an immediate, long lasting and effective pain relief with minimal to no side effects. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents (NSAIDs) and opioids are the most widely used systemic analgesics after circumcision, however, their use may be limited because of the inadequate analgesic effects of NSAIDs, when used alone and the potential adverse effects of opioids [1]. Although, local anesthetic techniques such as Caudal Block (CB) and Dorsal Penile Nerve Block (DPNB) have been shown to be more effective than the administration of systemic opioids after circumcision, CB may be complicated with motor block or delayed micturition [4]. Studies on the effectivity of DPNB have also conflicting results with a reported overall failure rate being 4-6% [3, 5]. The topical administration of local anesthetic (LA) agents seems to be promising for its noninvasiveness [6], although, some authors claim that topical analgesia is not effective [2]. All in all, the best and minimal invasive method in relieving post circumcision pain has not yet been determined and a Cochrane review on this subject claims that trials comparing all the methods are still lacking [4].

Our aim was to compare the early postoperative analgesic effects, side effects and parental satisfaction regarding four analgesic methods; CB, DPNB, topical and systemic analgesic administration in children undergoing elective circumcision.

How to cite this article: Karatas A, Eti EZ, Umuroglu T, Zengin US, Gogus FY. Topical and systemic analgesia versus caudal epidural and dorsal penile nerve block in relieving pain after pediatric circumcision. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):292-297. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013317

### 2. PATIENTS and METHOD

After obtaining ethical committee approval (Ethics Committee Approval: Decision No. 82 dated 24.09.2010 from the Turkish Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Pharmaceuticals and Pharmacy, Pharmaceutical Clinical Research Ethics Advisory Board-I) and written informed consent of the parents, eighty boys aged between 3-12 years, scheduled for circumcision were enrolled into the study. The study design was prospective, randomized, controlled and comparative. Randomization was done by a sealed envelope method. Exclusion criteria were parental refusal, history of coagulopathy, atopic dermatitis or allergy to local anesthetics, history of methemoglobinemia and contraindication to NSAIDs or CB, history of developmental delay or mental retardation which might disturb the pain intensity assessment, neurological diseases, and analgesic use in the previous week of the surgery.

Patients were allocated into four groups:

Group CA (n=20) received caudal block with 0.25% bupivacaine in 1ml/kg, after anesthesia induction;

Group DP (n=20) received DPNB with 0.25% bupivacaine in 0.3ml/kg, after anesthesia induction;

Group TA (n=20) received topical analgesia, one hour before anesthesia induction.

Group SA (Control group) (n=20) received systemic analgesics (rectal paracetamol after anesthesia induction, rectal or oral paracetamol postoperatively). General anesthesia was induced with thiopental 5-7 mg/kg IV or inhalation of 8% sevoflurane with 70%  $N_2O$  in oxygen in children who refuse intravenous line access. Muscle relaxation was maintained with 0.5 mg/kg atracurium bromide IV. An appropriate-sized laryngeal mask airway was inserted and anesthesia was maintained with 1 MAC sevoflurane and 70%  $N_2O$  in oxygen.

Topical analgesia with 3 g 2.5% lidocaine and 2.5% prilocaine cream, eutectic mixture of local anesthetics (EMLA) was applied to the distal half of the penis under an occlusive dressing, one hour before the surgery, in the preoperative room before the assistance of the parents (Group TA). Application did not include the mucosal surface. CB was performed by the same experienced anesthesiologist with 0.25% bupivacaine hydrochloride, 1 mLkg<sup>-1</sup> (maximum 20 mL) (Group CA). DPNB was performed by the same experienced pediatric surgeon, with infiltration of 0.3 mLkg<sup>-1</sup> 0.25% bupivacaine hydrochloride to both sides of the pubic arch via a 21 G needle (Group DP). In group SA, 40 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> paracetamol were given rectally after the induction of anesthesia, 20 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> paracetamol rectally or orally four times a day were administered postoperatively.

Heart rate, non-invasive blood pressure, peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO<sub>2</sub>), end-tidal carbon dioxide pressure (ETCO<sub>2</sub>) and sevoflurane concentrations were monitorized and recorded with 15 minute intervals peroperatively.

Postoperative pain intensity was assessed with a 10-point numeric rating scale (NRS) (0=none, 1-3=mild, 4-6=moderate, 7-10=severe) in children older than 6 years (school-aged) or with

Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario Pain Scale (CHEOPS: minimum score 4 points and maximum score 13 points) in younger (preschool) children [7].

Pain scores were recorded at 0, 2<sup>nd</sup>, and 4<sup>th</sup> h postoperatively. In the postanesthesia care unit or in the ward, 1 mgkg<sup>-1</sup> meperidine hydrochloride intravenously was administered whenever NRS scores were higher than 3 or CHEOPS scores were higher than 5. All data collection was done by an anesthesiologist who was blinded to the group assignment. At the end of anesthesia, awakening times (time to follow verbal commands after the discontinuation of sevoflurane), the first analgesic requirement time, the need for rescue analgesic, the first urination, mobilization and hospital discharge time, adverse effects and parental satisfaction via a 4-point scale, edited by researchers (4=very satisfied, 3=satisfied, 2= dissatisfied, 1=very dissatisfied) were recorded.

### Statistical analysis

Statistical evaluation of the collected data was performed using GraphPad Instat Version 3.00 for Windows 95. The primary outcome was pain scores as measured by NRS or CHEOPS. Secondary endpoints included the first analgesic requirement time, the need for rescue analgesic, the first urination, mobilization and hospital discharge time, adverse effects and parental satisfaction. Sample size was calculated based on previous studies [8] to detect a difference of 2 in CHEOPS pain scores at early postoperative hours, between groups with a standard deviation of 2.75. At the end, we found that at least 20 patients in each group required to demonstrate a significant difference for a type I error of 0.05 and a power of 0.8. Repeated measures of ANOVA were used to analyze the variations of parameters in different times. Tukey's test was considered as posthoc analysis. Non parametric data were evaluated with Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U tests. Chi-square or Fisher's exact test were used to evaluate the proportional variables. Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD). A p value less than 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

### **3. RESULTS**

Descriptive analysis of the patients' demographic and clinical characteristics is shown in Table I. Demographic datas, duration of surgery and anesthesia were similar.

While the heart rate did not differ between the groups in the first 15 minutes peroperatively (p> 0.05), the 30th minute value was significantly lower in Group CA compared to other groups (p <0.05). Table II shows peroperative heart rates and mean arterial pressures.

Table III shows awakening, first mobilization, first urination and hospital discharge times.

Figure 1 shows the pain scores evaluated with CHEOPS. At the first postoperative measurement time (0.s), CHEOPS values were significantly lower in Group CA and Group DP than in Group TA and Group SA (p < 0.05). There was no significant difference between the groups at other measurement times (p > 0.05).

There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of weaning time, first analgesic requirement time, first mobilization time, first urination time (p> 0.05). The proportion of patients who required additional analgesics during the study was significantly lower than Group TA and Group SA in Group CA and DP (p <0.05).

Figure 2 shows the NRS scores evaluated with NRS. In Group CA, NRS scores were significanty lower than the scores in Group TA and Group SA.

Figure 3 shows additional analgesic requirement. In Group CA, analgesic requirement was significantly lower than the analgesic requirement for Group TA and Group SA.

Figure 4 shows the parental satisfaction scores. Parental satisfaction with analgesia for Group CA and Group DP was significantly higher than the parental satisfaction for Group TA and Group SA.

### **Table I.** Descriptive analysis of the patients' demographic and clinical characteristics.

	Group CA	Group DP	Group TA	Group SA	p value
	(n=20)	(n=20)	(n=20)	(n=20)	
	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)	
Age (years)	6.70 (± 2.60)	5.93 (± 2.98)	5.68 (± 3.20)	5.55 (± 2.88)	0,59
Weight (kg)	24.40 (± 7.88)	24.50 (± 11.87)	21.20 (± 6.93)	21.15 (± 5.87)	0,39
Duration of anesthesia (min)	42.60 (± 11.21)	37.35 (± 5.12)	37.35 (± 13.95)	39.30 (± 10.58)	0,35
Duration of surgery (min)	28.40 (± 9.77)	29.70 (± 5.47)	27.50 (± 11.77)	30.40 (± 8.59)	0,75

All data are presented as mean (± Standard Deviation). ANOVA test

### Table II. Peroperative heart rate and mean arterial pressure values

		HR (Beats/min)			MAP (mmHg)	
	0 min	15. min	30. min	0 min	15. min	30. min
Group CA	123.4 (±19.2)*	112.1 (±19.7)	100.6 (±18.4) *⊥	80.5(±11.4)*	67.7 (±9.5)*	65.8 (±8.4)*
Group DP	118.9 (±20.6)	117.7 (±18.3)	115.4 (±18.0)⊥	81.1(±14.1)	71.8 (±13.7)	71.7 (±12.0)
Group TA	123.8 (±19.0)	122.9 (±18.6)	115.6 (±14.5)⊥	75.0 (±11.0)	73.9 (±9.1)	73.7 (±9.9)
Group SA	120.4 (±21.9)	125.2 (±16.4)	117.7 (±15.3)⊥	73.3 (±13.5)	75.2 (±11.7)	71.9 (±8.9)

All data are presented as mean ( $\pm$  Standard Deviation), \* p<0.01, within group comparison,  $\perp p$ <0.05, group CA compared to other groups, HR: heart rate, MAP: mean arterial pressure, ANOVA test (with posthoc Tukey test)

Table III. Awakening time, first analgesic requirement, first mobilization, first urination and hospital discharge times

	Group CA	Group DP	Group TA	Group SA
	(n=20)	(n=20)	(n=20)	(n=20)
Awakening time (min)	6.03±4.46	7.65±4.22	7.95±4.94	7.03±3.69
First analgesic requirement time (min)	25.33±16.48*	6.30±4.27*	5.16±5.04*	3.95±3.35*
First mobilization time (hr)	2.45±1.28	1.75±1.16	$1.45 \pm 0.71$	1.98±1.49
First urination time (hr)	2.68±1.23**	1.98±1.21	1.30±0.75**	2.23±1.61
Discharge time (hr)	4.35±0.99	3.93±1.08	3.70±1.19 †	4.73±1.21 †

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD, \* p<0.0001, Group CA compared to other groups, \*\* p<0.01, Group CA, compared to group TA,  $\dagger p$ <0.05, Group TA compared to group SA, ANOVA test (with posthoc Tukey test)



**Figure I.** Postoperative CHEOPS pain scores \*, p<0.05 Group CA compared to groups TA and SA \*\*, p<0.05 Group DP compared to groups TA and SA Kruskal Wallis/Mann-Whitney U tests



### Figure 2. Postoperative NRS scores





Figure 3. Percent of patients requiring additional analgesic(%)

\*, p<0.05 Group CA compared to groups TA and SA †, p<0.05 Group DP compared to groups TA and SA Chi-square test



**Figure 4.** Prental satisfaction (score of 4) \*, p<0.05 Group CA compared to groups DP, TA and SA \*\*, p<0.05 Group DP compared to groups TA and SA †, p<0.05 Group CA compared to groups TA and SA %p<0.05 Group DP compared to groups TA and SA Kruskal Wallis/Mann-Whitney U tests

### 4. DISCUSSION

The main result of this study is that the first term postoperative analgesic effects of CB and DPNB are more prominent compared to noninvasive methods, in children undergoing circumcision. In regard of the parental satisfaction, they also offered advantageous findings. In other words, noninvasive methods such as topical LA application and less invasive method such as systemic analgesic administration appeared to be less effective than invasive methods in reducing pain during the early postoperative period.

Circumcision is a minor but painful surgery and children deserve to receive adequate analgesia during the immediate post-circumcision period. Early postoperative pain results in crying and agitation with excessive body movements leading to an increased risk for bleeding at the surgical site. So, the ideal analgesia method after circumcision would provide effective pain relief with minimal side effects.

Systemic analgesics such as opioids (pethidine hydrochloride, morphine sulphate and codeine) or NSAIDs are routinely administered in relieving postoperative pain following circumcision in children. Even though, these drugs are effective as painkillers, their unwanted side effects limit their use: opioids are usually administered in subtherapeutic doses as a result of the fear of opioid induced sedation, respiratory depression, nausea or urinary retention. NSAIDs are generally used as adjuvants to opioids in order to reduce their doses, as well as the incidence of side effects [9]. Nevertheless, nephrotoxicity, gastrointestinal bleeding and thrombocyte dysfunction stand as limiting factors in the use of NSAIDs [9]. To overcome these disadvantages, the application of local anesthetic techniques such as CB and DPNB in relieving post circumcision pain, became popular [10,11]. The main limiting factor of these methods is their invasiveness. Topical analgesia for pain relief seems promising but repeated application is usually required. Up to date, most of the studies concerning the effectivity of the methods compared only two

methods, so we aimed to compare the most commonly used four methods and find the optimal one to provide post circumcision analgesia.

Caudal Block is the most commonly performed pediatric regional analgesia technique in children undergoing perineal surgery. Major disadvantages of CB are urinary retention and lower extremity motor block, leading to the denial of its routine use as an ideal method in day case surgeries [10]. Local anesthetic agent concentration is the major determinant of the degree of motor block. Wolf et al., determined that in caudal anesthesia, the use of bupivacaine at a concentration of 0.125% instead of 0.25% resulted in a lower incidence of motor block, whereas a further reduction in bupivacaine concentration to as low as 0.0625% resulted in a lower incidence of motor block with less analgesic effect [13]. We used 0.25% bupivacaine and motor block was only observed in two children. This finding does not overlap with the suggestion of the Cochrane review which claims that due to the possible risk of motor weakness, CB should not be performed in children old enough to walk, in day case surgeries [4]. The low incidence of motor block in our study was probably related to the low concentration of LA, and we believe that CB is an advantageous method to reduce pain after circumcision, as long as temporary leg weakness is prevented with reduced LA concentration. It is true that the ideal agent, dose, and concentration for a caudal block has not yet been determined as previously reported [2].

Dorsal Penile Nerve Block has the advantages of providing rapid recovery, early urination and discharge times, after circumcision [11-13]. In this method, there is no need to change the patient's position from supine to the lateral decubitus and a substantial number of studies claim that it provides analgesia as effective as CB [10,13]. In our study, DPNB resulted in lower CHEOPS scores in the immediate postoperative period and in higher parental satisfaction than noninvasive (topical LA administration) and control (systemic analgesic administration) groups. Although, time to first analgesic requirement was significantly shorter than CB, DPNB offered advantageous findings regarding lower number of children requiring additional analgesics than topical and systemic analgesia groups.

The incidence of side effects in DPNB is less compared to CB and only described as bleeding or hematoma formation at the site of injection [15]. The occurrence of penile ischemia is out of question if large volumes of LA agents and epinephrine containing solutions are avoided [16]. We did not observe any side effect with DPNB. Naja Z et al., suggested that DPNB is a blind approach since, its application relies on the subjective estimation of the dorsal nerve location in the Buck's fascia [3].

In terms of CB, volumes and concentrations used in our study were similar to those used in the literature (0.25% bupivacaine, 1mlkg<sup>-1</sup>); but the concentration of bupivacaine used in DPNB was lower than that used in Weksler's study (0.25% versus 0.5%), volumes being similar [11-13]. In the aforementioned study, although the induction, skin incision and hospital discharge times were shorter than the CB group, the administration of high concentration of bupivacaine in DPNB made no difference in terms of postoperative analgesia. In Beyaz et al., study CB was

performed with 0.25% levobupivacaine (0.5mlkg<sup>-1</sup>) and DPNB with 0.25% levobupivacaine (0.5mlkg<sup>-1</sup>) and analgesic efficacies, additional analgesic requirements were similar [15]. Margetts et al., as well, used 0.5% bupivacaine (0.25mlkg<sup>-1</sup>) in DPNB and found no difference in analgesic efficacy when compared to CB performed with 0.25% bupivacaine (0.5mlkg<sup>-1</sup>) with the addition of ketamine [18]. Regarding the concentrations and volumes used in our study, we also found equipotent analgesic efficacy between CB and DPNB in the immediate and early postoperative hours, with no difference in hospital discharge times. We question the necessity of using high concentrations and high volumes in DPNB. As mentioned earlier, we believe that administering low LA concentrations in CB may prevent motor block and make its use convenient in day case surgeries.

Topical LA application has a single side effect that manifests as a skin reaction, but it is suggested that it does not provide analgesia as effective as DPNB [19]. The reason of this suggestion may lie in the application time of the LA (EMLA) cream. Sufficient time must be allowed for it to become effective. There will not be enough time left to begin its effect if it is applied at the end of the surgery. Choi et al., performed topical analgesia one hour before surgery and determined that analgesia is as effective as DPNB but with a shorter duration of action [19]. We also applied EMLA cream one hour before surgery. Pain scores at the immediate postoperative hour and patient number requiring additional analgesics were higher in group TA than groups CA and DP. The ineffective analgesic profile of the topical LA application may be explained by the removal of LA from the surgical site during the sterilization period and loss of the effectivity of the cream. This explanation is also supported by some authors [19]. This problem may be solved by lengthening the application time to at least two h before surgery. Additionally, we performed DPNB with bupivacaine, a long lasting and more potent LA compared to lidocaine and prilocaine found in EMLA and this explains that the analgesic efficacy of DPNB was not observed in TA group. In this point, topical analgesia only seems to be advantageous due to its noninvasiveness and we recommend that it should not be used as the sole method of analgesia. This recommendation is also supported by Paix et al [3].

In summary, in the immediate postoperative period, CB and DPNB reduce pain more effectively and provide more parental satisfaction than topical and systemic analgesic applications, in children undergoing circumcision. Need for an additional analgesic requires longer time in CB and DPNB. There is a misconception that these blocks are difficult to perform and time-consuming, but our present study demonstrated that they are more effective in post circumcision pain relief compared to noninvasive and systemic methods. TA may only decrease the need for supplementary analgesics.

### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical approval:** Ethics Committee Approval: Decision No. 82 dated 24.09.2010 from the Turkish Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Pharmaceuticals and Pharmacy (Pharmaceutical Clinical Research Ethics Advisory Board-I) **Funding:** This publication was prepared without any external source of funding.

**Conflict of interest:** All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions: A.K.,E.Z.E.,F.Y.G. Idea/concept. A.K.,E.Z.E.,T.U. Design. E.Z.E.,T.U.,F.Y.G. Control/Supervision. A.K.,E.Z.E.,T.U. Data collection and processing.

A.K.,E.Z.E.,S.U.Z. Analysis. A.K.,E.Z.E.,S.U.Z.,F.Y.G. Literature review. A.K.,E.Z.E.,T.U. A.K./E.Z.E.,T.U.,S.U.Z.,F.Y.G. Critical review. A.K.,E.Z.E.,T.U.,S.U.Z References. All authors read and approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- Lonnqvist PA, Morton NS. Paediatric day-case anaesthesia and pain control. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2006; 19:617-21. doi: 10.1097/ACO.0b013e3280101dab.
- Howard R, Carter B, Curry J, et al. Postoperative pain. Paediatr Anaesth 2008; 18:36-63. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2008.02431.x.
- [3] Paix BR, Peterson SE. Circumcision of neonates and children without appropriate anaesthesia is unacceptable practice. Anaesth Intensive Care 2012; 40:511-6. doi: 10.1177/0310057X120.400.0318.
- [4] Cyna AM, Middleton P. Caudal epidural block versus other methods of postoperative pain relief for circumcision in boys. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev 2008;4: Art No:CD003005. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003005.pub2
- [5] Naja Z, Al-Tannir MA, Faysal W, Daoud N, Ziade F, El-Rajab M. A comparison of pudendal block vs dorsal penile nerve block for circumcision in children: a randomised controlled trial. Anaesthesia 2011; 66:802-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2011.06753.x
- [6] Taddio A, Ohlsson A, Einarson TR, Stevens B, Koren G. A systematic review of lidocaine-prilocaine cream (EMLA) in the treatment of acute pain in neonates. Pediatrics 1998; 101:1-9. doi: 10.1542/peds.101.2.e1
- [7] Linder SL, Winner P. Pediatric headache. Med Clin North Am. 2001;85:1037-53. doi:10.1016/s0025-7125(05)70358-8
- [8] McGowan PR, May H, Molnar Z, Cunliffe M. A comparison of three methods of analgesia in children having day

case circumcision. Paediatr Anaesth 1998; 8: 403-7. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9592.1998.00270.x

- [9] Lönnqvist PA, Morton NS. Postoperative analgesia in infants and children. Br J Anaesth 2005; 95:59-68. doi: 10.1093/bja/ aei065
- [10] Jöhr M, Berger TM. Caudal blocks. Paediatr Anaesth 2012; 22:44-50. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2011.03669.x.
- [11] Weksler N, Atias I, Klein M, Rosenztsveig V, Ovadia L, Gurman GM. Is penile block better than caudal epidural block for postcircumcision analgesia? J Anesth 2005; 19:36-9. doi: 10.1007/s00540.004.0287-8.
- [12] Munevveroglu C, Gunduz M. Postoperative pain management for circumcision; Comparison of frequently used methods. Pak J Med Sci 2020;36:91-95. doi:10.12669/pjms.36.2.505
- [13] Wolf AR, Valley RD, Fear DW, Roy WL, Lerman J. Bupivacaine for caudal analgesia in infants and children: the optimal effective concentration. Anesthesiology 1988; 69: 102-6. doi: 10.1097/00000.542.198807000-00017.
- [14] Tree-Trakarn T, Pirayavaraporn S. Post-operative pain relief for circumcision in children: comparison among morphine, nerve block and topical analgesia. Anesthesiology 1985; 62:519-22. doi: 10.1097/00000.542.198504000-00027.
- [15] Beyaz SG. Comparison of postoperative analgesic efficacy of caudal block versus dorsal penile nerve block with levobupivacaine for circumcision in children. Korean J Pain 2011; 24:31-5. doi: 10.3344/kjp.2011.24.1.31.
- Sara CA, Lowry CJ. A complication of circumcision and dorsal nerve block of the penis. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1985; 13:79-85. doi: 10.1177/0310057X850.130.0111.
- [17] Burke D, Joypaul V, Thomson MF. Circumcision supplemented by dorsal penile nerve block with 0.75% ropivacaine: a complication. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2000; 25:424-27. doi: 10.1053/rapm.2000.7594.
- [18] Margetts L, Carr A, McFadyen G, Lambert A. A comparison of caudal bupivacaine and ketamine with penile block for paediatric circumcision. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2008; 25: 1009-13. doi: 10.1017/S026.502.1508004833.
- [19] Choi WY, Irwin MG, Hui TWC, Lim HH, Chan KL. EMLA cream versus dorsal penile nerve block for postcircumcision analgesia in children. Anesth Analg 2003; 96: 396-99. doi: 10.1097/00000.539.200302000-00018.

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

## Evaluation of skills of intensive care nurses regarding central venous catheter care: An observational study

Gulnur KAR<sup>1</sup> , Ebru EREK KAZAN<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>General Intensive Care Unit, Istanbul Beykoz State Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey. <sup>2</sup>Department of Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, Ankara Yildirim Beyazit University, Ankara, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Ebru EREK KAZAN **E-mail:** eekazan@ybu.edu.tr

Submitted: 27.03.2021 Accepted: 01.05.2021

### ABSTRACT

Objective: Central venous access is a common procedure performed in many clinical settings for a variety of indications. Yet, there are multiple complications related to central venous catheter use. Significant morbidity and mortality can result from complications related to central venous catheters. Therefore, safety and effectiveness of central venous catheter care by nurses is crucial. The aim of this study was to evaluate the intensive care nursing skills associated with central venous catheter care.

Materials and Methods: This observational study was conducted with 37 volunteer nurses who were employed in adult intensive care units of three hospitals in Istanbul, Turkey. A total of 111 observations were collected by using the Nurses' Descriptive Characteristics Form and the Intensive Care Nurses' Central Venous Catheter Care Skills Observation Checklist.

**Results:** The average age of the nurses was  $33.2 \pm 5.9$  years. The study showed that 93.7% nurses had performed the hand hygiene before starting the central venous catheter care but seldom after the procedure. Sterile gloves were not used by majority of the nurses during the care. They almost never disinfected the catheter hub, and they did not adequately obey the rules after completing the care procedure.

Conclusions: This study demonstrated that nurses had inadequate skills of central venous catheter care. We recommend that nurses' skills must be enriched with professional theoretical and practical trainings.

Keywords: Central venous catheter, Intensive care, Nurse, Nursing care, Skill.

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Central venous catheters (CVCs) are invasive tools utilized, especially in intensive care units (ICUs), for infusion treatments, nutritional support, hemodynamic monitoring, blood and blood product transfusion, and hemodialysis. CVCs have significant advantages for medical treatment, but they can also cause various serious complications [1]. Side effects associated with long-term CVC use include catheter-related bloodstream infection (CRBSI), bleeding, and thrombosis [2].

Central venous catheters are reported to cause 250,000 cases of CRBSI every year in the United States alone, and of these infections, 67,500 result in death [3]. A Turkish study that investigated healthcare-related infections in ICUs indicated that CRBSI was the most common type of infection, making up 48% of all cases, and had a mortality rate of 63.3% [4]. These CRBSIs not only negatively impact patients' medical conditions but are also known to increase the length of hospital stay and increase workload and costs. With all this in mind, it is extremely important to prevent infections before they occur. Proper nursing care can prevent the development of both infections and other catheter-related complications [5]. CVCs are most commonly used in intensive care settings. The intensive care nurse should be able to follow the patient's overall condition, know the catheter selection and the purpose of closing the catheter site, be able to follow the best techniques

\* This study was produced from master thesis. The study, was presented as an oral presentation on December 19-21, 2019 at the 6th International 17th National Nursing Congress organized by Gazi University in Ankara/ Turkey.

How to cite this article: Kar G, Kazan Erek E. Evaluation of intensive care nurses' skills associated with care of central venous catheter: An observational study. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):298-306. doi: 10.5472/marunj.1012090

during catheter insertion, correctly practice catheter care, and properly manage the catheter to avoid infections [6]. Therefore, proper CVC management requires both sufficient theoretical knowledge and practical experience.

Most studies that investigated knowledge of nurses on CVC care indicated that they had inadequate knowledge [7-13] and that this knowledge could be improved by training [10,11] and experience [12,13]. Inadequate knowledge also negatively affects nurses' practical skills, since, nursing is an applied health discipline that requires a combination of theoretical content with practical skills [14,15]. However, there are a limited number of studies that evaluate nurses' CVC care skills [11,16-18] and none that directly investigate the CVC care skills of nurses. The most accurate way to evaluate the compliance of nurses with guidelines is to observe nurses directly during daily work routines and to examine their practices [19,20]. Therefore, this study was planned to evaluate the CVC care skills of ICU nurses via an observational technique.

This study aims to evaluate the intensive care nurses' skills associated with CVC care.

### 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

### Design and sample

The research was conducted with nurses employed in adult ICUs of one public hospital, one university hospital, and one private hospital in Istanbul, Turkey, using the non-participant structured observation technique.

The research population consisted of 156 nurses working in the adult ICUs of the three hospitals as of May 2019. Ten nurses working in the general ICU of the public hospital (i.e., the workplace of the researcher) and 16 nurses who could not be reached due to being on a leave of absence were excluded from the study. In addition, due to the lack of patients on CVCs, 29 nurses working in 3 ICUs of the public hospital were also excluded. Therefore, the size of the research population was determined as n = 101.

There was no sampling. Instead, the sample was made up of 37 nurses who volunteered to participate in the study (n=37). In all three hospitals, the nurses worked in shifts, and the clinics employed CVC care procedures.

### Measurement and instruments

During the research duration, each nurse was observed 3 times while performing CVC care. The accuracy of how a nurse behaves cannot be determined with one observation, and when two observations are made, it is uncertain which of the two different behaviors more accurately reflects actuality. For this reason, as per the expert opinion of a statistician, we decided to make 3 observations for each nurse to ensure the reliability of the results. Our review of the literature revealed that other observational studies similarly used at least 3 observations [21,22]. We used two data collection tools in the study. These were the Nurses' Descriptive Characteristics Survey Form (Form 1) and the Intensive Care Nurses' Central Venous Catheter Care Skills Observation Form (Form 2).

### Form 1: Nurses' Descriptive Characteristics Survey Form

This 12 item form was prepared by the researchers as per the literature [8,22,23]. The form consists of 5 items that investigate the sociodemographic characteristics of the nurses and 7 items concerning training and available resources related to CVC care.

### Form 2: Intensive Care Nurses' Central Venous Catheter Care Skills Observation Checklist

This checklist was prepared by the researchers to determine the ICU nurses' CVC care-related skills as per the relevant literature [24-28]. The checklist consists of the CVC care procedure divided into 41 steps. It was designed so that each step is marked as "performed" or "not performed", and the results of all three observations can be recorded on the same checklist. Six experts were consulted to evaluate the content validity of the data collection tools. The results of this evaluation indicated that all items of both forms were sufficient for content validity (content validity index (CVI) > 0.80).

### Data collection

First, a pilot study was conducted among nurses working in ICUs of a separate hospital to test the research tools for usability. The study then moved on to the application phase. The study was conducted in the adult ICUs of three hospitals in May 2019. The nurses were provided with an explanation of the study by the researcher and were informed that they would be observed 3 times while providing CVC care. The nurses agreeing to participate in the study signed informed consent forms and filled out Form 1. The study then moved on to the observational stage. If a sufficient number of patients with CVC were available on the day that Form 1 was filled out, the nurses were observed on the same day. If the number was insufficient, each nurse was asked to make an appointment to avoid affecting their routine work, and each nurse was observed three times at different times. Nurses were evaluated using the non-participant structured observational design. Each observation lasted approximately 20 minutes. The nurses were not provided with feedback until, after all three observations were completed in order to avoid affecting their behavior. A total of 111 observations were made.

The study was granted ethical approval by the Ethics Committee of Ankara Yildirim Beyazit University in Ankara, Turkey (Date: 21/11/2018, Number: 102). Written permission was obtained from the administrations of all hospitals. After being informed about the research, all nurses who agreed to participate in the study signed informed consent forms.

### Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics software version 25.0. When nurses performed a step indicated in the CVC assessment form two or three times out of three observations,

they were considered to have "performed" the step. When nurses performed a step indicated in the CVC assessment form once out of three observations or did not perform it at all, they were considered to have "not performed" the step. The observation results of each step of the CVC procedure are presented as numbers and percentages in Table I.

The demographic characteristics of the nurses are presented as numbers and percentages. The nurses' demographic data were compared with the CVC care process steps. To facilitate the presentation of data, we only included the results of the critical steps of the CVC care process (25 steps), as elaborated in the literature [24-28]. The Z-test was used to determine the correlation of the observation results for two-category variables, and the chi-square test was used to determine the correlation of the observation results with variables with three or more categories (e.g., age, educational status). Fisher's exact test was used for pair wise comparisons. A p-value of less than 0.05 (p< .05) was considered statistically significant.

### **3. RESULTS**

The average age of the nurses included in the study was  $33.2 \pm 5.9$  years (range: 21-41), and most (86.5%) were women. Furthermore, 67.6% of the nurses had undergraduate degrees. Other demographic data are presented in Table I.

Table 1. Demographic	c characteristics	of the nurses	(n = 37)
----------------------	-------------------	---------------	----------

Demographic characteristics	n	%		
Age				
≤ 25	11	29.8		
26-29	16	43.2		
≥ 30	10	27.0		
$\overline{X} \pm SD = 33.2 \pm 5.9 \text{ min} = 21 \text{ age max} = 41 \text{ age}$				
Gender				
Female	32	86.5		
Male	5	13.5		
Educational status				
Nursing vocational high school	6	16.2		
Bachelor's degrees	25	67.6		
Master's degrees	6	16.2		
Nursing Experience				
<5 years	20	54.0		
≥5 years	17	46.0		
$\overline{X} \pm SD = 5.9 \pm 4.6$ min= 8 months max= 21 years				
Experience in ICU				
<5 years	20	54.0		
≥5 years	17	46.0		
$\overline{\mathbf{X}} \pm SD = 5.9 \pm 3.2 \text{ min} = 3 \text{ months max} = 13 \text{ years}$				

It was found that 75.7% of nurses stated that they had received training on CVC care; most (89.3%) stated that they primarily

received "in-service" training, and 85.7% stated that the provided training was "adequate". Only 32.4% of the nurses stated that they had utilized resources on CVC care. Other data concerning training and available resources related to CVC care are presented in Table II.

<b>Table II.</b> Distribution of the nurses' CVC care characteristics (n=37)	Table II. Distribution	of the nurses'	CVC care ch	naracteristics	(n=37)
------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------	----------------	-------------	----------------	--------

Characteristics regarding CVC care training and		-57)
resources	n	%
CVC training status		
Received training	28	75.7
Did not receive training	9	24.3
Type of training (n=28)*		
In-service training	25	89.3
Basic vocational training	17	60.7
Conference/convention	8	28.8
Course	6	21.6
Internet	3	10.8
Seminar	1	3.6
Form of training (n=28)		
Only theoretical	2	7.1
Only practical	2	7.1
Both theoretical and practical	24	85.8
Adequacy of training (n=28)	·	
Adequate	24	85.7
Partly adequate	4	14.3
Resource availability in the workplace		
Available	12	32.4
Not available	25	67.6
Type of resource referred to (n=12)		
Hospital information system	7	58.3
Nursing textbooks	3	25.0
Internet	2	16.7
Frequency of CVC care application *		
Per shift (n=14)		
1-2 times	12	85.8
3-4 times	2	14.2
Per week (n=19)		
2-4 times	17	89.5
5-7 times	2	10.5
Per month (n=10)		
7-12 times	5	50.0
13-18 times	2	20.0
19-24 times	3	30.0

\* n has increased due to multiple responses

Table III presents the results of a total of 111 observations of 37 nurses that were made to determine their skills in the

critical steps of the CVC care process (25 steps). We compared the observational results with the nurses' demographic characteristics, and we specify our findings in the text.

Ninty-three point seven percent in all three observation stages, nurses performed hand hygiene before starting the care process, while, only 24.3% used masks (Table III). The mask use rate was significantly higher in the group that did not receive training on CVC care than among those who did (p= .015).

We noted that after touching soiled dressings, few nurses removed their gloves (49.5% of all the three observations), performed hand hygiene (16.2% of all the three observations) and used sterile gloves (29.7% of all the three observations). None of the nurses aged  $\leq 25$  years wore sterile gloves for catheter dressing, while the nurses aged 26-29 years and those aged  $\geq 30$ years used sterile gloves significantly more than those aged  $\leq 25$ years (respectively p=.022; p=.035; p<.05). In addition, nurses who had graduated from nursing vocational high schools never wore sterile gloves, while nurses with master's degrees did so significantly more than nurses with vocational high school and bachelor's degrees (respectively p=.030; p=.043; p<.05). Nurses waited for the region wiped with an antiseptic solution to air-dry in 72.1% of the observations (Table III). Only 10.8% of the nurses wiped the catheter hub with an antiseptic solution, and nurses with more than 5 years of ICU experience were found to do so significantly more often (p= .004). Additionally, nurses aged  $\geq$  30 years were found to perform this step significantly more often than nurses aged  $\leq$  25 years (p= .035; p< .05).

In our study, none of the nurses performed the step in which the syringe was withdrawn to observe positive blood return in any of the 111 observations (Table III). Only 5.4% of all nurses flushed the catheter hub with sodium chloride solution, and 25.2% placed a new cap on the hub (Table III).

Nurses performed hand hygiene after removing their gloves, after providing care only 40.5% of the time, and this rate was significantly higher in the group aged  $\leq 25$  years than in those aged 26-29 years (p=.015; p<.05). Other observation assessment findings are presented in Table III.

	CVC Care Observation Results															
Critical steps of the CVC	1. Observation (n=37)			2. Observation (n=37)			3. Observation (n=37)			37)	Total (n=111					
care process	Performed		erformed Not Per		Perf	Performed		Not Performed		Performed		ot rmed	Performed		Not Performed	
		%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
1. Hand hygiene is performed.	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	34	91.9	3	8.1	104	93.7	7	6.3
<ul><li>2. The required equipment is prepared;</li><li>a) Masks (1 each for the patient and the nurse)</li></ul>	9	24.3	28	75.7	9	24.3	28	75.7	9	24.3	28	75.7	27	24.3	84	75.7
b) Sterile gloves	11	29.7	26	70.3	11	29.7	26	70.3	11	29.7	26	70.3	33	29.7	78	70.3
c) Sterile gauze	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
d) An antiseptic solution in accordance with institutional policy for catheter entrance site care	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
e) Sterile transparent or gauze dressing	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
f) 2% chlorhexidine gluconate, povidone iodine or alcoholic wipes for cleaning the catheter hub	6	16.2	31	83.8	6	16.2	31	83.8	6	16.2	31	83.8	18	16.2	93	83.8
g) 10 mL syringes (as per the number of lumens)	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	6	5.4	105	94.6
h) 0.9% sodium chloride solution	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	6	5.4	105	94.6
i) Positive pressure end caps (as per the number of lumens)	11	29.7	26	70.3	10	27.0	27	73.0	10	27.0	27	73.0	31	27.9	80	72.1

### Table III. Observation results of critical steps of CVC care process

3. The procedure is explained to the patient, provided that they	18	48.6	19	51.4	13	35.1	24	64.9	11	29.7	26	70.3	42	37.8	69	62.2
are conscious.																
4. The mask is put on.	9	24.3	28	75.7	9	24.3	28	75.7	9	24.3	28	75.7	27	24.3	84	75.7
5. The patient's head is turned in the opposite direction of the catheter, and if it cannot be turned, a mask is put on his/ her face.	5	13.5	32	86.5	4	10.8	33	89.2	4	10.8	33	89.2	13	11.7	98	88.3
6. Disposable gloves are put on.	36	97.3	1	2.7	36	97.3	1	2.7	36	97.3	1	2.7	108	97.3	3	2.7
7. The old dressing is removed.	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
8. Entrance site, sutures, and surrounding tissues are evaluated.	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
9. The integrity of the catheter and its hub is evaluated.	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
10. Gloves are removed.	20	54.0	17	46.0	17	46.0	20	54.0	18	48.7	19	51.3	55	49.5	56	50.5
11. Hand hygiene is performed.	7	18.9	30	81.1	5	13.5	32	86.5	6	16.2	31	83.8	18	16.2	93	83.8
12. Sterile gloves are put on.	11	29.7	26	70.3	11	29.7	26	70.3	11	29.7	26	70.3	33	29.7	78	70.3
13. The region is wiped with outward circular movements starting from the entrance site.	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
14. The wiped region is allowed to dry.	28	75.7	9	24.3	26	70.3	11	29.7	26	70.3	11	29.7	80	72.1	31	27.9
15. The region is dressed with sterile transparent or gauze dressing, placing the dressing so that the entrance site remains in the center.	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
16. The cap of the lumen is removed.	8	21.6	29	78.4	7	18.9	30	81.1	7	18.9	30	81.1	22	19.8	89	80.2
17. The catheter hub is cleaned with chlorhexidine, povidone iodine or alcoholic wipes.	4	10.8	33	89.2	4	10.8	33	89.2	4	10.8	33	89.2	12	10.8	99	89.2
18. The syringe filled with 0.9% saline solution is placed to the hub and the clamp is opened.	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	6	5.4	105	94.6
19. The syringe is withdrawn to observe positive blood return.	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0
20. The hub is flushed with the saline solution in the syringe.	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	2	5.4	35	94.6	6	5.4	105	94.6
21. A new cap is put on the hub.	10	27.0	27	73.0	9	24.3	28	75.7	9	24.3	28	75.7	28	25.2	83	74.8
22. Gloves are removed.	37	100.0	-	-	33	89.2	4	10.8	34	91.9	3	8.1	104	93.7	7	6.3
23. Hand hygiene is performed.	17	46.0	20	54.0	14	37.8	23	62.2	14	37.8	23	62.2	45	40.5	66	59.5
24. The time and date of the dressing change and the initials of the nurse are written on the dressing.	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	37	100.0	-	-	111	100.0	-	-
25. The procedures and observations are recorded on the nurse's observation form.	5	13.5	32	86.5	6	16.2	31	83.8	7	18.9	30	81.1	18	16.2	93	83.8

### 4. DISCUSSION

In our study, we found that participants were mostly young nurses and had limited practical nursing experience. We believe that this may be because, in Turkey, newly graduated nurses are commonly appointed to ICUs to gain experience. Other similar studies have obtained comparable results, where the majority of nurses were in the age group of 26-30 and had 1-5 years of professional experience [7,8,29].

Central venous catheterization care training is routinely given in ICUs in Turkey. The majority of the nurses stated that they had received in-service training on CVC care and that they found this training to be "adequate". Aydogdu and Akgun investigated the knowledge of nurses on CVC care and the influencing factors and found that the majority of nurses received "inservice training" for CVC care [30]. We believe that the nurse attendance rate at national and international congresses and conferences is low because hospitals generally do not provide sufficient financial support for nurses to participate in scientific activities.

We determined that the majority of nurses did not have available resources to refer to in the context of CVC care in their workplace and that they most commonly referred to the hospital information system. Whereas, the availability and accessibility of different resources in ICUs are very important to increase and maintain the quality of nursing care.

It is critical to perform hand hygiene after touching a potentially contaminated area and before putting on sterile gloves. All guidelines for CVC care likewise emphasize performing hand hygiene during catheter care [24,26,27,31]. In our study, almost all nurses started the process by performing hand hygiene in all three observations. However, in the following steps, the vast majority did not perform hand hygiene after removing their contaminated gloves or before putting on sterile gloves. In a similar study, Mutlu and Senturan, observed nurses before and after Hickman catheter care training and noted that nurses had shortcomings in performing hand hygiene before wearing sterile gloves in both observations [11]. The literature indicates that hand hygiene compliance rates are higher among nurses than among other health workers but still not at the expected level [32,33]. The reasons for this behavior were as follows: hand hygiene was perceived as less important than other procedures, nurses had insufficient time due to a heavy workload, sinks were inappropriately located and small, experienced health personnel set bad examples, and nurses had allergic reactions to hand antiseptics [32,33].

We observed that the majority of the nurses performed CVC care with disposable gloves without wearing sterile gloves. Basic nursing textbooks [24,26] recommend using sterile gloves in CVC care, while CVC care guidelines [25,27,28] state that this application can also be done with disposable gloves. In our study, the rate of sterile glove use was very low, and we found that this rate was significantly higher in the age group of  $\geq 26$  years and among nurses with master's degree. These results are important as they demonstrate the importance of professional experience and education. Snarski et al., examined nursing

practices that aimed to prevent CRBSI in hematopoietic stem cell transplant patients and found the rate of sterile glove use to be 82% [34]. Mutlu and Senturan found this rate to be 77.3% [11]. The results of these studies differ from our findings. We believe that the low rate of sterile glove use in our study stems from habit, availability, high cost and time considerations. The nurses found using disposable gloves and an antiseptic solution to be more practical.

In our study, we observed that all nurses wiped the catheter region with sterile gauze and antiseptic solution. The literature recommends using chlorhexidine gluconate (CHG) for catheterization sites and states that 10% povidone-iodine or 70% alcohol may also be used if CHG is contraindicated [25,27,28,31]. However, in our study, we did not observe any nurse using CHG for skin antisepsis; instead, they mostly used povidone-iodine. The reason for this might be the lower cost and accessibility.

Guidelines indicate that to achieve maximum anti-microbial effect in catheter dressings, the skin needs to be allowed to dry after the application of antiseptic solution [24-28,31]. In our study, we observed that a considerable number of nurses applied dressings without letting the antiseptic solution dry. Similar studies have reported variable results. Lai et al. [35] and Mutlu and Senturan [11] indicated that this rate was high among nurses. In contrast, Gerceker et al., stated that nurses did not perform this step prior to training [18]. Arslan et al., indicated that few nurses were observed to scrub the stopcock entrance with 70% alcohol and subsequently wait for it to dry [16]. Nurses need to be motivated to perform this step, it is simple but is significant in preventing infection.

Cleaning the catheter hub, a microorganism entrance site, is crucial for the prevention of CRBSIs. According to the Joint Commission International (JCI) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the catheter's hub should be rubbed with the appropriate antiseptic solution before any intervention. If the hub is not cleaned, organisms from the contaminated hub may migrate to the inner surface of the CVC [36,37]. Wright et al., evaluated the effect of catheter hub cleaning on the development of CRBSIs and concluded that hub cleaning significantly decreased the infection rate [38]. However, in our study, the catheter hub cleaning rates were very low. Other studies reported similar results [16,39,40]. In addition, we found that this rate was higher in nurses with more professional experience. This finding shows that clinical experience is an effective factor in skill improvement.

Guidelines recommended CVC lumens to be washed with at least 10 mL of sodium chloride solution before and after each use [25,27]. In contrast, in the present study, almost none of the nurses practiced flushing. Arslan et al., stated that flushing the CVC line was frequently performed incorrectly by the nurses in all three treatment hours [16]. Gerceker et al., also stated that nurses had shortcomings in this step of the procedure and that the concern of nurses in catching up with treatment needs was a contributing factor [18]. Other factors that may have contributed to our result are patients with continuing infusions, concerns over disrupting the current treatment, as it may affect the patient's vital findings, and believing that the procedure would be a waste of time.

We observed that the majority of nurses did not put a new cap on the lumen after cleaning the catheter hub, an application that has been shown to reduce the risk of infection. This shows that nurses have shortcomings in these practices. Nursing staff shortages, nurses' work overload, and inadequate supervision could contribute to such a low practice level. Additionally, it was determined that the recording the process on the nurse's observation form was not done by majority of the nurses. Keeping records ensures that the communication between nurses is understandable and healthy and it also constitutes a legal basis in a possible case.

### Limitations of the Study

The researcher was able to observe the nurses only during day shifts of the week, as per the request of the nurses in charge of the ICUs. For this reason, nurses who often worked the night shift refused to participate in the study, stating that 3 observations were not feasible. Additionally, in several ICUs, the nurses refused to participate in the study, claiming that it would disrupt their routines and increase the workload of the day shift, as CVC care was mostly done during the night shift, together with patient care. These factors reduced the number of nurses included in the study and affected the participation rate.

Prior to initiation of this observational study, nurses were informed about the ethical principles. The nurses were aware of the fact that being a participant in an observational study, might affect their skills negatively while performing CVC care. In addition, this study was conducted with ICU nurses of three hospitals only, and hence, the results might not be generalized to all nurses working in ICUs in Turkey.

### Conclusion

This study showed that nurses had inadequate skills of CVC care applications. According to the results of this study that majority (93.7%) of the nurses had performed the hand hygiene before starting the CVC care procedure but seldom performed hand hygiene after the procedure. The majority of the nurses (70.3%) did not use sterile gloves during the CVC care applications; they almost never flushed and maintained the catheter hub, and they did not adequately keep records after the CVC care procedure. In line with these results, we recommend that nurses' CVC care skills must be enriched with professional theoretical and practical trainings; preparing the CVC care procedure based on evidence-based practices and ensuring that nurses have easy access to these documents. Further studies with larger samples are needed to confirm our results.

### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the participants for their support and contribution.

### **Ethics Committee Approval**

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Ankara Yildirim Beyazit University, Ankara, Turkey (Date: 21/11/2018, Number: 102). Written informed concent was obtained from each participant.

**Funding**: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Author Contibutions: G.K., E.E.K. Concept. G.K., E.E.K. Design. G.K. Data Collection or Processing. G.K., E.E.K. Analysis, Interpretation. G.K., E.E.K. Literature Search. G.K., E.E.K. Writing. Both authors approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- [1] Kurt B. Evidence-based nursing practices to prevent central venous catheter infections. Journal of Adnan Menderes University Health Sciences Faculty 2018;2:21-7.
- [2] Hakyemez IN, Yildirmak MT, Cetmeli G, Iris NE. Prevalence, causative microorganisms, and risk factors of central venous catheter-related infections in a tertiary care hospital. Abant Med J 2016;5:108-17.
- [3] Wright MO, Decker SG, Allen-Bridson K, Hebden JN, Leaptrot D. Healthcare-associated infections studies project: An American Journal of Infection Control and National Healtcare Safety Network data quality collaboration: Location mapping. Am J Infect Control 2018;46:577-8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.12.012.
- [4] Karasu D, Yilmaz C, Durmus G, Ozer D, Caglayan U, Karaduman I, Asan A. Evaluation of healthcare-associated infections in critically ill patients receiving long-term treatment in the intensive care unit. Klimik Journal 2016; 29:71-6. doi:10.5152/kd.2016.17
- [5] Zabidi HAZ, Ali GM, Naqshbandi E. The effect of nurses' implementation of central vascular catheter maintenance care bundle on bloodstream infection among ICU patients in KFGH and KAAUH. International Journal of Nursing Didactics 2018; 7:10-6. doi: 10.15520/ijnd.v7i12.2153
- [6] Sanli D, Sarikaya A. Evidenced-based nursing care management at central venous catheters. Journal of the Turkish Society of Critical Care Nurses 2016;20:84-97.
- [7] Alkubati SA, Ahmed NT, Mohamed ONE, Fayed AM, Asfour HI. Health care workers' knowledge and practices regarding the prevention of central venous catheter-related infection. Am J Infect Control 2015;43:26-30. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2014.09.021
- [8] Bati B, Ozyurek P. Knowledge levels of intensive care unit nurses on central venous catheters. Journal of Medical and Surgical Intensive Care 2015;6:34-8. doi: 10.5152/ dcbybd.2015.828
- [9] Gnanarani J, Venkatesan L, Manikandan. Effectiveness of central line bundle care upon the knowledge and compliance staff nurses in the ICU. International Journal of Advance Research, Ideas and Innovations in Technology

2018;4:2059-63. https://www.ijariit.com/manuscripts/v4i3/ V4I3-1793.pdf Accessed: June 25, 2019

- [10] Manzo BF, Mariano DR, Ferreira FMC, et al. Knowledge and behavior of professionals about bundled strategies of central venous catheter. Rev Bras Enferm 2019;72:50-6. doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2018-0164.
- [11] Mutlu EY, Senturan L. Effects of hickman catheter care training on practices of nurses. International Journal of Caring Sciences 2017; 10:16-33.
- [12] Ozen N, Kose T, Terzioglu F. Evidence-based practices in the prevention of central venous catheter infections: Knowledge of intensive care nurses. Turk J Intensive Care 2020;18:91-8. doi: 10.4274/tybd.galenos.2019.25991
- [13] Sharour A. Oncology nurses' knowledge about central line catheter: caring, complications, and applications among cancer patients – a cross-sectional study. J Vasc Nurs 2018;36:145-8. doi:10.1016/j.jvn.2018.04.002.
- [14] Gillespie BM, Polit DF, Hamlin L, Chaboyer W. Developing a model of competence in the OR: Psychometric validation of perceived perioperative competence scale-revised. Int J Nurs Stud 2012;49:90-101. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.08.001.
- [15] Infection prevention and control of healthcare-associated infections in primary and community care. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2012. https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/cg139/resources/healthcareassociated-infectionsprevention-and-control-in-primary-and-community-carepdf-351.095.18767045 Accessed:July 11, 2019
- [16] Arslan GG, Ozden D, Alan N, Yilmaz I, Ayik C, Goktuna G. Examination of nursing drug administration practices via central venous catheter: An observational study. J Vasc Access 2020;21:426-33. doi: 10.1177/112.972.9819880979.
- [17] Devi R, Ghai S, Singh NV, Puri GD. A methodological study to develop a standard operational protocol for nurses on central line catheter care of patients in selected intensive care units. Indian J Crit Care Med 2017;21:483-7. doi: 10.4103/ijccm. IJCCM\_261\_16.
- [18] Gerceker G, Yardimci F, Aydinok Y. Randomized controlled trial of care bundles with chlorhexidine dressing and advanced dressing to prevent catheter related bloodstream infections in pediatric hematology-oncology patients. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2017;28:14-20. doi:10.1016/j.ejon.2017.02.008.
- [19] Marschall J, Mermel LA, Fakih M, et al. Strategies to prevent central line-associated bloodstream infections in acute care hospitals. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2014;35:753-71. doi:10.1086/676533.
- [20] Global Infection Prevention and Control Unit. Evidence of hand hygiene as the building block for infection prevention and control. World Health Organization 2017. https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/ 3.0/igo. Accessed: August 4, 2019
- [21] Caner N, Tekinsoy KP. The assessment of the intramuscular and intravenous drug administration steps of nurses: Observation study. HUHEMFAD-JOHUFON 2019;6:177-85. doi: 10.31125/hunhemsire.630812.

- [22] Kazan EE, Gorgulu S. Skills of the nurses about the administration of subcutaneous low molecular weight heparin injection. HUHEMFAD-JOHUFON 2009:1-13.
- [23] Acun A, Caliskan N. Evaluation of effectiveness of central venous catheter related bloodstream infections in the antesty and reanimation intensive care units of the bundle. Ann Med Res 2021;28:792-8. doi: 10.5455/annalsmedres.2020.06.587.
- [24] Berman A, Snyder SJ. Kozier& Erb's fundamentals of nursing, concepts, process and practice. 10th ed. Pearson, 2015: 814-27.
- [25] Iseri A, Cinar B, Duzkaya DS, , et al. National vessel access management guide. Turkish Journal of Hospital Infections 2019;23:1-54. http://www.hider.org.tr/global/Dernek\_ Kilavuzlari/HID\_Damar%20Erisimi%20Rehberi\_2019.pdf . Accessed: August 16, 2019
- [26] Lynn P B. Taylor's clinical nursing skills. A nursing process approach. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA:Wolters Kluwer, 2018: 813-21.
- [27] O'Grady NP, Alexander M, Burns LA, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections. Clin Infect Dis 2011;52:162-93. doi:10.1093/cid/cir257.
- [28] Sardan YC, Guner R, Cakar N, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of intravenous catheter infections. Turkish Journal of Hospital Infections 2013;17:233-78.http://www. hider.org.tr/global/Dernek\_Kilavuzlari/Damar\_ici\_Kateter\_ infeksiyonlarinin\_Onlenmesi\_Kilavuzu.pdf. Accessed: July 25, 2019
- [29] Esposito MR, Guillari A, Angelillo IT. Knowledge, attitudes, and practice on the prevention of central line-associated bloodstream infections among nurses in oncological care: A cross-sectional study in an area of Southern Italy. PloS One 2017;12:1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0180473.
- [30] Aydogdu S, Akgun M. Determination of knowledge levels of nurses and the factors affecting the level of knowledge in central venous catheter care. Clinical Nursing Studies 2020;8:1-9. https://doi.org/10.5430/cns.v8n2p1.
- [31] Preventing central line-associated bloodstream infections: A global challenge, a global perspective. The Joint Commission 2012. https://www.jointcommission.org/-/ media/deprecated-unorganized/imported-assets/tjc/ system-folders/topics-library/clabsi\_monographpdf. pdf?db=web&hash=86103821F3C7FF8A7683C933EA0CB391 Accessed: March 7, 2019
- [32] Abdo NM, Fadhli MA. Improving hand hygiene compliance among healthcare workers in intensive care unit: an interventional study. Int J Community Med Public Health 2018;5:3747-52.http://dx.doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040. ijcmph20183558.
- [33] Yurttas A, Kaya A, Engin R. Examination of hospital infection and hand hygiene compliance in intensive care unit of a university hospital. Arch Health Sci Res 2017;4 :1-7. doi:10.17681/hsp.115490.
- [34] Snarski E, Mank A, Iacobelli S, et al. Current practices used for the prevention of central venous catheter-associated infection in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients: A survey from the infectious diseases working party and nurses'

group of EBMT. Transpl Infect Dis 2015;17:558-65. https:// doi.org/10.1111/tid.12399.

- [35] Lai NM, Lai AN, O'Riordan E, et al. Skin antisepsis for reducing central venous catheter-related infections. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev 2016;7: CD010140. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD010140.pub2.
- [36] Central venous catheter hub cleaning prior to accessing. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2011. https:// www.cdc.gov/dialysis/PDFs/collaborative/Protocol-Hub-Cleaning-FINAL-3-12.pdf. Accessed: August 20, 2019
- [37] Preventing central line-associated bloodstream infections: Useful tools, an international perspective, scrub the hub. The Joint Commission 2013. https://www.jointcommission.org/-/ media/tjc/documents/resources/health-services-research/ clabsi-toolkit/clabsi\_toolkit\_tool\_3-21\_scrub\_the\_hubpdf.

pdf?db=web&hash=79BF0D29BD4AAF13DEC3C3DE5AB90494. Accessed: August 20, 2019

- [38] Wright MO, Tropp J, Schora DM, Grant MD, Peterson K. Continuous passive disinfection of catheter hubs prevents contamination and bloodstream infection. Am J Infect Control 2013;41:33-8. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2012.05.030.
- [39] Desra AP, Breen J, Harper S, Slavin MA, Worth LJ. Aseptic technique for accessing central venous catheters: Applying a standardized tool to audit 'scrub the hub' practices. J Vasc Access 2016;17:269-72. doi:10.5301/jva.5000509.
- [40] Hosaf S. Investigation of the effectiveness of continuous education given with internet-mediated communication to nurses on central venous catheter care management (thesis). Izmir: Ege Univ; 2019.

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# The efficacy of epiduroscopic adhesiolysis in patients with chronic back pain after surgery

Hakki OLCULU<sup>1</sup> , Kursat GUL<sup>1</sup>, Seniyye Ulgen ZENGIN<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, School of Medicine, Bezmialem Foundation University, Istanbul, Turkey. <sup>2</sup>Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care, School of Medicine, Marmara University Teaching and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Seniyye Ulgen ZENGIN E-mail: ulgen\_t@yahoo.com

Submitted: 03.01.2021 Accepted: 27.04.2021

### ABSTRACT

Objective:Chronic back pain is a common problem with unwanted effects on the quality of life. The choice of treatment is usually patient-specific, but the use of epiduroscopic minimal invasive procedure is increasing. Epiduroscopy avoids surgical complications and improves patient comfort. This study was conducted to compare the efficacy of epiduroscopy in patients with failed back surgery syndrome (FBSS) and in patients without previous back surgery.

Patients and Methods: Forty-one ASA I-II-III patients aged 18–80 years old, with chronic back pain, radiologically and clinically diagnosed with lumbar spinal stenosis (LSS), and FBSS after laminectomy, hemilaminectomy, lumbar discectomy or lumbar spinal stabilization were included retrospectively. Patients were stratified as Group (O) with FBSS and Group (N) without previous back surgery. Baseline visual analogue scale (VAS) scores were obtained before treatment. During the 1st, 2nd and 3rd follow-ups, VAS scores of patients were measured.

**Results**: Visual analogue scale scores decreased significantly at 1, 2, and 3 months after epiduroscopic adhesiolysis in both groups. The differences in VAS scores of patients with and without previous back surgery were not statistically significant.

Conclusion: Epiduroscopic adhesiolysis neuroplasty was followed by a significant decrease in chronic back pain in LSS and FBSS patients.

Keywords: Epiduroscopic adhesiololysis, Failed back surgery syndrome, Back pain

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Back pain is described as pain or muscle strain between the twelfth costal margin and the lower gluteal curve and can occur with or without leg pain. In 90% of patients, it resolves without treatment yet 10% have a chronic course of more than 12 weeks duration [1]. The estimated prevalence of lifelong back pain is 60%–85%, and it is the most common functional constraint and cause of lost work time among people younger than 45 years of age. The most important cause of back pain is lumbar spinal stenosis (LSS) resulting from lumbar spondylosis, ligamentum flavum hypertrophy, or spondylolisthesis. Many patients benefit from conservative treatment by epidural, transforaminal, or facet joint injection of drugs, but those are

most often temporary solutions. Surgery may be indicated for non-responsive patients, but most are not candidates because of age or other factors. Epidural fibrosis, which may occur 6–12 weeks after back surgery, is another cause of back or leg pain [2,3].Rapid pain relief often occurs after surgical procedures but can relapse because of fibrous adhesions [4]. Epiduroscopy is a novel, minimally invasive treatment of spinal pain. Its advantages include: 1) mechanical adhesiolysis with direct observation and laceration of adhesions and scar tissue; 2) saline infusion to dilute inflammatory mediators such as phospholipase-A2 and tumor necrosis factor; and 3) chemical adhesiolysis by injection

How to cite this article: Olculu H, Gul K, Zengin US. The efficacy of epiduroscopic adhesiolysis in patients with chronic back pain after surgery. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):307-311. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013319

of target-specific drugs. Epiduroscopy has been shown to reduce back pain and increase functional status [5,6-11].

Epiduroscopy was first used in the 1931s to demonstrate vertebral anatomy in cadavers. Clinical applications were recognized after Shimoji et al., described the use of conscious sedation and Saberski and Kitahata developed a caudal technique. Because patients under conscious sedation feel pain when their affected nerve roots are touched assists in identifying the area in which pain originates. The caudal technique minimizes complications such as dural perforation and headaches [12-14].

This study evaluated epiduroscopic adhesiolysis-neuroplasty in patients who visited an algology polyclinic complaining of back pain and were diagnosed with LSS with or without a history of back surgery.

### 2. PATIENTS and METHODS

Research Ethics Committee of Bezmialem Foundation University (no. 71306642-050.01.04) approved the study prior to initiation. American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) I-II-III patients between 18 and 80 years of age who visited the pain clinic for chronic back pain and consented to be treated by epiduroscopic adhesiolysis-neuroplasty. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients.

Patients with imaging evidence of pathologies that could cause LSS such as degenerative lumbar spondylosis, ligamentum flavum hypertrophy, or spondylolisthesis, or with back pain subsequent to back surgery performed at least 1 year previously and were not responsive to conservative medical therapy, physiotherapy, or 3 months of interventional injection treatment were included. Excluson criteria were, patients with systemic or local infections at the surgical location, coagulopathy, serious pulmonary disease, renal or liver failure, history of cerebrovascular events, intracranial masses that could increase the intracranial pressure, cauda equina syndrome, failed caudal interventions, experience respiratory or hemodynamic disturbance during the procedure. None of the subjects from both groups experinced any failed intervention or hemodynamic and respiratory problems. Study participants were stratified by their history to groups without (Group N), or with (Group O), previous back surgery. Participants were asked to indicate their pain on a vertical, numbered visual analogue scale (VAS) ruler (0= no pain and 10 = worts pain ever had). Initial pain scores were determined with the VAS scale and recorded.

Patients fasted for at least 8 hours before starting the intervention. Venous access was established via the antecubital fossa with a 22 G angiocath for premedication with 0.03 mg/kg midazolam. Patients were placed on the operating table in the prone position and monitored by electrocardiography, non-invasive blood pressure, and peripheral oxygen saturation. Fentanyl 1–2 mcg/kg and propofol 1–3 mg/kg conscious sedation was administered, and the sterile field was prepared. Local lidocaine anesthesia was applied to the insertion site and an 18 G Tuohy needle was inserted into the epidural space through the sacral hiatus. A floppy-tip guidewire (Tria V Guide, Tria Spine Med., Turkey) was passed into the epidural space and its location was

confirmed by X-radiography. The site of guidewire insertion into the epidural space was incised and a 10 F dilatator was inserted by pushing it forward over the guidewire. After passing a 12 F valved introducer into the epidural space over the guidewire, the guidewire was removed and the epiduroscopy connections were made. To obtain a clear camera view and dilute inflammatory mediators, an isotonic NaCl solution was infused at 20-60 mL/min depending on patient tolerability. After visual identification of the nerve roots affected by stenosis and the epidural adhesions, a mixture of 80 mg methylprednisolone plus 40 mg lidocaine was injected to the affected area. At the same time, mechanical adhesiolysis of the epidural adhesions was performed by gentle, controlled pressure using an epidural catheter. After completing these procedures, the operation was terminated by catheter removal and dressing and taping the insertion sites. The patients were routinely monitored for at least 1 hour in the recovery room before transfer to the service room. After discharge, patients were evaluated monthly for the next 3 months, including assessment of their VAS.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed with the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS). Data was tested for normal distribution by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Descriptive statistics were reported as averages ± standard deviation for normally distributed continuous variables and as medians (minimummaximum) for the variables that were not normally distributed. Values of categorical variables were reported as frequency (n), and percentage (%). The independent-sample *t*-test was used to determine the significance of differences in normally distributed continuous variables. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare differences in independent variables that did not have a normal distribution; the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used with dependent variables. Pearson's chi-squared test was used to compare differences in the values of categorical variables. The significance level was designated as  $\alpha = 0.05$ . p-values <0.05 were considered significant. Significant differences are indicated in bold text.

### **3. RESULTS**

Forty-one patients with LSS and epiduroscopic adhesiolysisneuroplasty were enrolled between June 1 and August 2, 2016. Twenty-one patients were included in Group N (without back surgery) and 20 in Group O (with back surgery). The patient characteristics are shown in Table I. There were no significant differences in the age and sex ratio of the two groups, which were considered as a homogeneous population.

The initial VAS scores and the scores obtained during follow-ups after the epiduroscopic procedure are shown in Table II. After epiduroscopic adhesiolysis-neuroplasty, there was a significant decrease in the back pain scores reported by the patients in both study groups throughout the follow-up period.

The initial and follow-up VAS scores of both groups are shown and compared in Table II

As noted above, the initial scores in patients with a history of back surgery and in those without previous back surgery were not significantly different. Within each group, there was a significant decline in VAS score following epiduroscopy. However, there were no significant differences between two groups (p > 0.05), indicating that the effectiveness of the procedure in each group was similar.

### Table I. Patients Baseline Characteristics

	Group N	Group O
Demographic Data	(n=21)	(n=20)
Age (average ± SD)	66.05 ± 8.880	61.75 ± 10.622
Female Gender n (%)	12 (57.1%)	8 (40%)
Male Gender n (%)	9 (42.9%)	12 (60%)

Table II. VAS scores and between-group differences in patients with (Group O) and without (Group N) previous back surgery

Groups		Initial VAS	1MonthVAS	2MonthVAS	3MonthVAS	Differ.	Differ.	Differ.
						1	2	3
1 Non – Operated	n (21)							
	Median	8.00	4.00	3.00	2.00	-3.00	-4.00	-4.00
	Minimum	5	0	0	0	-8	-9	-9
	Maximum	10	8	8	8	0	0	0
	Mean	7.81	4.52	3.48	3.24	-3.29	-4.33	-4.57
	Std. Deviation	1.209	2.228	2.379	2.406	2.348	2.497	2.561
2 Operated	n (20)							
	Median	8.00	4.00	2.50	2.50	-4.00	-4.50	-4.50
	Minimum	5	2	0	0	-7	-8	-9
	Maximum	10	8	8	8	0	0	0
	Mean	7.70	4.20	3.45	3.10	-3.50	-4.25	-4.60
	Std. Deviation	1.302	1.989	2.544	2.654	2.188	2.673	2.854
р		0.751				0.634	0.948	0.937

### 4. DISCUSSION

Chronicback pain is a significant psychosocial problem, especially in the elderly population. It is also a major socioeconomic problem limiting physical activities of people under 45 years of age. Back surgery may result in the development of severe scarring of dermal, subcutaneous, and connective tissues. The scar tissue can restrict and inhibit movements of the affected region producing generalized pain or fibromyalgia. Fibrous epidural scar tissue present in FBSS patients can cause nerve entrapment, stenosis, and functional movement limitations that cannot be detected by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [8]. Many patients who suffer from chronic back pain are elderly and relatively less tolerant of general anesthesia and major surgical interventions. However, surgery is indicated in some conditions such as cauda equina syndrome or sequestered disks [4].

Epiduroscopy is an endoscopic procedure for patients with back pain unresponsive to physical therapy, drugs, or transforaminal injections. It has important advantages in determining the cause of pain, mechanically separating adhesions, and injecting medications to the target regions [14-18]. Bosscher and Heavner confirmed the high sensitivity of epiduroscopy by demonstrating its efficacy in diagnosing epidural fibrosis in a series of FBSS patients, compared to MRI (91% versus 16.1%, respectively) [11]. Similarly, in a prospective study concerning target-specific adhesiolysis and epidural injections for relieving radicular pain, this procedure identified epidural adhesions in 19 of 20 patients [7]. Nevertheless, the adhesions could not be detected by MRI, in 8 of the 19 patients [7]. Manchikanti et al., compared the effectiveness of conventional chemical adhesiolysis using steroids and local anesthetics to detect lesions, with or without epiduroscopy [12]. Without the aid of epiduroscopy, adhesiolysis was repeated six times in one, five times in three, and four times in twelve patients. With epiduroscopy, adhesiolysis was performed three times in only one patient during 12 months of follow-up. Effectiveness was defined as more than 50% decrease in pain, and after the first epiduroscopy procedure, a significant decrease in pain was observed in all patients. The comparison of non epiduroscopic adhesiolysis with the epiduroscopic one, revealed that the rate of decrease in pain was 72% versus 97% in the first month, 25% versus 80% in the third month, 10% versus

52% in the sixth month, and 7% versus 22% in the twelfth month of the procedure, respectively. The results were also comparable after the second procedure. It was concluded that epiduroscopic adhesiolysis had largely positive effects. [12]. In our study we found positive effects on VAS values at each of the 3 months of patient follow up in both operated and non operated groups.

Pereria et al., evaluated the effects of adhesiolysis under epiduroscopy in patients with back or leg pain, unresponsive to the conservative therapy for six months, after lumbar discectomy [14]. Saline infusion was used for soft adhesions and mechanical pressure was applied to hard fibrous tissues using a catheter. Radiofrequency ablation was applied to septas that remained despite those procedures. After adhesiolysis, betamethazone and bupivacaine were injected. to each patient. Effectiveness was assessed by VAS and Oswestry Disability Index 2.0 scores. Significant decreases in VAS scores were seen in 71% of the patients in the first month, in 63% between 3 and 6 months, and in 38% at 12 months after treatment. The decreases in back and/or leg pain were statistically significant [14]. Rafaelli and Righetti have reported successful lysis of adhesions in 14 patients with a 4 Mhz Res-Ablator and over 90% recovery in eight of the patients (57%) [15].

In FBSS patients, epiduroscopy can be used in the lysis of adhesions caused by fibrous scar tissues (adhesiolysis). In LSS patients it can improve the physiological activity of nerve roots and the spinal cord (neuroplasty) by reducing the pressure on the medulla spinalis and nerve roots that results from stenosis. Jo et al., retrospectively evaluated epiduroscopy and ELND (Epiduroscopic laser neural decompression) in 39 patients with characteristics similar to the those enrolled in this study. Laser ablation was applied to pain-causing lesions visualized by epiduroscopy. The patients had not responded to previous medical treatment, epidural steroid injection, or surgery, or were patients with chronic back pain who relapsed 1 week after previous treatment. Some patients had requested ELND as initial treatment. Patient satisfaction was scored as "good," "acceptable," or "bad." Seventeen patients had previous lumbar surgery and 22 did not. Sixteen (94.1%) surgical patients and 19 nonsurgical patients (86.3%) reported that the study treatment outcome was acceptable or good. The difference was not significant but the improvement of chronic back and leg pain was judged clinically significant in both groups. [16]. The results of this study are in line with those of Jo et al., in that epiduroscopic adhesiolysisneuroplasty was effective in LSS patients with and without FBSS [16].

Complications of epiduroscopic adhesiolysis include pain at the insertion site, dural-perforation headache, infection, cerebrospinal fluid pressure caused by bolus injection. neurologic sequelae caused by epidural hematoma, and steroid side effects [6,7,20]. Although, case studies have shown epiduroscopic adhesiolysis to be a medically safe procedure, some serious complications have been reported [22,23]. No complications occurred in our study. Even though the patient number is statistically adequate to them, the sample size and relatively short follow-up can be seen as limitations. Unfortunately, the patient portfolio in our country does not include very much data on complications compared with controls beyond that needed for a conclusion of adequate safety.

The study evaluated and compared the effectiveness of epiduroscopic adhesiolysis-neuroplasty in FBSS and LSS patients. FBSS is characterized by post-surgical pain caused by pressure on spinal nerves following development of fibrous epidural scar tissue 6–12 weeks after the procedure. The pressure disturbs the physiological activities of nerves. FBSS can occur even after technically and anatomically proper surgical procedures. Mechano-chemical laceration or disruption of epidural fibrosis reducing the pressure on nerves and thus relieves the back pain. Because of this, we expected this procedure to be more effective in FBSS than in LSS patients.

### Conclusion

Epiduroscopic adhesiolysis-neuroplasty was effective in decreasing chronic back pain in both LSS patients and FBSS patients with previous back surgery including laminectomy, hemilaminectomy, lumbar discectomy, or posterior stabilization. Considering FBS, epiduroscopic adhesiolysis may be a good choice in appropriate cases with LSS since, it is an effective and a minimally invasive method.

### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval:** This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bezmialem Foundation University (no. 71306642-050.01.04). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients before the procedure.

**Funding**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of interest**: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Authors' Contrubition: I. H. O., K. G., S.U.Z Idea/ Concept. K.G.,S.U. Z: Design. K.G.,S.U. Z. Control/Supervision. I.H.O., K.G.,S.U. Z. Data Collection and processing. I.H.O., K.G,S.U. Z.Analysis. I.H.O., K.G.,S.U. Z. Literature review. S.U.Z/ K.G. Critical Review. All authors approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- [1] Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, et al. Prevalence of and screening for serious spinal pathology in patients presenting to primary care settings with acute low back pain. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 60:3072-80. doi:10.1002/art.24853
- [2] Blomberg RG, Olsson SS. The lumbar epidural space in patients examined with epiduroscopy. Anesth Analg 1989; 68:157-60. doi:10.1213/00000.539.198902000-00016
- [3] Hussain A, Erdek M. Interventional pain management for failed back surgery syndrome. Pain Pract 2014; 14:64-78. doi:10.1111/papr.12035
- [4] Weinstein JN, Tosteson TD, Lurie JD, et al. Surgical versus nonsurgical therapy for lumbar spinal stenosis. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:794-810. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0707136

- [5] Manchikanti L, Boswell MV, Rivera JJ, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of spinal endoscopic adhesiolysis in chronic refractory low back and lower extremity pain. BMC Anesthesiol. 2005; 5:10. doi:10.1186/1471-2253-5-10
- [6] Geurts JW, Kallewaard JW, Richardson J, Groen GJ. Targeted methylprednisolone acetate/hyaluronidase/clonidine injection after diagnostic epiduroscopy for chronic sciatica: a prospective, 1-year follow-up study. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2002; 27:343-52. doi:10.1053/rapm.2002.27175
- [7] Sakai T, Aoki H, Hojo M, et al. Adhesiolysis and targeted steroid/local anesthetic injection during epiduroscopy alleviates pain and reduces sensory nerve dysfunction in patients with chronic sciatica. J Anesth. 2008;22(3):242-247. doi:10.1007/s00540.008.0616-4.
- [8] Avellanal M, Diaz-Reganon G, Orts A, Gonzalez-Montero L, Riquelme I. Transforaminal epiduroscopy in patients with failed back surgery syndrome. Pain Physician2019; 22:89-95.
- [9] Geudeke MW, Krediet AC, Bilecen S, Huygen FJPM, Rijsdijk M. Effectiveness of epiduroscopy for patients with failed back surgery syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pain Pract 2021; 21:468-1. doi: 10.1111/papr.12974.
- [10] Saberski LR, Kitahata LM. Direct visualization of the lumbosacral epidural space through the sacral hiatus. Anesth Analg 1995; 80:839-40. doi:10.1097/00000.539.199504000-00035
- [11] Bosscher HA, Heavner JE. Incidence and severity of epidural fibrosis after back surgery: an endoscopic study. Pain Pract 2010; 10:18-24. doi:10.1111/j.1533-2500.2009.00311.x
- [12] Manchikanti L, Cash KA, McManus CD, Damron KS, Pampati V, Falco FJ. A randomized, double-blind controlled trial of lumbar interlaminar epidural injections in central spinal stenosis: 2-year follow-up. Pain Physician 2015; 18:79-92.
- [13] Lodh M, Goswami B, Mahajan RD, Sen D, Jajodia N, Roy A. Assessment of Vitamin D status of chronic in patients low back pain of unknown etiology. Indian J Clin Biochem 2015; 30:174-9. doi:10.1007/s12291.014.0435-3

- [14] Pereira P, Severo M, Monteiro P, et al. Results of lumbar endoscopic adhesiolysis using a radiofrequency catheter in patients with postoperative fibrosis and persistent or recurrent symptoms after discectomy. Pain Pract 2016; 16:67-79. doi:10.1111/papr.12266
- [15] Raffaeli W, Righetti D. Surgical radio-frequency epiduroscopy technique (R-ResAblator) and FBSS treatment: preliminary evaluations. Acta Neurochir Suppl 2005; 92:121-5. doi:10.1007/3-211-27458-8\_26
- [16] Jo DH, Kim ED, Oh HJ. The Comparison of the result of epiduroscopic laser neural decompression between FBSS or not. Korean J Pain 2014; 27:63-7. doi:10.3344/kjp.2014.27.1.63.
- [17] Chopra P, Smith HS, Deer TR, Bowman RC. Role of adhesiolysis in the management of chronic spinal pain: a systematic review of effectiveness and complications. Pain Physician 2005; 8:87-100.
- [18] Saberski LR. A retrospective analysis of spinal canal endoscopy and laminectomy outcomes data. Pain Physician 2000; 3:193-6.
- [19] Manchikanti. L., Pakanati R.R., Pampati V, Fellows B. Review papers-the value and safety of epidural endoscopic adhesiolysis-epidural endoscopy has been considered an expensive conservative modality; this study evaluated its overall effectiveness. Am J Anesthesiol 2000; 27: 275-82.
- [20] Gill JB, Heavner JE. Visual impairment following epidural fluid injections and epiduroscopy: a review. Pain Med 2005; 6:367-74. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2005.00062.x
- [21] Manchikanti L. Role of neuraxial steroids in interventional pain management. Pain Physician 2002; 5:182-99.
- [22] Heavner J E, Wyatt DE, Bosscher HA. Lumbosacral epiduroscopy complicated by intravascular injection. The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists KISA HALI?? 2007; 107:347-50.
- [23] Marchesini M, Flaviano E, Bellini V, Baciarello M, Bignami EG. Complication of epiduroscopy: a brief review and case report. Korean J Pain 2018; 31:296-304. doi:10.3344/ kjp.2018.31.4.296

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

## Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on maxillofacial trauma etiology

Melekber CAVUS OZKAN 💿, Omer SARAC 💿

Department of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery, School of Medicine, Marmara University Education and Research Hospital, Pendik, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Melekber CAVUS OZKAN **E-mail:** melekbero@gmail.com

Submitted: 03.04.2021 Accepted: 13.06.2021

### ABSTRACT

Objective: Maxillofacial trauma (MFT) is a frequent presentation in the emergency department (ED) which requires a multidisciplinary approach. Although, its etiology and diversity of injuries are almost similar worldwide, the causes may differ among the countries depending on the sociocultural and environmental factors and local traffic regulations. This study aims to evaluate etiologies of maxillofacial traumas (MFTs) in ED and to compare etiologies of MFTs during COVID-19 pandemic with the previous year.

Patients and Methods: Totally 84 (61 males, 23 females) patients admitted to ED of our center with MFT between March 15<sup>th</sup> – April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2020 were included. The control group consisted of 148 (112 males, 36 females) MFT patients admitted to ED in the previous year (March 15<sup>th</sup>-April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2019). Data including age, sex, cause of trauma, treatment, and COVID-19 infection status within 14 days after ED admission were compared between groups.

**Results:** Mean age was 31.88±2.53 years in the patient group and 31.40±1.74 years in the control group. Number of patients admitted to ED with MFTs decreased by 43.3% during pandemic compared to the previous year. Majority of MFTs occurred at home, followed by public places, traffic, and workplaces in both time periods. During pandemic, the rate of home accidents increased and MFTs occurred in the public places decreased.

Conclusion: COVID-19 pandemic-mandated social restrictions lead to a decrease in the number of MFTs. However, home accidents are the main cause of MFTs. Spread of COVID-19 infection in the hospital setting can be minimized with necessary precautions. Keywords: Maxillofacial trauma, COVID-19, Emergency department, Plastic Surgery, Lockdown

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Maxillofacial trauma (MFT) is a frequent presentation in the emergency department (ED) which requires a multidisciplinary approach. Although, its etiology and diversity of injuries are almost similar worldwide, the causes may differ among the countries depending on the sociocultural and environmental factors and local traffic regulations[1-3]. Review of the literature has shown that traffic accidents [4], assaults [5], and traumas during daily life [6] are the main causes of MFTs. Studies conducted in Turkey have shown that assaults and road traffic accidents are the leading causes of MFTs [7-10].

After the first identification of novel coronavirus-2019 (COVID-19) in the Hubei province of China in December 2019 and rapid spread to the whole world, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 pandemic on March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2020 [11]. The first case of COVID-19 was identified on March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2020 in Turkey [12]. The pandemic caused an

unprecedented disruption in work life, social life, academic life, and healthcare systems with strict restrictions across the country. These restrictions mainly included closing schools and attending to online learning, social distancing, encouraging remote and/or flexible working, limiting social gatherings, postponing meetings, limiting the number of passengers in public transport vehicles, postponing elective surgeries, and weekend lockdowns.

In the present study, we aimed to evaluate etiologies of MFTs in the ED, to compare the etiologies of MFTs at the time of this study with the previous year, to assess whether COVID-19 pandemic affected the treatment decisions, and to investigate the COVID-19 infection rate within the first 14 days after admission.

How to cite this article: Cavus Ozkan M, Sacak B. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on maxillofacial trauma etiology. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):312-318. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1012413

### 2.MATERIALS and METHODS

### Study design and study population

This single-center, retrospective study was conducted at Marmara University, Faculty of Medicine between March 15<sup>th</sup>, 2020 and April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2020. A written informed consent was obtained from each participant. The study protocol was approved by the Marmara University, Faculty of Medicine, Ethics Committee with the Approval No. 09.2020.540 in May 20<sup>th</sup>, 2020. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

A total of 84 (61 males, 23 females) patients admitted to the ED of our center with MFT during the study period were included in the study. The control group consisted of 148 (112 males, 36 females) MFT patients admitted to the ED in the previous year (March 15<sup>th</sup>, 2019 and April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2019). Data including age, sex, cause of trauma, treatment, and the COVID-19 infection status within 14 days after ED admission were recorded. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the control group were also recorded and compared with the patient group.

### Study variables

The causes of MFTs were classified as traffic accidents, falls, assault, sports injuries, industrial accidents, injuries related to sharp objects, and human or animal bites. The settings where MFTs occurred including home, work, traffic, and other were documented. Injuries of the soft tissue, bone, tooth, and mucosa were noted.

Treatments applied, medical treatments and recommendations, interventions in the ED setting, operation in the operating room, referral of the patient to an external center, and refusal of the treatment by the patient were assessed.

All patients admitted to the ED were questioned regarding COVID-19 infection using a screening questionnaire (Table I). Physical examination findings including body temperature, and finger oxygen saturation, and complete blood count and biochemistry test results were documented. The patients suspected of COVID-19 underwent reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis to confirm the diagnosis. The patients requiring hospitalization were taken to the single-patient wards and caregivers and/or companions were not allowed. The patient rooms were visited by the healthcare workers, when necessary, wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) such as face mask, gloves, goggles, glasses, face shields, gowns. All caregivers and/or companions were a mask in the patient room. All patients admitted to ED with MFT were followed for COVID-19 infection symptoms for 14 days.

### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS version for Windows 15.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables were expressed in mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD), median (min-max), while categorical variables were expressed in number and percentage. The independent *t*-test was used to compare continuous random variables between the time periods, while the chi-square test was used to compare discrete random variables. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Question	Yes	No
Have you had a new onset of fever, cough, or diarrhea within the past two weeks?		
Have you travelled overseas or been in contact with a traveller within the past two weeks?		
Have you been exposed to someone known to have had COVID-19 infection within the past two weeks?		

### **3. RESULTS**

Of a total of 84 patients admitted to the ED with MFT, 61 were males and 23 females with a mean age of  $31.88\pm2.53$  (range, 1 to 93) years. Of the control group (n=148), 112 were males and 36 females with a mean age of  $31.40\pm1.74$  (range, 2 to 95) years. There was no statistically significant difference in the sex and age of the patient and control groups between the time periods (p=0.721 and p=0.874, respectively).

The number of patients admitted to ED with MFTs decreased by 43.3% during the pandemic compared to the previous year. In addition, the rate of falls was higher and the rate of MFTs caused by assault decreased in the COVID-19 pandemic, although not statistically significant (p=0.416). According to the age groups, the rate of MFTs decreased in the 0-20 years age group and increased in the 21-64 and ≥65 years age groups in the COVID-19 pandemic, compared to the previous year (p=0.612). However, it did not reach statistical significance. Etiological factors of MFTs according to age and time periods are shown in Table II.

According to the setting of MFTs, the majority of MFTs occurred at home, followed by public places, traffic, and workplaces in both time periods. However, during the pandemic, the rate of home accidents increased and MFTs occurred in the public places decreased, although the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.815). On the other hand, the rate of traffic related MFT's lightly increased and workplace-related MFTs remained unchanged. In the home setting, the most common cause of injury was fall and this rate increased from 81.08% in the previous year and up to 88% in the COVID-19 pandemic. The second leading cause of MFTs was injuries related to sharp objects to the face which decreased from 17.57% in the previous year to 8% in the COVID-19 pandemic. The settings where MFTs occurred are presented in Table III.

Table IV shows the injury sites of MFTs. The rate of mucosal injuries significantly increased during the pandemic than the previous year (p=0.020). However, the rates of soft tissue lacerations and defects, bone fractures, and tooth trauma decreased during the pandemic, although it did not reach statistical significance (p=0.256). The most common fracture site was the nasal bone in both time periods (43.9% in 2019, 34.5% in 2020).

According to the treatments applied, the number of ED interventions and the rate of patient discharge with medical treatment and recommendations decreased, while the rate of inpatients having an operation increased during the pandemic, compared to the previous year; however, no statistically

significant difference was found (p=0.080) (Table V). In our study, the rate of refusal of treatment was 5.4% in the previous year, while none of the patients refused treatment during the pandemic.

Table II. Etiological factors of MFTs according to age and time periods

		Etiological f	actors							
		n								
		(%)								
Age	Year	Fall	Assault	Traffic		y related to sharp	Sports injury	Industrial	Animal/	Total
				accident	objec	ts		injury	human bite	
0-20 years	2019	29	13	4	7		2	1	0	56
		(51.8%)	(23.2%)	(7.1%)	(12.5	%)	(3.6%)	(1.8%)		(37.8%)
	2020	22	2	2	1		0	0	0	27
		(81.5%)	(7.4%)	(7.4%)	(3.7%	)				(32.1%)
21-64 years	2019	23	26	16	6		0	8	1	80
		(28.8%)	(32.5%)	(20%)	(7.5%	)		(10%)	(1.3%)	(54.1%)
	2020	17	13	10	5		0	2	1	48
		(35.4%)	(27.1%)	(20.8%)	(10.4	%)		(4.2%)	(2.1%)	(57.1%)
≥65 years	2019	12	0	0	0		0	0	0	12
		(100%)								(8.1%)
	2020	8	1	0	0		0	0	0	9
		(88.9%)	(11.1%)							(10.7%)
Total	2019	64	39	20	13		2	9	1	148
		(43.2%)	(26.4%)	(13.5%)	(8.8%	))	(1.4%)	(6.1%)	(0.7%)	(100%)
	2020	47	16	12	6		2	2	1	84
		(56%)	(19%)	(14.3%)	(7.1%	)	(2.4%)	(2.4%)	(1.2%)	(100%)
p value	2019	p= 0.001*								
<b>n</b> . 1	2020	p= 0.029*			10					
Total		111	55	32	19	2		11	2	232
		(47.8%)	(23.7%)	(13.8%)	(8.2%)	(0.9%)		(4.7%)	(0.9%)	

Data are given in number and percentage, unless otherwise stated. \*p<0.05 indicates statistical significance. MFT: maxillofacial trauma.

### Table III. The settings where MFTs occurred

Tuble III. The settings where with	15 00000000										
	Setting of MFTs										
March 15 <sup>th</sup> – April 30 <sup>th</sup>	n										
	%	%									
	Home	Traffic	Workplace	Other	Total						
2019	79	19	13	37	148						
	53.4%	12.8%	8.8%	25%	100%						
2020	50	11	7	16	84						
	59.5%	13.1%	8.3%	19.1%	100%						
p value	0.815										
Total	129	30	20	53	232						
	55.6%	12.9%	8.6%	22.9%	100%						

Data are given in number and percentage, unless otherwise stated. p<0.05 indicates statistical significance. MFT: maxillofacial trauma.

### Table IV. Injury sites of MFTs

	Injury sites				
	n (%)				
Year	Soft tissue laceration	Soft tissue defect	Mucosal injury	Bone fracture	Tooth trauma
2019	60 (40.5%)	2 (1.4%)	18 (12.2%)	107 (72.3%)	5 (3.4%)
2020	27 (32.1%)	1 (1.2%)	21 (25%)	54 (64.3%)	1 (1.2%)
p value	0.259	1.000	0.020*	0.234	0.422
Total	87 (37.5%)	3 (1.3%)	39 (16.8%)	161 (69.4%)	6 (2.6%)

Data are given in number and percentage, unless otherwise stated. \* p<0.05 indicates statistical significance. MFT: maxillofacial trauma.

### Table V. Treatments of MFTs

Year	Treatment					
	n (%)					
	Medical treatment and recommendations	Intervention in ED setting	Hospitalization and operation	Referral	Refusal of treatment	Total
2019	38 (25.7%)	91 (61.5%)	11 (7.4%)	1 (0.7%)	7 (4.7%)	148 (100%)
2020	32 (38.1%)	44 (52.4%)	8 (9.5%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	84 (100%)
p value	0.080					
Total	70 (30.2%)	135 (58.2%)	19 (8.2%)	1 (0.4%)	7 (3%)	232 (100%)

Data are given in number and percentage, unless otherwise stated. p<0.05 indicates statistical significance. MFT: maxillofacial trauma.

In the current study, one patient was suspected of COVID-19 based on the COVID-19 screening questionnaire and physical examination findings and underwent thoracic CT and PCR to confirm the diagnosis. Although the patient tested negative, COVID-19 measures were implemented. Repeated RT-PCR yielded a negative result after surgery and, therefore, the patient was considered negative for COVID-19 and discharged from the hospital. During follow-up, no additional signs and symptoms were observed. Another patient developed high fever postoperatively and thoracic CT once and RT-PCR tests were performed with two days interval. Both test results were negative and the patient was considered negative for COVID-19. During 30-day follow-up after surgery, no additional signs and symptoms were observed. In our clinic, none of specialists were infected with COVID-19 which can be explained by the implementation of strict preventive measures (i.e., the patients requiring hospitalization were taken to the singlepatient wards and caregivers and/or companions were not allowed; all healthcare workers complied with the donning/ doffing procedures of PPE). However, other staff including anesthesiologists and nurses involved in the treatment process were not analyzed, as it is beyond the scope of this study.

One patient suspected of COVID-19 due to fever underwent thoracic computed tomography (CT) and RT-PCR analysis to confirm the diagnosis and the test result was negative.

### 4. DISCUSSION

Our study results showed that the number of patients admitted to ED with MFTs decreased by 43.2% during the pandemic compared to the previous year. In the literature, the rate of MFTs decreased by 80% [13-19]. This can be attributed to the higher time spent at home due to restrictions worldwide. According to the Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality data, the use of mass transportation vehicles and passage of vehicles decreased by 86.4% in Istanbul province during the pandemic and the number of elderly aged  $\geq 60$  years (94%) and students (93%) using these vehicles significantly reduced [20]. As a result, the probability of accidents in the outside decreased. In our study, the rate of injuries in the public places and traffic was higher (47%) than home accidents (37%). In addition to being a pandemic center, our hospital remained open for all emergency cases during the study period. Many patients had a fear of infected with COVID-19 in the hospital setting and were unwilling to visit hospitals during the pandemic. Therefore, most of MFT cases with mild injuries may have visited private hospitals and clinics than state hospitals. The significantly lower rate of soft tissue injuries (63%) during the pandemic (24 in 2019 vs. 9 in 2020, respectively) supports this probability. These patients may have applied self-care and self-remedy at home using cream, ointment, or adhesive bandages during the pandemic. The higher number of MFT cases with oral mucosal injuries can be explained by the fact that these patients may have immediately visited the ED after trauma and patients can not treat themselves easily.

Also, the nasal bone was the most affected bone in MFTs in our study, consistent with the literature [21]. However, some authors found the mandibular fractures to be the most common fractures both before and after pandemic [15].

According to the treatments applied for MFT cases, the number of ED interventions such as suturation and external fixation of the nasal bone decreased according to the rate of patient discharge with medical treatment and recommendations. This may have resulted from the fact that many patients and healthcare workers have a fear of infected with COVID-19 in the hospital setting and are unwilling to visit hospitals during the pandemic. Therefore, soft tissue wounds can be closed by tissue adhesives rather than sutures in the ED setting. In addition, some authors have discussed conservative treatment methods for head and neck injuries before pandemic [22]; therefore, conservative methods may have been applied in the ED in selected cases. The negligible decrease in the rate of patients operated in the operating room indicates that patients who are not considered eligible for conservative treatment in the ED setting continue to be operated during the pandemic. Although more complex cases can be treated in the ED setting, operating room setting can be preferred to save time spending in ED room during the pandemic. In case of more than two types of injuries or bone involvement, serious trauma is considered. In our study, the rate of traffic accidents slightly increased. Previous studies have shown that road accidents are the leading causes of serious MFT fractures [23]. In our study, similarly, we observed a mild decline in the rate of operated patients. In addition, as many patients avoided hospital admission and readmission during the pandemic as much as possible, none of the patients refused the treatment given in the study.

The unchanged mean age (~31.5 years) and male sex predominance in both study periods can be explained by the fact that the majority of the individuals in the social circle, work life, and drivers in traffic are young males in our country [24]. According to the General Directorate of Security of Turkey data, the rate of traffic accidents decreased by 52.1% with a decrease in the accidents leading to death by 24.03% during the pandemic; however, the severity of the accidents became more traumatic [25]. According to the Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality, Transportation Management Center data, there was an increase in the average road speed of the moving vehicles in Istanbul province [20]. This finding indicates that, although the rate of road accidents decreased by 40% during the pandemic, the severity of the accidents was more traumatic.

Previous studies have shown that traffic accidents, assaults, falls, and sports injuries are the leading causes of MFTs [4-6]. In three of four studies conducted in Turkey, traffic accidents were the main cause of MFTs [8-10], while assaults were the primary reason in the remaining study [7]. However, three of these four studies included only patients with facial bone fractures related to MFTs. However, MFTs consists of many types of injuries including soft tissue, mucosa, tooth, and bone [26]. In our study, all types of MFTs were included to gain a better understanding of the extent of the trauma and falls were found to be the most common etiological factors.

Furthermore, the most common cause of MFTs was fall in both time periods in our study (51.8% *vs.* 56%, respectively), primarily affecting the 0-20 years age group. This result is not surprising, as this age group includes infants and toddlers, restless young children, and those having attention deficits [27], tendency to stumbling [28], and having a high head-to-body

ratio [29]. Unlike our study, previous studies showed that the main causes of MFTs were motor vehicle crashes [29] and assault [30]. Some of the studies, however, found falls to be the main cause of MFTs, similar to our study [16,17,19]. Both during the pandemic and the previous year of pandemic, the only cause of MFTs was fall in patients aged  $\geq$ 65 years; however, one patient had assault-induced MFT in the COVID-19 pandemic. Previous studies have reported a higher rate of MFTs in advanced age than young population, probably due to daily living activities – and fall-related injuries [6]. In a study, Brucoli et al., reported that falls were the main cause of MFTs in elderly [31]. In our study, the number of all cause-related MFTs decreased during the pandemic (43.3%) and the least decline was seen in the rate of falls-related MFTs (27%).

According to the age groups, MFTs related to violence and/or assaults most frequently occurred in the 21-64 years age group and decreased in this age group during the COVID-19 pandemic, compared to the previous year. The increased social distancing and reduced social gatherings during the pandemic may have played a role in the decreased number of assaults-related MFTs. On the other hand, alcohol consumption is common in most violent acts [32]. During the lockdown, the Turkish government implemented an alcohol sales ban, which may have decreased the violent acts.

The higher rate of MFTs related to home accidents can be explained by the fact that individuals spent much more time at home and less time outside. In addition, those who were living in crowded settings may have experienced much more home accidents, such as falls, as reported in the literature [17]. Increased domestic violence and self-destruction may contribute to the increased rates [33]. Also, a higher perceived risk to COVID-19 infection may aggravate anticipatory fear and anxiety which affects mental health and makes individuals more aggressive and irritable during the crisis [18].

There are some limitations to this study. First, different pandemic restrictions were implemented according to age groups in our country and, therefore, we included broad age groups such as 0-20, 21-64, and  $\geq$ 65 years. Second, the education, employment or retirement status were unable to be evaluated. On the other hand, the main strength of the present study is that it evaluated etiological factors of MFTs according to the age groups during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the rate of COVID-19 infection was examined in the operated cases in the emergency setting.

In conclusion, COVID-19 pandemic-mandated social restrictions lead to a decrease in the number of MFTs. The home accidents are the main cause of MFTs, while the rate of MFTs occurring in the workplace remain unchanged. Based on these findings, we believe that the spread of COVID-19 infection in the hospital setting can be minimized with necessary precautions. The present study may be a useful guide for ED admissions of MFT cases and management planning in the future pandemics.

### Compliance with the Ethical Standards

**Ethical Approval**: The study protocol was approved by the Marmara University, Faculty of Medicine, Ethics Committee with the Approval No. 09.2020.540 in May 20<sup>th</sup>, 2020. A written informed consent was obtained from each participant. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

**Financial Support**: The authors have no relevant financial information to close.

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors have no potential conflicts of interest to disclose.

**Authors' Contributions**: M.C.O., Conceptualization and design of the study, methodology, data interpretation, writing the original draft, review and editing. O.S., Data collection, formal analysis, review of the original draft. Both authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### REFERENCES

- [1] Rallis G, Stathopoulos P, Igoumenakis D, Krasadakis C, Mourouzis C, Mezitis M. Treating maxillofacial trauma for over half a century: how can we interpret the changing patterns in etiology and management? Or Surg or Med or Pa 2015;119:614-8. doi: 10.1016/j.0000.2015.01.013
- [2] Pungrasmi P, Haetanurak S. Incidence and etiology of maxillofacial trauma: a retrospective analysis of King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital in the past decade. Asian Biomed 2017;11:353-8. doi: 10.1515/abm-2018-0007
- [3] Pombo M, Luaces-Rey R, Pertega S, Arenaz J, Crespo JL, Garcia-Rozado A, et al. Review of 793 facial fractures treated from 2001 to 2008 in a coruna university hospital: types and etiology. Craniomaxillofac Trauma Reconstr 2010;3:49-54. doi: 10.1055/s-0030.124.9373
- [4] Zandi M, Khayati A, Lamei A, Zarei H. Maxillofacial injuries in western Iran: a prospective study. Oral Maxillofac Surg 2011;15:201-9. doi: 10.1007/s10006.011.0277-6
- [5] Lee JH, Cho BK, Park WJ. A 4-year retrospective study of facial fractures on Jeju, Korea. J Cranio Maxill Surg. 2010;38(3):192-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jcms.2009.06.002
- [6] Gassner R, Tuli T, Hachl O, Rudisch A, Ulmer H. Craniomaxillofacial trauma: a 10 year review of 9,543 cases with 21,067 injuries. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2003;31:51-61. doi: 10.1016/s1010-5182(02)00168-3
- [7] Ozkaya O, Turgut G, Kayali MU, Ugurlu K, Kuran I, Bas L. A retrospective study on the epidemiology and treatment of maxillofacial fractures. Ulus Travma Acil Cer 2009;15:262-6.
- [8] Erol BE, Tanrikulu R, Gorgun B. Maxillofacial Fractures. Analysis of demographic distribution and treatment in 2901 patients (25-year experience). J Cranio Maxill Surg 2004;32:308-13. doi: 10.1016/j.jcms.2004.04.006
- [9] Arslan ED, Solakoglu AG, Komut E, et al. Assessment of maxillofacial trauma in emergency department. World J Emerg Surg 2014;9. doi: 10.1186/1749-7922-9-13

- [10] AksoyE, UnluE, SensozO. Aretrospectivestudyonepidemiology and treatment of maxillofacial fractures. J Craniofac Surg 2002;13:772-5. doi: 10.1097/00001.665.200211000-00012
- [11] World Health Organization. Rolling updates on coronavirus disease (COVID-19). https://www.who.int/emergencies/ diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/events-as-they-happen Accessed: 31 July 2020.
- [12] TRTHaber. Türkiye'de ilk koronavirüs vakası tespit edildi. https://t.co/703QIlbea8?amp=1. Accessed 11 March 2020
- [13] Bai J, Xu T, Ji AP, Sun W, Huang MW. Impact of COVID-19 on oral emergency services [published online ahead of print, 2020 Jul 2]. Int Dent J. doi:10.1111/idj.12603
- Bartella AK, Halama D, Kamal M, et al. Impact of Corona Virus Disease-2019 on oral – and maxillofacial surgery: Preliminary results after the curfew [published online ahead of print, 2020 Sep 15]. J Craniofac Surg doi:10.1097/ SCS.000.000.0000007062
- [15] de Boutray M, Kün-Darbois JD, Sigaux N, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 lockdown on the epidemiology of maxillofacial trauma activity: a French multicentre comparative study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020;50:750-5. doi:10.1016/j. ijom.2020.10.005
- [16] Ludwig DC, Nelson JL, Burke AB, Lang MS, Dillon JK. What is the effect of COVID-19-related social distancing on oral and maxillofacial trauma? J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2021;79:1091-7. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2020.12.006
- [17] Salzano G, Dell'Aversana Orabona G, et al. Have there been any changes in the epidemiology and etiology of maxillofacial trauma during the COVID-19 pandemic? An Italian multicenter study. J Craniofac Surg 2020;32:1445-7. doi: 10.1097/SCS.000.000.0000007253
- [18] Vishal K, Prakash O, Rohit MK, Prajapati VK, Shahi AK, Khaitan T. Incidence of maxillofacial trauma amid COVID-19: A comparative study. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2020:1-6. doi:10.1007/s12663.020.01484-y Online ahead of print.
- [19] Yang YT, Xing X, Sreekissoon S, Li Z. Impact of transmission control measures on the epidemiology of maxillofacial injuries in Wuhan City during the COVID-19 epidemic. J Craniofac Surg 2021;Publish Ahead of Print:1381-4. doi:10.1097/ SCS.000.000.0000007427
- [20] https://istatistik.istanbul. Istanbul Ulaşım Bülteni Nisan, 2020. Accessed:15 March, 2020.
- [21] Boffano P, Roccia F, Zavattero E, et al. European maxillofacial trauma (EURMAT) project: a multicentre and prospective study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2015;43:62-70. doi: 10.1016/j. jcms.2014.10.011
- [22] Bali RK, Chaudhry K. Maxillofacial surgery and COVID-19, The pandemic !! J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2020;19:159-61. doi:10.1007/s12663.020.01361-8
- [23] Pietzka S, Kämmerer PW, Pietzka S, et al. Maxillofacial injuries in severely injured patients after road traffic accidents-a retrospective evaluation of the TraumaRegister DGU\* 1993-2014. Clin Oral Investig 2020;24:503-13. doi:10.1007/ s00784.019.03024-6

- [24] btGUNLUGU. https://www.btgunlugu.com/calisan-sayisiartikca-yas-ortalamasi-buyuyor. 27 September 2018
- [25] Emniyet Genel Müdürlüğü. http://trafik.gov.tr/istatistikler37; April, 2020.
- [26] Hausamen JE. The scientific development of maxillofacial surgery in the 20th century and an outlook into the future. J Maxillofac Surg 2001;29:2-21. https://doi.org/10.1054/ jcms.2000.0174
- [27] Hallez Q, Droit-Volet S. High levels of time contraction in young children in dual tasks are related to their limited attention capacities. J Exp Child Psychol 2017;161:148-60. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2017.04.013
- [28] Zandi M, Saleh M, Seyed Hoseini SR. Are facial injuries caused by stumbling different from other kinds of fall accidents? J Craniofac Surg 2011;22:2388-92. doi: 10.1097/ scs.0b013e318231fca3
- [29] Haug RH, Foss J. Maxillofacial injuries in the pediatric patient. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2000;90(2):126-34. DOI: 10.1067/moe.2000.107974

- [30] Bamjee Y, Lownie JF, Cleaton-Jones PE, Lownie MA. Maxillofacial injuries in a group of South Africans under 18 years of age. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1996;34:298-302. doi:10.1016/s0266-4356(96)90006-6
- [31] Brucoli M, Boffano P, Romeo I, et al. Epidemiology of maxillofacial trauma in the elderly: A European multicenter study. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020;121:330-8. doi:10.1016/j.jormas.2019.09.002
- [32] Boffano P, Roccia F, Zavattero E, et al. Assault-related maxillofacial injuries: the results from the European Maxillofacial Trauma (EURMAT) multicenter and prospective collaboration. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2015;119:385-91. doi:10.1016/j.0000.2014.12.004
- [33] Olding J, Zisman S, Olding C, Fan K. Penetrating trauma during a global pandemic: Changing patterns in interpersonal violence, self-harm and domestic violence in the Covid-19 outbreak. Surgeon 2021;19:e9-e13. doi:10.1016/j. surge.2020.07.004

## MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

### The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity screening tool

Emine EKICI<sup>1,</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Hatice IKIISIK<sup>2,</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Handan ANKARALI<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Gulay MANAV<sup>4</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Merve COLAK<sup>1,5</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Ezgi Hasret KOZAN CIKIRIKCI<sup>5,6</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, Uskudar University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Public Health, School of Medicine, Medeniyet University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Bioistatistics, School of Medicine, Medeniyet University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>4</sup> Department of Pediatric Nursing, School of Health Sciences, Mugla Sitki Kocman University, Mugla, Turkey.

<sup>5</sup> Department of Public Health, Cerrahpaşa Florence Nightingale School of Nursing, School, İstanbul, Turkey.

<sup>6</sup> Department of Nursing, School of Health Sciences, Halic University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>\*</sup>Co-first authors. Both authors contributed equally to this paper.

### Corresponding Author: Hatice IKIISIK

E-mail: hatice.ikiisik@medeniyet.edu.tr

Submitted: 02.01.2021 Accepted: 05.05.2021

### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to evaluate reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity (FNPA-TR) screening tool. This study was conducted as a methodological research. The data were collected between May and June 2018. The population of the study consisted of 1126 first and fourth grade students and their families in three primary public schools that represent three socioeconomic statuses (high, medium, low) in Istanbul, Turkey.

Materials and Methods: Data were collected from 727 students and their families with an introductory information form and the FNPA-TR screening tool. The validity of content scale was evaluated by comparing the relationship between FNPA-TR scores and answers given to non-scale questions measuring the eating behaviour. In this study, Cronbach's alpha, Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin, Varimax rotation and ICC coefficients statistical tests were used to measure validity and reliability.

**Results**: The Cronbach alpha coefficient for the internal consistency of the scale was 0.724. The test-retest reliability coefficient of the scale had a medium to very high level that ranged from 0.422 to 0.925. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin test result was found to be appropriate as 0.771.

Conclusion: The study shows that the FNPA-TR scale is a valid and reliable measurement tool for the Turkish population. Keywords: Family nutrition, Childhood obesity, Physical activity

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Obesity has turned out to be a multi-component disorder with the interaction of genes and the environment. The risk of obesity can be passed from generation to generation as a result of biological factors and/or behavioral factors. Children are known to inherit some characteristics from their families, such as socioeconomic status, cultural norms and behaviors, and family eating and physical activity behaviors, which are effective in the development of obesity in children [1].

Childhood obesity is a growing health problem for Turkish society as well as it is all over the world. The prevalence of obesity has increased threefold since 1975. The prevalence of overweight and obesity in all over the world, increased from 4% in 1975 to

18% in 2016 among children and adolescents aged between 5 and 19 [2]. There is an increase in childhood obesity in Turkey, as it is in the world. According to the Turkey Monitoring Growth in School-Age Children Survey in 2009 (TOCBI), overweight and obesity were 14.3% and 6.5% respectively in children aged between 6 and 10 [3].

Obesity has short and long-term effects on the health of children and adolescents. Compared to normal-weight children, obese children may suffer from absenteeism due to medical checks, health limitations, and diseases. Overweight and obese children

How to cite this article: Ekici E, Ikiisik H, Ankarali H, Manav G, Colak M, Kozan Cikirikci HE. The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity screening tool. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):319-326. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1009125

are more likely to become obese adults and have a higher risk of morbidity, disability, and premature death in adulthood [4-6].

School-age children have less autonomy in their choices of diet and physical activity. Parents have a direct impact on the home environment that may predispose the child to over-eating and inactivity [7]. The World Health Organization (WHO), World Health Assembly 2016 report of the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity draws attention to the obesogenic environment, which is defined as an environment that supports excess energy intake and sedentary life. Several factors such as commercial factors, agricultural policies, food systems, access to healthy food, the necessary infrastructure for a healthy environment, and the family environment (parental nutrition knowledge and behavior, family economy, family eating behaviors) affect the obesogenic environment [8].

There is considerable research into obesogenic environmental components. Herbenick et al., evaluated the risk of obesity in children using the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity Screening Tool (FNPA) and anthropometric measurements. In the study, children's scores from the FNPA scale were found to increase as a result of training about the obesogenic environment given to school-age children [7]. In another study employing the FNPA scale, the FNPA was emphasized as a useful measurement tool for clinicians and programs aiming to change family behaviors and home environment in the fight against obesity [9]. In a qualitative study assessing the obesogenic environment, five main themes were attained to prevent obesity. Two of these were "positive parenting practices" and "gardens, parks, sports halls, and school meals". These themes demonstrated the effect of parental attitudes and activity to prevent obesity [10]. In another qualitative study conducted to determine parental perceptions of healthy living (especially nutrition and activation) and the content of interventions to be conducted in the future to prevent obesity in children, the nutrition experiences of families were found to be effective and difficult to change. In the same study, it was recommended that increasing self-efficacy in cases such as physical activity should be included in the strategies of the families involved in focus groups [11].

In the 2016 report of the WHO World Health Assembly, the Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity, five propositions were developed to end childhood obesity. These were listed as improving healthy food intake; improving physical activity; prenatal and pregnancy care; diet and physical activity in early childhood; and health, nutrition, and physical activity for school-age children [8].

Toruner et al., in their study comparing the status of measured body weight in children and the perceptions of parents, found that most parents did not notice obesity risk or obesity status in their children [12]. Since, families affect children's nutritional and physical activity behaviors and create an accessible social and physical environment, they are encouraged to be involved in the center of studies on the prevention of obesity in children [13,14,15]. For this reason, obesity screening strategies should also center on evaluating the family environment and their behaviors. Assessing the nutritional and physical activity status of the family may be important in determining the causes of obesity in the child. We could not reach a reliable and valid screening tool to evaluate the nutrition and physical activity environment of the family in our country. This study aimed to adapt the FNPA Screening Tool to Turkish and evaluate its reliability and validity.

### 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

### Design

A mix of probability sampling methods was used in this study, which was planned in the methodological type.

### Language Adaptation

The items of the scale were translated into Turkish independently by three experts and then these texts were translated into English, the original language of the scale, separately by three different experts. Finally, a single translated text was created by comparing these translations by two researchers who have sufficient English language skills and are familiar with the measured concepts and the best Turkish translation form was determined for use in the study. To ensure the face validity of the translated text, the items were submitted to the opinions of three researchers with a background of the public health field, and the final version of the scale was obtained. The final form of the scale was named as "The Turkish Adaptation of the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity (FNPA-TR) Screening Tool". A pilot study was conducted in an elementary school to see how the items of the FNPA-TR worked in the field. For this application, 15 families with children aged between 6 and 10, who were literate, who had no difficulty filling out the form due to health reasons, and who could speak Turkish were reached, and the actual implementation was started after necessary revisions were made. As a result of the pilot study, it was determined that answering the tool took 5-10 minutes on average and there was no problem in understanding the items.

The content validity of the scale was evaluated by academicians who had expertise on the subject. The explanatory factor analysis was employed for determining the item-factor relationship, and the confirmatory factor analysis was used for calculating the extent to which the items and the sub-dimensions explained the original structure of the scale. The time interval test-retest method was used for reliability analysis. Intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) were found to range from 0.422 to 0.925, and the scale was determined to vary between medium to high test-retest reliability. Cronbach's alpha coefficient related to the internal consistency of the scale was found to be 0.724.

The permission from Ihmels et al., who developed FNPA screening tool was obtained through e-mail [13]. The institutional permission of Istanbul Provincial Directorate of National Education and the approval of Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee from a university in Istanbul (issue: 23.03.2018/490) were obtained. The verbal consent of the children and the written consent of the parents were obtained.

### Sample

In the first stage of the sampling, schools were stratified according to their income levels, and among them, schools that were heterogeneous in terms of student profile and family profile were included in the study. The sample size was not calculated and it was aimed to reach all 1126 first and fourthgrade students and their families studying in three different primary schools with low, middle and high socioeconomic status in Uskudar, Istanbul.

There were 566 first-grade and 560 fourth-grade students in three selected public schools. Data forms were given to a total of 727 students and their families by researchers using face to face method, including 366 first-grade and 361 fourthgrade students, who agreed to participate in the study. Of the total students, 64.7% of the first-graders and 64.5% of the fourth-graders were contacted. The study was conducted with 591 students and their families who completed the data form and the questions were answered by the parents. Some of the questionnaire items were not responded by all participants, and therefore, % values were calculated over the participants who responded to the items.

### Measures

The data were collected using a questionnaire consisting of two parts:

**Part 1**: It consisted of 39 questions including the descriptive information of the participants and information on nutrition and physical activity (parent height, weight, age, marital status, educational status, occupation, social security, the longest residence, number of households, family monthly income, presence of chronic disease, etc.).

**Part 2**: The Turkish adapted Family Nutrition and Physical Activity (FNPA-TR)Screening Tool : ABFA-TR is the Turkish version of the FNPA screening tool. The scale was developed in 2009 by Ihmels et al. [13].

This tool is an easy-to-use self-report scale designed to assess the family environment and behavioral factors that may cause the child to gain excess weight. The first version of the FNPA, which was created by identifying 10 main factors positively associated with overweight and obesity, was made up of a total of 21 questions. Then the number of items was reduced to 20 with the arrangements made in 2017 [16].

The conceptual framework of the scale consists of 10 subdimensions. Each item is rated on a four-point Likert type scale with options 1 = never / hardly ever, 2 = sometimes, 3 = often, 4 = usually / always. The scores that can be obtained from the scale vary between 1 and 80 points. The scale includes 10 subdimensions and two questions for each sub-dimension. Seven of the items (3, 4, 5, 7, 10, 13) were inversely coded.

The sub-dimensions are made of "Meals in the Family", "Family Eating Habits", "Food Choices", "Beverage Choices", "Limitation/ Rewarding", "Screen Time", "Healthy Environment", "Family Activity", "Child Activity", and "Family Planning / Sleep Pattern". The total score is calculated by summing the scores obtained from each sub-dimension. The total score is then used to interpret the physical activity and nutritional status of the family. A high total score obtained from the scale refers to a high-risk family environment and behaviors, while a low total score means a more positive family environment and behaviors.

The data were collected by the researchers between May and June 2018. A pilot study was conducted. To collect the data, the field team handed out the informed consent and the questionnaire involving the FNPA-TR scale in sealed envelope to the children to be taken to their parents. The responses received in the week following the day the envelopes were delivered were collected back in an envelope. Children's height and weight data were collected according to the statements of the families.

### **Statistical Analysis**

The internal consistency of the scale and the subscales was calculated using Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Explanatory factor analysis was applied to 20 questions on the scale. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin test was used to determine whether the factor analysis was appropriate for the data structure. Besides, Bartlett's test was used for correlations between questions. Principal Components method was used to obtain factor loads, and the Varimax rotation method was used for identifying meaningful factor loads. ICC coefficients were calculated to find out the test-retest reliability. p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

### **3. RESULTS**

In this study the data from a total of 591 students is used including 294 (49.7%) girls and 297 (50.3%) boys from 3 different schools located in an Anatolian side district of Istanbul city, who were enrolled in the first (n = 321, 54.3%) and fourth (n = 270, 45.7%) grades and who filled out the questionnaire completely. Data were collected from primary schools from three different socioeconomic regions of the district. Of the families participating in the study, 115 (19.5%) stated that their income was less than their expenses, 387 (65.5%) reported their income as equivalent to their expenses, and 83 (14%) said that their income was higher than their expenses. In addition, 506 of those who filled out the questionnaire forms were mothers (85.6%) and 46 (7.8%) were fathers.

The test-retest reliability of each item on the scale was analyzed using the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC). The findings obtained from the analysis are given in Table I. The ICC coefficients were found to vary between 0.422 and 0.925, which indicated test-retest reliability varying from a medium to a high level (Table I).
Table I.	Test-retest	reliabilitv	results o	f scale items	and sub-dimensions
14010 11	1031 101031	rendenny	1034113 0	j scare nemis	<i>una 340 unitensions</i>

Items and Sub- Dimensions	ICC	95 % Confidence	р	
Items	ICC	Lower	Upper	
A1-1 and A1-2	0.846	0.731	0.912	0.001
A2-1 and A2-2	0.522	0.150	0.731	0.006
B3-1 and B3-2	0.777	0.611	0.872	0.001
B4-1 and B4-2	0.813	0.674	0.893	0.001
C5-1 and C5-2	0.614	0.327	0.779	0.001
C6-1 and C6-2	0.534	0.187	0.734	0.004
D7-1 and D7-2	0.545	0.206	0.740	0.003
D8-1 and D8-2	0.716	0.505	0.838	0.001
E9-1 and E9-2	0.556	0.225	0.746	0.002
E10-1 and E10-2	0.485	0.101	0.705	0.010
F11-1 and F11-2	0.422	-0.009	0.669	0.027
F12-1 and F12-2	0.729	0.527	0.845	0.001
G13-1 and G13-2	0.623	0.338	0.786	0.001
G14-1 and G14-2	0.754	0.570	0.859	0.001
H15-1 and H15-2	0.799	0.649	0.885	0.001
H16-1 and H16-2	0.814	0.675	0.893	0.001
I17-1 and I17-2	0.768	0.595	0.867	0.001
I18-1 and I18-2	0.925	0.869	0.957	0.001
J19-1 and J19-2	0.778	0.613	0.873	0.001
J20-1 and J20-2	0.772	0.603	0.870	0.001

p<0.05

As a result of the factor analysis applied to the 20 items on the scale, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin test result was found to be 0.771. As this value was greater than 0.50, the scale was determined to be appropriate for the factor analysis. Besides, the Sphericity test showed that the correlation matrix was not spherical (p <0.0001). This result indicated that the correlations between the scale items were significant and appropriate for factor analysis. Furthermore, it was concluded that there was no need to eliminate any items from the scale because all diagonal elements of the anti-image matrix were greater than 0.50. The factor analysis revealed that there were 7 factors with eigenvalues greater than 1. The scale exhibited a 7-factor structure explaining 58.1% of the variance in the sample. An analysis explaining 50-75% of the

total variance is considered a valid analysis [17]. After obtaining factor loads, they were rotated using the Varimax rotation method, and 7 significant factors were obtained accordingly (Table II).

The first factor consisted of "Child Activity" with two items, "Family Activity" with two items, and the "How often does your family allocate time for physical activities (walking, running, etc.) item of the "Healthy Environment" sub-scale with two items. Its factor loads varied between 0.674 and 0.802, and it explained 18.657 % of the total variance.

The second factor consisted of "Meals in the Family" with two items and "How often does your child consume fruit and vegetables together with meals and as snacks (except for juice)?" item of the "Food Choices" with two items. Factor loads varied between 0.577 and 0.714, and it explained 9.417 % of the total variance.

"Sleep Pattern" sub-group made up the third factor that consisted of 2 items. Also, it explained 7.922% of the variance.

The "How often is fast-food consumed in your family?" item of the "Family Eating Habits" sub-group, the "How often does your family consume packaged fast-food? (frozen food, food heated in microwave, etc.)" item of the "Food Choices" sub-group, and the "How often does your child consume soda or sweetened beverages? (plain or fruit soda, cold tea, juice, energy drinks, etc.)" of the "Beverage Choices" sub-group made up the fourth factor. Factor loads were 0.645 and 0.768 and 0.555. It explained 6.036 % of the total variance.

The fifth factor consisted of the "How often does your family control your child's consumption of sugar, chips, and cookies?" item of the "Limitation/Rewarding" and the two items of the "Screen Time" sub-group. Factor loads were 0.686-0.638 and 0.571. It explained 5.582% of the total variance.

As for the sixth factor, it was made up of the "How often does your child eat while watching TV (including meals and snacks)" item of the "Family Eating Habits" sub-group and the "How often does your child spend time on his computer, mobile devices, and game systems in his/her bedroom?" item of the "Healthy Environment" sub-group. Factor loads were 0.675 and 0.728. It explained 5.391% of the total variance.

Finally, the seventh factor was found to consist of the "How often does your child consume low-fat milk at meals or with snacks? (1% fat or skimmed milk, flavored milk, soy milk, almond milk, etc.)" item of the "Beverage Choices" sub-group and the "How often does your family use sweets, ice-cream, or other foods as a reward?" item of the "Limitation/Rewarding" sub-group. Factor loads were 0.627 and 0.576 and it explained the 5.066% of the variance. The factor structure of the items of the FNPA-TR, variance levels, and the item-total correlation values are presented in Table II.

### Table II. Factor structure of FNPA-TR scale, rotated factor loads, variance explanation shares and item total correlation values

	1	1	1			1			Itom total
Factors	Levels of variance		2	3	4	5	6	7	Item total correlation values
Family Activity									
How often does your family encourage your child to be physically active?		0.802							0.318
How often does your child engage in physical activity with at least one of		0.716							0.275
the other family members?		0.716							0.275
Children's Activity									
How often does your child engage in physical activities in his spare time?	1	0.705							0.273
How often does your child participate in regular sports or physical	18.657	0.000							0.200
activities with a coach or team leader?		0.692							0.308
Healthy Environment									
How often does your family make time for physical activity (family		0.674							0.250
walking, running, etc.)?		0.074							0.250
Meals in Family									
How often does your child have breakfast at home or at school?			0.714						0.461
How often does your child eat at least one meal a day with at least one			0.577						0.372
other family member?	0.415		0.577						0.372
Food selections	9.417								
How often does your child consume fruits and vegetables during meals			0.681						0.480
or snacks? Except fruit juice			0.001						0.400
Family Planning / Sleep									
How often does your child follow his or her sleep habits or time?	7.922			0.855					0.591
How often does your child get enough sleep at night?				0.803					0.527
Eating Habits in Family									
How often is fastfood consumed in your family?	1				0.645				0.405
Food selections									
How often does your family consume packaged ready-to-eat food	6.036				0.760				0.504
(frozen foods, microwave-heated foods, etc.)?	0.050				0.768				0.584
Beverage Selections									
How often does your child consume soda or sweetened drinks (plain or					0.555				0.222
fruity soda, cold teas, juice, energy drink, etc.)?					0.555				0.323
Limitation / Rewarding									
How often does your family supervise your child's consumption of						0.686			0.495
candy, chips and cookies?						0.000			0.495
Display Time									
How often does your child spend less than 2 hours a day on the screen?	5.582								
(television, computer, gaming systems, any mobile devices with visual						0.638			0.433
screens etc.)									
How often does your family monitor the time your child spends on the						0.571			0.352
screen?									
Eating Habits in Family	-								
How often does your child eat while watching TV (including meals or							0.675		0.567
snacks)?	5.391								
Healthy Environment									
How often does your child spend time in the bedroom on computer, mobile devices, etc.?							0.728		0.609
Beverage Selections									
How often does your child consume low-fat milk during meals or snacks? (1% or skimmed milk, flavored milk, soy milk, almond milk etc.)								0.627	0.543
Limitation / Rewarding	5.066								
How often does your family use sugar, ice cream or other foods as a	1								
reward for good behavior?								0.576	0.462

In the additional analyses conducted to evaluate the content validity, the relationships between the scale score and the answers given to questions which were not included in the questionnaire and which provided information about the feeding behavior of the family were investigated. When these relationships were evaluated, the mean score of those who had regular breakfast was significantly higher (p = 0.001). The mean scale score was significantly higher in subjects who did not eat snacks and junk food (p = 0.001). The mean scale score was found to be significantly higher in subjects who had regular meal hours (p = 0.001). There was no significant relationship between the number of meals a day and the scale score (r = 0.074, p = 0.075). As the number of meals a week eaten together with the family increased, the scale score increased significantly as well (r = 0.167, p = 0.001) (Table III).

Table III. Comparison of answers given to various questions in terms of	
total FNPA-TR scale score	

	n	Mean ± SD	р				
Regular Breakfasts							
Yes	468	59.21±6.88	0.001				
No	106	53.18±5.54					
Junk Food and Snacks Consumption							
Yes	148	55.61±6.77					
No	108	61.20±7.76	0.0001				
Sometimes	321	58.12±6.48					
Do you eat meals at regular times?							
Yes	395	59.72±6.92					
No	40	51.90±6.17	0.001				
Sometimes	143	55.19±5.62					
Gender							
Female	294	58.44±6.43	0.230				
Male	297	57.74±7.70	0.230				
Grade							
1st Grade	321	57.19±7.36	0.001				
4th Grade	270	59.15±6.62	0.001				
Income							
Income is less than expense	115	56.13±7.37					
Income is equivalent to expense	387	58.51±6.92	0.001				
Income is more than expense	83	58.63±6.88					
p<0.05	05	00.00 ±0.00	I				

p<0.05

### 4. DISCUSSION

This study investigated the validity and reliability of the Turkish adapted version of the "Family Nutrition and Physical Activity Screening Tool" (FNPA) [15], which was developed to evaluate the home environment and family nutrition and physical activity practices and behaviors that may be associated with childhood overweight and obesity. The study supported the original FNPA findings

The time interval test-retest method was used for reliability analyses. The intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) were

found to range between 0.422 and 0.925 and have a medium to very high test-retest reliability. Cronbach's alpha coefficient related to the internal consistency of the scale was found to be 0.724. Cronbach Alpha value between 0.71–0.91 indicates that the scale has a good level of reliability [18].

Explanatory factor analysis was employed for determining the item-factor relationship and confirmatory factor analysis was used for calculating the extent to which the items and the factors in the scale explained the original construct of the scale. As a result of the factor analysis conducted to determine the factor construct of the scale, the scale was determined to consist of 7 factors. The item-factor distribution was as follows. Factor 1: child activity (1,2), family activity (1,2), and healthy environment (2); factor 2: meals in the family (1,2), and food choices (2); factor 3: sleep pattern (1,2); factor 4: family eating habits (2), food choices (1), and beverage choices (1); factor 5: limitation / rewarding (1) and screen time (1,2); factor 6: family eating habits (1) and healthy environment (1); factor 7: beverage choices (2) and restriction / rewarding (1) (Table IV). In factor analyses conducted to examine the psychometric properties of the original FNPA scale, 7 factors met the minimum eigenvalue criterion of 1.0.

A significant correlation was found between the total scale score and the BMI of the child (-0.03), the mother (r = -0.15), and the father (r = -0.02). This weak correlation was likely to stem from the large sample size. Similar relationship between the BMI of the child and FNPA scores was observed in the original validity study (r = .10.17, p <0.01) and in another study conducted on different age groups (first-grade students: r = -0.17; tenth-grade students: r=-0.15) [12, 14]. Another study showed a negative correlation between age and gender-adjusted FNPA scores and BMI, BMI at the 95th percent, BF %, and all fat prevention measures, including the waist [9].

In the present study, a significant relationship was found between the BMI of the parents and the BMI of the child. Studies show that the environment shared by individuals and their behaviors as well as genetic factors affect the relationship between the BMI of the parents and the child [19-21]. This finding on the relationship between parent BMI and child BMI emphasizes the need for a family-based approach to the prevention of childhood obesity. There was also a significant relationship between the BMI of the mother and the FNPA total score. Parents' behaviors related to nutrition and physical activity are positively related to their own weight management as well as the obesogenic environment in the family and the nutritional quality and/or weight status of children [9, 14, 22, 23]. Williams et al., also found a relationship between the parent's BMI and the family FNPA score and reported that a large proportion of families with a low or normal weight parent had high FNPA scores, and a smaller proportion of families with overweight or obese parents had high FNPA scores [24].

A large portion of studies on childhood obesity has reported an inverse relationship between socioeconomic status (SES) and childhood obesity [25, 26]. However, there are studies showing that the relationship between SES and obesity is directly proportional. These studies have mentioned that in addition to SES, factors such as ethnic inequalities, parental education, family income, and changes occurring over time may be effective on obesity [27, 28]. In the present study, the mean BMI of children was observed to be higher in schools with high and middle socioeconomic levels compared to the low ones. In addition, the mean child BMI was higher in families reporting higher income than their expenses.

Evaluations of the mean BMI should include not only SES or family income but also environmental, biological, and sociocultural factors. As studies on inequalities addressing childhood obesity have focused on individual behaviors, maternal education, SES, family behaviors, sedentary behaviors, snacks between meals, eating habits such as consumption of fast-food and sweetened drinks, physical activity, and breastfeeding, the potential effects of social environments on obesity are still unclear [7, 10]. Although, ethnicity is stated to have a role in this difference [11, 29], this study did not include any elements of ethnicity.

The evaluation of cultural and living conditions suggests that children of families with high income and SES have no financial barriers to access to unhealthy snacks such as fast-food, chips, and sweet foods, as well as access to high-tech technology such as television, computer games, and telephones; consequently, these conditions result in decreased physical activity, and they are thought to be effective in the emergence of these results.

The results of the study showed that the higher the socioeconomic status of the schools was, the higher their FNPA total scores were. Also, the mean scale score was found to be significantly higher in those who had regular breakfast, who did not eat junk food and snacks, and who had regular meals. Regular breakfast and eating regular meals were reported to be factors that decreased the rate of obesity in children.

The obesity epidemic makes it essential to improve our understanding of the effect of food environments on children. As healthy habit formation at an early age is essential in primary prevention of obesity, it is necessary to control nutritional behaviours, familial factors and physical activity levels. This tool can be used to evaluate environmental factors affecting obesity to create programs to prevent obesity, as well as other anthropometric measurements such as waist-to-height ratio, BMI and waist circumference.

Studies are carried out to increase adequate and balanced nutrition and physical activity in the prevention of childhood obesity. Parents have a direct impact on the home environment which may predispose their children to excessive food intake, excess energy intake, and inactivity. It is important to provide a healthy family environment that improves eating behaviors and physical activities of children and to take part in their lives as the right role model. Developing and using measurement tools related to the family environment as an element of the obesogenic environment is among important steps to be taken to fight obesity. In conclusion, the Turkish version of the FNPA is a valid and reliable screening tool and it captures various aspects of the home environment rather than just physical activity or diet. We think FNPA will meet the need for a reliable obesogenic environmental assessment in our country.

### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Ethical Approval**: The study was approved by Uskudar Universty, Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee (issue: 23.03.2018/490). The institutional permission was obtained from the Istanbul Provincial Directorate of National Education. The verbal consent of the children and the written consent of the parents were obtained.

**Financial Support**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to declare

**Authors' contribution:** E.E and H.I. conceived of the presented idea. E.E., H.I., M.C. and E.H.K. developed the theory and collected research data. H.A. verified the analytical methods. All authors discussed the results and approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- Maziak W, Ward KD, Stockton MB. Childhood obesity: are we missing the big picture? Obes Rev. 2008 Jan;9(1):35-42. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00376.x.
- [2] World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. Key facts. 2018. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs311/en/. (Accessed: 21 March 2020)
- [3] Monitoring the Growth of School Age Children (6-10 Age Group) in Turkey (TOÇBİ) Project Research Report, Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Basic Health Services, Hacettepe University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ministry of National Education, Ministry of Health Publication No: 834;2011
- Public Health England, Chilhood Obesity Health Risks. 2013. Available from: http://www.noo.org.uk/NOO\_about\_obesity/ obesity\_and\_health/health\_risk\_child. (Accessed: 20 May 2020)
- [5] Guidelines For Adolescent Nutrition Services. Stang J, Story M (eds). 2015. Available from: http://www.epi.umn.edu/let/ pubs/img/adol\_preface\_materials.pdf. (Accessed: September, 2020)
- [6] Kansra AR, Lakkunarajah S, Jay MS. Childhood and adolescent obesity: a review. Front Pediatr 2021;12;8:581461. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.581461.
- [7] Herbenick SK, James K Milton J, Cannon D. Effects of family nutrition and physical activity screening for obesity risk in school-age children. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2018; 23:e12229. doi: 10.1111/jspn.12229
- [8] World Health Organization. Report Of The Commission On Ending Childhood Obesity. 2016. Availableform: http://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/204176/1/978.924.1510066\_ eng.pdf. (Accessed: September, 2020)

- [9] Tucker JM, Howard K, Guseman EH, Yee KE, Saturley H, Eisenmann JC. Association between the Family Nutrition and Physical Activity Screening Tool and obesity severity in youth referred to weight management. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2017 May-Jun;11(3):268-275. doi: 10.1016/j.orcp.2016.09.007.
- [10] Stang J, Bonilla Z. Factors Affecting Nutrition and Physical Activity Behaviors of Hispanic Families With Young Children: Implications for Obesity Policies and Programs. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2018 Nov-Dec;50(10):959-967. doi: 10.1016/j. jneb.2017.08.005.
- [11] Taverno Ross SE, Clennin MN, Dowda M, Colabianchi C, Pate RR. Stepping It Up: Walking Behaviors in Children Transitioning from 5th to 7th Grade. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. 2018; Feb 3;15(2). pii: E262. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph15020262
- [12] Toruner EK, Ayaz S, Savaser S. Parents' perceptions about weights of their children. Hemar-G. 2014; 16(2): 11-20.
- [13] Ihmels MA, Welk GJ, Eisenmann JC, Nusser SM. Development and preliminary validation of a Family Nutrition and Physical Activity (FNPA) screening tool. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2009; 6:14. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-14
- [14] Bailey-Davis L, Peyer KL, Fang Y, Kim JK, Welk GJ. Effects of Enhancing School-Based Body Mass Index Screening Reports with Parent Education on Report Utility and Parental Intent To Modify Obesity Risk Factors. Child Obes. 2017;13(2):164– 171. doi:10.1089/chi.2016.0177
- [15] Karnik S, Kanekar A. Childhood obesity: a global public health crisis. Int J Prev Med 2012;3:1-7..
- [16] Peyer KL, Welk GJ. Construct Validity of an Obesity Risk Screening Tool in Two Age Groups. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Apr 14;14(4):419. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14040419.
- [17] Yurdalan SU, Sengir N, Isci E. Turkish Validity and Reliability of DREEM Questionnaire used in assessment of learning environment in physiotherapy and rehabilitation undergraduate education. JHMN 2020; 78: 8-17. doi: 10.7176/ JHMN/78-02
- [18] Taber KS. The Use of Cronbach's Alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education. Res Sci Educ 2018; 48: 1273–1296. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11165.016.9602-2
- [19] Wardle J, Camell S, Haworth CM, Plomin R. Evidence for a strong genetic influence on childhood adiposity despite the

force of the obesogenic environment. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Feb;87(2):398-404. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.2.398

- [20] Herbert A, Gerry NP, McQueen MB et al. A common genetic variant is associated with adult and childhood obesity. Science. 2006 Apr;14;312(5771):279-83. doi: 10.1126/science.1124779
- [21] Maes HH, Neale MC, Eaves LJ. Genetic and environmental factors in relative body weight and human adiposity. Behav Genet. 1997 Jul;27(4):325-51. doi: 10.1023/a:102.563.5913927
- [22] Couch SC, Glanz K, Zhou C, Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Home food environment in relation to children's diet quality and weight status. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2014;114(10):1569–1579.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2014.05.015
- [23] Conroy SM, Shariff-Marco S, Yang J et al. Characterizing the neighborhood obesogenic environment in the Multiethnic Cohort: a multi-level infrastructure for cancer health disparities research. Cancer Causes Control. 2018 Jan;29(1):167-183. doi: 10.1007/s10552.017.0980-1.
- [24] Williams JE, Helsel B, Griffin SF, Liang J. Associations between parental BMI and the family nutrition and physical activity environment in a community sample, J Community Health 2017; 42:1233–1239 doi: 10.1007/s10900.017.0375-y
- [25] Small M, Bailey-Davis L, Morgan N, Maggs J. Changes in eating and physical activity behaviors across seven semesters of college: living on or off campus matters. Health Educ Behav. 2013;40(4):435–441. doi:10.1177/109.019.8112467801
- [26] Scharoun-Lee M, Kaufman JS, Popkin BM, et al. Obesity, race/ethnicity and life course socioeconomic status across the transition from adolescence to adulthood. JECH 2009;63:133-139. doi: 10.1136/jech.2008.075721
- [27] Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Popkin BM. The relationship of ethnicity, socioeconomic factors, and overweight in US adolescents. Obes Res. 2003;11(1):121-129. doi: 10.1038/ oby.2003.20
- [28] Wang Y, Zhang Q. Are American children and adolescents of low socioeconomic status at increased risk of obesity? Changes in the association between overweight and family income between 1971 and 2002. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Oct;84(4):707-16. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/84.4.707
- [29] Rossen LM Neighbourhood economic deprivation explains racial/ethnic disparities in overweight and obesity among children and adolescents in the USA. JECH 2014;68:123-129. doi: 10.1136/jech-2012-202245

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# How do social and spousal support influence postpartum depression?

Nese YAKSI<sup>1</sup> , Dilsad SAVE<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Public Health, Nigde Community Health Center, Nigde, Turkey. <sup>2</sup>Department of Public Health, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Maltepe, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Nese YAKSI **E-mail:** drnsyks@gmail.com

Submitted: 25.12.2020 Accepted: 21.03.2021

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Postpartum psychiatric morbidity is one of the most frequent complications of birth, cause of suicides and maternal death. We aimed to determine the prevalence of postpartum depression (PPD) among mothers who gave birth in the last 6 months and also assess the risk factors, particularly poor social and spousal support.

Patients and Methods: This is a cross-sectional study. We included 303 mothers who gave birth in the last 6 months attending three family health centers in a district of Istanbul. Stratified sampling method was used. Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale, Postpartum Support Scale, The Scale of Perceived Spousal Support Among Women in Early Postpartum Period were administered. Univariate and multivariate statistical analyses were used.

**Results:** Postpartum depression prevalence was 9.9% among the participants. According to multivariate statistical analysis; while a higher income (OR : 0.99) and a higher spousal support score (OR: 0.95) were found as protective factors, actively working (OR : 8.63), unplanned pregnancy (OR: 3.21), having a first child compared to having two children (OR: 11.20), having low birth weight infant (OR: 8.33) and unmet social support (OR: 1.02) were risk factors for PPD (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Considering the results of this study, increasing family income, social and spousal support, prevention of unplanned pregnancies using effective family planning methods and improving the life prosperity of the women are essential to the decrease of PPD prevalence.

Keywords: Postpartum, Depression, Social support, Spousal support

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Prevalence of psychiatric disorders increases during pregnancy (10%) and postpartum (13%) periods [1]. Postpartum mood disorders are maternity blues, non-psychotic postpartum depression (PPD) and postpartum psychosis (PPP). Maternity blues is the most common one in postpartum period (26-84%) [2, 3]. Generally, spontaneous regression occurs not requiring treatment [4]. Maternity blues increases PPD by 20% and may be a precursor for PPD [3]. PPP is a psychotic attack that occurs within the first 2 weeks postpartum with rapid clinical onset. Its prevalence is 1 to 2 attacks per 1000 births [5]. Previous bipolar disorder is an important risk factor for PPP [6].

Postpartum depression is a non-psychotic depressive episode that starts in the postpartum period [7, 8] and is most commonly seen in the postpartum 4th-6th week but the risk continues up to one year [9]. Its prevalence in the world is reported as 1.9% – 82.2% [10]. In Turkey, PPD prevalence varies between 5.0%-61.8% [11]. Standardized interview forms (International Classification of Disease-10, The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-V based) for diagnosis [12, 13] and various tools such as Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EPDS) are used for screening [14]. PPD is a multifactorial complex process in which biological, obstetric, pediatric, psychosocial and cultural factors

\* This study was presented orally in the 1st International Eurasian Congress of Social Pediatrics - Istanbul, 26th November-2nd December, 2018.

How to cite this article: Yaksi N, Save D. How do social and spousal support influence postpartum depression? Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):327-334. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1012403

are involved. Postpartum psychiatric morbidity is important for being one of the most frequent complications of labor and the third leading cause of disease among perinatal disorders. PPD is also important since it is one of the leading causes of maternal deaths by suicide and has negative impact on marriage and childbirth. The aim of the study is to determine the prevalence of PPD among the mothers of 0-6 month old infants and evaluate the social, economical, obstetrical and infant-related risk factors particularly the effects of social and spousal support on PPD prevalence.

### 2. MATERIALS and METHODS

In this institutional based cross-sectional study 3547 mothers with 0-6 months old infants registered to three family health centers (FHCs) in a district of Istanbul were included. Sample size was calculated as 386 when PPD prevalence (for postpartum 6 months) was accepted as 35%, error margin 5%, design effect 1.2, confidence interval 95% using OpenEpi program stratified sampling was used according to socioeconomic level. Three FHCs were selected proportionally from low, medium and high socioeconomic level subdistricts in the study district. Postpartum 6 months period mothers registered in the FHCs were included in the study. The inclusion criteria were: having 0-6 months old infant, understanding and speaking Turkish and acceptance of participating in the study. A total of 303 women who gave informed consent priorly, completed the survey and post-hoc power was calculated as 96 % at 0.05  $\alpha$ -error and 0.20 effect size.

### Measures

### **Postpartum Depression**

The Turkish version of the Edinburgh Postpartum Depression Scale (EPDS) was used to assess depression symptoms [14]. It is a 10-item scale with 4 options for questioning the mood in the last week. Each item scored on a 4-point scale (0 to 3) and the total score was calculated. EPDS cut-off score is considered as either 12 or 13. Sensitivity of EPDS in the antenatal and postnatal period is 84% and specificity is 88%. [14]. In this study, the cutoff point was accepted as 13 as it is generally accepted as 13 in Turkish literature [16,17] and for defining case level depressive symptoms [18].

### Social Support

Postpartum Support Questionnaire (PSQ) was used [19]. Thirty four Likert-type items associated with financial support, emotional support, information support. Scoring between 0 and 7 for 'importance of need' and ' received support' respectively. The highest score is 238. The Turkish version of the PSQ was validated [20]. In this study, the difference between the total score of 'the importance of the need' and the total score of 'received support' was defined as 'unmet social support'.

### Spousal Support

Spousal support was evaluated by 'The Scale of Perceived Spousal Support among Women in Early Postpartum Period' [21] composed of 16 items with 5-point Likert-type scoring. Positive questions are 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,11,13,16th questions and negative questions are 8,9,10,12,14,15th questions. Highest score is 80 and the lowest score is 16.

Ethics committee approval and institution permission were received (Marmara University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee, 03.11.2017, protocol code: 09.2017.635). Data collection was carried out by face-to-face method getting written informed consent.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Pearson's Chi-squared test, Fisher's exact test, Mann-Whitney U test, Student's t-test and Binary Logistic Regression Analysis were used for statistics. Also Cronbach's Alpha Reliability test was used for EPDS, PSQ (importance of need), PSQ (received support) and 'Perceived Spousal Support among Women in Early Postpartum Period' scale. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

### **3. RESULTS**

### Sociodemographic Characteristics

The sociodemographic characteristics of the study group as well as a comparison of sociodemographic characteristics and PPD are presented in Table I. Higher educational level and higher income level were protective factors significantly associated with PPD. Also comparison of some health characteristics of mothers and PPD were summarized in Table II.

### **Reproductive Health and Infant Characteristics**

Forty-six percent of participants had their first child. First gestational median age was 27 (23-30) years. One out of every three mothers had pregnancy loss during reproductive life. Last pregnancy was unplanned for 20.5% of the mothers. Seven participants had multiple pregnancies. Twenty-four percent of participants had health problems during their last pregnancy. Cesarean delivery history was present in 70%. 31.4% had used contraceptive methods. Number of female and male infants was similar. Low birth weight (LBW) infant percent was 6.6%. Breastfeeding percent was 93.7% and 68.6% of the participants were feeding their infant by exclusive breastfeeding. Low first gestational age, unplanned last pregnancy, smoking during pregnancy, having health problems and stressful events during the last pregnancy increased the PPD and were found as risk factors in this study. Use of in vitro fertilization in the last pregnancy, weight gain, use of contraceptive method, birth place, delivery method, use of forceps / vacuum and pregnancy type did not affect PPD significantly (p > 0.05) (Table III).

Postpartum depression frequency was significantly higher in mothers who had LBW infants compared to those who did not (p=0.03) (Table III). Infant age, gender, prematurity, need for intensive care at birth, presence of congenital disease, feeding with only breastfeeding did not affect PPD significantly (p>0.05).

### Table I. Comparision of sociodemographic characteristics and PPD

		PPD ( cut off 13)						
		No		Yes		Т	'otal	− _
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
Education	College and above	134	93.7	9	6.3	143	100	0.04
level	High school and below	139	86.9	21	13.1	160	100	
Occupation	Housewife	139	88.5	18	11.5	157	100	0.53 <sup>b</sup>
	Health	21	95.5	1	4.5	22	100	
	workers							
	Others	113	91.1	11	8.9	124	100	
Actively	No	255	91.1	25	8.9	280	100	0.06 <sup>b</sup>
working status	Yes	18	78.3	5	21.7	23	100	
Actively	No	9	100.0	0	0.0	9	100	
working status of spouse								0.60
1	Yes	264	89.8	30	10.2	294	100	
Private	No	208	88.5	27	11.5	235	100	0.085
health insurance								0.085
	Yes	65	95.6	3	4.4	68	100	
		Median	25-75Percentile	Median	2575.			
					Percentile			
Age		31	28-35	31	27-35			0.45°
Income per capita (T	L)	1000	625-	666	417-			<b>0.007</b> °
			1667		1250			

<sup>a</sup> Pearson's Chi-squared test, <sup>b</sup> Fisher's exact test, <sup>c</sup> Mann-Whitney U test

### Table II. Comparison of participants' general health features and PPD

			PPD ( cut off 13)					
		No	)	Ye	S	То	tal	p valueª
		n	%	n	%	n	%	p raiae
Chronic disease	Yes	46	85.2	8	14.8	54	100	0.18
	No	227	91.2	22	8.8	249	100	
Smoking	Yes	37	82.2	8	17.8	45	100	0.10 <sup>b</sup>
	No	236	91.5	22	8.5	258	100	
Alcohol	Yes	11	100.0	0	0.0	11	100	0.61 <sup>b</sup>
use	No	262	89.7	30	10.3	292	100	
Physical	Inactive	255	90.7	26	9.3	281	100	0.25 <sup>b</sup>
activity	Active	18	81.8	4	18.2	22	100	
Body mass index <sup>c</sup>	underweight-normal	122	90.4	13	9.6	135	100	0.89
	Overweight-obese	151	89.9	17	10.1	168	100	

<sup>a</sup> Pearson's Chi-squared test, <sup>b</sup> Fisher's exact test, <sup>c</sup> Personal declaration

### Table III. Comparison of reproductive health and infant characteristics and PPD

				PPD ( cu	t off 13)			
			No		Zes	Тс	Total	
		n	%	n	%	n	%	– p valueª
Planned	Yes	223	92.5	18	7.5	241	100	0.005
pregnancy	No	50	80.6	12	19.4	62	100	
Wanted	Yes	252	91.6	23	8.4	275	100	<b>0.012</b> <sup>b</sup>
pregnancy	No	21	75.0	7	25.0	28	100	
Health problem	Yes	62	83.8	12	16.2	74	100	0.036
during pregnancy	No	211	92.1	18	7.9	229	100	
Smoking during pregnancy	Yes	21	75.0	7	25.0	28	100	<b>0.012</b> <sup>b</sup>
	No	252	91.6	23	8.4	275	100	
Stressfull event	Yes	37	77.1	11	22.9	48	100	<b>0.003</b> <sup>b</sup>
during pregnancy	No	236	92.5	19	7.5	255	100	
Low birth weight	Yes	15	75.0	5	25.0	20	100	<b>0,036</b> <sup>b</sup>
infant	No	258	91.2	25	8.8	283	100	
		Median	2575.	Median	2575.			
			Percentile		Percentile			
First gestation age		27	23-30	25	21-27			0.023°

<sup>a</sup> Pearson's Chi-squared test. <sup>b</sup>Fisher's exact test. <sup>c</sup> Mann-Whitney U test

### *Tablo IV. Comparision of PSQ and spousal support scores and PPD*

PPD ( cut off 13)								
		No		Yes		Total	_ p value <sup>a</sup>	
	Median	2575.	Median	2575.	Median	2575.	- p varae	
		Percentile		Percentile		Percentile		
PSQ 'importance of need'	169	137-201	167	154-197	169	138-201	0.770	
PSQ 'unmet social support'	15	0-37	45	25-102	17	0-39	0.001>	
Spousal support	70	61-77	60	49-66	70	60-77	0.001>	
	Mean	sd	Mean	sd	Mean	sd		
PSQ 'recieved support'	146	49	106	46	141.74	49.74	<b>0.001</b> > <sup>b</sup>	

sd: standard deviation,PSQ: postpartum support questionnairw. <sup>a</sup>Mann-Whitney U test, <sup>b</sup>Student's t-test

### Psychosociocultural Characteristics

All three scales administered to mothers had high internal consistency. Cronbach's Alpha Coefficients were 0.83; 0.96; 0.96; 0.91 for EPDS, PSQ (importance of need), PSQ (received support) and 'Perceived Spousal Support among Women in Early Postpartum Period' scale respectively. PPD prevalence was 9.9% with cut off score 13 and 14.9% with cut off score 12. Six participants (2%) answered the question 'suicide intention in the last 7 days' as 'sometimes'. Low 'received social support' and spousal support scores but high 'unmet social support' was found to significantly increase PPD frequency (Table IV).

Postpartum depression frequency was higher in mothers who had previous psychiatric disorders and lost relatives in

the last 6 months. Family history of psychiatric disorder and previous PPD did not significantly affect PPD (Table V). First marriage age was found to be lower in mothers with PPD and there was no significant difference in terms of marriage number, intermarriage, marriage style and marriage year. Good communication also was found to be protective for PPD (Table VI).

As a result of multivariate analysis, increase in income per capita was found to reduce the risk of PPD significantly (OR: 0.99). Working actively (OR:8.63), having the first child (compared to having 2 children) (OR:11.20), unplanned pregnancy (OR:3.21), having LBW infant (OR:8.33), high unmet social support' score (OR:1.02) increased PPD significantly (Table VII).

### Table V. Comparison of participants' psychological characteristics with PPD

		PPD ( cu	PPD ( cut off 13)					
		No		Yes	Yes		Total	
		n	%	n	%	n	%	
Previous psychiatric disorder	Yes	30	78.9	8	21.1	38	100	<b>0.036</b> <sup>b</sup>
	No	243	91.7	22	8.3	265	100	
Family history with psychiatric disorders	Yes	43	84.3	8	15.7	51	100	0.13
	No	230	91.3	22	8.7	252	100	
Relative loss in the previous last 6 months	Yes	17	73.9	6	26.1	23	100	$0.017^{\mathrm{b}}$
	No	256	91.4	24	8.6	280	100	
Previous PPD (n=159) <sup>c</sup>	Yes	35	83.3	7	16.7	42	100	0.07 <sup>b</sup>
	No	109	93.2	8	6.8	117	100	

<sup>a</sup>Pearson's Chi-squared test, <sup>b</sup>Fisher's exact test , <sup>c</sup>Women having more than one child

### Table VI. Comparison of participants' sociocultural characteristics and PPD

			I	PD ( cut off	13)			
			No		Yes		Total	
		n	%	n	%	n	%	p value <sup>a</sup>
Number of marriages	One	259	90.6	27	9.4	286	100	0.23
	Two	14	82.4	3	17.6	17	100	
Marriage style	Modern	229	90.5	24	9.5	253	100	0.60 <sup>b</sup>
	Traditional	44	88.0	6	12.0	50	100	
Intermarriage	Yes	45	93.8	3	6.3	48	100	0.44 <sup>b</sup>
	No	228	89.4	27	10.6	255	100	
Communicationwith spouse	Good	262	92.3	22	7.7	284	100	0.001>
	Bad	11	57.9	8	42.1	19	100	
Communicationwith spouse family	Good	251	93.7	17	6.3	268	100	0.001>
	Bad	22	62.9	13	37.1	35	100	
Communicationwith own family	Good	265	91.1	26	8.9	291	100	0.006
	Bad	8	66.7	4	33.3	12	100	
Maritial satisfaction	Good	263	91.3	25	8.7	288	100	0.002
	Bad	10	66.7	5	33.3	15	100	
		Median	2575. percentile	Median	2575.percentile			
First marriage age		24	21-27	22	19-25			0.03°
Marriage years		5	2-9	5	3-11			0.81°

<sup>a</sup>Pearson's Chi-squared test, <sup>b</sup>Fisher's exact test , <sup>c</sup>Mann-Whitney U test

### Table VII. Comparison of risk factors and PPD

	OR (%95 CI)	p value <sup>a</sup>
Age	0.98 (0.89-1.07)	0.715
Lower educational level	0.52 (0.16-1.63)	0.264
(High school and below)		
Income per capita <sup>b</sup>	0.99 (0.98-1.00)	0.005
Actively working °	8.63 (1.71-43.44)	0.009
Child number		0.006
1	11.2 (2.51-49.87)	0.002
2	1	
$3 \leq$	2.29 (0.51-10.18)	0.273
Unplanned pregnancy	3.21 (1.08-9.47)	0.035
Stressful event during pregnancy	2.74 (0.91-8.22)	0.072
Low birth weight infant	8.33 (1.98-35.11)	0.004
PSQ 'unmet social support'	1.02 (1.01-1.03)	0.000
Spousal support score	0.95 (0.91-0.99)	0.019
PSO: Postpartum Support Questionnaire <sup>a</sup> Binary logistic re	gression test. <sup>b</sup> Personal declaration. <sup>c</sup> Not actively working (ne	ever worked paid/unpaid leave)

PSQ: Postpartum Support Questionnaire, <sup>a</sup> Binary logistic regression test, <sup>b</sup> Personal declaration, <sup>c</sup> Not actively working (never worked, paid/unpaid leave)

### 4. DISCUSSION

In the present study, PPD prevalence was 9.9% while cut off score was 13 and 14.9% while cut off score was 12. Increase in income per capita reduced the risk of PPD significantly (OR: 0.99). Actively working (OR:8.63) , having a first child (compared to having 2 children) (OR:11.20), unplanned pregnancy (OR:3.21), having LBW infant (OR:8.33), high unmet social support' score (OR:1.02) increased PPD significantly.

In a comprehensive meta-analysis (n = 12810) of Hara et al., the mean prevalance of PPD was 13% [1]. Studies in Turkey reported 5% - 61.8% value for PPD prevalance. In a metaanalysis composing different regions an average prevalence of 23.8% for PPD [11] was reported. In the present study, PPD prevalence was 9.9%. It may be lower due to the fact that our study was performed in the FHCs not in hospitals. The data collection period was May-July when depression may be seen less, health care behavior in the presence of depression might be decreased. The postpartum period was accepted as 6 months, it was not restricted to the earlier period. All these reasons might have resulted in lower PPD prevalence.

In some of the studies, maternal age, marital status, educational status and number of children did not significantly affect PPD prevalence [1]. On the other hand, in the review of Norhayati et al., low socioeconomical level, low educational level and lowincome were associated with PPD [10]. In the meta-analysis of Özcan et al., income level and spouse working status were prominent among the factors associated with PPD [11]. In the study of Özmen et al., the PPD risk was 1.38 times higher in the first child [22]. In this study, PPD prevalence was higher in the lower education group (13.1%) than in the higher education group (6.3%). PPD risk was 5.9 times higher in the actively working group compared to the non-working mothers (never worked, paid or unpaid leave). Although, not working is considered as a risk factor for PPD generally, it is important to point out that working causes serious stress and tiredness for mothers and may induce PPD. As in many studies, income per capita showed a significant negative relationship with PPD in our study.

The study of Palumbo et al., found no association between number of parity and PPD [23]. But it was reported that having many children in countries with economic difficulties such as Nepal increased PPD and in countries such as the United Arab Emirates where many children are considered advantageous for women, the results were reversed [24]. In our study, having the first child increased PPD 10 times compared to having the second. Lack of experience and higher anxiety levels when having a first child was probably responsible for this predisposition to PPD.

Previously, abortion has been shown to increase the risk of PPD [24]. In the review of Özcan et al., history of abortion and stillbirth were positively associated with PPD in 6 of 15 studies [11]. In our study, PPD frequency was higher in women who had at least one pregnancy loss (curettage, miscarriage, stillbirth) compared to those who did not, but this result was not statistically significant. Therefore, we did not include pregnancy

loss. Unwanted or unplanned pregnancy is a risk factor for PPD [23, 25]. In the study of Arslantaş et al., unwanted pregnancy significantly decreased PPD [26]. In our study, PPD was positive for 7.5% for planned and 19.4% for unplanned pregnancies.In a study performed in Canada, having health problems during pregnancy was a factor increasing PPD risk by 1.45 times [27]. In our study, the frequency of PPD was higher (16.2%) for those who had any health problems during the last pregnancy compared to women who did not (7.9%). In addition, experiencing a stressful event in pregnancy increased PPD by 3.65 times. It is known that LBW infant or neonatal complications of the infant also triggers PPD [28]. In our study, having LBW infant increased PPD risk 6.75 fold.

While infant gender was not associated with PPD in the study of Sylven et al. [29], it was shown that having a female infant was a risk factor for PPD in the study of Deng et al. from China [30]. In our study, no relationship was found between the infant gender and PPD. The fact that Istanbul is a cosmopolitan province may have caused not finding any significant relationship between PPD and infant gender.

Previous psychiatric disorder is a risk factor for PPD in many countries [10]. In the review of Özcan et al., previous psychiatric disorder was positively associated with PPD in 24 of 33 studies. Family history of psychiatric disorder was associated with PPD in 7 of 15 studies [11]. In this study, PPD was more frequent in the participants having previous psychiatric disorder (21.1%) compared to those who did not (8.3%), but no significant relationship was found between family history of psychiatric disorder and PPD.

Inandi et al., showed that PPD increased by 1.34 if the first marriage age was '18 and below' [31]. In our study, first marital age was lower in PPD positive mothers compared to PPD negative ones. First marriage age in Turkey is associated with many basic characteristics such as education level, working status for women.

In the study of Deng et al., a bad relationship with mother-inlaw and sister-in-law was found to increase PPD risk by 2.34 times [30]. The study of Arslantaş et al., showed that relation with spouse, bad relations with own family and poor relationship with friends were found to be positively associated with PPD [26]. In our study, participants having good communication with spouse, spouse family and own family were found as less depressive compared to those having bad communication. Also, having a good maritial relationship was protective against PPD.

In the study performed in Canada, the lack of social support during postpartum period increases the PPD risk by 5.10 times [27]. In a study in Qatar, the lack of family support increases the risk of PPD by 1.6 times [32]. In our study, 'unmet social support' scores were positively correlated with PPD. The absence of sources of social support or poor relations with the social environment is expected to increase the risk of PPD. However, this relation should be interpreted cautiously as women with depression may undervalue social support.

In a prospective study carried out in Korea, 37 mothers in postpartum 1st week were evaluated and their spouses were

provided to support their mother and baby from the 1st to the 6th postpartum week. The spouses' support lowered mothers' postpartum depression (24.3% and 0% respectively for postpartum 1st and 6th week) and increased self-efficacy [33]. Gross et al., carried out a study evaluating the 150 firsttime mothers and fathers from the prenatal period to the 4th postpartum month in the United States. Parenting efficacy experiences were found to be negatively associated with PPD for both mothers and fathers especially in the first postpartum month.[34]. In our study it was found that the mothers who did not exprience PPD had higher spousal support scores. Especially in traditional societies, male partners' perceiving parenting or spousal support as sharing responsibilities and not simply as help will contribute to improving parenting both in mothers and fathers.

There are few studies examining the relation between PPD and social and spousal support in Turkey. Including the FHCs from different socioeconomical regions; effects of factors such as income, educational status, working status were observed more clearly. Response rate (95%) and the rate of reaching the target number of sample size (79%) were high.

As the data were collected in the summer months, less health service use for depressive women and the fact that data were collected during visits to FHCs, may be the causes of lower prevalance of PPD.

### Conclusion

In our study, one out of every ten mothers in the postpartum 0-6 month period had PPD. PPD risk was less in cases with high income; higher in those working actively, having a first child, an unplanned pregnancy, an LBW infant and unmet social support. Evaluation of the psychiatric condition and risk factors of mothers should be done during the visits to gynecology and FHCs providing guidance. Responsibilities such as child-care, housework imposed on the female by the community should be shared by spouses and supported by the social environment, especially for women working in the postpartum period. Unplanned pregnancies should be minimized by effective family

### Compliance with the Ethical Standards

**Ethical Approval**: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Marmara University, School of Medicine (03.11.2017, protocol code: 09.2017.635). Women were provided with participant information sheets, had the study explained to them by a researcher and had the opportunity to ask questions prior to providing informed consent. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

planning especially for women having three or more children.

**Financial Support**: The authors have no relevant financial information to disclose.

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors have no potential conflicts to disclose.

Authors' contributions: N.Y. and D.S. Conceived the study. N.Y.Collected the data. N.Y.and D.S.Performed analyses.

N.Y.YN Initially drafted the manuscript, and D.S. critically revised it. N.Y. and D.S. Approved the submitted article.

### REFERENCES

- O'hara MW, Swain AM. Rates and risk of postpartum depression—a meta-analysis. Int Rev Psychiatry 1996; 8:37-54. doi: doi:10.3109/095.402.69609037816
- [2] Oakley A, Chamberlain G. Medical and social factors in postpartum depression. Obstet Gynecol 1981; 1:182-7. doi: 10.3109/014.436.18109067376
- [3] O'Hara MW, Schlechte JA, Lewis DA, Wright EJ. Prospective study of postpartum blues: biologic and psychosocial factors. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991; 48:801-6. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1991.018.10330025004
- [4] Handley SL, Dunn T, Waldron G, Baker JM. Tryptophan, cortisol and puerperal mood. Brit J Psychiat 1980; 136:498-508. doi: 10.1192/bjp.136.5.498
- [5] Sit D, Rothschild AJ, Wisner KL. A review of postpartum psychosis. J. Women's Health 2006; 15:352-68. doi: 10.1089/ jwh.2006.15.352
- [6] Munk-Olsen T, Laursen TM, Pedersen CB, Mors O, Mortensen PB. New parents and mental disorders: a populationbased register study. JAMA 2006; 296:2582-9. doi:10.1001/ jama.296.21.2582
- [7] Cox JL, Murray D, Chapman G. A controlled study of the onset, duration and prevalence of postnatal depression. Brit J Psychiat 1993; 163:27-31. doi:10.1192/bjp.163.1.27
- [8] O'Hara M. Postpartum depression: Causes and consequences (Series in psychopathology). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [9] Miller LJ. Postpartum depression. JAMA 2002; 287:762-5. doi:10.1001/jama.287.6.762
- [10] Norhayati M, Hazlina NN, Asrenee A, Emilin WW. Magnitude and risk factors for postpartum symptoms: a literature review. J Affect Disord 2015; 175:34-52. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.041
- [11] Özcan NK, Boyacıoğlu NE, Dinç H. Postpartum depression prevalence and risk factors in Turkey: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Affect Disord 2017;31:420-8. doi: 10.1016/j. apnu.2017.04.006
- [12] American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5\*). APA. 2013.
- [13] Cesar J, Chavoushi F. Background Paper 6.15 Depression. 2013.
- [14] Engindeniz N, Küey L, Kültür S. Edinburgh Doğum Sonrası Depresyon Ölçeği'nin Türkçe Formu için Geçerlilik ve Güvenilirlik Çalışması. Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi İzmir: Ege Üniversitesi. 1996 (in Turkish).
- [15] Dean AG, Sullivan KM, Soe MM. OpenEpi: Open Source Epidemiologic Statistics for Public Health, Version. www.OpenEpi.com, updated 2013/04/06, Accessed on 03.12.2021
- [16] Senturk, V., Abas, M., Berksun, O., & Stewart, R. (2011). Social support and antenatal depression in extended and nuclear family environments in Turkey: A cross-sectional

survey. BMC Psychiatry 2011; 11: 1-10. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-48

- [17] Yağmur Y, Ulukoca N. Social support and postpartum depression in low-socioeconomic level postpartum women in Eastern Turkey. International Journal of Public Health 2020;55: 543-9. doi: 10.1007/s00038.010.0182-z
- [18] Matthey S. Using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale to screen for anxiety disorders. Depress Anxiety 25:926-31. doi: 10.1002/da.20415
- [19] Logsdon, M. C., Usui, W., Birkimer, J. C., & McBride, A. B. (1996). The postpartum support questionnaire: Reliability and validity. Journal of Nursing Measurement, 4(2), 129-142. doi: 10.1891/1061-3749.4.2.129
- [20] Ertürk N. Doğum Sonrası Destek Ölçeğinin Türk Toplumuna Uyarlanması. Yüksek Lisans Tezi Ege Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü. 2007 (in Turkish).
- [21] Şahin NH, Dişsiz M, Dinç H, Soypak F. Erken Lohusalık Sürecinde Kadınların Algıladıkları Eş Desteği: Ölçek Geliştirme Çalışması. Journal of Anatolia Nursing and Health Sciences 2014; 17:73-9 (in Turkish).
- [22] Özmen D, Çetinkaya AÇ, Ulas SC, Özmen E. Association between perceived social support and postpartum depression in Turkey. Br J Med Med Res 2014; 4:2025. doi: 10.9734/ BJMMR/2014/6109
- [23] Palumbo G, Mirabella F, Gigantesco A. Positive screening and risk factors for postpartum depression. Eur Psychiat 2017; 42:77-85. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.11.009
- [24] Klainin P, Arthur DG. Postpartum depression in Asian cultures: a literature review. Int J Nurs Stud 2009; 46:1355-73. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.02.012
- [25] Beck CT. Predictors of postpartum depression: an update. Nurs Res 2001; 50:275-85.
- [26] Arslantaş H, Ergin F, Balkaya NA. Aydin il merkezinde doğum sonrası depresyon sıklığı ve ilişkili risk etmenleri.Adnan

Menderes Universitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2009;10:13-22. (in Turkish).

- [27] Kim TH, Connolly JA, Tamim H. The effect of social support around pregnancy on postpartum depression among Canadian teen mothers and adult mothers in the maternity experiences survey. BMC Pregnancy Childb 2014; 14:162. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-162
- [28] Hopkins J, Campbell SB, Marcus M. Role of infant-related stressors in postpartum depression. J Abnorm Psychol 1987; 96:237-41. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.96.3.237
- [29] Sylvén S, Thomopoulos T, Kollia N, Jonsson M, Skalkidou A. Correlates of postpartum depression in first time mothers without previous psychiatric contact. Eur Psychiat 2017; 40:4-12.
- [30] Deng A-W, Xiong R-B, Jiang T-T, Luo Y-P, Chen W-Z. Prevalence and risk factors of postpartum depression in a populationbased sample of women in Tangxia Community, Guangzhou. Asian Pac. J. Trop Med 2014; 7:244-9. doi: 10.1016/S1995-7645(14)60030-4
- [31] Inandi T, Elci OC, Ozturk A, Egri M, Polat A, Sahin TK. Risk factors for depression in postnatal first year, in eastern Turkey. Int J Epidemiol 2002; 31:1201-7. doi: 10.1093/ije/31.6.1201
- [32] Bener A, Gerber LM, Sheikh J. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders and associated risk factors in women during their postpartum period: a major public health problem and global comparison. Int J Women's Health 2012; 4:191. doi: 10.2147/ IJWH.S29380
- [33] Yang J W, Jung I S. Convergence effect of spouse's support on postpartum depression and self-efficacy in primipara. Journal of the Korea Convergence Society. 2018; 9: 171-80. doi: 10.15207/JKCS.2018.9.1.171
- [34] Gross C L, Marcussen K. Postpartum depression in mothers and fathers: The role of parenting efficacy expectations during the transition to parenthood. Sex Roles 2018; 76(5-6): 290-305. doi: 10.1007/s11199.016.0629-7

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

## Constrictive pericarditis diagnosed following liver transplantation

Nilufer CETINER<sup>1</sup> (D), Berna SAYLAN CEVIK<sup>2</sup> (D), Engin TUTAR<sup>3</sup> (D), Elif EROLU<sup>2</sup> (D), Koray AK<sup>4</sup> (D), Figen AKALIN<sup>2</sup> (D)

<sup>1</sup> Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Child Health and Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Koc University, Istanbul, Turkey.
 <sup>2</sup> Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Child Health and Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.
 <sup>3</sup> Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Department of Child Health and Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.
 <sup>4</sup> Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, School of Medicine, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey.

**Corresponding Author:** Nilufer CETINER **E-mail:** nilufercetiner@hotmail.com

Submitted: 06.12.2020 Accepted: 23.03.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Constrictive pericarditis is frequently diagnosed during evaluation of the patients for hepatosplenomegaly and easily missed if not considered in differential diagnosis. Herein, we present a patient diagnosed with constrictive pericarditis during his investigation for impaired liver functions and right heart failure one year after liver transplantation.

A thirteen-year-old boy presented with abdominal distention, dyspnea and fatigue. He had undergone liver transplantation due to liver failure in the previous year, and the symptoms had recurred in the last three months. Physical examination revealed normal heart sounds. Abdominal distention and ascites were present. Cardiothoracic index and pulmonary vascular markings were normal on chest X-ray. Echocardiography showed biatrial dilatation. Thickening of the pericardium with calcifications was demonstrated by thorax computerised tomography. High pulmonary wedge pressure and equalization of end-diastolic pressures were found during catheter-angiography. Pericardiectomy was performed, histopathology was compatible with chronic fibrinous pericarditis. The patient improved dramatically after surgery, the right heart failure findings resolved, and the liver graft functions turned to be normal. Constrictive pericarditis must be considered in differential diagnosis of hepatosplenomegaly, liver dysfunction and right heart failure since surgical treatment is possible and lifesaving.

Keywords: Constrictive pericarditis, Echocardiography, Liver transplantation, Pericardiectomy

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Constrictive pericarditis (CP) is a disease presenting with manifestations of right heart failure and hepatosplenomegaly. Hepatosplenomegaly is thickening, fibrosis, adhesion and rigidity of pericardial membranes and causes impaired diastolic filling of the ventricles [1,2]. Patients with CP are usually diagnosed during the investigation of hepatosplenomegaly and liver disease. Diagnosis may be easily missed if CP is not considered in a differential diagnosis. Right heart failure together with massive ascites after liver transplantation (LT) is a rare condition, the causes of which may include bacterial peritonitis, obstruction of portal or hepatic veins, graft rejection, and renal or cardiac dysfunction. Identification and correction of the underlying cause is crucial [3]. It is important to consider CP in the etiology of liver failure, since it can be easily treated with surgical intervention. To the best of our knowledge, there has been no previous report of right heart failure accompanying massive ascites developing after LT due to CP in children. We report a case diagnosed with CP suggesting liver dysfunction with findings of right heart failure and massive ascites one year after LT due to diagnosis of chronic liver disease in our clinic.

#### 2. CASE REPORT

A thirteen-year-old boy presented to our clinic with abdominal swelling, shortness of breath, and early fatigue. The patient had undergone LT with a diagnosis of chronic liver disease in the previous year and the pre-transplantation symptoms had recurred over in the last three months. He was referred to our clinic for evaluation for re-transplantation. In physical examination arterial blood pressure was 110/70 mmHg in both arms, and heart rate was 86/min; his skin was pale, bilateral pretibial pitting edema was present. Cardiovascular system examination revealed normal rhythmic heart sounds, additional sounds or murmurs were not audible. Abdominal distension and ascite was found. Other system examinations were unremarkable.

How to cite this article: Cetiner N, Saylan Cevik B, Tutar E, Erolu E, Ak Koray, Akalin F. Constrictive pericarditis diagnosed following liver transplantation. Marmara Med J 2021; 34: 335-338, doi: 10.5472/marumj.1012634 In biochemical evaluation; complete blood count was normal; aspartate transaminase 284 IU/l, alanine aminotransferase 452 IU/l, gamma glutamyl transpeptidase 128 IU/l, total protein 6.2 g/dl, and albumin 3.2 g/dl, and mild bilirubin elevation were found. Acute phase reactants were negative. Cardiothoracic ratio and pulmonary vascular markings were normal on chest X-ray. Electrocardiography showed bi-atrial dilatation. Echocardiography revealed normal left ventricular dimensions and systolic functions; both left and right atria were enlarged (Figure 1). Mitral inflow velocities varied significantly with respiration (mitral E flow velocity at inspiration 0.64 m/sec, mitral E in expiration 1.02 m/sec). Tissue Doppler mitral E' was normal (0.98 m/sec). Constrictive and restrictive cardiomyopathy was considered in differential diagnosis. Thoracic computed tomography (CT) and diagnostic catheter angiography were scheduled. Pericardial thickness had increased 2.8 mm and foci of pericardial calcifications were present on thorax CT (Figure 2). Catheter angiography revealed increased right atrial and pulmonary wedge pressures with equalization of end diastolic pressures. The following measurements were obtained: pulmonary artery wedge 18 mmHg, pulmonary artery pressure 30/20 mmHg, right ventricular pressure 31/17 mmHg, right atrial pressure 16 mmHg, left ventricular pressure 80/20 mmHg, and aortic pressure 79/50 mmHg . Pericardiectomy was performed. Histologic examination of the pericardial tissue was compatible with chronic fibrinous pericarditis. Since, tuberculosis is one of the leading causes of CP, and prevelant in Turkey, Quantiferon test was performed and resulted negative. The patient's clinical state improved dramatically after surgery, and the findings of right heart failure resolved entirely at two-year follow-up. Liver graft functions returned to normal levels, and the transplanted graft was saved. Thus, re-transplantation was not performed. The child had no signs of liver or heart failure. A written consent was obtained from the patient's parents for the publication of this case report and any accompanying images.



Figure 1. Biatrial dilatation in 4-chamber view on 2 D echocardiograpy.



Figure 2. Computed tomography revealed pericardial thickening and microcalcifications.

### **3. DISCUSSION**

Constrictive pericarditis is a clinical syndrome occurring due to chronic inflammation causing fibrotic thickening, calcification and adhesion of the pericardial lavers which causes impaired diastolic filling of the ventricles. Tuberculosis, radiation, uremia, connective tissue diseases, trauma, heart surgery, and malignancy may be found as the underlying etiology; however, the majority of cases are idiopathic [4,5]. Liver transplantation related constrictive pericarditis is reported in only one adult patient previously [6]. Constrictive pericarditis may present with sign and symptoms of chronic renal disease, hepatomegaly and ascite may develop due to right heart failure. Other causes of graft dysfunction following liver transplantation may be bacterial or fungal peritonitis, obstruction of hepatic and portal veins or graft rejection [3,7-9]. On the other hand, several adult cases with CP has been reported following renal transplantation resulting graft dysfunction [10]. Absence of infectious causes and venous obstruction and dramatic improvement after pericardiectomy suggests constrictive pericarditis as the cause of liver dysfunction in our patient. It is difficult to understand if the initial liver dysfunction leading to liver transplantation was also related to constrictive pericarditis or constrictive pericarditis has developed as a consequence of the first transplantation in our patient retropectively since the cardiac evaluation before the first operation has been performed in another center and data at hand is inadequate. However, to our knowledge this is the first pediatric case with CP following liver transplantation.

As the pericardium becomes rigid in CP, ventricular filling is restricted, cardiac compliance decreases, systemic, hepatic, and pulmonary venous congestion occurs due to diastolic dysfunction. Compromised blood flow results in equalization of diastolic pressures in the right and left ventricles and the pressure in the splanchnic system raises [2]. In the subsequent stages, hepatic congestion may progress to fibrosis and then to cirrhosis, resulting in organ loss.

The clinical findings of CP can be highly variable, usually patients with CP present with weakness, easy fatigue, dyspnea, cough, weight loss, and chest pain. Jugular vein distension, ascites, hepatosplenomegaly, pretibial edema, muffled heart sounds and pericardial knock may be found in physical examination [11]. Our patient also had early fatigue and shortness of breath, and physical examination revealed the abdominal distension and pretibial edema.

Transthoracic echocardiography is helpful in the differential diagnosis of right heart failure. Decreased pericardial movement and increased pericardial echogenicity can be seen on echocardiography in patients with CP. Enlargement of the atria and vena cava superior and inferior, and attenuation of respiratory movements of the vena cava inferior may be detected [2,12]. Enlargement of both atria was present on echocardiography in our case which may suggest either CP or restrictive cardiomyopathy (RCMP). Doppler echocardiography is a useful method for differentiating CP and RCMP. A marked change occurs in CP, with respiration in the early ventricular diastolic volume rates, with tricuspid velocity increasing with inspiration and mitral flow velocity decreasing. A change exceeding 25% in mitral flow velocity with respiration is suggestive of CP. This finding is extremely uncommon in RKMP [12]. A marked change in mitral inflow was observed with respiration in the present case.

Differential diagnosis of CP and RCMP is a challenge in cardiology, which was also the case in our patient since some infiltrative diseases may cause both liver disease and restrictive cardiomyopathy. Diastolic dysfunction causes similar clinical and hemodynamic features in CP and RCMP. Atrial dilatation is more marked and ventricular systolic dysfunction may be present in RCMP. Presence of pericardial thickening, septal bouncing, prominent respiratory velocity changes in diastole suggests CP. Tissue Doppler velocity of lateral mitral annulus in diastole is normal or increased in CP while decreased in RCMP. E/E' decreases in CP.

Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging are useful non-invasive diagnostic tools with excellent sensitivity (88%) and specificity (100%) permitting direct visualization of pericardial thickening and calcifications [13]. Thoracal CT revealed pericardial thickening and calcifications in our patient.

Catheter angiography demonstrated elevated and equalized enddiastolic pressures of both ventricles and elevated pulmonary artery wedge pressure in our case that also supported the diagnosis of CP.

Pericardiectomy is the treatment of choice for symptomatic and severe CP, with surgical mortality rates of 6% and sevenyear survival of approximately 88% [14]. Our case was referred for surgery and pericardiectomy and pericardial biopsy was performed at the same time. Diagnosis was confirmed when chronic fibrinous pericarditis was reported in histologic examination of pericardial tissue. Clinical condition of our patient improved dramatically after surgery, and the liver graft was saved.

Constrictive pericarditis must be considered and searched for in patients with symptoms of liver failure either before and after liver transplantation since it is a treatable condition by surgery. Our case is the first reported case of CP following LT.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Funding:** No financial support was received for this study. The authors have no financial or proprietary interest in any material or method mentioned.

**Authors' Contributions**: NC: Coordinated and supervised data collection, drafted the initial manuscript, reviewed and revised the manuscript, BSC: Conceptualized and designed the case, coordinated and supervised data collection, EE, KA and ET : Had active roles in the diagnosis and treatment of the patients, FA : Critically reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- [1] Nishimura RA. Constrictive pericarditis in the modern era: a diagnostic dilemma. Heart 2001;86:619-23. doi: 10.1136/ heart.86.6.619.
- [2] Bergman M, Vitrai J, Salman H. Constrictive pericarditis: A reminder of a not so rare disease. Eur J Intern Med 2006; 17: 457-64. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2006.07.006.
- [3] Gotthardt DN, Weiss KH, Rathenberg V, Schemmer P, Stremmel W, Sauer P. Persistent ascites after liver transplantation: etiology, treatment and impact on survival. Ann Transplant 2013; 18: 378-83. doi: 10.12659/ AOT.883982.
- [4] Szabó G, Schmack B, Bulut C, et al. Constrictive pericarditis: risks, aetiologies and outcomes after total pericardiectomy: 24 years of experience. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013;44:1023-8. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt138.
- [5] Myers RB, Spodick DH. Constrictive pericarditis: clinical and pathophysiologic characteristics. Am Heart J 1999;138:219-32. doi: 10.1016/s0002-8703(99)70105-5.
- [6] Bezjak M, Kocman B, Jadrijević S, et.al. Constrictive pericarditis as a cause of refractory ascites after liver transplantation: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2019;7: 3266-70. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v7.i20.3266.
- [7] Runyon BA. AASLD Practice Guidelines Committee. Management of adult patients with ascites due to cirrhosis: an update. Hepatology 2009; 49: 2087-107. doi: 10.1002/ hep.22853.
- [8] Lominadze Z, Kia L, Shah S, Parekh K, Levitsky J. Constrictive pericarditis as a cause of refractory ascites. ACG Case Rep J 2015; 2: 175-7. doi: 10.14309/crj.2015.46.
- [9] Barry M, Al-Muhaidb S, Fathala A. A case report of constrictive pericarditis: a forgotten cause of refractory

ascites. Radiol Case Rep 2020;15:2565-8. doi: 10.1016/j. radcr.2020.09.053.

- [10] Celebi ZK, Keven K, Sengul S, et al. Constrictive pericarditis after renal transplantation: three case reports. Transplant Proc 2013; 45: 953-5. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2013.02.060.
- [11] Ling LH, Oh JK, Schaff HV, et al. Constrictive pericarditis in the modern era: evolving clinical spectrum and impact on outcome after pericardiectomy. Circulation 1999;100:1380-6. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.100.13.1380.
- [12] Welch T.D, Ling L.H, Espinosa R.E, et al. Echocardiographic diagnosis of constrictive pericarditis Mayo Clinic criteria.

Circulation: Cardiovascular Imaging 2014; 7:3 526-34. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.113.001613.

- [13] Howard JP, Jones D, Mills P, Marley R, Wragg A. Recurrent ascites due to constrictive pericarditis. Frontline Gastroenterol 2012; 3: 233-7. doi: 10.1136/flgastro-2012-100173.
- [14] Chowdhury UK, Subramaniam GK, Kumar AS, et al. Pericardiectomy for constrictive pericarditis: a clinical, echocardiographic, and hemodynamic evaluation of two surgical techniques. Ann Thorac Surg 2006; 81: 522-9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2005.08.009.

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

Case Report

https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/marumj

## An unusual acute onset hard and small volume epidural blood clotting after anterior cervical discectomy with tetraparetic neurological findings

Hadi SASANI<sup>1</sup> , Mehdi SASANI<sup>2</sup>, Fahir OZER<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Radiology, School of Medicine, Tekirdag Namik Kemal University, Tekirdag, Turkey.
<sup>2</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, School of Medicine, Koc University, Istanbul, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Hadi SASANI E-mail: hsasani@nku.edu.tr

Submitted: 05.02.2020 Accepted: 15.04.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF) is one of the most commonly used surgical method to treat a variety of disorders in the cervical spine. Although, the incidence of complication related to ACDF is low, hematomas can be confronted after surgery. We report a 52-year-old male patient presented with complaints of paraesthesia and sensory loss in the upper extremities. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed a large central-right paracentral protrusion resulting in narrowing of the spinal channel at the level of C5-C6 accompanied by spinal cord compression and bilateral foraminal stenosis. ACDF was performed at this level. Five hours after surgery, sudden onset paraesthesia and tetraparesis developed. Urgent cervical MRI depicted acute filling half of the discectomy cavity, compressing the dural sac and spinal cord. The patient underwent revision surgery and the symptoms improved postoperatively. The patient received conservative therapy and was discharged without any nerological problem. Despite being a rare condition, sudden onset of neurological symptoms such as tetraparesis after ACDF surgery should remind the presence of hematoma at the surgical site.

Keywords: Discectomy, Magnetic Resonance Imaging, Hematoma

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF) were first described by Smith and Robinson in 1958 [1]. It is a gold standard treatment method for many degenerative cervical spine diseases including disc herniation, radiculopathy, myelopathy, instability caused by degeneration or trauma, infection and tumours [2]. It is a relatively easy, reliable method with minimal risk [3]. ACDF is a widely used treatment technique which includes decompression of neural elements and stabilization when necessary, either through an anterior, posterior or combined approach. The approach selection depends on the location of the compressive element, type of fracture or ligament injury and the overall alignment [4].

Although, the incidence of complication related to ACDF is low, problems such as neural injury (recurrent laryngeal, superior laryngeal, hypoglossal nerve), organ injuries (oesophagus, trachea, vertebral and carotid artery, spinal cord and nerve roots, hoarseness, wound infection, CSF leakage) and hematomas can be seen after surgery [4-6].

Complications may be fatal if airway is involved due to cervical swelling or a hematoma and bleeding in the epidural space

that may result in neurologic injury after ACDF surgery [7]. Therefore, the immediate diagnosis is crucial.

In this paper, clinical and imaging findings of an epidural hematoma that developed shortly after the operation with sudden onset of neurological deterioration, are presented.

### 2. CASE REPORT

A 52-year-old male patient presented with right-sided upper extremity radiating pain, right-sided sensation loss and muscle weakness ongoing for the last six months in his right arm. The neurological examination revealed 2/5 right biceps muscle weakness and paresthesia compatible with right C6 nerve root dermatomal zone. Cervical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examination showed a large central-right paracentral extrusion which compressed the right C6 nerve root. Upper extremity electromyography test demonstrated acute denervation on the right C6 nerve root. The patient underwent surgical treatment. Anterior cervical C5-C6 microdiscectomy with implantation of anterior interbody cage and demineralized bone matrix was performed to establish fusion. The duration of the surgery was

How to cite this article: Sasani H, Sasani M, Ozer F. An unusual acute onset hard and small volume epidural blood clotting after anterior cervical discectomy with tetraparetic neurological findings. Marmara Med J 2021; 34: 339-343, doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013491

45 minutes with no bleeding and neural structure damage. The patient was followed in the recovery room for one hour postoperatively. Vital findings were in the physiologic rate. He was transferred to neurosurgery patient ward after final examination by anaesthesiologist. His situation was uneventful till the five hours postoperatively, but he had complaints of numbness in the whole body, feeling as radiating electricity and could not move his upper and lower extremities. The physical examination revealed tetrapareses (upper extremities 2/5, lower extremities 4/5 muscle weakness). He was urgently transferred to obtain the whole spinal MRI. There were no brain functional disorders.



**Figure 1.** Sagittal and axial MRI images show a large central-right paracentral protrusion resulting in narrowing the spinal channel at the level of C5-C6 with posterior longitudinal ligament thickening and spinal cord compression. Bilateral foraminal stenosis at this level is present.

Urgent cervical MRI showed acute hematoma which was isointense in axial and sagittal T1-weighted images (WI), hyperintense in T2-WI; filling of the posterior space of the implanted cage and half of the discectomy cavity occupying more than half of the spinal canal in the C5-C6 level. It was measured 13.4 x 6.3 x 21 mm (0.886 ml) below one millilitre. This acute small hematoma compressed the dural sac and spinal cord at the level of C5-C6 (Figure 2). The patient was urgently transferred to operating room to evacuate haematoma. About 2 ml hematoma was evacuated by aspiration and serum physiologic irrigation. The hematoma was very hard as if stone, which was not irrigable during the surgery. Haemostasis was gentelly done using haemostatic fibrin agents and bipolar cauterization. An interbody cage and demineralized bone matrix were re-implanted in C5-C6 intervertebral body space and then hemovac drainage catheter was placed. No active vascular or bone sponges focus of bleeding was found at revision surgery. In the postoperative first day, muscle weakness of the upper and lower extremities decreased and his condition improved.

Blood analysis of activated partial thromboplastin time (28 seconds), prothrombin time (10,8 seconds), international normalized ratio (INR: 0.98) and platelet count were in physiologic ranges. Further haematological studies were done in order to clarify the underlying pathology (von Willebrand factor deficiency, factor XII deficiency, haemophilia A), no remarkable finding was present.

Physical treatment protocol was performed by physical medicine physicians. Four days postoperatively, the ambulation of the patient was done with walker and cane. The patient fully recovered ten days postoperatively and discharged.



**Figure 2.** Obtained urgent MRI five hours later postoperatively. Sagittal and axial T1 and T2-weighted MR images demonstrate acute hematoma which fills the half of the discectomy cavity, compressing the dural sac and spinal cord at C5-C6 disc level. The hematoma is isointense on T1-WI and hyperintense on T2-WI (A,D arrows). Metallic cage is shown (C, asterisk). The size of the hematoma is shown in T2-weighted images (C,D).



Figure 3. shows resorption of hematoma (postoperative 4th day).



Figure 4. shows resorption of hematoma (postoperative 11th day).



*Figure 5.* Illustration of the present case shows the hematoma at C5-C6 level compressing the dural sac and spinal cord. Metallic cage and inside demineralized bone matrix are shown.

### **3. DISCUSSION**

The characteristic of current case is that after ACDF, neurological impairment and tetraparesis developed as a result of a rigid, immobile and stone-like small hematoma.

Possible complications such as epidural bleeding may be life threatening. Etiologic factors include trauma, invasive procedures (lumbar puncture, permanent spinal catheters, spine surgery), hematologic conditions (anticoagulation therapy, blood dyscrasias), infections, vascular malformations and pregnancy [8,9]. Studies revealed that all potentially life-threatening complications occur in the first six hours and patients should be discharged after the six hours observation period [10]. Among postoperative complications, dysphagia and hematoma are the two most common conditions which require intensive care during or after the operation. Some other complications such as airway oedema and respiratory involvement may peak at the second and third postoperative day [11].

The incidence of spinal epidural hematomas after surgery is very low (0.24%) [6,8]. Mean occurrence age of patients is between 50 – 80 years and the male dominant ratio is present (Male/ female ratio = 1.4/1) [12,13].

There are some case studies and case series of ACDF that reported the complications of ACDF as well as hematoma in the literature (Table I). Although, the overall complication rates were low (1.71%) compared to other studies, in a metaanalysis study by Ben et al., four cases with hematoma were reported. They also mentioned dysphagia as the most common complication. Patients with hematoma were reported to have swelling, infection and pain [14]. This is an important point which indicates hematoma can occur early postoperatively, independent of complication rates.

Author	Total Cases	Cases with complication	Complication rate (%)	Complication
Adamson, et al. [22]	629	13	2.07	Hematoma (n=1)
Lied, et al. [23]	96	4	4.17	Hematoma (n=1)
Ben, et al. [14]	1693	29	1.71	Hematoma (n=4)

Table I. Bleeding complication in outpatient surgery

Yi et al., reported a series of postoperative epidural hematomas resulting in neurologic deterioration [6]. They retrospectively reviewed the database of 3720 cases over 7 years. Nine patients with postoperative neurologic in whom required surgical decompression were identified. They described the incidence of postoperative epidural hematoma as 0.24%. After decompression, clinical outcome revealed complete recovery in 3 cases (33.3%), incomplete recovery in 5 cases (55.6%) and no change in 1 case (11.1%). Factors increasing the risk of postoperative bleeding were defined as coagulopathy or anticoagulation therapy (44.4%) and highly vascularized tumour (33.3%). The time interval to evacuation of complete recovery group (29.3 hours) was shorter than incomplete recovery group (66.3 hours). Patients with coagulopathy and highly vascularized tumour were more vulnerable to develop spinal epidural hematoma. The postoperative outcome was related to the preoperative neurological deficit and the time interval

to the decompression. In our case, the time of evacuation of hematoma after symptoms beginning to treatment was done less than six hours with complete recovery. There was no underlying pathology such as coagulopathy, tumour or AVM in our case.

Similar to our study Kim et al. [15] reported a case (36-yearold male) with sudden onset of cervical epidural bleeding which had developed within 5 minutes after surgery. The total surgery time was 108 minutes, and estimated blood loss was 50 cc. After surgery, five minutes later, he had developed tetraparesis. MRI showed an extensive epidural hematoma from C2 to T5, ventral to the spinal cord. The patient underwent an immediate revision operation and fresh blood was evacuated. On neurological exam after the revision ACDF, neurological symptoms had recovered. The post-op epidural hematoma had completely disappeared on follow-up imaging. In the article, the authors did not mention any finding about bleeding disorders or underlying pathology. Similar to this study as in our case, the hematoma was evacuated immediately, however, time of onset of symptoms in our case was 3 hours after surgery.

Jankowski et al. reported a 32-year-old female patient with huge acute cervical epidural hematoma as a complication developed after anterior cervical discectomy, resulting in complete loss of motor functions in the upper and lower limbs within 6 hours postoperatively. However, in our case, only a hematoma smaller than 1 ml caused the same clinical findings [16].

Imaging plays important role in diagnosis. MRI is the first-line diagnostic modality in detection [17]. It is able to demonstrate the exact location, extension, distribution, size of the hematoma as well as its relation with spinal cord and the severity of the cord compression [18].

The hematoma shows isointense signal on T1-WI, high signal on T2-WI in acute stage (within 24 hours) and hyperintensity on both T1 – and T2 – weighted images in subacute stage (36 hours after symptom onset) [19,20]. Spinal angiography is not valuable particularly for those patients with progressive neurological deterioration [21].

In presented case, before the neurological symptoms occurred after the surgery in the earliest postoperative period, we thought it was a huge hematoma occupying the larger space as we wait in cervical surgeries on the base of literature knowledge and neck surgeons' experiences. However, cervical MRI study demonstrated only below 1 ml of hematoma (Figure 2) resulting in the acute onset of tetrapareses. The cause of these symptoms was not due to the size of the hematoma, but was owing to its nature of the clot. The stone-like hematoma, compressed the Dural sac as well as spinal cord resulting in the symptoms. If the hematoma distributed homogenously and was not organised, the symptoms would have not prominent due to spread to larger area; therefore, destructive force of haematoma on spinal cord is decreased. Just despite of our case that it was very hard and cumulative haematoma as a bullet.

### Conclusion

It is important to keep in mind that in a patient with sudden onset of neurological deterioration after ACDF surgery, the surgeon should consider the possibility of epidural hematoma at the surgical region and urgent MRI is required to clarify the pathology.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding: No financial support was received for this study..

**Authors' Contributions**: HS.: Conception and design of the study. HS, MS. : Collection, analysis and interpretation of the data. FO.:Drafting the article and revising it critically for important intellectual content. Authors approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- Denaro V, Di Martino A. Cervical spine surgery: an historical perspective. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2011;469:639-48. doi: 10.1007/s11999.010.1752-3.
- [2] Hans P, Delleuze PP, Born JD, Bonhomme V. Epidural hematoma after cervical spine surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 2003;15:282-5. doi: 10.1097/00008.506.200307000-00020.
- [3] Fowler SB, Anthony-Phillips P, Mehta D, Liebman K. Healthrelated quality of life in patients undergoing anterior cervical discectomy fusion. J Neurosci Nurs 2005;37:97-100.
- [4] Cheung JP, Luk KD. Complications of anterior and posterior cervical spine surgery. Asian Spine J 2016;10:385-400. doi: 10.4184/asj.2016.10.2.385.
- [5] Cabana F, Pointillart V, Vital J, Senegas J. Postoperative compressive spinal epidural hematomas. 15 cases and a review of the literature. Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot 2000;86:335-45.
- [6] Yi S, Yoon DH, Kim KN, Kim SH, Shin HC. Postoperative Spinal Epidural Hematoma: Risk Factor and Clinical Outcome. Yonsei Med J 2006;47:326-32. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2006.47.3.326.
- [7] Fountas KN, Kapsalaki EZ, Nikolakakos LG, Smisson HF, Johnston KW, Grigorian AA, et al. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion associated complications. Spine 2007;21:2310-7. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e318154c57e.
- [8] Aono H, Ohwada T, Hosono N, Tobimatsu H, Ariga K, Fuji T, et al. Incidence of postoperative symptomatic epidural hematoma in spinal decompression surgery. J Neurosurg Spine 2011;15:202-5. doi:10.3171/2011.3.SPINE10716.
- [9] Jang JW, Lee JK, Seo BR, Kim SH. Spontaneous resolution of tetraparesis because of postoperative cervical epidural hematoma. Spine J 2010;10:e1-5. doi: 10.1016/j. spinee.2010.09.021.
- [10] Lied B, Sundseth J, Helseth E. Immediate (0–6 h), early (6– 72 h) and late (>72 h) complications after anterior cervical discectomy with fusion for cervical disc degeneration; discharge six hours after operation is feasible. Acta Neurochir 2008;150:111-8. doi: 10.1007/s00701.007.1472-y.
- [11] Suk KS, Kim KT, Lee SH, Park SW. Prevertebral soft tissue swelling after anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with plate fixation. Int Orthop 2006;30:290-4. doi: 10.1007/ s00264.005.0072-9.

- [12] Groen RJ, Ponssen H. The spontaneous spinal epidural hematoma. A study of the etiology. J Neurol Sci 1990;98:121-38. doi: 10.1016/0022-510x(90)90253-j.
- [13] Groen RJ, van Alphen HA. Operative treatment of spontaneous spinal epidural hematomas: a study of the factor determining postoperative outcome. Neurosurgery 1996;39:494-509. doi: 10.1097/00006.123.199609000-00012.
- [14] Ban D, Liu Y, Cao T, Feng S. Safety of outpatient anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Med Res 2016;21:34. doi: 10.1186/ s40001.016.0229-6.
- [15] Kim JS, Kuh SU. Immediate Revision Surgery due to Post-Anterior Cervical Discectomy and Fusion (ACDF) Spinal Epidural Hematoma. Korean J Spine 2012;9:111-3. doi: 10.14245/kjs.2012.9.2.111.
- [16] JankowskiR,ZukielR,NowakS.Ostrykrwiaknadtwardówkowy w odcinku szyjnym kregosłupa—powikłanie po przedniej discektomii C5-C6, C5-C6. Opis przypadku [Acute cervical epidural hematoma as a complication of anterior cervical C5-C6 diskectomy. A case report]. Neurol Neurochir Pol. 2003;37:955-62. In Polish.
- [17] Matsumura A, Namikawa T, Hashimoto R, Okamoto T, Yanagida I, Hoshi M, et al. Clinical management for spontaneous epidural hematoma: diagnosis and treatment. Spine J 2007;8:534-7. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2007.01.009.

- [18] Liu Z, Jiao Q, Xu J, Wang X, Li S, You C. Spontaneous spinal epidural hematoma: analysis of 23 cases. Surg Neurol 2008;69:253-60; discussion 260. doi: 10.1016/j. surneu.2007.02.019.
- [19] Lee DY, Lee SH. Cervicothoracic spinal epidural hematoma after anterior cervical spinal surgery. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 2010;48:541-3. doi: 10.3340/jkns.2010.48.6.541.
- [20] Boukobza M, Haddar D, Boissonet M, Merland JJ. Spinal subdural haematoma: a study of three cases. Clin Radiol 2001;56:475-80. doi: 10.1053/crad.2000.0466.
- [21] Qiu W, Sun W, Guo C, Wu Z, Ding M, Shen H. Diagnosis and microsurgery of symptomatic spontaneous spinal epidural hematoma. Ir J Med Sci 2011;180:241-5. doi: 10.1007/ s11845.010.0533-z.
- [22] Adamson T, Godil SS, Mehrlich M, Mendenhall S, Asher AL, McGirt MJ. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion in the outpatient ambulatory surgery setting compared with the inpatient hospital setting: analysis of 1000 consecutive cases. J Neurosurg Spine 2016;5:1-7. doi: 10.3171/2015.8.SPINE14284.
- [23] Lied B, Rønning PA, Halvorsen CM, Ekseth K, Helseth E. Outpatient anterior cervical discectomy and fusion for cervical disk disease: a prospective consecutive series of 96 patients. Acta Neurol Scand 2013;127:31-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2012.01674.x.

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# Calyceal diverticular stones: Does the insistence on less invasive technique keep the patient away from a major complication?

Murat Tugrul EREN<sup>1</sup> (D), Hakan OZVERI<sup>2</sup> (D)

<sup>1</sup> Operating Room Services, Vocational School of Health Sciences, Acibadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University and Urology Clinic, Acibadem Kozyatagi Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Urology, School of Medicine, Acibadem Mehmet Ali Aydinlar University, Istanbul, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Murat Tugrul EREN E-mail: murat.eren@acibadem.com

Submitted: 17.01.2021 Accepted: 28.04.2021

#### ABSTRACT

Calyceal diverticular stones are rare clinical entities without a clearly defined consensus on the treatment. Treatment indications include recurrent urinary tract infections, chronic pain and renal impairment. Treatment modality of surgical approach is usually based on the location of calyceal diverticulum.

A 23-year-old woman was presented with a calyceal diverticular stone of 16.5 mm. Her medical history revealed multiple urinary tract infections caused by extended spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)-producing Escherichia coli of which the stone was predicted to be the reason. The patient was treated ureterorenoscopically, a decision of which was taken intra-operatively.

In conclusion, insisting on performing nephroscopy following an intra-operative retrograde pyelography revealed no apparent ostium which could be interpreted as ureterorenoscopic retriaval would fail and development of postoperative bacteremia despite all precautions taken pre-and intra-operatively were two lessons indicating that all efforts must be exercised to reach the most minimal invasive method for the treatment of calyceal diverticular stones.

Keywords: Calyceal kidney stone, Endoscopic treatment, Flexible ureteroscopy

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Calyceal diverticular stones are rare clinical entities without a clearly defined consensus on treatment [1]. Treatment indications include recurrent urinary tract infections, chronic pain, and renal impairment [2]. The location of the diverticulum in the kidney usually determines the treatment modality or surgical approach for stones, and infundibular length and opening of the diverticulum may affect not only the treatment modality, but also the success rates [3]. Ureterorenoscopic retrieval of the stone in a calyceal diverticulum is recommended for small-sized stones located in the upper/mid and anterior locations, whereas, percutaneous nephrolithotomy (PCNL) is recommended for larger stones and lower and posterior locations, yielding higher stone-free rates [4]. However, infectious and major complications rates are still higher with PCNL.

Herein, we report a 23-year-old patient presenting with a calyceal diverticular stone treated by ureterorenoscopic stone retrieval technique.

### 2. CASE REPORT

A 23-year-old female patient with a body mass index of 20,7 kg/  $\rm m^2$  was referred to our urology outpatient clinic due to recurrent

urinary tract infections for the past two years. During her physical examination, left costovertebral angle sensitivity was detected. An ultrasonographic evaluation revealed an intraparenchymal, hyperechogenic lesion in the upper posterior pole, measured maximally at 16.5 mm in size. The hyperechogenic lesion was suspicious for intra-parenchymally located kidney stone trapped behind the narrowed infundibula of the diverticulum. The parenchyma over the stone was very thin. A non-contrast computed tomography (CT) was performed for further evaluation, as the patient refused intravenous (IV) contrast media injection. A very small infundibular opening of the diverticulum was barely predicted at the CT cross-sections (Fig. 1). Decision of surgical intervention for the stone was taken and a written informed consent was obtained from the patient for both antegrade and retrograde approach.

The patient was given 1 g of meropenem (IV) preoperatively as prophylactic antibiotherapy, as the patient had a history of multiple urinary tract infections caused by resistant bacteria, although preoperative culture was sterile. Under general anesthesia, retrograde pyelogram (RPG) was performed using an 8F open-end ureteral catheter inserted to the left collecting system. Particular care was exercised not to increase the

How to cite this article: Eren MT, Ozveri H. Calyceal diverticular stones: Does the insistence on less invasive technique keep the patient away from a major complication? Marmara Med J 2021; 34: 344-347, doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013465

intrapelvic pressure, as the patient was still carrying a risk for bacteremia. Despite waiting for 3 to 4 min, the diverticulum was seen not to be filled with contrast media, which could be an indicator of stenotic infundibulum under fluoroscopy (Fig. 2). Subsequently, diagnostic flexible ureterorenoscopy (fURS) was performed to confirm the anatomy. An 8-10F ureteral access sheath of 35 cm in length was inserted into the upper ureter under fluoroscopic guidance over the guidewire. A millimetric punctuate ridge, which was thought to be the possible ostium of the diverticulum, was able to be visualized at the upper posterior pole during fURS (Fig. 3). A 0.035-inch guidewire was advanced through this ridge, entering the diverticulum and passing as confirmed by fluoroscopy. Using holmium laser, a precise cut of the mucosa beneath the guidewire and close to the infundibular ostium was done, allowing the entrance into the diverticulum. Lithotripsy was performed with a 270-micron holmium laser probe (Ho: Yttrium Aluminum Garnet (YAG) Laser; Dornier MedTech GmbH, Munich, Germany), after the stone was monitored with flexible ureterorenoscopy (Flex-X2, Karl Storz SE & Co. KG, Tuttlingen, Germany). Stone basketing was performed by tipless nitinol baskets (Zero Tip<sup>™</sup>; Dakotta<sup>™</sup> Boston Scientific Corp., MN, USA). During the operation, the following settings were used for the laser energy: 10-20 Hz frequency and a power of 0.4-1.0 Joule. Dusting, popcorn and fragmentation modes were used for stone management. No residual stone fragment was left. Nephroscopic evaluation was also performed to confirm that no stones were migrated from the diverticulum to the other calyces and, finally, RPG revealed an intact infundibulum of the diverticulum (Fig. 4). The procedure was ended by inserting a 4.8F, 26 cm DJ stent with a magnetic tip (Black-Star; Urotech GmbH, Achenmühle, Germany) and catheterization of the bladder with a 16F Foley catheter.

At the fifth postoperative hour, the patient developed serious hypotension (70/40 mmHg), high fever (38.5°C), and shivering. Complete blood count and laboratory analysis revealed a white blood cell count of 19,000/mm<sup>3</sup> and elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) values. The platelet count also decreased with abnormal liver function tests. After taking blood culture samples, continuous high-flow (250 ml/h) IV fluid was given to achieve an optimal blood pressure. As the patient was clinically accepted as systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) with infection, IV antibiotic regimen was continued with meropenem (1 g t.i.d.). With supportive treatment, the patient recovered gradually without any sequelae. At postoperative day 5, all biochemical and clinical parameters of SIRS resolved, and the patient was discharged with oral antibiotherapy for 21 days.

On postoperative day 15, ultrasonographic evaluation showed a normal left kidney without a stone inside and the DJ stent was removed. Stone analysis revealed a mixed stone type containing calcium oxalate and carbonate apatite. Diet and proper recommendations according to the stone type was given to the patient. At three months of follow-up, there was no stone in the left kidney and a very small-sized diverticulum was visualized on ultrasonography. The patient is still free from symptoms and urinary tract infection at eight months of follow-up.



*Figure 1.* A non-contrast computed tomography image showing very small infundibular opening of the diverticulum.



*Figure 2. Diverticulum not filled with contrast agent.* 



*Figure 3.* A view of ostium-like ridge at upper pole posteriorly during flexible ureterorenoscopy.



*Figure 4.* Retrograde pyelography showing an intact infundibulum of the diverticulum after removal of stones.

### **3. DISCUSSION**

Calyceal diverticula are very rare abnormalities with an incidence of less than 1% [1]. They communicate with the collecting system through an infundibulum [2], and the diameter and length of the infundibulum are the main determinants of complications. The most common indication for surgical treatment of a calyceal diverticulum is the presence of calculus, which accounts for 9.5 to 39% of cases [2]. The presented case had a stone in the diverticulum, but indication for surgery was recurrent urinary tract infections with resistant bacteria, which is one of the indications for the treatment [3].

Although, preoperative non-contrast CT imaging may have resulted in inadequate evaluation of the diverticular infundibulum, we believe that this did not affect our treatment strategy at all for two main reasons. First, as in case of a narrow or stenotic infundibulum, contrast agent cannot fill these nonsecretory cavities and, therefore, retrograde filming is still needed. Second, we planned to decide the treatment modality intraoperatively via RPG in our case. The reason for this was the preference of ureterorenoscopic intervention rather than percutaneous approach due to possible infectious complications and the fact that the patient had a history of multiple urinary tract infections with resistant bacteria. Thus, we recommend ureterorenoscopic treatment to avoid infectious complications in eligible cases. In general, PCNL is preferred for such stones to achieve a stone-free status, particularly for a large diverticulum with a large stone burden [4]. Although, PCNL is more invasive than ureteroscopy (URS), it has the highest stone – and symptom-free rates (>90%) [5]. The reported incidence rates of infectious complications following PCNL are as follows: bacteremia 23%; endotoxemia 34%; fever 25%; and septic shock 0.3 to 2.5% [4]. On the other hand, postoperative infectious complications of ureterorenoscopy were reported in 2.97% of cases, of which 0.3% developed severe sepsis, which is slightly lower than PCNL with the latter, also having a higher rate of major complications up to 5.5% (i.e., hemo-pneumothorax, pneumothorax, and hemorrhage).

In the presented case, RPG was not successful to reveal the infundibular neck intraoperatively (Fig. 3). Therefore, PCNL decision could be made without a nephroscopic evaluation, as the major drawback of fURS is locating the diverticulum, since its neck may be narrow and even concealed [6]. In such a case, the fURS procedure must be converted to PCNL without any need for nephroscopy. However, insiting on fURS treatment was our drive to do nephroscopy in our case. Therefore, we recommend performing nephroscopy to check the diverticular orifice, even the RGP did not reveal it. During ureterorenoscopic stone retrieval, using the ureteral access sheath and keeping the irrigation pressure low, we attempted not to increase the intrarenal pressure, which may cause pyelovenous backflow and absorption, which are both proven risk factors for infectious complications. The holmium laser was manipulated very gently to avoid bleeding for the same reason. In addition, as sterile preoperative urine culture does not correspond with the infection present in the upper urinary tract, we used a potent, broad-spectrum antibiotic for preoperative prophylaxis. However, despite all these intraoperative efforts, including the empiric use of a broad-spectrum antibiotic, our case developed clinical signs and symptoms of postoperative urosepsis and was diagnosed with urosepsis based on the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score. We believe that the reason for the negative urine and blood cultures obtained during this period may be due to the use of prophylactic antibiotherapy, namely meropenem.

Nonetheless, complete stone-free and infection-free status of our patient confirmed that the cause of the resistant urinary tract infections was the calyceal diverticular stones, although, infections were treated with the most appropriate antibiotic regimen. In a percutaneous approach, complications would be expected to be higher in this complicated case.

### Conclusion

In conclusion, treatment of calyceal diverticular stones can be challenging in some cases. Minimally invasive management of this clinical scenario with retrograde intrarenal surgery is more effective than other treatment modalities in selected cases. Treatment must be tailored according to the anatomical features of each individual patient and experience of the surgical team. This case highlights the utility of less invasive techniques with careful handling to avoid more serious complications, keeping in mind that serious complications still may occur, despite all precautions and maneuvers.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding: No financial support was received for this study.

**Authors' contributions:** M.T.E.: Conception and design of the study. Performance of ureterorenoscopic operation. Collection, analysis and interpretation of the data. Drafting the article and revising it critically for important intellectual content. H.O.: Design of the study. Performance of the ureterorenoscropic operation. Collection and interpretation of the data. Drafting the article and revising it critically for important intellectual content. Both authors approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

[1] Turna B, Raza A, Moussa S, Smith G, Tolley DA. Management of calyceal diverticular stones with extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy and percutaneous nephrolithotomy: long-term outcome. BJU Int 2007;100:151-6. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X. 2007.06911.x

- [2] Timmons JW Jr, Malek RS, Hattery RR, Deweerd JH. Caliceal diverticulum. J Urol 1975;114: 6-9. doi: https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-59259-954-7\_14
- [3] Rapp DE, Gerber GS. Management of caliceal diverticula. J Endourol 2004;18:805-10. doi: 10.1089/end.2004.18.805.
- [4] Waingankar N, Hayek S, Smith AD, et al. Calyceal diverticula: A comprehensive review. Rev Urol 2014; 16: 29-43.
- [5] Patodia M, Sinha RJ, Singh S, Singh V. Management of renal caliceal diverticular stones: A decade of experience. Urol Ann 2017;9:145-9. doi: 10.4103/UA.UA\_95\_16.
- [6] Zhang JQ, Wang Y, Zhang JH, Zhang XD, Xing NZ. Retrospective analysis of ultrasound-guided flexible ureteroscopy in the management of calyceal diverticular calculi. Chin Med J (Engl) 2016;129:2067-73. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.189060.

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# Orbital inflammatory disease in a child caused by a ruptured dermoid cyst misdiagnosed as orbital cellulitis

Hayrunnisa BEKIS BOZKURT' 🝺, Hulya GOKMEN SOYSAL<sup>2</sup> 🝺

<sup>1</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Faculty of Medicine, Kafkas University, Kars, Turkey.
 <sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Kafkas University, Kars, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Hayrunnisa BEKIS BOZKURT E-mail: hayrunisabekis@hotmail.com

Submitted: 23.12.2020 Accepted: 12.03.2021

#### ABSTRACT

One of the most common orbital tumors in childhood is orbital dermoid cysts. Cyst rupture or leakage of the cyst content is one of the rare causes of orbital inflammations and needs to be caught early. A five and a half year old boy was referred to us with the diagnosis of orbital cellulitis resistant to antibiotic therapy. Regarding his detailed medical history, physical examination and laboratory tests findings, he was diagnosed as orbital inflammatory disease caused by dermoid cyst rupture. He underwent surgical excision of the cyst after the inflammation was resolved with a short course of anti-inflammatory treatment. Although, it is rare, dermoid cyst rupture is one of the important causes of orbital inflammatory diseases and it must be kept in mind in the differential diagnosis of orbital infections. A detailed history and a careful examination helped us to make the correct diagnosis and avoided diagnostic delay and unnecessary treatment.

Keywords: Inflammation, Dermoid cyst, Child, Orbital cellulitis

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

When we look at the etiology of orbital inflammatory disease (OID), we see a wide range of specific disease diagnoses to nonspecific inflammation [1]. The most important steps in the management of OID are to identify the etiology and select an appropriate treatment. From idiopathic inflammatory disease to systemic or local inflammatory conditions, to other related conditions such as trauma, infection, neoplasm or congenital malformation should be remembered in the differential diagnosis of OID [1,2].

Dermoid cysts constitute 5% of all orbital lesions in childhood [3]. These lesions are assumed to originate from ectodermal tissue deviating from sequencing that occurs when suture lines are closed during embryonic development [4,5]. Cyst rupture or leakage of the cyst content is one of the rare causes of orbital inflammation. Dermal appendages such as sebaceous material, oil, hair, and cholesterol crystals can mount as an intense inflammatory response in the surrounding tissue. We herein, present a child who had recurrent orbital inflammation caused by dermoid cyst rupture, initially misdiagnosed as orbital cellulitis.

### 2. CASE REPORT

A five and a half year old boy was consulted to our ophthalmology department for evaluation of right eyelid and periorbital swelling. He had been referred to pediatrics clinic from another medical center with the diagnosis of orbital cellulitis with resistant to antibiotic therapy.

His medical history before the admission of our center was obtained from medical records; he has been suffering from transient right eyelid swelling, each episode lasting about 1-2 weeks, 4-5 times over the last year. He had been admitted to another medical center a week ago for the same complaints. The laboratory and radiologic investigation results were obtained from medical records; haemogram, ESR, CRP was normal. Orbital computed tomography (CT) scan showed edematous and inflammatory thickening of the right eyelids and periorbital area. There was no evidence of sinusitis on CT. Intravenous medical therapy (Ceftriaxon 100 mg/kg, Metronidazole 30 mg/ kg per day) was given for 5 days, with the diagnosis of orbital cellulitis. Then he was referred to our center because of no improvement.

How to cite this article: Bozkurt HB, Gokmen Soysal H. Orbital inflammatory disease in a child caused by a ruptured dermoid cyst misdiagnosed as orbital cellulitis. Marmara Med J 2021; 34: 348-350, doi: 10.5472/marumj.1013321

On admission to our center, some diagnostic tests were done for differential diagnosis; haemogram and blood chemistry were in normal limits. Cultures for infection, C1q esterase inhibitor level for hereditary angioeudema, IgE level for allergic disease were evaluated but all results were normal (IgE :6,2 IU/ml, C1q est inh:31 mg/dL).

On ophthalmic examination of the right eye, severe periorbital edema was evident that makes the eyelids difficult to open. There was no local temperature rise. There was neither conjunctival hyperemia nor ocular motility restriction. A subcutaneous, semi-mobile, hard mass about 1 cm diameter was palpated on the right lateral orbital area around the frontozygomatic suture. Visual acuity measurement and posterior segment examination were not possible. On examination of the left eye, visual acuity was 20/20 and there were no abnormal findings.

There was no history of trauma or systemic illness. A new CT scan was not needed because no evidence other than inflammation was seen in the previous CT. The preoperative CT findings show, irregular borders of ruptured dermoid cyst and edema, and it appears to be completely recovered after the operation on the postoperative CT (Figure 1a, Figure 1b).



*Figure 1a.* Preoperative CT, dense inflammation and thickening of the eyelid and periorbital area on CT. *Figure 1b.* Postoperative CT



*Figure 2.* Appearance of patient (before and after) the anti-inflammatory therapy

Based on the history of recurrent periorbital swelling, spontaneous resolution and clinical findings, the patient was diagnosed as orbital inflammation related to ruptured dermoid cyst and medical treatment was rearranged. Nonsteroid antinflammatory agent (Ibuprofen 10 mg/kg.day orally) was started while antibiotic treatment was chased. The symptoms and signs started to resolve rapidly beginning from the first day of the anti-inflammatory therapy (Figure 2a, Figure 2b). On orbital magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) obtained after the inflammation was resolved to a large scale there was a mild thickening and condensation around the lateral orbital area, interpreted as a cyst wall. Then the patient underwent surgery to remove all the cystic components. A lid crease incision was used to approach the lesion and cyst wall and other parts of lesion removed totally (Figure 3). Histopathological examination of the excision material was revealed the cyst wall and inflammatory and fibrous alteration surrounding the wall. After the first week of the surgery, the patient was nearly normal. In our 6-month follow-up, we could not detect recurrence in our patient.

Written consent was obtained from the patient's parents for the publication of this case report and any accompanying images.



Figure 3. Intraoperative appearance of the cyst wall.

### **3. DISCUSSION**

Orbital inflammation is due to the immune system's response, and the underlying cause is a clinical condition that needs clarification. It is important to investigate the etiology of autoimmune, structural, infectious, neoplastic and idiopathic causes. The clinician should carefully review all causes [1,6].

The clinician needs to look over five main groups of diseases in differential diagnosis of orbital inflammation;

1) Systemic diseases are the most common cause, including thyroid orbitopathy, Wegener granulomatosis, sarcoidosis, and other connective tissue diseases like systemic lupus erythematosis, some hematologic diseaseS and vasculitis [1,7].

2) Infections, especially orbital cellulitis, are life-threatening complications and require early diagnosis and treatment. In any

doubt, patients should be hospitalized for parenteral treatment as soon as possible and empirical intensive-broad spectrum antimicrobial therapy should be initiated without waiting for culture results [1]. In orbital infections, symptoms such as fever, acute phase reactant elevation and leukocytosis are encountered, whereas these are rare in non-communicable OID [8,9].

But in our case, serological and orbital findings did not support the diagnosis of orbital infection.

3) Neoplastic diseases include lymphoproliferative disease, orbital metastasis, and primary malignant tumors such as rhabdomyosarcoma. Ruptured dermoid cysts can be classified in this group.

4) Vascular etiologies such as carotico-cavernous fistula or veno-lymphatic malformations also cause orbital inflammation.

5) Trauma and foreign body must be questionized in all OID patients.

In our patient's history, the intermittent nature and spontaneous resolution of the disease was remarkable. No evidence about systemic diseases was obtained from detailed medical and family history. The most important finding leading to our diagnosis was a palpable hard mass on lateral orbital area, suspicious of the cyst wall. Indeed, this has been confirmed by the way of surgery and histopathological examination of excised material.

Dermoid cysts are one of the rare but important causes of inflammation that are mostly seen in childhood. Depending on the location, it may vary clinically. There is a case of deeply located dermoid cyst in a 3-month-old baby reported from Nigeria in the literature [10]. The more superficially located ones can be overlooked until adulthood with false diagnoses such as cellulite. He was initially misdiagnosed with repeated hospital applications.

In a retrospective multicentric study, cases from 3 oculoplastic centers (Queen Victoria Hospital, East Grinstead, United Kingdom; King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia; South Australian Institute of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, Australia) over a 10-year period, 29 of the total 86 cases were ruptured and only 2 were reported as spontaneous rupture. In the same study, it was pointed out that persistent inflammation was more pronounced after spontaneous rupture[11]. Our case was compatible with inflammation by ruptured dermoid cyst condition, in which infection and other causes are eliminated.

Dermoid cysts are defined as benign neoplasms and can cause complications such as spontaneous rupture and inflammation when not surgically removed. In a large ophthalmology clinic with 7 years of experience in Italy, 30 cases in the child age group were examined, by CT and / or MRI or echography which were suitable for diagnosis, and the best treatment was total excision, not biopsy. No recurrence has been reported after total removal [12]. We performed total excision due to the fact that our patient was a child and in the light of the literature. In our 6-month follow-up, we could not detect recurrence in our patient.

In conclusion, although it is rare, dermoid cyst rupture is one of the important causes of OID. A detailed history and a careful examination helped us to make the correct diagnosis and avoided diagnostic delay and unnecessary treatment.

**Conflict of interest:** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding: No financial support was received for this study..

**Authors' Contributions**: HG.: Idea/Consept. HBB.: Design. HG.:Control/Supervision. HBB.: Data collection. HG.: Literature review and writing. HBB.: Critical review. HBB.: References. reviewed and revised the manuscript. Both authors read and approved the final version of the article.

### REFERENCES

- Belanger C, Zhang KS, Reddy AK, Yen MT, Yen KG. Inflammatory disorders of the orbit in childhood: a case series. Am J Ophthalmol 2010; 150:460-3. doi:10.1016/j. ajo.2010.05.012
- [2] Salchow DJ. Orbital disorders in childhood. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 2019;236:1351-71. doi: 10.1055/a-0972-4774.
- [3] Reissis D, Pfaff MJ, Patel A, Steinbacher DM. Craniofacial dermoid cysts: histological analysis and inter-site comparison. Yale J Biol Med 2014; 87: 349-57.
- [4] Siah WF, Al-Muhaylib AA, Rajak S, Selva D, Malhotra R, Alsuhaibani AH. clinical outcomes of ruptured periorbital and orbital dermoid cysts. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg 2017; 33: 264-67
- [5] Lenci LT, Shams P, Shriver EM, Allen RC. Dermoid cysts: clinical predictors of complex lesions and surgical complications. JAAPOS. 2017; 21: 44-7.
- [6] Mombaerts I, Rose GE, Garrity JA. Orbital inflammation: Biopsy first. Surv Ophthalmol 2016; 61: 664-69.
- [7] Cruz AAV. Orbital inflammation and infection versus neoplasia. In: Karcioglu ZA, ed. Orbital Tumors: Diagnosis and Treatment. New York: Springer, 2005: 317-28.
- [8] Mouriaux F, Coffin-Pichonnet S, Robert PY, Abad S, Martin-Silva N Orbital inflammation. J Fr Orbital 2014; 37:818-24.
- [9] Williams KJ, Allen RC. Paediatric orbital and periorbital infections. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 2019;30:349-355.
- [10] Fasina O, Ogun OG. Giant deep orbital dermoid cyst presenting early in infancy in a Nigerian child: a case report and review of the literature. J Med Case Reports 2012; 6: 320. doi:10.1186/1752-1947-6-320
- [11] Siah WF, Al-Muhaylib AA, Rajak S. et al. Clinical outcomes of ruptured periorbital and orbital dermoid cysts. Ophthalmic Plastic & Reconstructive Surgery 2017; 33: 264-7. doi: 10.1097/ IOP.000.000.0000000735
- [12] Cavazza S, Laffi GL, Lodi L, Gasparrini E, Tassinari G. Orbital dermoid cyst of childhood: clinical pathologic findings, classification and management. Int Ophthalmol 2011;31:93-7. doi: 10.1007/s10792.011.9419-y

# MARMARA MEDICAL JOURNAL

# Coexistent intracranial midline cysts: Persistent cavum septum pellucidum, cavum vergae, cavum velum interpositum, and a pineal cyst

Mehtap TIRYAKIOGLU

Department of Anatomy, School of Medicine, Near East University, Nicosia, TRNC Mersin 10, Turkey.

Corresponding Author: Mehtap TIRYAKIOGLU E-mail: mehtap.tiryakioglu@neu.edu.tr

Submitted: 25.05.2021 Accepted: 17.07.2021

#### ABSTRACT

This case is presented after a concurrent cavum septum pellucidum, cavum vergae, cavum velum interpositum, and a pineal cyst prevailed following a magnetic resonance imaging evaluation for a temporary blindness the patient reported that she recently had. Keywords: Cavum septum pellucidum, Cavum vergae, Cavum velum interpositum, Congenital, Midline cranial cysts, Pineal cyst

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Persistent cavum septum pellucidum, cavum vergae, and cavum velum interpositum are considered as normal variants of the ventricular system. These anterior midline intracranial cysts may be asymptomatic, however, they may lead to cysts in considerable size that compress surrounding parts causing neuropathological conditions.

Septum pellucidum is a two-layered transparent membrane in the midline stretching vertically between the corpus callosum and the fornix. It separates the anterior horns and bodies of the lateral ventricles [1]. The cavity between two septa is known as cavum septum pellucidum (CSP). The two septa usually fuse within three to six months of postnatal life and CSP disappears [2], however, it may persist after 3-6 months of postnatal life by either remaining asymptomatic or leading to complications such as compression to surrounding structures, obstructive hydrocephalus, schizophrenia, post-traumatic disorder, or chronic brain trauma depending the size of the cavity [1,2]. Persistent CSP is at least 1mm in width and occurs about 15% of adults [3]. It is bounded superiorly by the body of the corpus callosum; anteriorly by the genu of the corpus callosum; inferiorly by the rostrum of the corpus callosum and anterior commissure; posteriorly by the anterior limbs of fornix, and laterally by the two layers of the septum pellucidum [3]. It is important to assess CSP during the embryonic development of fetus, as it can be a good monitor to observe any congenital malformations of the central forebrain during the early stage of development [4]. Failure to observe CSP can be associated with brain malformations [5] as it normally presents in all fetuses.

The cavum vergae (CV) is a posterior extension of the CSP and bounded superiorly and posteriorly by the body and splenium corpus callosum, respectively. Body of the fornix bounds it inferiorly, and the septum pellucidum bounds it, laterally (Figure 1). The CV is persistent in less than 1% of adults [3]. CSP and CV are located above the fornix.

The cavum velum interpositum (CVI) is a space located vertically in between the fornix and the choroid plexus of the third ventricle within the tela choroidea. It may or may not be connected to the cistern of the great cerebral vein (CGCV) (also known as cisterna ambiens or quadrigeminal cistern) [1, 3] (Fig. 1). It is situated superior to the internal cerebral veins and if connected to CGCV, it may be considered as an anterior extension of the CGCV [3]. Leucio and Dossani have reported prevalence of CVI as 5.54% of the population who is older than 2 years old [6].

Neither of these variants (CSP, CV, CVI) is included within the ventricular system of the brain, as they do not have choroid plexus, however they are filled with the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) transferred from the ventricles [2].

The pineal cysts (PC) are rarely symptomatic intracranial findings and they are usually found incidentally [7]; mostly

How to cite this article: Tiryakioglu M. Coexistent intracranial midline cysts: Persistent cavum septum pellucidum, cavum vergae, cavum velum interpositum, and a pineal cyst. Marmara Med J 2021; 34(3):351-354. doi: 10.5472/marumj.1015812

they are smaller than 1 cm [1] with a prevalence of 1% of the population, however the size might increase by the time (particularly in the age group 6-12 years) and may become a surgical indication depending the underlying reasons [8].





### 2. CASE REPORT

After 10-15 min of a partially blackened visual area on the left lower quadrant, 58 years old female patient went through some tests for evaluating the short episode of blindness she had. While, there was not any particular reason diagnosed for it, the radiology results stated that she had CSP, CV, CVI, and PC as normal variants after the performed magnetic resonance imaging (Figures 2, 3, 4, 5). The CSP and CV were about 5-10 mm wide depending on their exact location, while the CVI was seen on the right side to the midline and it was about 9-10 mm in width (Figures 1, 4). The widest transverse diameter of the PC was about 14 mm.



Figure 2. CSP and CV in transverse section



Figure 3. CSP, CV, and PC in sagittal section



Figure 4. CVI on the right side of the coronal section



Figure 5. CVI in the transvers section

### **3. DISCUSSION**

The CSP and CV develop from a common cavity under the corpus callosum, yet they may persist individually with a much wider occurrence of individual CSP (15%) than an individual CV (1%) [6]. They usually are asymptomatic except for rare situations such as cysts, obstructive hydrocephalus, and compression of surrounding structures that can cause psychiatric disorders and/ or compression of optic chiasm and related tracts [1, 2, 9]. In the presented case, the patient was told that these normal variants are not susceptible to cause the patient's symptoms.

De Leucio and Dossani have reported the CVI with a prevalence of 5.54% of the population older than 2 years old. It is usually asymptomatic unless it is rarely large enough to push surrounding structures [6].

In this case, the patient had a history of migraine episodes since her childhood, yet the episodes became ocular only with no headaches as of the age of late 40s. She has never been diagnosed with any other potential symptoms of the concurrent persistent CSP, CV, CVI, and PC she had. They have been detected by coincidence after a brain MRI performed to evaluate the symptoms the patient had and there is not any similar case reported with these cysts to be found, concurrently.

These normal variants may remain with some questions to be followed to figure whether there is a possibility to relate the migraine attacks to these variants the patient has been having since her childhood [10] or the recent patient history with partial and temporary blindness after bending forward for a while is related to these variants.

These questions may find less subtle answers if the cysts would be reevaluated to see whether there is a change in the size of them.

The case suggests a consideration of the prevalence of coexisting midline cranial variants to be studied, as there is not any information yet to be found.

### REFEERENCES

- [1] Standring S, Borley NR, Gray H. Gray's anatomy: the anatomical basis of clinical practice. 40th Ed. [Edinburgh]: Churchill Livingstone/Elsevier, 2008; 242-386.
- [2] Das JM, Dossani RH. Cavum septum pellucidum. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. Updated by Sep 9, 2021; https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/books/NBK537048/ Accessed on 27.06.2021
- [3] Tubbs RS, Krishnamurthy S, Verma K, et al. Cavum velum interpositum, cavum septum pellucidum, and cavum vergae: a review. Childs Nerv Syst 2011; 27:1927-30. doi:10.1007/ s00381.011.1457-2
- [4] Winter TC, Kennedy AM, Byrne J, Woodward PJ. The cavum septi pellucidi: why is it important? J Ultrasound Med 2010;29:427-44. doi:10.7863/jum.2010.29.3.427
- [5] Nagaraj UD, Calvo-Garcia MA, Kline-Fath BM. Abnormalities associated with the cavum septi pellucidi on fetal MRI: What

radiologists need to know. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2018; 210: 989-97. doi:10.2214/AJR.17.19219

- [6] De Leucio A, Dossani RH. Cavum veli interpositi. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. Updated by Oct 7, 2021: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK559000/ Accessed on: 27.06.2021
- [7] Al-Holou WN, Terman SW, Kilburg C, et al. Prevalence and natural history of pineal cysts in adults. J Neurosurg 2011;115:1106-14. doi:10.3171/2011.6.JNS11506
- [8] Majovsky M, Benes V. Natural course of pineal cysts-a radiographic study. Chinese Neurosurg J 2018;4 :33. doi:10.1186/s41016.018.0142-7
- [9] Shtaya A, Hettige S. Cavum septum pellucidum causing obstructive hydrocephalus in a toddler. Pediatr Neurosurg 2019; 54: 416-8. doi:10.1159/000503107
- [10] Simonin A, Lind CRP. Surgical management of symptomatic cavum septum pellucidum cysts: systematic review of the literature. Neurosurg Rev 2021; 44: 2425-32. doi.org/10.1007/ s10143.020.01447-4